# Pharmacogenetics of Rosuvastatin Therapy and Genetic Determinants of Some Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Chinese Patients

HU, Miao

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Medical Sciences

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

June 2010

UMI Number: 3445953

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3445953 Copyright 2011 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

### Acknowledgement

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Brian Tomlinson, for his guidance, encouragement, patience, understanding and support over the years. His expertise and invaluable comments helped greatly in the completion of this thesis.

Although I have been involved in the majority of the project including patient recruitment and follow-up, genotyping, data analysis and literature review, the project would not be possible without the support and input from my colleagues in the Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine& Therapeutics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Special thanks go to Ms Emily Poon for helping in the laboratory work, the research nurses Ms Evelyn Chau and Ms Winnie Yeung for kind assistance. I am also grateful to my course mates for their helps, in particular Sandra Lui for starting off the collection of the patient group, and Michael Lee for measuring high-sensitivity C-reactive protein.

I also extend my thanks to Dr Teresa Tsui in the Department of Clinical Pathology, Dr Gary Ko, Prof Lai-shan Tam and Prof Edmund Li in the Department of Medicine & Therapeutics, Prof Vivian Lee and Prof Larry Baum in the School of Pharmacy for their advise and contributions to this project.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends who shared my joy and frustration during the past years and gave me great support through their understanding and encouragement.

### Abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ABCA1	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, member 1
ABCG2	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2
ACCESS	Atorvastatin Comparative Cholesterol Efficacy and Safety Study
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme
ACS	Acute coronary syndrome
ADAMTS1	A disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin
	motifs
ADIPOQ	Adiponectin
AFCAPS/TexCAPS	Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
ALT	Alanine transaminase
ANCOVA	Analysis of covariance
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APOA5	Apolipoprotein A5
APOB	Apolipoprotein B
APOE	Apolipoprotein E
ARBs	Angiotensin receptor blockers
ARIC	Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities
ASTEROID	A Study to Evaluate the Effect of Rosuvastatin on Intravascular
	Ultrasound-Derived Coronary Atheroma Burden
AUC	Area under the plasma concentration-time curve
BCRP	Breast cancer resistance protein
BMI	Body mass index
BSEP	Bile salt exporting pump
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CAP	Cholesterol and Pharmacogenetics
CARE	Cholesterol and Recurrent Events
CE	Cholesteryl esters
CETP	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CHS	Cardiovascular Health Study
CI	Confidence interval
CIMT	Carotid intima-media thickness
СК	Creatine kinase

COntrolled ROsuvastatin MultiNAtional Trial in Heart Failure
C-reactive protein
Coefficients of variation
Cardiovascular disease
Cytochrome P450
Cytochrome P450, family 3, subfamily A, polypeptide 5,
pseudogene 1
Drug Development Centre
Extensive metabolizers
Expanded Clinical Evaluation of Lovastatin
Familial hypercholesterolaemia
Flavin containing monooxygenase 3
Fasting plasma glucose
Glucokinase (hexokinase 4) regulator
Glucose transporter 9
GREek Atorvastatin and Coronary-heart-disease Evaluation
Genome-wide association
Genome-wide association studies
Hospital Authority
High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A
HMG-CoA reductase
Hepatic nuclear factor 1-alpha
Hepatocyte nuclear factor-4
Heme oxygenase-1
High-sensitivity C-reactive protein
Heparin sulphate proteoglycan
Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium
Interleukin
Intermediate metabolizers
Interquartile range
Justification for the Use of statins in Primary prevention: an
Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin
Kinesin-like protein 6
Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase
Linkage disequilibrium
Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
Low-density lipoprotein receptor

LEP	Leptin
LEPR	Leptin receptor
LFT	Liver function tests
LIPG/ACAA2	Lipase, endothelial / Acetyl-Coenzyme Aacyltransferase 2
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
MAF	Minor allele frequency
MDR1	Multidrug resistance protein 1
METEOR	Measuring Effects on Intima-Media Thickness: an Evaluation of
	Rosuvastatin
MI	Myocardial infarction
MODY-3	Maturity-onset diabetes of the young
MRP2	Multidrug resistance-associated protein 2
MSD	Membrane-spanning domain
NAT2	N-acetyltransferase 2
NBD	Nucleotide-binding domain
NCAN/CILP2/PBX4	Neurocan / cartilage intermediate layer protein 2 / Pre-B-cell
	leukemia homeobox 4
NF-Y	Nuclear factor Y box-binding protein
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
NTCP	Sodium-dependent taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide
OATP1B1	Organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1
OR	Odds ratio
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PCR-RFLP	Polymerase chain reaction - restriction fragment length
	polymorphism
PCSK9	Proprotein convertase subtilisin-like kexin type 9
PMs	Poor metabolizers
POR	P450 oxidoreductase
PRINCE	Pravastatin Inflammation/CRP Evaluation
PROPER	Prospective Study of Pravastatin in the Elderly at Risk
PROVE-IT TIMI22	Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection
	Therapy–Thrombolysis In Myocardial Infarction 22
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RFT	Renal function tests
SEARCH	Study of the Effectiveness of Additional Reductions in
	Cholesterol and Homocysteine
SLC	Solute carrier transporter

SLC2A9	Solute carrier family 2, member 9
SLCO	Solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1B1
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
STELLAR	Statin Therapies for Elevated Lipid Levels compared Across
	doses to Rosuvastatin
STRENGTH	The statin response examined by genetic haplotype markers
t1/2	Elimination half-life
TFPI-2	Tissue factor pathway inhibitor-2
TMAU	Trimethylaminuria
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TNT	Treating to New Target
UGTs	Uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases
ULN	Upper limit of normal
UMs	Ultrarapid etabolizers
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
VKORC1	Vitamin K epoxide reductase complex, subunit 1
VSMC	Vascular smooth muscle cells
WC	Waist circumference
WGHS	Women's Genome Health Study
WHR	Waist to hip ratio
WOSCOPS	West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study
WTCCC	Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium

### **Publications**

### **Publications arising from this thesis**

- B Tomlinson, <u>M Hu</u>, VWY Lee. In vivo assessment of herb-drug interactions: Possible utility of a pharmacogenetic approach? *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 2008; 52(7): 799-809.
- <u>M Hu</u>, VWL Mak, TTY Chu, MMY Waye and B Tomlinson. Pharmacogenetics of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: optimizing the prevention of coronary heart disease. Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine 2009; 7(1): 1-26 [Feature Article].
- B Tomlinson, <u>M Hu</u>, VWY Lee, SSH. Lui, TTW Chu, EWM Poon, GTC Ko, L Baum, LS Tam, E K Li. ABCG2 polymorphism is associated with the low-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to rosuvastatin. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 2010; 87(5): 558-562.
- M Hu, MHK Lee, VWL Mak, B Tomlinson. Effect of central obesity, low high density lipoprotein cholesterol and C-reactive protein polymorphisms on C-reactive protein levels during treatment with rosuvastatin 10 mg daily. American Journal of Cardiology, 2010; (Submitted).
- M Hu, SSH. Lui, VWL Mak, TTW Chu, VWY Lee, EWM Poon, TKC Tsui, GTC Ko, L Baum, LS Tam, E K Li. B Tomlinson. Pharmacogenetic analysis of lipid responses to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients. *Pharmacogenetics and Genomics*, 2010; (Submitted).

### Publications during preparation of the thesis

- M Hu, B Tomlinson. Febuxostat in the management of hyperuricemia and chronic gout: a review. Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management, 2008; 4(6):1209-1220.
- B Tomlinson. <u>M Hu</u>, VML Mak, TTW Chu. How to achieve regression of atherosclerosis. Journal of the Hong Kong College of Cardiology, 2008; 16 (Suppl 1): A52-A61.
- Tomlinson. 3. M Hu, В Rhabdomyolysis caused by potential а interaction sitagliptin-lovastatin the diltiazem? \_ What about Pharmacotherapy, 2009; 29(6):176e.
- ZK Liu, <u>M Hu</u>, L Baum, GN Thomas, B Tomlinson. Associations of polymorphisms in the apolipoprotein A1/C3/A4/A5 gene cluster with familial combined hyperlipidaemia in Hong Kong Chinese. *Atherosclerosis*, 2010; 208: 427-432.
- JHS You, WKY Chan, PFP Chung, <u>M Hu</u> and B Tomlinson. Effects of concomitant therapy with diltiazem on the lipid responses to simvastatin in Chinese subjects. Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, (In press) 2010 Feb 11 published online.
- 6. <u>M Hu</u>, VWL Mak, B Tomlinson. Simvastatin-induced myopathy, the role of interaction with diltiazem and genetic predisposition. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 2010 (In press).

### Selected abstracts presented at the local & international meetings

- 1. <u>M Hu</u>, SSH Lui, TTW Chu, B Tomlinson. **Determinants of the HDL-cholesterol response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients.** CUHK-Mayo Clinic-China Cardiovascular Summit 2007, Hong Kong, April 2007.
- M Hu, SSH Lui, TTW Chu, E Poon, L Baum, GTC Ko, B Tomlinson. The common polymorphism in CYP2D6 does not have a major effect on the lipid response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients. The 15th Annual Scientific Congress of the Hong Kong College of Cardiology, Hong Kong, May 2007.
- B. Tomlinson, <u>M. Hu</u>, SSH. Lui, TTW. Chu. Effects of dietary fats on serum lipids and the response to rosuvastatin in Hong Kong Chinese patients. European Society of Cardiology, Congress 2007, Vienna, Austria, September 2007.
- M Hu, SSH Lui, TTW Chu, B Tomlinson. Comparison of safety and efficacy of rosuvastatin 10mg with simvastatin 40mg in Hong Kong Chinese patients.
  9th Hong Kong Diabetes and Cardiovascular Risk Factors: East Meets West Symposium, Hong Kong, Sept 30-Oct 1 2007.
- 5. <u>M Hu</u>, B Tomlinson, SSH Lui, TTW Chu, E Poon, L Baum, VWY Lee. Pharmacogenetics of lipid responses to rosuvastatin in Chinese Patients: effects of polymorphisms in BCRP and CYP2D6. International Symposium on Cardiovascular and Neurovascular Medicine (ISCNM) in conjunction with International Heart Failure Symposium – Hong Kong 2008, February 2008 International Journal of Cardiology, 2008; 125 Suppl.1: S41.
- M Hu, TTW Chu, VWY Lee, L Baum, B Tomlinson. Effects of 2 Common Polymorphisms in ABCG2 on Lipid Responses to Rosuvastatin. 2008 International Conference on Pharmacogenomics A Joint Conference with the 14th Annual Meeting of the PRACP, Busan, South Korea, April, 2008.
- M Hu, B Tomlinson, SSH Lui, GTC Ko. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of Rosuvastatin with Atorvastatin for achieving lipid goals: the discovery - Hong Kong study. The 77th EAS (European Atherosclerosis Society) Congress, Istanbul, Turkey, April, 2008. Atherosclerosis 2008; 9/1: 199.

- M Hu, SSH Lui, TTW Chu, L Baum, B Tomlinson. Common variants in CETP do not affect HDL-cholesterol levels or the HDL- cholesterol response to rosuvastatin. The 16th Annual Scientific Congress of the Hong Kong College of Cardiology, Hong Kong, May, 2008. Journal of the Hong Kong college of Cardiology, 2008; 16(1): 17.
- <u>M Hu</u>, TTW Chu, TKC Tsui, GTC Ko, VWY Lee, L Baum, B Tomlinson Contribution of 18 Common Single-Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) in 10 Genes to the Lipid Responses to Rosuvastatin in Chinese Patients. The 10th Hong Kong Diabetes & Cardiovascular Risk Factors – East Meets Wests Symposium, Hong Kong, September 2008 (<u>Young investigator Award</u>).
- <u>M Hu</u>, VWL Mak, EWM Poon, TTW Chu, TKC Tsui, VWY Lee, L Baum, B Tomlinson. Genetic determinants of HDL-cholesterol response to rosuvastatin in Chinese Patients with hypercholesterolaemia. CUHK-Mayo Clinic-Asia Cardiovascular Summit (CMA) 2009, Hong Kong, April 2009.
- 11. <u>M Hu</u>, VWL Mak, EWM Poon, TTW Chu, TKC Tsui, B Tomlinson. Genetic determinants of lipid response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients with hypercholesterolaemia. International Symposium of Atheroslerosis (ISA) 2009, Boston, USA, June 2009. Atherosclerosis Supplements 2009, Vol. 10, Issue 2. Abs P486 (*Young investigator Award by IAS; ISA 2009 Education Award by IAS Asia Pacific Federation*).
- 12. <u>M Hu</u>, VWL Mak, EWM Poon, TTW Chu, TKC Tsui, VWY Lee, L Baum, B Tomlinson. Effects of polymorphisms in liver uptake transporter SLCO1B1 on the lipid response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients with hypercholesterolaemia. The 17<sup>th</sup> Annual Scientific Congress of the Hong Kong College of Cardiology, Hong Kong, Jun 2009. Journal of the Hong Kong College of Cardiology 2009; 17 (Suppl 1): 10. Abs 11.
- M Hu, VWL Mak, TTW Chu, VWY Lee, L Baum, B Tomlinson. The UGT1A1 211G>A polymorphism affects bilirubin levels in Chinese patients with hypercholesterolaemia. 2009 International Conference on Personalized Medicine Hong Kong, September 2009.
- M Hu, M Lee, VWL Mak, B Tomlinson. Determinants of hsCRP levels during treatment with rosuvastatin. The 11<sup>th</sup> Hong Kong Diabetes & Cardiovascular Risk Factors – East Meets Wests Symposium, Hong Kong, 30 Sep-1 Oct 2009

### (Young investigator Award).

- 15. <u>M Hu</u>, VWL Mak, EWM Poon, TTW Chu, TKC Tsui, VWY Lee, L Baum, LS Tam, EK Li, B Tomlinson. Pharmacogenetic analysis of LDL-cholesterol response to rosuvastatin. International Congress of Cardiology. Hong Kong, February 2010. European Heart Journal Supplements, 2010; 12A: S3.
- 16. <u>M Hu</u>, VWL Mak, B Tomlinson. The common single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) of SLC2A9 is associated with serum urate concentration in Chinese. The 18th Annual Scientific Congress of the Hong Kong College of Cardiology, Hong Kong, May, 2010. Journal of the Hong Kong college of Cardiology, 2010; 18: 33.
- 17. <u>M Hu</u>, W Chu, D Yeung, L Shi, D Wang, B Tomlinson. Influence of DGAT2 polymorphisms on triglyceride response to extended-release niacin in Chinese patients with dyslipidaemia. The 6th IAS-sponsored Workshop on HDL, May 17-20, 2010, Whistler, Canada.
- VWL Mak, <u>M Hu</u>, OQP Yin, MSS Chow, TTW Chu, TYK Chan, B Tomlinson. Interaction of ABCG2 transporter polymorphism 421C>A and the effect of grapefruit juice on the pharmacokinetics of pitavastatin. 2008 International Conference on Pharmacogenomics, Busan, Republic of Korea, April 2008.
- 19. VWL Mak, <u>M Hu</u>, TTW Chu, VWY Lee, T Tsui, B Tomlinson. Pharmacogenetic determinants of the lipid lowering responses to simvastatin in Chinese patients with hyperlipidaemia. The IXth World Conference on Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics – CPT 2008, Quebec, Canada, 27 July to 1 August 2008.
- 20. VWL Mak, <u>M Hu</u>, TTW Chu, B Tomlinson. Effects of Polymorphisms in Influx and Efflux Transporters SLCO1B1 and ABCG2 on the Pharmacokinetics of Pitavastatin in Healthy Chinese Subjects. The 10<sup>th</sup> Hong Kong Diabetes & Cardiovascular Risk Factors – East Meets Wests Symposium, Hong Kong, September 2008.
- VWL Mak, <u>M Hu</u>, EWM Poon, TTW Chu, VWY Lee, TKC Tsui, B Tomlinson. Influence of *APOE* Cluster Polymorphism on Baseline Lipids and Response to Simvastatin in Chinese Patients. CUHK-Mayo Clinic-Asia Cardiovascular Submit (CMA) 2009, Hong Kong, April 2009.

- 22. VWL Mak, <u>M Hu</u>, TTW Chu, EWM Poon, TKC Tsui, B Tomlinson. Effects of Common Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and haplotypes of SLCO1B1 in Chinese on the plasma lipid responses to simvastatin. International Symposium of Atheroslerosis (ISA) 2009, Boston, USA, June 2009. Atherosclerosis Supplements 2009, Vol. 10, Issue 2. Abs P487.
- VWL Mak, <u>M Hu</u>, OQP Yin, TTW Chu, B Tomlinson. Influence of ABCB1 Polymorphisms on Pharmacokinetics of Pitavastatin. 2009 International Conference on Personalized Medicine, Hong Kong, September 2009.

### Abstract

Although the clinical efficacy of statins has been well established, there is a wide inter-individual variation in the lipid responses to statins. Pharmacogenetic studies have identified some genetic differences that contribute to the variation, but overall the results have been disappointing. The studies described in this thesis were performed to examine whether certain genetic variants predicted the lipid responses to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients. Over 400 Chinese patients with increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) who were treated with rosuvastatin 10 mg daily for at least 4 weeks (more than 97% of patients had at least 6 weeks treatment) were studied, including 166 having familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH) and 36 having rheumatoid arthritis (RA). They were genotyped for 135 polymorphisms in 62 candidate genes/loci potentially related to pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of statins and lipid metabolism. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and the lipid responses to rosuvastatin were analyzed in 386 patients with good compliance. The associations between genetic polymorphisms and some risk factors for CVD including baseline lipid levels, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), uric acid and bilirubin levels were also analyzed.

The key findings of the study are as follows:

 The polymorphisms most highly associated with the low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) response were 421C>A in the ATP-binding cassette G2 (ABCG2) gene (P=9.2×10<sup>-7</sup>), followed by 18281G>A (V257M) in the flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 (FMO3) gene (P=0.0002), 1421C>G in the lipoprotein lipase (LPL) gene (P=0.002), and rs4420638 in the apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-II (APOE/C1/C4/C2) gene cluster (P=0.004). These genetic polymorphisms and having FH totally explained 13.6% of the variance in percentage change in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin. The greater percentage reduction in LDL-C in patients with the ABCG2 421AA genotype compared to those with the ABCG2 421CC genotype was equivalent to at least doubling the dose of rosuvastatin.

- 2. Three SNPs (glucokinase regulator [GCKR] rs1260326, apolipoprotein A5 [APOA5] -1131T>C and the solute carrier organic anion transporter 1B1 [SLCO1B1] 521T>C) tended to be associated with percentage changes in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) (P<0.05), but none of these reached the overall significance level. In multivariate stepwise regression analysis, baseline HDL-C (P=1.6×10<sup>-6</sup>), having diabetes (P=0.0004) or RA (P=0.002) and the SLCO1B1 521T>C polymorphism (P=0.03) were determinants of HDL-C responses, contributing 9.9% of the variance in percentage change in HDL-C, but the genetic factors only contributed to 0.8% of the variance.
- 3. The triglyceride response to rosuvastatin was highly variable and was strongly related to baseline levels. The diacylglycerol acyltransferase-2 (DGAT2) rs10899113 C>T polymorphism tended to be associated with reduced triglyceride response in a gene-dose dependent manner. However, in multivariate stepwise regression analysis, baseline triglyceride level was the only factor that strongly related to the triglyceride response, explaining 14.4% of the variance.
- 4. This study has also analyzed relationships between on-treatment plasma hsCRP concentrations and cardiovascular risk factors and 14 single nucleotide polymorphisms in *CRP* and other candidate genes, which showed that central obesity, low HDL-C and *CRP* polymorphisms are major determinants of higher

hsCRP levels in Chinese patients on treatment with rosuvastatin.

- 5. The association between genetic polymorphisms and lipid traits were analyzed in FH and non-FH patients separately due to their different lipid profiles. The analysis has shown that there were different genetic predictors of lipid levels in patients with and without FH and that more genetic factors appeared to affect the baseline lipid levels in patients with FH compared to non-FH patients, suggesting complex interactions between genetic and environmental factors and plasma cholesterol levels in patients with and without FH.
- 6. The SLC2A9 (solute carrier family 2, member 9) rs1014290 T>C was significantly associated with plasma uric acid levels in a gene-dose dependent manner (P=1.0×10<sup>-5</sup>) and the relationship was more pronounced in women or in patients without hypertension than in men or patients with hypertension. The ABCG2 421 C>A did not show a significant effect on uric acid levels.
- 7. The UGT1A1 (uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases family, polypeptide A1) variants \*28 (P=1.5×10<sup>-9</sup>) and \*6 (P=2.2×10<sup>-7</sup>) were independently associated with increased baseline bilirubin levels. Polymorphisms in SLCO1B1 did not appear to affect bilirubin levels in this study.

Some novel genetic determinants of the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin treatment have been identified in this study. The responses in HDL-C and triglycerides were related more closely to the baseline levels of these lipids than to any of the polymorphisms examined. Genetic associations with baseline lipid parameters, hsCRP, uric acid and bilirubin were identified and generally correspond with some of the previous reports of studies in Chinese and other ethnic groups. 盡管他汀類藥物的臨床療效已被廣泛認可,其降膽固醇的效果存在很大的個體 差異。遺傳藥理學研究發現先天的遺傳變异可能對該藥物療效的個體差異有影 響,但這些研究的結果總體而言並不理想。本論文中涉及的研究旨在考察是否 某些遺傳變异會影響華人對瑞舒伐他汀(rosuvastatin)調脂作用的反應。在本 研究中,超過400位帶有高心血管疾病風險的華人患者,包括166位患有家族遺 傳性高膽固醇血症(FH)以及36位患有風濕性關節炎的患者,接受了爲期至 少4個星期的每日 rosuvastatin10毫克的治療(當中有97%的患者接受了至少6 個星期的 rosuvastatin 的藥物治療)。研究對這些患者的62個可能与他汀類藥物 藥代動力學和藥效學以及脂代謝相關的基因或/基因位點的135個基因多態性的 基因型進行了檢測,并進而對386位具有良好藥物順應性的患者對 rosuvastatin 的調脂作用的反應与基因多態性的關係進行了分析研究。另外,我們還對基因 多態性与某些心血管疾病的危險因素例如基礎膽固醇,高敏感度C-反應蛋白 (hsCRP),尿酸以及膽紅素水準的關係進行了研究。

本研究的主要結論總結如下:

 三磷酸腺苷結合轉運體 G2 (ABCG2)421C>A 多態性与病人對 rosuvastatin 降低低密度脂蛋白胆固醇(LDL-C)作用的反應高度相關。 另外,含黃素單氧化酶 3 (FMO3)18281G>A,脂蛋白酯酶(LPL)1421C>G 以及位于脂蛋白元 E/C1/C4/C2 基因簇的 rs4420638 基因多態性也與 rosuvastatin 降低 LDL-C 的效果密切相關。這些基因多態性運同患有 FH 合共解釋病人對 rosuvastatin 降低 LDL-C 反應差異的 13.6%。帶有 ABCG2 421AA 基因型的患者與帶有 421CC 基因型的患者相比,其 LDL-C 降低 的效果相當於服用了至少加倍劑量的 rosuvastatin。

- 2. 位于葡萄糖激脢調節基因 (GCKR1)的 rs1260326, 脂蛋白元 A5 (APOA5) -1131T>C 与溶質載體有機陰離子轉運多肽 1B1 (SLCO1B1) 521T>C 傾 向於與 rosuvastatin 調節高密度脂蛋白膽固醇(HDL-C)的作用相關,但是 這些相關性並沒有達到整體的顯著性水平。HDL-C 的基礎水平,患有 2 型糖尿病或風濕性關節炎以及 SLCO1B1 521T>C 基因多態性為病人服用 rosuvastatin 后 HDL-C 變化的決定性因素。這些因素可決定 9.9%的變異, 但 SLCO1B1 521T>C 基因多態性僅決定 0.8%的變異。
- 3. 病人服用 rosuvastatin 后其三酸甘油脂(TG)的變化有很大差異,并與 TG 基礎水準高度相關。位于二酰基甘油酰基轉移酶基因(DGAT2)的 rs10899113 C>T 基因多態性伴隨減退的降 TG 的效果,并呈基因型劑量 相關性。但是多變量逐步回歸分析顯示 TG 基礎水準為唯一的決定 TG 反 應的因素,該因素可解釋 14.4%的變異。
- 4. 中央型肥胖,HDL-C 偏低以及 C-反應蛋白基因多態性為中國人在接受 rosuvastatin 汀治療情況下 hsCRP 濃度偏高的主要決定因素。
- 5. FH 与非家族性高膽固醇血症(non-FH)患者的基礎血脂水平由不同的基因 多態性所決定。與 non-FH 患者相比,有較多的遺傳因素與 FH 患者的血 脂水平相關。這些結果顯示了遺傳因素、環境因素與血脂濃度之間的複 雜的相互作用。
- 6. 溶質載體家族 2A9(SLC2A9) rs1014290 T>C 與血中尿酸濃度呈基因型 劑量濃度相關性,這一相關性在女性患者或非高血壓患者中更爲顯著。 而 ABCG2 421C>A 多態性對尿酸濃度有顯著影響。
- 7. 尿苷雙磷酸葡萄糖醛酸基轉移酶 1A1 (UGT1A1)基因多態性\*28 和\*6 與 膽紅素高基礎濃度密切相關。而 SLCO1B1 基因多態性對膽紅素濃度沒有 明顯影響。

本研究發現了對 rosuvastatin 降低 LDL-C 起到決定性作用的一些新的遺傳因

素,而用藥后 HDL-C 和 TG 的變化與其基礎水準密切相關。對基礎血脂水準, hsCRP,尿酸以及膽紅素濃度與遺傳基因多態性的關係的研究結果與早前在華 人和其他種族中已報導的結果基本吻合。

### **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgement	I
Abbreviations	Π
Publications	VI
Publications arising from this thesis	VI
Publications during preparation of the thesis	VII
Selected abstracts presented at the local & international meetings	VIII
Abstract	XII
中文摘要	XV
Table of Contents	XVIII
List of Tables	XXIII
List of Figures	XXVI
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1 Overview of statin pharmacogenetics	1
1.1 Genetic influences on lipid-lowering effect of statins	2
1.1.1 Genes involved in statin pharmacokinetics	2
1.1.2 Drug metabolizing enzymes affecting statin therapy	8
1.1.2.1 CYP3A4 and CYP3A5	8
1.1.2.2 CYP2C9 and CYP2C19	12
1.1.2.3 CYP2D6	13
1.1.2.4 Uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases	15
1.1.3 Drug transporter proteins affecting statin disposition	18
1.1.3.1 SLCO1B1	19
1.1.3.2 ABCB1 (multidrug resistance protein, P-glycoprotein)	22
1.1.3.3 ABCG2	26
1.1.3.4 Other transporters	28
1.1.4 Genes involved in cholesterol synthesis and lipoprotein metabolism	affecting
statin responses	29
1.1.4.1 HMG-CoA reductase	30
1.1.4.2 Low-density lipoprotein receptor	31
1.1.4.3 Proprotein convertase subtilisin- like kexin type 9	
1.1.4.4 Apolipoprotein E	
1.1.4.5 Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene	
1.1.4.6 Others	40
1.2 Genetic influences on pleiotropic effects of statins	42
1.2.1 C-reactive protein	42
1.2.2 Kinesin-like protein 6	43

1.2.3 A disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs
1.2.4 Others
1.3 Genetic influences on statin-induced adverse effects
Chapter 2 Aim of the study
Chapter 3 Methodology
3.1 Patient recruitment
3.1.1 Inclusion criteria
3.1.2 Exclusion criteria
3.1.3 Patients with hypercholesterolaemia
3.1.4 Patients with rheumatoid arthritis
3.2 Routine biochemistry tests
3.2.1 Lipids
3.2.2 Fasting plasma glucose
3.2.3 Laboratory safety parameters
3.2.4 Uric acid
3.3 High-sensitive CRP measurement
3.4 Selection of genetic polymorphisms and genotyping
3.4.1 Selection of genetic polymorphisms
3.4.2 DNA extraction
3.4.3 Genotyping
3.4.3.1 Genotyping by the SEQUENOM MassARRAY67
3.4.3.2 TaqMan polymerase chain reaction allelic discrimination
3.4.3.3 Polymerase chain reaction
3.4.3.4 Polymerase chain reaction - restriction fragment length polymorphism 70
3.4.3.5 Sequencing
3.5 Statistical analysis74
Chapter 4 Pharmacogenetic analysis of lipid responses to rosuvastatin in Chinese
patients
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Subjects and Methods
4.2.1 Subjects and study design
4.2.2 SNP selection and genotyping
4.2.3 Statistical analysis
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Baseline characteristics of participants
4.3.2 Lipid response and safety
4.3.2.1 Effects of phenotypic factors on the LDL-C response
4.3.2.2 Effects of phenotypic factors on the HDL-C response
4.3.2.3 Effects of phenotypic factors on the triglycerides response

4.3.2.4 Effects of phenotypic factors on the total cholesterol response
4.3.2.5 Effects of phenotypic factors on the non-HDL-C response
4.3.2.6 Side effects and laboratory safety profiles
4.3.2.6.1 Side effects
4.3.2.6.2 Glucose
4.3.2.6.3 Creatine kinase
4.3.2.6.4 Liver and renal function tests
4.3.3 Genetic determinants of LDL-C response to rosuvastatin
4.3.4 Genetic determinants of HDL-C response to rosuvastatin
4.3.5 Genetic determinants of triglyceride response to rosuvastatin
4.3.6 Genetic determinants of total cholesterol response to rosuvastatin
4.3.7 Genetic determinants of non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin
4.4 Discussion
4.4.1 Associations of environmental factors with lipid response to rosuvastatin 129
4.4.1.1 Age and gender
4.4.1.2 Familial hypercholesterolaemia and baseline level of lipids
4.4.1.3 Diabetes, hypertension, rheumatoid arthritis and preexisting cardiovascular
disease
4.4.1.4 Obesity, and smoking status
4.4.1.5 Adherence to rosuvastatin therapy
4.4.2 Genetic determinants of lipid response to rosuvastatin
4.4.2.1 ABCG2 polymorphisms
4.4.2.2 FMO3 polymorphisms
4.4.2.3 Other polymorphisms potentially related to LDL-C response to rosuvastatin
4.4.2.4 SLCO1B1 polymorphisms
4.4.2.5 Genetic determinants of changes in other lipid traits
4.4.3 Limitations of the study
4.5 Conclusion
Chapter 5 Abdominal obesity and CRP polymorphisms predict high-sensitivity
C-reactive protein levels in Chinese patients on treatment with rosuvastatin
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Subjects and methods
5.2.1 Subjects
5.2.2 High-sensitive C-reactive protein measurement
5.2.3 Single nucleotide polymorphism selection and genotyping
5.2.4 Statistical analysis159
5.3 Results
5.3.1 Clinical characteristics of participants

5.3.2 Associations of environmental factors with hsCRP
5.3.2.1 Age and gender165
5.3.2.2. Body mass index, waist circumference and percentage body fat165
5.3.2.3 Lipids and familial hypercholesterolaemia
5.3.2.4 Fasting plasma glucose and diabetes
5.3.2.5 Blood pressure and hypertension169
5.3.2.6 History of cardiovascular disease and smoking169
5.3.2.7 Concomitant medications
5.3.2.8 Multivariate analysis of environmental factors
5.3.3 Associations of genetic factors with hsCRP171
5.3.4 Interactions between waist circumference, rs1205 and plasma hsCRP levels 174
5.3.5 Contributions of genetic and environmental factors to the variance of
on-treatment hsCRP concentrations
5.3.6 Multivariate odds ratios of predictors of having hsCRP level of $\geq 2 \text{ mg/L} \dots 176$
5.4 Discussion
5.5 Study limitations
5.6 Conclusions
Chapter 6 Genetic determinants of some cardiovascular risk factors in Chinese patients
6.1 Introduction
6.2 Methods
6.2.1 Subjects and data collection
6.2.2 Single nucleotide polymorphism selection
6.2.2.1 Polymorphisms in genes related to lipids
6.2.2.2 Polymorphisms in genes related to uric acid
6.2.2.3 Polymorphisms in genes potentially related to bilirubin
6.2.3 Statistical analysis
6.3 Results
6.3.1 Genetic determinants of lipids
6.3.1.1 Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
6.3.1.2 High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
6.3.1.3 Triglycerides
6.3.2 Determinants of uric acid
6.3.3 Genetic determinants of bilirubin
6.4 Discussion
6.4.1 Associations between genetic polymorphisms and baseline levels of lipids212
6.4.2 Determinants of uric acid
6.4.3 Determinants of bilirubin
6.5 Conclusion

Chapter 7 Summary of the study	224
7.1 Summary of the study	
7.2 Clinical implications	225
7.3 Potential for further development of the research	228
References	230
Original Publications arising from the thesis	

### List of Tables

Table 4-11. The LDL-C response among diplotypes of 421C>A and 34G>A polymorphisms
in the <i>ABCG2</i>
Table 4-12. Negative associations (P>0.05) between certain genetic factors and LDL-C
response to rosuvastatin 10mg daily112
Table 4-13. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in LDL-C in response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-14. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and HDL-C response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-15. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in HDL-C in response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-16. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and of triglyceride response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-17. Genotype distributions of CYP3A5*3 and CYP3AP1 -44G>A in study subjects
Table 4-18. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and total cholesterol response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-19. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in total cholesterol in response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-20. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and non-HDL-C response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-21. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in non-HDL-C in response to
rosuvastatin
Table 4-22. The LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with and without FH in previous
studies
Table 5-1. Loci associated with plasma hsCRP levels in genome-wide association studies 154
Table 5-2. Baseline clinical characteristics and hazard ratios for incident cardiovascular
events in JUPITER study participants
Table 5-3. Clinical characteristics in subjects with hsCRP < 10 mg/L162
Table 5-4. Clinical characteristics in subjects with hsCRP $\leq 0.811$ mg/L and $> 0.811$ mg/L
Table 5-5. Clinical characteristics in subjects with hsCRP $< 0.146$ mg/L and $\ge 0.146$ mg/L
Table 5-6. Concomitant medications in subjects involved in the analysis
Table 5-7. Multivariate model of predictors of log-hsCRP
Table 5-8. Geometric mean hsCRP levels among genotype groups
Table 5-9. Multivariable-adjusted odds ratios (ORs)* of predictors of having a high-risk
hsCRP concentration (≥2 mg/L)
Table 5-10. Frequencies of rs1205 and median CRP levels by ethnicity
Table 6-1. SNPs in genes potentially related to uric acid transport

Table 6-2. SNPs in genes potentially related to bilirubin disposition	95
Table 6-3. Associations between genetic polymorphism and baseline LDL-C levels in	
patients with and without FH1	97
Table 6-4. Associations between genetic polymorphism and baseline HDL-C levels in	
patients with and without FH1	99
Table 6-5. Associations between genetic polymorphism and baseline triglyceride levels in	
patients with and without FH	201
Table 6-6. Multivariate analysis of predictors of serum uric acid concentrations	207
Table 6-7. Associations between polymorphisms in UGT1A1 and UGT1A6 and bilirubin	
levels	208
Table 6-8. Multivariate model of predictors of bilirubin levels	212

## List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Chemical structures of the statins and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A
(HMG-CoA)
Figure 1-2. Proposed metabolic pathway of a typical statin
Figure 1-3. Vectorial pathway for statin distribution from enterocytes to hepatocytes for their
pharmacological action and metabolism and elimination via the bile and kidneys7
Figure 1-4. The UGT1 family16
Figure 1-5. Polymorphisms in the SLCO1B1 gene
Figure 1-6. Polymorphisms in the ABCB1 gene23
Figure 1-7. Two-dimensional structure of ABCB1 with locations of amino acid replacements
and two synonymous frequent SNPs
Figure 1-8. Polymorphisms in the ABCG2 gene27
Figure 1-9. Overview of lipoprotein metabolism
Figure 1-10. The CETP gene structure, and the location of some common polymorphisms.38
Figure 1-11. The CRP gene structure, and the location of some polymorphisms
Figure 3-1. Polymerase chain reaction for detection of CYP2D6 *5
Figure 3-2. Polymerase chain reaction for detection of APOB ins/del polymorphism70
Figure 3-3. PCR-RFLP for detection of ABCC2 4544G>A polymorphism71
Figure 3-4. PCR-RFLP for detection of APOE 334T>C polymorphism
Figure 3-5. Sequencing of (TA) <sub>6&gt;7</sub> repeats in the UGT1A1 promoter73
Figure 4-1. Distribution of ages in male and female subjects
Figure 4-2. Distribution of ages in FH and non-FH patients
Figure 4-3. The LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in study participants
Figure 4-4. Mean lipid responses to rosuvastatin in patients with RA (n=36) and
hypercholesterolaemia (n=350)
Figure 4-5. Mean lipid responses to rosuvastatin in patients with FH (n=166) and non-FH
(n=220)
Figure 4-6. Percentage changes in fasting plasma glucose in diabetic and non-diabetic
patients
Figure 4-7. Baseline (A) and on-treatment CPK levels (B) in men and women101
Figure 4-8. Percentage changes in LDL-C by ABCG2 421C>A genotypes
Figure 4-9. Associations of percentage changes in LDL-C with ABCG2 421C>A genotypes
in males and females
Figure 4-10. Associations of percentage changes in LDL-C with ABCG2 421C>A genotypes
in patients with and without FH
Figure 4-11. Association of ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism and mean LDL-C on-treatment
levels

Figure 4-12. Degree of linkage disequilibrium of 421C>A and 34G>A polymorphisms in the
ABCG2
Figure 4-13. Effect of LDLR rs1433099 on LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with
or without FH
Figure 4-14. Effect of rs1260326 in GCKR on % changes in HDL-C in patients with and
without diabetes
Figure 4-15. Effect of SLCO1B1 521T>C polymorphism on baseline HDL-C levels and
HDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with and without FH118
Figure 4-16. Degree of linkage disequilibrium of CYP3A4 *1G and CYP3A5 *3 121
Figure 4-17. Effect of the APOA5 -1131 T>C polymorphism on baseline triglyceride levels
and percentage changes in triglycerides in response to rosuvatatin
Figure 4-18. The non-HDL-C response among diplotypes of 421C>A and 34G>A
polymorphisms in the ABCG2127
Figure 4-19. Chemical structure and metabolic pathways of rosuvastatin
Figure 5-1. hsCRP distribution in different age groups in males and women
Figure 5-2. Median hsCRP by strata of body mass index and waist circumference
Figure 5-3. Spearman's correlations between log-hsCRP and body mass index (BMI) in
males and females
Figure 5-4. Spearman's correlations between log-hsCRP and waist circumference (WC) in
males and females
Figure 5-5. Pearson's correlations between log-hsCRP and waist to hip ratio (WHR) in males
and females168
Figure 5-6. Spearman's correlations between log-hsCRP and percentage body fat in males
and females168
Figure 5-7. Geometric mean hsCRP levels in patients with or without concomitant
medications171
Figure 5-8. Association of genetic variants with hsCRP levels in multivariable- adjusted
model
Figure 5-9. Plasma hsCRP levels by strata of CRP rs1205 genotype and waist circumference
Figure 5-10. Plasma hsCRP levels by strata of CRP rs1205 genotype and BMI175
Figure 6-1. Effect of age on uric acid levels in study participants
Figure 6-2. Effect of SLC2A9 rs1014290 polymorphism on uric acid levels
Figure 6-3. Non-significant associations (P>0.05) between other SNPs examined and uric
acid levels
Figure 6-4. Degree of linkage disequilibrium present within UGTs cluster209
Figure 6-5. Association of the UGT1A1 haplotypes and bilirubin levels210
Figure 6-6. Effect of UGT1A1 haplotypes on bilirubin levels
Figure 6-7. Effect of UGT1A6 haplotypes on bilirubin levels

Figure 6-8. Different associations between APOE polymorphisms and baseline levels of	f
LDL-C in patients with and without FH	214
Figure 6-9. Different associations between the LDLR rs2738466 polymorphism and bas	seline
levels of triglyceride in patients with and without FH	215

### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

### 1 Overview of statin pharmacogenetics

The 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors or statins are widely prescribed for the treatment of hypercholesterolaemia and the subsequent protection against coronary heart disease (CHD). Statins are administered orally, undergo absorption and some first-pass metabolism in the enterocytes, and then pass into the portal circulation for uptake into hepatocytes for competitive inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase (HMGCR), which is responsible for the rate-limiting step in cholesterol synthesis and this in turn results in up-regulation of expression of the low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR), and finally leading to lowering the plasma low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) concentration. Greater reductions in LDL-C appear to be associated with greater benefits in various large prospective clinical trials (Baigent C et al., 2005), but considerable inter-individual variation exists in the lipid-lowering response to statin therapy and/or clinical outcome, as well as in the incidence of the most serious side effect of statin-induced myopathy because of a combination of phenotypic and genotypic factors. It has been recognized that genetic factors contribute to inter-individual variability in the lipid-lowering response to statins, drug-interactions and the intolerance of statins (Hu M et al., 2009, Kajinami K et al., 2004e, Schmitz G et al., 2007).

Polymorphisms in the genes related to statin metabolism and disposition could affect drug exposure in the systemic circulation and the liver and consequently, clinical efficacy, and also the drug interaction with other substrate/inhibitor/inducer drugs. The genes influencing cholesterol biosynthesis and metabolism are more likely to affect the pharmacodynamics of statins. Pharmacogenetic studies have investigated the relationship between common genetic variants and drug response and/or susceptibility to adverse effects with statin therapy, which could help to optimize statin therapy by identifying individuals with increased chance of risk or benefit.

#### 1.1 Genetic influences on lipid-lowering effect of statins

### 1.1.1 Genes involved in statin pharmacokinetics

Lovastatin, pravastatin and simvastatin are fungal-derived inhibitors of HMG-CoA reductase, whereas atorvastatin, cerivastatin, fluvastatin, pravastatin, pitavastatin and rosuvastatin are fully synthetic compounds (Schachter M, 2005, Shitara Y and Sugiyama Y, 2006b). The chemical structures of the statins are shown in Figure 1-1.

Although all statins share the same active pharmacophore which resembles HMG-CoA, the substrate of their target enzyme HMG-CoA reductase, the differences in their chemical structure define their different affinity for binding to the enzyme active site, different solubility properties of the drugs and therefore many of their pharmacokinetic properties. Among these statins, lovastatin and simvastatin possess a lactone ring in their structure and are transformed into the active open acid form in the body while other statins are administered as the biologically active open acid form (Schachter M, 2005, Shitara Y and Sugiyama Y, 2006b). Atorvastatin, fluvastatin, lovastatin and simvastatin are relatively lipophilic compounds, while pravastatin and rosuvastatin are more hydrophilic. These parameters and other physicochemical and pharmacokinetic properties are summarized in Table 1-1.





H<sub>2</sub>C н₁с сн,

cerivastatin



CH, rosuvastatin

H.

0" 0

pitavastatin

	A	С	F	L	Pita	Pra	R	S
IC <sub>50</sub> (nM) <sup>†</sup>	8.2	10.0	27.6	N/A	NA	44.1	5.4	11.2
Lipophilicity <sup>‡</sup>	1.0/1.25	1.50/1.75	1.0/1.25	3.91*	1.5*	-0.75/-1.0	-0.25/-0.5	4.4*
Absorption	30%	>98%	98%	30%	80%	35%	50%	60-85%
Bioavailability	12%	60%	24-30%	5%	60-80%	18%	20%	<5%
Hepatic extraction	70%	50-60%	≥70%	≥70%	NA	45%	63%	≥80%
Renal excretion,	<5%	30%	6%	10%	NA	20%	10%	13%
Protein binding	>98%	>99%	>98%	>98%	96%	50%	90%	>95%
Half-life, (h)	7-20	1-3	1-3	2-5	10-13	1-3	20	2-5
Metabolism	+++	+++	+++	+++	++	+	+	+++
Metabolites, (n)	2	2	No	3	Minor	2	Minor	3
СҮР	3A4, 2C8	2C8, 3A4	2C9	3A4/5,	2C9	3A4	2C9,	3A4/5,
				2C8			2C19	2C8
UGTs	1A1/1A3/	1A1/1A3		1A1/1A3	1A3/			1A1/1A3/
	2B7			/2B7	2B7			2B7
SLCO influx	1B1	1B1	1B1	1B1	1B1/	1B1/2B1	1B1/1B3/	1B1
transporters					1B3		2B1/1A2	
Other influx				MCT4		OAT3/	SLC10A1	
transporters						MCT1		
ABC Efflux	B1/G2	B1/C2/	G2	B1	B1/C2/	B1/B11/	B1/C2/G2	B1
transporters		G2			G2	C2/G2		

Table 1-1. Pharmacokinetic properties of statins

<sup>†</sup>  $IC_{50}$  (inhibitor concentration to produce 50% inhibition) in purified human HMG-CoA reductase catalytic domain.

<sup>‡</sup> Lipophilicity as logD at pH7.4 of administered form, except \* at pH7.0.

Abbreviations: A = atorvastatin; ABC = ATP-binding cassette; C = cerivastatin; CYP = cytochrome P450 enzymes; F = fluvastatin; L = lovastatin; Pita = pitavastatin; Pra = pravastatin; R = rosuvastatin; S = simvastatin; SLCO = solute carrier organic anion transporter family; UGTs = uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases.

Adapted from (Hu M et al., 2009, Neuvonen PJ et al., 2006b, Shitara Y and Sugiyama Y, 2006b, Tirona RG, 2005)

The lipophilic statins are extensively metabolized, principally by cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes, whereas pravastatin, rosuvastatin, and pitavastatin are excreted mainly unchanged. Simvastatin, lovastatin and atorvastatin are mainly metabolized

by CYP3A, fluvastatin is chiefly metabolized by CYP2C9 isoenzyme, whereas cerivastatin is extensively metabolized by both CYP2C8 and CYP3A4 (Neuvonen PJ et al., 2006b). The lactone forms of all statins are metabolized by CYP enzymes more rapidly than their acid forms. In addition to oxidation by CYPs, statin acids can be converted to their lactones forms by a Co-enzyme A (CoASH)-dependent pathway (Prueksaritanont T et al., 2001) and by a pathway involving uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs), mainly UGT1A1 and UGT1A3, forming the acyl glucuronide conjugates, which undergo spontaneous cyclization to the lactone (Figure 1-2) (Prueksaritanont T et al., 2002c). In humans, UGT-mediated lactonization of statin acids seems to only have a minor contribution to their total clearance (Prueksaritanont T et al., 2002c).



### Figure 1-2. Proposed metabolic pathway of a typical statin.

Substrates for CYP3A enzymes are commonly also substrates for the efflux drug transporter p-glycoprotein, also know as multidrug resistance protein (MDR1, *ABCB1*). This is true for some of the statins, and other efflux transporters located in the enterocytes and at the canalicular membrane of the hepatocytes may also be involved. The list includes multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 (MRP2, *ABCC2*), breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP, *ABCG2*) and the bile salt exporting pump (BSEP, *ABCB11*), which may be involved in excretion of statins and their metabolites into the gut lumen or biliary system. Uptake of the more hydrophilic statin acids or lactones into hepatocytes is highly dependent on various drug influx
transporters including the solute carrier transporter (SLC) proteins, such as organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 (OATP1B1, *SLCO1B1*) (Figure. 1-3). All the statins appear to be substrates of OATP1B1 to a varying degree and the efficiency of this transport mechanism may be a major determinant for the ability of individual statins in the hydrophilic acid form to enter hepatocytes where their main pharmacological activity is exerted.

Figure 1-3. Vectorial pathway for statin distribution from enterocytes to hepatocytes for their pharmacological action and metabolism and elimination via the bile and kidneys



Listed across the compartment interfaces are efflux or uptake transporter proteins that may be involved.

Abbreviations: ABC = ATP-binding cassette; MCT= monocarboxylate transporter; OAT= organic anion transporter; SLC=solute solute carrier family; SLCO, solute carrier organic anion transporter family.

Genetic variations in these metabolizing enzymes and transporters may have a great

impact on the pharmacokinetics of statins, which may result in altered efficacy and toxicity of statins. The frequencies of some functional single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in these pharmacokinetic-related genes varied among populations, which may contribute to the ethnic differences in pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of some statins. Most of the statins appear to have pharmacokinetic parameters that increase in proportion to the dose. However, doubling the dose of a statin typically only reduces the LDL-C by a further 6% from the original baseline (Roberts WC, 1997). The dose-response relationships for average changes in lipid parameters with different statins have been established in a number of large studies mainly performed in Caucasians (Jones P et al., 1998, Jones PH et al., 2003a). Thus it may be anticipated that any polymorphism in an enzyme or transporter, or a drug interaction, which increased the drug concentration in plasma or hepatocytes by 100% might only result in an additional 6% reduction in LDL-C.

# 1.1.2 Drug metabolizing enzymes affecting statin therapy

# 1.1.2.1 CYP3A4 and CYP3A5

The CYP3A enzyme group constitutes the largest amount of CYP enzymes in the liver and enterocytes. The importance of both CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in the metabolism of some of the statins in both the lactone and acid forms has been known for many years (Prueksaritanont T et al., 1997). Many drug interactions have been described between statins and potent inhibitors of CYP3A4 such as itraconazole, ketconazole and even grapefruit juice, which acts only on enterocyte CYP3A4 (Neuvonen PJ et al., 2006a). These combinations should generally be avoided because of the increased risk of myopathy and rhabdomyolysis. The enzyme activity of CYP3A4 may differ as much as 40-fold in both liver and small intestine, which is not currently explained by polymorphisms in *CYP3A4* (Xie HG et al., 2001). A

recent study suggested that the functional impairment SNP \*28 (A503V) in the P450 oxidoreductase (POR), a key regulator of CYP450 enzymes contributed to the variability of total CYP3A activity in vivo and was a better genetic marker than genetic variants in *CYP3A* genes (Oneda B et al., 2009).

More than 40 SNPs of the *CYP3A4* gene have been identified on the Human Cytochrome P450 Allele Nomenclature Committee homepage (http://www.imm.ki.se/CYPalleles), but most of these are not very frequent (Table 1-2)

Polymorphisms	Amino	Enzyme	Allele frequency (%)		
	acid exchange	activity	White	Black	East Asian
*1B (-392A>G)		Uncertain	3.9-4.2	53-69	0-4.7
*1G (*18B, 20230G>A)		Uncertain	<10	34-89	22-31
*2 (15713T>C)	Ser222Pro	Substrate specific	2.7	0	0
*4 (352A>G, 13871A>G)	Ile118Val	Reduced	NA	NA	3.3

Table 1-2. Common polymorphisms in CYP3A4

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009) or NCBI SNP website.

The frequency of the *CYP3A4* \*1G variant allele is the highest of all the *CYP3A4* polymorphic alleles identified in Chinese, but the functional effect of this polymorphism remains unclear and previous studies have reported decreased or increased activity of CYP3A4 associated with the variant allele (Fukushima-Uesaka H et al., 2004, Hu YF et al., 2007, Zhang W et al., 2009). Similarly, the functional effect of \*1B in *CYP3A4* examined in various studies is also not conclusive, although it has been suggested that the variant allele was assumed to be associated with enhanced CYP3A4 expression due to reduced binding of a transcriptional repressor (Amirimani B et al., 2003). The impact of these two SNPs on the pharmacokinetics and/or pharmacodynamics of substrate drugs was inconsistent. In one study with

atorvastatin 10 mg daily, patients who were homozygous for CYP3A4 \*1B had significantly higher post-treatment LDL-C levels, but there was no difference in absolute and percentage changes in LDL-C (Kajinami K et al., 2004b). A recent population-based cohort study in 1239 simvastatin and atorvastatin treated patients showed that the CYP3A4 \*1B polymorphism was associated with a lower incidence of dose decreases or switching during simvastatin and atorvastatin therapy due to an adverse drug reaction or to excessive reduction in cholesterol levels, which are most likely caused by elevated statin plasma levels, suggesting an increased metabolism rate in the \*1B carriers (Gordon RY et al., 2009). The impact on statin therapy of the CYP3A4 \*4 polymorphism causing reduced activity of the enzyme has been reported with the \*4 variant allele being associated with greater reductions in total cholesterol and/or triglyceride with simvastatin or atorvastatin treatment but not for LDL-C in Chinese hyperlipidaemic patients (Liu ZZ et al., 2008, Wang A et al., 2005). The infrequent CYP3A4 \*2 allele appeared to have substrate specific effects in a previous study using a baculovirus-directed cDNA expression system showing that the intrinsic clearance for nifedipine oxidation was decreased approximately six- to nine-fold with the variant enzyme compared with the wild-type enzyme, but there was no significant effect of the polymorphism on testosterone  $6\beta$ -hydroxylation (Xie HG et al., 2001), but its effect on statins has not been reported.

The *CYP3A5\*3* allele with decreased enzyme activity is relatively common in different ethnic groups and may contribute a substantial amount to inter-individual variability in metabolism of CYP3A substrates (Schmitz G and Langmann T, 2006) (Table 1-3).

Polymorphisms	Amino acid	Enzyme activity	Allele frequency (%)			
	exchange		White	Black	East Asian	
*1		Normal	0-15	36-45	23-40	
*3 (6986A>G)	Premature stop	Severely decreased	85-98	27-84	60-77	
*6 (14690G>A)	Premature stop	decreased	0	8.7	1.6	

 Table 1-3. Common polymorphisms in CYP3A5

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009) or NCBI SNP website.

The *CYP3A5\*3* polymorphism has been shown to be associated with increased systemic exposure to simvastatin in Korean healthy volunteers (Kim KA et al., 2007). The effect of the *CYP3A5\*3* polymorphism on lipid responses to statins has been reported but the results are not consistent. In a study in subjects being treated with various statins (lovastatin, simvastatin and atorvastatin) metabolized through CYP3A, there were smaller lipid-lowering responses in the *CYP3A5\*1* wild-type enzyme expressors compared to homozygous *CYP3A5\*3* enzyme non-expressors, (Kivisto KT et al., 2004). However, some other studies failed to show a significant effect of the *CYP3A5\*3* allele on lipid responses to simvastatin or atorvastatin (Fiegenbaum M et al., 2005b, Thompson JF et al., 2005). More recently, an *in vitro* study suggested that atorvastatin was preferentially metabolized by *CYP3A4* rather than by *CYP3A5* and as such, the genetic *CYP3A5* polymorphism might not be an important factor in the interindividual variation of atorvastatin disposition and pharmacodynamics in humans (Park JE et al., 2008).

Some statins, particularly simvastatin and atorvastatin, potentially interact with CYP3A4-dependent drugs through competitive inhibition of the enzyme, and furthermore, *in vitro* studies have suggested that statins themselves may also influence CYP3A expression (Willrich MA et al., 2009), but data on the effect of statins on CYP3A4 activity are limited and this remains controversial. Recently, an

open-label, randomized, 3-way crossover study which investigated the effect of simvastatin 10 mg, atorvastatin 10 mg, and pitavastatin 2 mg on the pharmacokinetics of midazolam in 11 Japanese healthy volunteers has shown that these statins had no effects on the pharmacokinetics of midazolam and its metabolite suggesting these statins can be used safely at least at low doses without influencing CAP3A4 enzyme activity (Yamasaki D et al., 2009).

#### 1.1.2.2 CYP2C9 and CYP2C19

CYP2C9 is responsible for the hydroxylation of a wide range of drugs, being particularly important for the narrow therapeutic range agents warfarin and phenytoin (Schwarz UI, 2003). The CYP2C9 and CYP2C19 genes are polymorphically expressed with 30 variant alleles for CYP2C9 and 21 variant alleles for CYP2C19 identified and many of these variants, the most common being \*2 and \*3, are associated with decreased or absent enzyme activities and decreased metabolism of the respective substrates. These two genes have marked inter-ethnic difference in the distributions of variant alleles with some minor alleles found only in some particular ethnic groups (Rosemary J and Adithan C, 2007). There is a relatively high frequency of CYP2C19 \*2 and \*3 polymorphisms account for >99% of Oriental PMs in constrat to ~87% of Caucasian PMs being explained by these 2 SNPs (Rosemary J and Adithan C, 2007). However, the PM genotypes for CYP2C9 in East Asians are very uncommon (Table 1-4).

Polymorphisms	Amino acid	Enzyme activity	Allele frequency (%)			
-	exchange		White	Black	East Asian	
CYP2C9						
*2 (430C>T)	Arg144Cys	Decreased	10-15	2-4	0.1	
*3 (1075A>C)	Ile359Leu	Decreased	5-10	<2	1-4.9	
CYP2C19						
*2 (681G>A)	Val331Ile	Absent	13-19	11-25	21-45	
*3 (636G>A)	Ile359Leu	Absent	0-0.3	0-1.8	5-13	

Table 1-4. Common polymorphisms in CYP2C9 and CYP2C19

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009) and (Rosemary J and Adithan C, 2007).

Fluvastatin is the only statin known to undergo a major degree of CYP2C9-mediated metabolism. The area under the plasma concentration-time curve (AUC) values for fluvastatin were found to be higher in Caucasian subjects with the \*3 allele (Kirchheiner J et al., 2003). However, no correlation was found with the clinical effects in terms of lipid lowering efficacy in that study (Kirchheiner J et al., 2003). Similarly, a study involving 707 renal transplant patients on cyclosporine (ALERT study) found no significant effect of the *CYP2C9* \*2 and \*3 alleles on the LDL-C reduction with fluvastatin 40 mg (Singer JB et al., 2007). Pitavastatin, and to a lesser extent rosuvastatin, undergo a minor degree of metabolism by CYP2C9 and the latter is also metabolised by CYP2C19 (Igel M et al., 2002), but there are no reports of the effects of variants in these enzymes on the pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of these statins.

# 1.1.2.3 CYP2D6

Although CYP2D6 accounts for only a small percentage of total hepatic CYP enzymes ( $\sim 2 - 4\%$ ), it metabolizes  $\sim 25\%$  of commonly used drugs and is the only non-inducible enzyme in the CYP450 family (Owen RP et al., 2009, Zhou SF, 2009). The *CYP2D6* gene is highly polymorphic with over 90 variants being identified and resulting in varied enzyme activity (Owen RP et al., 2009). Subjects can be assigned

into 4 categories based on their ability to metabolize CYP2D6 substrates: ultrarapid metabolizers (UMs), extensive metabolizers (EMs), intermediate metabolizers (IMs) and PMs. The distribution of *CYP2D6* polymorphisms exhibits significant interethnic differences (Table 1-5) resulting in variable percentages of PMs, IMs, EMs and UMs in different populations. In particular, IMs are located to a great extent in East Asia due to the high prevalence of the *CYP2D6* \*10 allele, whereas, PMs are mainly found in Europe, and UMs are mainly found in North and Eastern African and Oceanian populations (Owen RP et al., 2009, Sistonen J et al., 2009).

Polymorphisms/	Amino acid	<b>Enzyme activity</b>	Allele frequency (%)			
haplotypes	exchange		White	Black	East Asian	
*1	Wild-type	Normal	33.4-83.8	27.8-90.4	22.7-49	
*2 (-1584C>G, 2850C>T, 4180G>C)	Wild-type	Normal	32.4-35.3	9.9-40	8.0-13.4	
*3 (2549A>del)	260 terminate	Inactive	0-2.5	0-1	0	
*4 (100C>T, 974C>A, 984A>G, 1846G>A splice, 4180G>C)	182 terminate	Inactive	11%-29	0.9-9.3	0.2-0.8	
*5	Gene deletion	No activity	0.6-7.3	3.3-9	1.2-6.2	
*10 (100C>T, 4180G>C)	Pro34Ser, Ser486Thr	Decreased	1.4-6.1	1-8.6	38-70	
*17 (1023C>T, 2850C>T, 4180G>C)	Thr107Ile, Arg296Cys, Ser486Thr	Decreased	0-1.1	9-34	0	
*41 (-1584C>G, 2850C>T, 2988G>A, 4180G>C)	Arg296Cys, Ser486Thr	Decreased	10-20	0	0	
*2 X N (N≥2)	Arg296Cys, Ser486Thr	Increased	5-10	2-14	0.5	

Table 1-5. Common polymorphisms in CYP2D6

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009).

The involvement of the CYP2D6 enzyme in the metabolism of statins is more controversial than that of other enzymes mentioned above. CYP2D6 may not be directly involved in the metabolism of the statin lactone or hydroxy acid, but it may play a role in disposition of the downstream oxidative metabolites. There were several studies reporting an increased cholesterol-lowering efficacy with simvastatin treatment in subjects with *CYP2D6* genotypes associated with decreased enzyme activities (Mulder AB et al., 2001, Nordin C et al., 1997, Zuccaro P et al., 2007), although an *in vitro* study suggested that *CYP2D6* was not involved in the metabolism of simvastatin (Prueksaritanont T et al., 2003).

# 1.1.2.4 Uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases

Glucuronidation mediated by UGT enzymes accounts for ~35% of all Phase II drug metabolism and plays an important role in the detoxification and excretion of numerous xenobiotics including therapeutic drugs and endogenous compounds (e.g. bilirubin) (Owens IS et al., 2005). The UGT superfamily can be subdivided into four subfamilies, UGT1, UGT2, UGT3, and UGT8, among which the enzymes of the UGT1 and UGT2 families are most efficient at using UDP glucuronic acid as the glycosyl donor (Mackenzie PI et al., 2005, Owens IS et al., 2005). The UGT1A locus is located on chromosome 2q37 and contains 13 individual promoters/first exons and a shared set of exons 2 to 5 (Figure 1-4), which potentially generates 13 transcripts containing unique 5' ends and identical 3' ends with nine of them being functional (UGT1A1, UGT1A3-1A10) (Mackenzie PI et al., 2005). As each UGT1A gene shares four common exons, it was predicted that a deleterious defect in any common exon would inactivate the entire locus, whereas such a defect in a unique exon would affect a single UGT protein (Owens IS et al., 2005). There is tissue-specific expression of the UGT1A proteins with five of the nine functional UGT1A proteins being primarily expressed in hepatic tissues (UGT1A1, UGT1A3, UGT1A4, UGT1A6 and UGT1A9) (Tukey RH and Strassburg CP, 2000).

# Figure 1-4. The UGT1 family



Each exon 1 is represented by a rectangle, labeled A1, A2, A3, etc. and its position relative to exons 2–5 is indicated. Exons 2–5, which are joined to each first exon in the mature transcript, are shown in grey. Adapted from (Mackenzie PI et al., 2005).

Unlike the UGT1 family, the UGT2 genes each comprise six exons that are not shared between the UGT2 family members except for *UGT2A1* and *UGT2A2* and are divided into UGT2A and 2B subfamilies (Mackenzie PI et al., 2005). In addition, the protein-protein interactions between human UGT2B7 and UGT1As or within UGT1As have been reported suggesting the complexities in glucuronidations in human liver (Fujiwara R et al., 2010, Fujiwara R et al., 2007).

Polymorphisms of UGTs causing absent or reduced enzyme activity have been found to be closely associated with altered drug clearance and/or drug response, hyperbilirubinaemia, Gilbert's syndrome, and Crigler-Najjar syndrome (Di YM et al., 2009). Common functional polymorphisms in UGT1A1, 1A3 and 2B7 are shown in Table 1-6.

Polymorphisms/	Amino acid	Enzyme	Allele frequency (%)			
haplotypes	exchange	activity	White	Black	East Asian	
UGT1A1						
*6 (211G>A)	Gly71Arg	Decreased	0.7	NA	5-24.1	
*28 (-53(TA)6>7)	C 200	Decreased	30-40	35-45	6.8-23	
*60(-3279T>G)		Decreased	44-55	85	17-33	
UGT1A3						
*1			35-54.4	NA	61-67.6	
*2 (31T>C / 81G>A /	W11R / E27E /	Substrate	35.9-54.3	NA	10.4-12.5	
140 T>C)	V47A	specific				
*3 (31T>C / 81G> A)	W11R / E27E	Substrate specific	6-7	NA	10-12	
UGT2B7						
-327A>G		No change	39	NA	70.7-75.6	
-161T>C		No change	44-49	68	~75	
*71S (211G>T)	A71S		2	0	9-18.5	
*2 (802T>C)	H268Y	No change	49-56	21-32	24.4-29.3	

Table 1-6. Common polymorphisms in UGT1A1, 1A3 and 2B7

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009) and multiple references: UGT1A3: (Caillier B et al., 2007, Chen Y et al., 2006); UGT1A6: (Innocenti F et al., 2008, Mehlotra RK et al., 2007, Saito K et al., 2006)

The UGT enzymes catalyze the conjugation of glucuronic acid to certain target substrates and they are involved in the inter-conversion of statin lactones and acids through a glucuronidation pathway (Prueksaritanont T et al., 2002a). Coadministration of gemfibrozil with certain statins was found to increase systemic exposure of statins to a different extent (from 1.2 to >5-fold) (Goosen TC et al., 2007), which may be due in part to the inhibition of statin glucuronidation by gemfibrozil (Prueksaritanont T et al., 2002c). A number of UGT enzymes were suggested to contribute to statin glucuronidation e.g. UGT1A3 and UGT2B7 (Fujino H et al., 2003, Goosen TC et al., 2007) and the number of alternative pathways may reduce the contribution of changes in individual UGT enzyme activities to result in altered pharmacokinetics of the statins. However, Riedmaier et al found that lactonization of atorvastatin is catalyzed mainly by UGT1A3 and that it is affected by common polymorphisms in the *UGT1A* locus, both in human liver microsomes and in healthy volunteers (Riedmaier S et al., 2009). Subjects with the *UGT1A3* \*2

haplotype had an increase in atorvastatin lactonization as a result of increase in UTG1A3 expression. The atorvastatin lactone is a major metabolite that is pharmacologically inactive but is associated with toxicity (Hermann M et al., 2006, Skottheim IB et al., 2008). The result of this study suggested UGT1A3 is a novel candidate gene that may influence the safety of atorvastatin.

# 1.1.3 Drug transporter proteins affecting statin disposition

Recent pharmacogenomic/pharmacogenetic studies have disclosed important roles of drug transporters in the pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic profiles of some clinically relevant drugs (Ieiri I et al., 2009, Shitara Y and Sugiyama Y, 2006a). The uptake transporter OATP1B1 is specifically expressed in the liver and is considered important for statins, particularly as their pharmacological target organ is the liver. The ATP-binding cassette (ABC) efflux transporters like ABCG2 are expressed in various human tissues and are considered particularly important for reducing intestinal drug absorption and promoting hepatic drug elimination (Ieiri I et al., 2009, Shitara Y and Sugiyama Y, 2006a). Of the statins, pravastatin, rosuvastatin and pitavastatin are hydrophilic and are subject to relatively little metabolism, so drug transporters have a major effect on their disposition. Other statins or their active or inactive metabolites have also been shown to be substrates for some transporters. All statins appear to be substrates for OATP1B1 to different extents, but specificity for hepatobiliary (canalicular) efflux transporters differs among statins. Functional polymorphisms in genes encoding these drug transporters are likely to influence the pharmacokinetic profiles and the efficacy of transporter-dependent drugs. As with the CYP and UGT enzymes, the frequencies of polymorphisms in the genes for the OATP influx transporters and ABC efflux transporters vary between different ethnic groups, which may also contribute to some of the interethnic variability in the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of drugs (Cascorbi I, 2006, Konig J et al., 2006).

# 1.1.3.1 SLCO1B1

The OATP1B1 (gene *SLCO1B1*), previously known as OATP-C or OATP2, is an uptake transporter expressed on the sinusoidal membrane of human hepatocytes, which is responsible for the hepatocellular uptake of a variety of endogenous and foreign chemicals (Niemi M, 2007). The *SLCO1B1* gene is highly polymorphic with different allele and haplotype distributions in different populations (Table 1-7). Some of these polymorphisms are associated with reduced transport activity of OATP1B1. Two common SNPs, 388A>G (130Asn>Asp) and 521T>C (174Val>Ala), have been examined extensively due to marked consequences for transport activity (Figure 1-5).





The locations of the identified polymorphisms (arrows) are indicated in relation to the promoter and exon structure. The domain sizes are not to scale. Adapted from (Jada SR et al., 2007).

Polymorphisms/	Amino acid	Transporter	r Allele frequency (?		(%)
haplotypes	exchange	activity	White	Black	East Asian
*la			34-56	21-34	25-35
-11187G>A		Unknown	6.6-7.4	0.5-10	13-15.3
388A>G	Asn130Asp	? Increased	30-46	70-80	60-90
463C>A	Pro155Thr	Unchanged	13-16	2.2	0
521T>C	Val174Ala	Reduced	14-20	1.0-2.5	11-16
*1b (388G+521T)	Asn130Asp	? Increased	26-39	48-77	63
*5 (388G+521C)	Val174Ala	Reduced	0-2	0-2	~ 0
*14 (388G + 463A)	Asn130Asp +	Unchanged	13.0-15.4	NA	~ 0
	Pro155Thr				
*15 (388G + 521C)	Asn130Asp +	Reduced	16-24	2-16	3.7-12
	Val174Ala				
*17 (-11187A+	Asn130Asp +	Reduced	6.9	NA	2.9-13.3
388G +521C)	Val174Ala				

Table 1-7. Common polymorphisms in SLCO1B1

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009) and (Jada SR et al., 2007, Kim SR et al., 2007, Mwinyi J et al., 2008, Pasanen MK et al., 2008b)

The frequency of 388A>G in East Asians (60-90%) was approximately two-fold higher than that in Caucasians (30-46%), whereas, the prevalence of 521T>C in East Asians (11-16%) was similar to values reported in Caucasians (14-20%). The functional effect of the 388A>G polymorphism remains controversial. Early *in vitro* studies have shown that the 388G variant was associated with reduced transport activity of OATP1B1 towards rifampicin, but not with other substrate drugs. *In vivo* pharmacokinetic studies have shown that the 388G variant was associated with reduced plasma pravastatin concentrations suggesting an increased activity of OATP1B1 (Maeda K et al., 2006, Mwinyi J et al., 2004). However, a very recent pharmacokinetic study in 18 Chinese healthy volunteers has shown that the 388G variant allele was associated with increased systemic exposure to pitavastatin suggesting a reduced enzyme activity associated with the variant allele (Wen J and

Xiong Y, 2010). These findings suggest that there may be differences in the effects of the *SLCO1B1* 388A>G polymorphism among different substrates and/or ethnic groups.

The 521T>C polymorphism has been consistently reported to be associated with reduced uptake activity of the OATP1B1 transporter and with a markedly reduced uptake of all statins, except for fluvastatin, from the bloodstream into hepatocytes, leading to remarkably increased plasma concentrations of statins in various populations (Hu M et al., 2009, Pasanen MK et al., 2008b). The effect of the *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism appears to be greatest with simvastatin with the AUC of active simvastatin acid being 221% greater in individuals with the 521CC genotype than that in those with the 521TT genotype (Niemi M, 2009). The AUCs of pitavastatin, atrovastatin, pravastatin and rosuvastatin in individuals with the 521CC genotype were shown to be 162–191%, 144%, 57–130% and 62–117%, respectively, greater than in those with the 521TT genotype (Niemi M, 2009). However, the *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism did not have a significant effect on the pharmacokinetics of fluvastatin (Niemi M et al., 2006b).

As statins exert their main cholesterol-lowering effects in hepatocytes, reduced OATP1B1-mediated uptake from the blood stream into the liver due to genetic variants may be associated with a reduced pharmacological efficacy, whereas, increased systemic exposure may lead to increased risk of side effects, such as myopathy. However, in contrast to the great impact of *SLCO1B1* polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics of statins, few studies reported significant associations between these genetic variants and the lipid-lowering responses to statins. In the Heart Protection Study (HPS), subjects with the 521C variant had an increased risk of

developing myopathy with an odds ratio of 4.5 per cocy of the C variant allele and less reduction in LDL-C with simvastatin (-1.28% per C allele, P < 0.0001) (Link E et al., 2008). In addition, several other studies have shown that subjects with the 521C variant allele had a smaller effect on cholesterol synthesis with pravastatin or less reduction in total cholesterol in response to pravastatin (Niemi M et al., 2005, Tachibana-Iimori R et al., 2004, Zhang W et al., 2007). The fingings of these studies are in line with the hypothesis that impaired hepatic uptake activity in those carrying the 521C allele results in decreased intracellular concentrations of pravastatin in hepatocytes, the primary site of action, although some other studies did not replicate the associations between the *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism and lipid responses to pravastatin (Thompson JF et al., 2005).

Couvert et al have recently reported that the variant allele of the non-synonymous SNP 463C>A (Pro155Thr) and the SLCO1B1\*14 haplotype (388G and 463A) it defines were significantly associated with enhanced lipid-lowering efficacy of fluvastatin in 420 European elderly hypercholesterolaemic subjects (Couvert P et al., 2008). Subjects with the 463CC genotype (n = 294) exhibited significantly less LDL-C reduction than those with one or two copies of variant alleles (n = 111 and n = 15, respectively) (-31.5% : -36.2% : -41%, P<0.05). The effect of this polymorphism on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of other statins has not been reported.

#### 1.1.3.2 ABCB1 (multidrug resistance protein, P-glycoprotein)

The multidrug resistance protein (MDR1), P-glycoprotein (P-gp) or ABCB1 was the first ABC transporter identified. It is expressed in multiple organs in humans, including the small intestine, liver, kidney and brain in addition to being expressed in tumour cells. Although the expression of ABCB1 was found to be 7-fold higher in small-intestine enterocyte homogenates than in the liver (von Richter O et al., 2004), it contributes not only to reduce absorption of substrates from the gut but also to the excretion of substrates from the liver into the bile. There are more than 50 SNPs that have been identified in the human *ABCB1* coding region (Figure 1-6), but the functional consequences of these reported SNPs are still uncertain and most of the known SNPs and haplotypes do not affect protein function *in vitro* (Fung KL and Gottesman MM, 2009). Three common SNPs are in strong linkage disequilibrium (LD), creating a common haplotype at positions 1236C>T (non-coding), 2677G>T (Ala893Ser) and 3435C>T (non-coding) (Figure 1-7) (Choudhuri S and Klaassen CD, 2006). The frequencies of these SNPs and haplotypes are distributed in an ethnic-dependent manner (Table 1-8).

Figure 1-6. Polymorphisms in the ABCB1 gene



Schematic diagram showing relative positions of the SNP sites in the promoter and exons of the *ABCB1* gene. The domain sizes are not to scale. Adapted from (Leschziner GD et al., 2007).

# Figure 1-7. Two-dimensional structure of ABCB1 with locations of amino acid replacements and two synonymous frequent SNPs



Adapted from (Cascorbi I, 2006). NBD = nucleotide-binding domain.

Polymorphisms/	Amino acid	Transporter	Allele frequency (%)		
Haplotypes	exchange	activity	White	Black	East Asian
1236C>T	Non-coding	Uncertain	34.4-42	15	61.5-69.4
2677G>T	Ala893Ser	Decreased	41.6-46	6.5-10	36-43.7
2677G>A	Ala893Thr	Decreased	0-3.6	0-0.5	5.8-21.8
3435C>T	Non-coding	Decreased	48-54	16-26	37-47
1236C-2677G-3435C		Normal	32-45	43.6-79	17-26
1236T-2677T-3435T	Ala893Ser	Decreased	35-42	4.5-8.7	32.2-41.4
-129T>C	Non-coding	Unknown	5.9	NA	1.6-8.3
4036 A>G	Non-coding	Unknown	20.5	22.7	26.1

Table 1-8. Common polymorphisms in ABCB1

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009) and (Fung KL and Gottesman MM, 2009).

Although the results are not all consistent, the 3435C>T SNP was found to be a main functional polymorphism associated with several changes, from mRNA level, protein expression, protein folding to substrate specificity in cell lines and human samples but how this happens on a molecular level is not fully understood (Fung KL and Gottesman MM, 2009), but is probably due to altering the structure of substrate and

inhibitor interaction sites (Kimchi-Sarfaty C et al., 2007). A recent in vitro study has suggested that the effect of polymorphisms in *ABCB1* is substrate-dependent, so it may be difficult to predict the impact of *ABCB1* SNPs on the clinical effects of the substrate drugs (Gow JM et al., 2008).

Recent pharmacokinetic studies suggested that the ABCB1 1236T-2677T-3435T haplotype was associated with 60% greater AUC(0-12h) of simvastatin acid and 55% larger AUC<sub>(0-infinity)</sub> of atorvastatin acid than those in subjects with the wild-type alleles (1236C-2677G-3435C), but there was no effect on the pharmacokinetics of lactones of these two statins (Keskitalo JE et al., 2008) or on the pharmacokinetics of the other statins (fluvastatin, pravastatin, lovastatin, and rosuvastatin) (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009a). It has been shown that patients with one or two copies of the ABCB1 1236T variant allele had greater reductions in total cholesterol and LDL-C with simvastatin treatment than those homozygous wild-type alleles (total cholesterol -29.0% [95% confidence interval (CI), -25.9 to -32.5] vs. -24.2% [-19.0 to -29.3], and LDL-C -39.6% [-35.8 to -44.0] vs. -33.8% [-27.4 to -40.2], respectively, P = 0.042 for both) and similar results were also observed for the 2677G>A/T polymorphism and the haplotypes these SNPs defined (Fiegenbaum M et al., 2005c). Other studies have also identified the association between polymorphisms or haplotypes of the ABCB1 gene and the LDL-C response to atorvastatin or fluvastatin (Bercovich D et al., 2006, Kajinami K et al., 2004d, Thompson JF et al., 2005), although fluvastatin is not thought to be a substrate for ABCB1-mediated transport (Bercovich D et al., 2006).

However, some statins or their metabolites, such as atorvastatin, lovastatin and simvastatin lactone, were found to induce the mRNA expression of MDR1 and CYP3A in a concentration-dependent manner in cell lines (Bogman K et al., 2001, Yamasaki D et al., 2009). In addition, it has also been reported that ABCB1 may play a role in cholesterol homeostasis and several studies have demonstrated that polymorphisms in ABCB1 were associated with altered baseline cholesterol levels in hypercholesterolaemic patients and healthy subjects (Jeannesson E et al., 2009, Rodrigues AC et al., 2005), although the findings of thses studies are not consistent. Furthermore, cholesterol concentration can also regulate ABCB1 expression and activity with elevated cellular cholesterol levels markedly increasing P-gp activity (Troost J et al., 2004). These factors may influence the associations between ABCB1 polymorphisms and statin responses. Indeed, Rebecchi et al has recently reported that atorvastatin significantly reduced ABCB1 and ABCC1 mRNA levels in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and the ABCB1 2677 G>T/A polymorphism was associated with reduced expression of ABCB1. In this study, lower basal ABCB1 mRNA levels were associated with smaller reductions for LDL-C and apoB in response to atorvastatin, suggesting atorvastatin was more effective in reducing lipid levels in ABCB1 high-expressors than in low-expressors (Rebecchi IM et al., 2009).

#### 1.1.3.3 ABCG2

The ABCG2 transporter, also known as BCRP, is highly expressed in the placenta, colon, liver and small intestine and may play a role in absorption, distribution, and elimination of drugs that are BCRP substrates (Mao Q and Unadkat JD, 2005). ABCG2 is a half-transporter that is composed of a single nucleotide-binding domain (NBD) followed by one membrane-spanning domain (MSD), therefore homodimerization may be essential for it to act as a drug transporter (leiri I et al., 2009, Mao Q and Unadkat JD, 2005). Among over 80 naturally occurring sequence variations identified in the ABCG2 gene (Figure 1-8), the nonsynonymous 421C>A

SNP reducing the transport function of ABCG2 due to a change of glutamine to lysine at codon 141 has been studied most extensively (Robey RW et al., 2009). This polymorphism was most prevalent in both the Japanese and Chinese populations with an allele frequency of  $\sim$ 35%, but was less common in Caucasian (9-15%) and almost absent in Blacks (Table 1-9).

Figure 1-8. Polymorphisms in the ABCG2 gene



Schematic diagram showing relative positions of the SNP sites in the promoter and exons of the *ABCG2* gene. The domain sizes are not to scale. Adapted from (Yanase K et al., 2006).

Table 1-9. Common polymorphisms in ABCG2

Polymorphisms	Amino acid	Transporter	Alle	ele frequency	(%)
	exchange	activity	White	Black	East Asian
34G>A	Val12Met	Uncertain	2-10.3	4	15-36
421C>T	Gln141Lys	Reduced	9-15	0-5	25-35

Data are from (Hu M et al., 2009) and (Niemi M, 2009)

ABCG2 contributes to the disposition of a wide variety of endogenic substances and drugs including some statins (Cusatis G and Sparreboom A, 2008). The plasma concentrations of rosuvstatin, atorvastatin, simvastatin lactone and fluvastatin have been markedly increased in individuals with the 421A variant alelle in various

pharmacokinetic studies (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009b, Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c, Zhang W et al., 2006a), but not for pitavastatin, pravastatin and simvastatin acid (Ho RH et al., 2007, Ieiri I et al., 2007, Keskitalo JE et al., 2009b). The effect is strongest on rosuvastatin with subjects with 421AA genotype having about 2-fold higher systemic exposure to rosuvastatin compared to those with 421CC genotype (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c, Zhang W et al., 2006a). The higher prevalence of this polymorphism in East Asians than in Caucasians may contribute to the ethnic difference in rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics. Although pitavastatin and pravastatin has been demostrated to be substrates of ABCG2, the 421C>A polymorphism did not alter their pharmacokinetics, which may be attributed to the contributions of other ABC transporters e.g. ABCC2 in the pharmacokinetics of pitavastatin and pravastatin (Ieiri I et al., 2007, Kivisto KT and Niemi M, 2007). The effect of the *ABCG2* polymorphisms on the lipid response to statins has not been reported.

# 1.1.3.4 Other transporters

The ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCC2 or MRP2, encoded by the ABCC2 gene plays an important role in drug excretion processes. Impaired function of MRP2 may result in increased gastrointestinal absorption and decreased biliary and/or urinary excretion of its substrates. This efflux transporter is thought to be one of the major transporters involved in the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin in humans (Kivisto KT and Niemi M, 2007). More than 40 SNPs in the ABCC2 gene have been identified, but little is known about the effect of genetic variations in ABCC2 on the pharmacokinetics of drugs in humans. Niemi et al. reported a significant association between a synonymous SNP in ABCC2 (1446C>G) and the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin (Niemi M et al., 2006a). The 1446G variant allele was associated with increased hepatic expression of ABCC2 mRNA and reduced plasma concentrations of pravastatin although the mechanism by which this synonymous SNP increases MRP2 expression is still unclear (Niemi M et al., 2006a). Recently, another study failed to find a relationship between 3 commonly occurring non-synonymous polymorphisms in *ABCC2* (1249G>A, 3563T>A and 4544G>A) and the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin (Ho RH et al., 2007).

Several *in vitro* studies have suggested that other transporters including SLCO2B1 (OATP2B1), SLC22A8 (OAT3), ABCB11 (BSEP), and sodium-dependent taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide (NTCP) may also play a role in the disposition of some statins (Hirano M et al., 2005, Ho RH et al., 2006, Kivisto KT and Niemi M, 2007). The possible effects of polymorphisms in these genes on statin pharmacokinetics have not been thoroughly addressed.

# 1.1.4 Genes involved in cholesterol synthesis and lipoprotein metabolism affecting statin responses

In contrast to the different effects of genetic polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics of different statins, polymorphisms affecting pharmacodynamics are likely to have similar effects to all statins. A number of candidate genes involved in lipid metabolism pathways (Figure 1-9) that may affect the pharmacodynamic lipid-regulating effect of statins have been studied (Hu M et al., 2009). To date, the most extensively examined genes related to lipid metabolism pathways and statin effects are the LDLR, apolipoprotein E (APOE), the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene (CETP) and the target enzyme for statins, HMGCR.

Figure 1-9. Overview of lipoprotein metabolism



Abbreviations: ABCG5/G8 = ATP-binding cassette transporter G5/G8; AP = adaptor protein; APOB = apolipoprotein B; ATGL = adipose TG lipase; C = cholesterol; CETP = cholesterol ester transfer protein; CMRs = chylomicron remnants; CMs = chylomicrons; DGAT = acyl CoA:diacylglycerol acyltransferase; FA = fatty acid; HDL = high-density lipoprotein; HL = hepatic lipase; HMGCR = 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase; HSL = hormone sensitive lipase; IDL = intermediate-density lipoprotein (VLDL remnants); LCAT = lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; LDLR = LDL receptor; LIPG = endothelial lipase; LPL = lipoprotein lipase; LRP1 = LDLR-related protein-1; MTTP = microsomal TG-transfer protein; NPC1L1 = Niemann-Pick C1-like 1; SRB1 = scavenger receptor class B type I; TG = triglyceride; VLDL = very low-density lipoprotein. Adapted from (Hegele RA, 2009)

# 1.1.4.1 HMG-CoA reductase

The HMGCR is the rate-limiting enzyme in cholesterol synthesis and the direct enzymatic target of statins. Unlike other well known determinants of cholesterol homeostasis, e.g. LDLR or APOE, associations between polymorphisms in HMGCR and baseline LDL-C concentrations have been discovered in the recent genome-wide association studies (GWASs) (Kathiresan S et al., 2009). Variants in this gene were associated with multiple lipid/lipoprotein traits with different impact among different ethnicities (Burkhardt R et al., 2008, Chen YC et al., 2009, Kathiresan S et al., 2009).

The two tightly linked SNPs, SNP12 (rs17244841) in intron 5 and SNP29 (rs17238540) in intron 18 have been reported to be associated with reduced lipid response in the PRINCE (Pravastatin Inflammation/CRP Evaluation) subjects with pravastatin treatment (Chasman DI et al., 2004), a black cohort in CAP (Cholesterol and Pharmacogenetics) study with simvastatin (Krauss RM et al., 2008) and a large population-based cohort of patients with diabetes with various statins (67.2% on simvastatin, 21% on atorvastatin, 5.4% on fluvastatin, and 4.8% on pravastatin) (Donnelly LA et al., 2008). However, there were several large studies that did not replicate associations between HMGCR polymorphisms and lipid responses to atorvastatin in a European cohort in ACCESS (Atorvastatin Comparative Cholesterol Efficacy and Safety Study) (Thompson JF et al., 2005), to fluvastatin in a cohort of renal transplant recipients (Singer JB et al., 2007) or to pravastatin in a large cohort of PROSPER (Prospective Study of Pravastatin in the Elderly at Risk) participants aged 70-82 (Polisecki E et al., 2008). These discrepancies may be due to differences in the magnitude of the pharmacogenetic associations for different statins, different frequency of the variant allele among populations, or different LD patterns with the other causal variants among populations (Krauss RM et al., 2008).

# 1.1.4.2 Low-density lipoprotein receptor

The LDLR in the liver plays a key role in LDL particle uptake and catabolism. The lack of the LDLR or dysfunctional receptors reduces the clearance of LDL particles, resulting in an increase in the plasma LDL-C levels. To date, more than 1,000

mutations in the LDLR have been described causing familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH) (Abifadel M et al., 2009, Garg A and Simha V, 2007, Soutar AK and Naoumova RP, 2007). Mutations in the *LDLR* gene have been divided into five classes. Class I and II mutations are known as receptor negative mutations, and Class III - V mutations are receptor defective mutations.

Some previous studies have reported that different types of *LDLR* mutations were associated with different response to statins in FH. In some studies, patients with mutations having a mild effect or with receptor defective mutations showed a better response in terms of LDL-C reduction than that in patients with severe or receptor negative mutations (Table 1-10), but other studies failed to find these associations (Couture P et al., 1998, Sijbrands EJ et al., 1998, Sun XM et al., 1998). In addition, there was no single study to compare lipid responses to statins in patients with heterozygous FH and those without.

Polymorphisms	Statins	Effects	References
C660X, D147H,	F	Smaller reduction in LDL-C in patients with	(Leitersdorf E et al.,
652delGGT		"Sephardic" and "Lithuanian" mutations	1993)
D206E,	S	Greater reduction in TC and LDL-C in	(Jeenah M et al., 1993)
V408M		patients with FH2	
Del 6kb-ex15	Pra with	Greater reduction in LDL-C in patients with	(Kajinami K et al., 1998)
P664L	other LLD	FH <sub>Kanazawa-2</sub>	
W66G	S	Smaller reduction in LDL-C in those with	(Couture P et al., 1998)
Del 15kb-ex1,		W66G mutation than those with the	
C646Y		deletion>15 kb and the C646Y mutation	
Mild,	S	Fewer achieved LDL-C goals with severe	(Heath KE et al., 1999)
Severe		LDLR mutation compared to those with	
		mild mutations	
Null mutation	S	Smaller reduction in TC and LDL-C in	(Chaves FJ et al., 2001)
Defective		patients with null mutations than those with	
mutation		defective mutations	
R-negative,	S	Smaller reduction in LDL-C in those with	(Vohl MC et al., 2002)
R-defective		receptor-negative mutation than those with	
		receptor-defective mutation	
AvaII	Pra	Greater reduction in LDL-C in patients with	(Lahoz C et al., 2005b)
		AvaII mutations	
C44857T,	Pra	The 44857T variant allele was associated	(Polisecki E et al., 2008)
A44964G		with greater LDL-C lowering response to	
		pravastatin and a lower risk for CHD.	

Table 1-10. Associations between mutations in *LDLR* and lipid response to statins

Abbreviations: F=fluvastatin; LLD=lipid-lowering drugs; Pra=pravastatin; S=simvastatin; TC=total cholesterol.

# 1.1.4.3 Proprotein convertase subtilisin- like kexin type 9

PCSK9 is a newly discovered serine protease that plays a key role in regulating plasma LDL-C levels. Some rare gain-of-function mutations cause hypercholesterolaemia by decreasing the number of LDLR, which account for a much smaller percentage of dominant hypercholesterolaemia than mutations in LDLR and apolipoprotein B (APOB); whereas some loss-of-function variants were

found to be associated with a reduction of LDL-C levels and a decreased risk of CHD (Abifadel M et al., 2009, Soutar AK and Naoumova RP, 2007). The frequencies of those functional mutations in *PCSK9* are relatively low at about 2%, while other SNPs have no clinical impact and are generally more frequent in all populations (Abifadel M et al., 2009).

It has been reported that D374Y mutation in the *PCSK9* gene was associated with a severe clinical phenotype and attenuated statin response compared to FH patients with severe *LDLR* mutations (Naoumova RP et al., 2005). However, reports on the effects of *PCSK9* mutations on the responses to treatment with simvastatin or atorvastatin have been inconclusive (Berge KE et al., 2006, Bertolini S et al., 2004). A recent compreshensive analysis in 5745 TNT (Treating to New Target) participants with European ancestry revealed that a rare SNP in *PCSK9* rs11591147 with a minor allele frequency of 0.65% in the population was associated with greater LDL-C reduction with pravastatin treatment (Thompson JF et al., 2009). Considering the low frequency of this polymorphism in all ethnic groups, it is unlikely to significantly affect statin responses at a population level.

# 1.1.4.4 Apolipoprotein E

Apoliporotein E (apo E) is a 299 amino-acid protein that is synthesized and secreted primarily by hepatocytes and is mainly expressed in the brain and liver (Mahley RW et al., 2009). The primary functional role of apo E is to transport and deliver lipids mainly through the LDLR pathway or the heparin sulphate proteoglycan (HSPG)/LDLR related protein pathway. Apo E acts as a ligand for several cell receptors and controls the removal of apo E-(triglyceride)-rich lipoproteins by the LDLR, thereby influencing the metabolism of plasma lipoproteins and cholesterol (Jofre-Monseny L et al., 2008, Mahley RW et al., 2009). The human *APOE* gene is polymorphic, encoding one of 3 common epsilon ( $\varepsilon$ ) alleles ( $\varepsilon$ 2 [rs7412],  $\varepsilon$ 3, and  $\varepsilon$ 4 [rs429358]), resulting in 3 major isoforms of human apo E (E2, E3, and E4). Apo E isoforms differ in amino acid residues at positions 112 and 158, which leads to protein structure differences resulting in different functions in lipid metabolism and certain diseases (Table 1-11) (Jofre-Monseny L et al., 2008, Mahley RW et al., 2009).

		Res	idues	LDLR	Lipoprotein	Associated lipid
Isoform	SNP ID	112	158	- binding	affinity	changes
				affinity		
					<b></b>	1 TC and
						LDL-C;
apo E2	rs7412	Cys	Cys	<2%	HDL	† TG in some
						homozygous E2
apo E3		Cys	Arg	High	HDL	Normal
apo E4	rs429358	Arg	Cys	Hìgh	VLDL, CM	↑LDL-C
				F	requency of isc	oforms
				European-	African-	Chinese
				Caucasians	American	
apo E2				4.1-8.2	11.7	5.6-10.2
apo E3				71.9-85	68.2	82.6-87.9
apo E4				9-22.7	20.2	6.3-8.6

Table 1-11. Structure, action and frequency of apo E isoforms

↓ = decrease; ↑ = increase. Adapted from (Jofre-Monseny L et al., 2008, Liang S et al., 2009, Mahley RW et al., 2009)

The effect of polymorphisms in the *APOE* gene on the plasma lipid response to statins has been addressed in many studies (Table 1-12), in particular regarding e2/e3/e4 polymrophisms (Hu M et al., 2009, Nieminen T et al., 2008). Most studies suggest that subjects with the e2 allele had greater lipid responses whereas e4 carriers had the poorest response although some studies either included patients with FH or

were underpowered to fail to show a significant interaction between APOE polymorphisms and the lipid response to statins (Hu M et al., 2009, Nieminen T et al., 2008). A meta-analysis of 24 studies has shown that there were no significant effects of APOE genotypes on lipid responses to statins (Zintzaras E et al., 2009). However, recent pharmacogenetic analysis in three large trials (TNT, PROVE-IT TIMI22 [Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy-Thrombolysis In Myocardial Infarction 22] and STRENGTH [The statin response examined by genetic haplotype markers]) have consistently reported that among all SNPs examined the rs7412 (E2) polymorphism had the most significant impact on the LDL-C response to various statins with E2 carriers having greater LDL-C reduction than those with E3 or E4, which highlights the importance of polymorphisms in APOE on lipid response to statins (Mega JL et al., 2009, Thompson JF et al., 2009, Voora D et al., 2008). Few studies have investigated the interaction between the APOE e2/e3/e4 polymorphisms and statin therapy in relation to the course of CHD and the results of these studies are inconsistent and so far inconclusive (Nieminen T et al., 2008).

Polymorphisms	Statins	Effects	References
E2, E3, E4	L	Smaller reduction in LDL-C, but greater	(Carmena R et al., 1993)
		increase in HDL-C in male E4 carriers	
E2, E3, E4	Α	E4 allele more frequent in good responders	(O'Neill FH et al., 2001)
E2, E3, E4	Рга	Greater LDL-C response with E2	(Ordovas JM et al., 1995)
E2, E3, E4	S	Greatest response in those with E2	(Nestel P et al., 1997)
E2, E3, E4	F	Less reduction in LDL-C in E4 carriers but	(Ballantyne CM et al.,
		similar benefit in terms of progression.	2000)
E2, E3, E4	А	Greater LDL-C and TG response in males	(Pedro-Botet J et al.,
		with E2	2001)
-491A/T	Α	Greater LDL-C-lowering effect with -491T	(Garcia-Otin AL et al.,
		allele carriers	2002)
E2, E3, E4	Α	Greater HDL-C response in E2 carriers than	(Thompson JF et al.,
		those homozygous for E3	2005)
E2, E3, E4	Pra	E2 carriers had largest improvement of	(Maitland-van der Zee
		HDL-C and LDL/HDL ratios, compared with	AH et al., 2006)
		E3 and E4 carriers, but not with regard to	
		angiographic parameters.	
E2, E3, E4	Various	Greater HDL-C response in E2 carriers	(Zuccaro P et al., 2007)
	statins		
E2, E3, E4	S,	Greater LDL-C response in E4 carries than	(Tavintharan S et al.,
	L	those with E2	2007)
E2, E3	A,S, Pra	Greater LDL-C response in E2 carriers	(Voora D et al., 2008)
E2, E3, E4	A, Pra	Greater LDL-C response in E2 carries than	(Mega JL et al., 2009)
		those with E4	
E2, E3, E4,	Α	Greater LDL-C response in patients with E2	(Thompson JF et al.,
SNP17		or the minor allele of SNP17 but less LDL-C	2009)
		response in E4 compared to those with E3	

Table 1-12. Associations between *APOE* polymorphisms and lipid response to statins

Abbreviations: A=atorvastatin; F=fluvastatin; L=lovastatin; Pra=pravastatin; S=simvastatin; TG= triglycerides.

# 1.1.4.5 Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene

The CETP facilitates the transfer of cholesteryl esters (CE) from HDL to apolipoprotein B-containing particles in exchange for triglycerides, thus increased CETP activity is associated with lower HDL-C and higher LDL-C levels. In addition, it has also been suggested that CETP may be antiatherogenic by enhancing the rate of reverse cholesterol transport - the mechanism by which cholesterol in peripheral tissues is transported to the liver for elimination (Boekholdt SM et al., 2004). Genetic mutations in the *CETP* gene are the main cause of CETP deficiency, which is associated with higher plasma HDL-C concentrations, but its association with CVD is still controversial. The two common SNPs in *CETP*, -629C>A and the TaqIB (Figure 1-10) have been shown to be associated with HDL-C levels in many populations (McCaskie PA et al., 2007, Tai ES et al., 2003, Thompson JF et al., 2003).

Figure 1-10. The *CETP* gene structure, and the location of some common polymorphisms



The location of some of the common polymorphisms are shown in the context of the *CETP* gene structure. Adapted from (Thompson JF et al., 2003).

Some previous studies have shown that *CETP* polymorphisms were associated with a lower risk of CVD, which was independent of the effect on HDL-C (Blankenberg S et al., 2003), but others did not find this association (de Grooth GJ et al., 2004,

McCaskie PA et al., 2007, Tsai MY et al., 2008). A recent meta-analysis in about 200,000 subjects from 138 available prospective studies has demostrated that the three common (TaqIB, I405V, and -629C>A) polymorphisms in CETP associated with moderate reduction of CETP activity (and, therefore, modestly higher HDL-C levels) were weakly inversely related to coronary risk and the odds ratios for coronary disease were compatible with the expected reductions in risk for equivalent increases in HDL-C concentration (Thompson A et al., 2008). The effects of common polymorphisms in *CETP* on lipid responses or clinical outcome with statin treatment in different groups of patients are also inconsistent (Table 1-13).

Table 1-13. Associations between *CETP* polymorphisms and lipid response to statins

Polymorphisms	Statins	Effects	References
Taq1B (B1, B2)	Pra	Pravastatin slowed progression of	(Kuivenhoven JA et al.,
		coronary disease in B1B1 carriers but not	1998)
		in B2B2 carriers	
Taq1B (B1, B2)	Α	Patients with B1B1 or 629CC genotype	(van Venrooij FV et al.,
		had a greater increase in HDL-C and a	2003)
		larger reduction in TG	
Haplotype	A, C, Pra	SNPs1-6 associated with increase in	(Winkelmann BR et al.,
		HDL-C and SNPs4-9 with decrease in TG	2003)
Taq1B (B1, B2)	S	Patients with B2B2 had greater	(Fiegenbaum M et al.,
		improvement in HDL-C than B1 carriers	2005a)
Taq1B (B1, B2)	A, Pra, S	Patients with the B2B2 had a higher CVD	(Mohrschladt MF et al.,
		risk than the B1 carriers.	2005)
Haplotype:	F	CETP-H13 was associated with greater	(Bercovich D et al., 2006)
-2600, -867,		reduction in LDL-C. CETP-H5 was	
-525, Taq1B,		associated with decreased TG and HDL-C	
I405V		response.	

Abbreviations: A=atorvastatin; CVD=cardiovascular disease; C=cerivastatin; F=fluvastatin; L=lovastatin; Pra=pravastatin; S=simvastatin; TG=triglycerides.

# 1.1.4.6 Others

Polymorphisms in some other genes related to cholesterol synthesis and lipoprotein synthesis have also been reported to be associated with lipid response to statins but replication of such results has been sporadic, which may be due to the small sample sizes frequently used, lack of true effect or confounding factors. Some of the positive effects of polymorphisms in these candiate genes on the lipid responses to statins and clinical outcomes in previous studies are summarized in Table 1-14.

In addition to well-established lipid regulators, recent large GWASs have identified some new loci associated with lipid concentrations and/or the risk of CHD. (Kathiresan S et al., 2008a, Kathiresan S et al., 2009, Kooner JS et al., 2008, Sandhu MS et al., 2008, Willer CJ et al., 2008a). These newly identified genetic markers of the lipid traits may also contribute to the variation in lipid response to statins and may be promising targets for further investigation.

Genes	Polymorphisms	Statins	Effects	References
LPL	Haplotype: 12	L	Several haplotypes related to HDL-C	(Goodarzi MO et
	SNPs		and TG response and graft progression	al., 2007)
			protection	
LIPC	C-514T	L with	Subjects with the CC genotype had the	(Zambon A et al.,
		other	greatest improvement in LDL density	2001)
		LLD	and HDL(2)-C and the greatest	
			angiographic improvement	
	C-514T	Pra	Greater increase in HDL-C in those T	(Lahoz C et al.,
			carriers than those with CC genotype	2005a)
APOB	XbaI, ins/del,	F	Greater reduction in LDL-C in ins	(Guzman EC et
	EcoRI		homozygotes	al., 2000)
PON	R192Q	Pra	R192Q polymorphism modulates	(Malin R et al.,
	M55L		HDL-C and apo AI responses	2001)
	-107C>T,	A, S	Greater HDL-C in subjects with	(Himbergen TM et
	192Q>R		-107CT/TT or 192QR/RR genotype.	al., 2005)
APOA1	G-75A	Pra	Greater increase in HDL-C in	(Lahoz C et al.,
			non-smoking male GG carriers	2003)
	G-75A, +83	Α	Gender-difference in HDL-C increase in	(Kajinami K et al.,
			+83 variant carriers	2005a)
ABCG5/G8	Q604E, D19H,	Α	D19H variant associated with greater	(Kajinami K et al.,
	Y54C, T400K,		reduction in LDL-C	2004a)
	and A632V			
CYP7A1	A-204C	Α	A-204C promoter variant associated	(Kajinami K et al.,
			with poor response of LDL-C reduction	2004c, Kajinami K
				et al., 2005b)
ABCA1	C-477T, -419C,	F	-477C/T variants associated with the	(Lutucuta S et al.,
	G-320C		severity of coronary atherosclerosis.	2001)
PPAR	Haplotype	F	PPAR $\delta$ haplotype 2 determine TG and	(Chen S et al.,
			apoC-III response and coronary lesions,	2004)
			PPARy haplotypes 7 associated with	
			reduced mean lumen diameter.	
LEPR	Arg223Gln	S	Subjects with Arg/Arg had less	(Takahashi-Yasuno
			reduction in TC than those Gln carriers	A et al., 2003)

Table 1-14. Positive effects of polymorphisms in various genes on the lipid response to statin therapy

Abbreviations: A=atorvastatin; ABCA1 = ATP-binding cassette transporter A1; ABCG5/G8 = ATP-binding cassette transporter G5/G8; AP = adaptor protein; APOA1 = apolipoprotein

A-I; APOB = apolipoprotein B; C=cerivastatin; CYP7A1 = cholesterol  $7\alpha$ -hydroxylase; F=fluvastatin; L=lovastatin; LEPR = leptin receptor; LIPC = hepatic lipase; LPL = lipoprotein lipase; LLD=lipid-lowering drugs; Pi=pitavastatin; PON = paraoxonase; PPAR = peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor; Pra=pravastatin; R=rosuvastatin; S=simvastatin.

# 1.2 Genetic influences on pleiotropic effects of statins

Evolving evidence suggest that statins possess several anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities resulting in the beneficial reduction of atherosclerotic processes and cardiovascular risk beyond their effect on the lipid profile. The mechanisms of the anti-atherosclerotic effects of statins have been extensively investigated and appear to involve effects on numerous factors modulating endothelial function, inflammatory and atherothrombotic process, e.g. nitric oxide enhancement, inhibition of vascular inflammation, immune modulation, and a possible effect on thrombogenicity (Blum A and Shamburek R, 2009, Lahera V et al., 2007). Polymorphisms in these modulating genes could not only alter the progression of atherosclerosis and the risk of cardiovascular events, but also influence the beneficial effect of statins on clinical outcomes.

# 1.2.1 C-reactive protein

Convincing evidence supports that inflammation plays a pivotal role in the formation and activation of atherosclerotic plaques (Hansson GK and Libby P, 2006, Ross R, 1999). C-reactive protein (CRP), the classical acute phase protein, is the most extensively studied systemic marker of inflammation for its possible role in the pathogenesis of CVD (Casas JP et al., 2008, Hingorani AD et al., 2009). High-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) levels in the absence of acute illness have been shown to be consistently associated with various cardiovascular endpoints as well as with high-risk vascular phenotypes such as high blood pressure and
metabolic syndrome in more than 30 prospective observational studies (Casas JP et al., 2008, Danesh J et al., 2004, Hingorani AD et al., 2009, Sakkinen P et al., 2002, Ye X et al., 2007), although neither the normal functions of human CRP nor its role in disease states have been fully determined.

CRP concentration is a heritable trait and genetic factors could explain about as much as 50% of the variance of baseline hsCRP concentrations, which might be largely attributable to non-coding polymorphisms in the *CRP* gene (Figure 1-11) (Casas JP et al., 2008, Shen J and Ordovas JM, 2009). Statins, depending upon the doses, reduce hsCRP from 13 to 50% in a wide range of populations and the CRP-lowering effect of atrovastatin has been shown to be dose-dependent (Prasad K, 2006). Whether genetic polymorphism could influence the CRP-lowering effect of statins and thus cardiovascular outcomes has not so far been reported.

Figure 1-11. The CRP gene structure, and the location of some polymorphisms



Adapted from (Lee CC et al., 2009).

#### 1.2.2 Kinesin-like protein 6

Kinesin-like protein 6 (KIF6) is a member of the superfamily of molecular motors

that are responsible for many of the major microtubule-dependent transport pathways in neuronal and non-neuronal cells (Schnapp BJ, 2003). Kinesins share a conserved motor domain that interacts with microtubules and a nonconserved tail domain that interacts with a specific cargo either directly or through an adaptor protein (Schnapp BJ, 2003). KIF6 is expressed in many tissues and cell types, including vascular cells (Su AI et al., 2002). A Trp719Arg polymorphism in KIF6 has been found to be associated with CHD incidence in both males and females in various large population based studies (Morrison AC et al., 2007, Shiffman D et al., 2008), although the role of kinesins in CHD and, more specifically, the roles of KIF6 and the Trp719Arg variant in CHD are not understood. This polymorphism has also been shown to influence the response to statin treatment in regard to clinical event benefit. Carriers of the KIF6 risk variant 719Arg received a substantially greater benefit from statin therapy resulting in significantly fewer serious fatal or nonfatal coronary events in multiple prospective studies than noncarriers (Iakoubova OA et al., 2008a, Iakoubova OA et al., 2008b). In the PROVE IT-TIMI 22 study, although carriers of 719Arg had significantly greater benefit from intensive statin therapy than noncarriers (absolute risk reduction: 10.0% in carriers vs. 0.8% in noncarriers), carriers and non-carriers did not differ in median LDL-C, triglyceride, or CRP levels at baseline or during the study, suggesting the superior benefit is due to a mechanism distinct from lipid or CRP lowering (Iakoubova OA et al., 2008a).

#### 1.2.3 A disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs

The ADAMTS1 (a disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs) matrix metalloproteinase is a protein that has been shown to cleave versican, a key proteoglycan that regulates vascular smooth muscle cell migration and contributes to the structural integrity of the fibrous cap in atherosclerotic lesions (Apte SS, 2009, Hu M et al., 2009). It has been reported that ADAMTS1 may promote atherogenesis by cleaving extracellular matrix proteins, promoting vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) migration (Jonsson-Rylander AC et al., 2005) and modifying the extracellular location of the matrix inhibitor tissue factor pathway inhibitor-2 (TFPI-2) to disrupt the remodeling machinery (Torres-Collado AX et al., 2006).

Recently, the variant allele of Ala227Pro polymorphism in the ADAMTS1 gene has been found to be associated with increased CHD risk and greater benefit with pravastatin therapy in reducing fatal CHD or nonfatal myocardial infarction (MI) in 2421 male subjects from the CARE (Cholesterol and Recurrent Events) study and in 1565 male male subjects from the WOSCOPS (West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study) (Sabatine MS et al., 2008). In men not on pravastatin, those homozygous for the 227Pro allele of ADAMTS1 have a nearly 2-fold increased risk of CHD events compared with noncarriers. In this high-risk group, treatment with pravastatin is highly efficacious, reducing the odds of fatal coronary disease or nonfatal MI by approximately 75%, as compared with 25% in noncarriers or heterozygotes (Sabatine MS et al., 2008). It is possible that the ADAMTS1 227Pro allele leads to increased cleavage of versican, promotion of atherosclerosis, and plaque instability, and hence greater risk of CHD. In individuals homozygous for the 227Pro allele, the greater benefit of statins may be either due to enhanced inhibition of ADAMTS-1 via statin-mediated pathways, or simply because in such individuals the effect of statins on plaque stabilization is particularly important.

## 1.2.4 Others

More and more genetic variants have recently been identified to be associated with

cardiovascular risk and various manifestations of atherosclerosis (Humphries SE et al., 2008, Jang Y et al., 2008, Remmler C and Cascorbi I, 2008, Trompet S et al., 2007), which may influence the beneficial effects from treatment with statins through various pathways and may be worthy of more attention in future studies.

A growing body of data indicates that vitamin D deficiency is associated with coronary risk factors and adverse cardiovascular outcomes. Vitamin D deficiency activates the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and can predispose to hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy (Judd SE and Tangpricha V, 2009, Lee JH et al., 2008). In addition, vitamin D deficiency causes an increase in parathyroid hormone, which increases insulin resistance and is associated with diabetes, hypertension, inflammation, and increased cardiovascular risk (Judd SE and Tangpricha V, 2009, Lee JH et al., 2008). Vitamin D and cholesterol have the same pre-cursor, 7-dehydrocholesterol. Statins inhibit synthesis of 7-dehydrocholesterol by inhibiting HMGCR, therefore a reduction in Vitamin D synthesis with statin treatment may be expected. However, no study has been reported a vitamin D lowering effect of statins, in contrast, recent studies have shown that some potent statins increase the vitamin D level in the blood, which may contribute to the beneficial effect of statins in the prevention of atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease (CAD), although the exact mechanism of this action is still unclear (Grimes DS, 2009, Perez-Castrillon JL et al., 2007, Yavuz B et al., 2009). Vitamin D receptor (VDR) is present in most tissues and polymorphisms in this gene may affect the association between vitamin D level, CHD risk and beneficial effects of statins.

## 1.3 Genetic influences on statin-induced adverse effects

The statins have an excellent safety profile in large clinical trials, but some patients

may be more susceptible to serious adverse drug reactions, especially when high doses are used (Rosenson RS, 2004). The withdrawal of cerivastatin due to the increased risk of rhabdomyolysis compared to other statins highlighted concerns about the myotoxic potential of this class of drugs (Furberg CD and Pitt B, 2001). Rhabdomyolysis is generally defined as creatine kinase (CK) elevations greater than 10 times the upper limit of normal (ULN) accompanied by muscle symptoms and the presence of urinary myoglobin indicated by brown-colored urine (Pasternak RC et al., 2002). Less serious muscle symptoms such as muscle pain and weakness, with or without CK elevation, are more common than rhabdomyolysis and may affect 1% to 5% of patients (Thompson PD et al., 2003). The risk for myopathy is increased by certain predisposing factors, such as advanced age, female gender, complex medical problems, including hypothyroidism or impaired renal function and certain genetic factors (Joy TR and Hegele RA, 2009, Thompson PD et al., 2003).

The reason for statin-related myopathy in some patients is largely unknown, although various mechanisms have been proposed to explain statin myotoxicity including altered pharmacokinetics due to drug metabolism or drug-drug interactions, physiochemical properties of the drugs, effects on metabolic end products such as coenzyme Q10, and interference with metabolic pathways regulating muscle repair (Ruano G et al., 2007). Polymorphisms in candidate genes related to these mechanisms including genes involved in the pharmacokinetics of statins, metabolism of coenzyme Q10 and serotonin pain receptors were inconsistently associated with statin-induced myotoxicity (Table 1-15) (Joy TR and Hegele RA, 2009, Vladutiu GD, 2008).

Polymorphism	Statins	Outcomess	References		
Statin pharmacokine	tics related	genes			
CYP3A5 (*3)	А	Patients with homozygous *3 had greater serum	(Veenstra DL et		
		CK levels than heterozygous for *3	al., 2005).		
CYP2D6 (*4)	Α	The frequency of the *4 allele was higher in cases (Frudakis TN			
		than that in controls (50% vs. 28%, P<0.05)	al., 2007)		
ABCB1	S	The T-non-G-T haplotype was less frequent in	(Fiegenbaum M		
(1236C>T,		patients with myalgia than those without ADR to	et al., 2005b)		
2677G>A/T,		simvstatin (20% vs. 41.4%, P=0.03)			
3435C>T)					
SLCO1B1	S	More than 60% of the myopathy cases could be	(Link E et al.,		
(521T>C)		attributed to the C variant.	2008)		
	A, S, Pra	The C variant allele was associated with mild	(Voora D et al.,		
		statin-induced side effects	2009)		
Metabolic muscle dis	ease relate	d genes			
COQ2	Various	Increased risk of statin intolerance among	(Oh J et al.,		
(SNP1, SNP2)		homozygotes for the rare alleles of SNP1 and	2007)		
		SNP2 genotypes, and the 2-SNP haplotype.			
CPT2 (S113L)	Various	Frequencies of heterozygotes or homozygotes for	(Vladutiu GD et		
PYGM (R50X)		mutations were 10% and 3% in patients with	al., 2006)		
AMPD1		myopathy and without (P=0.04)			
(Q12X, P48L)					
Others					
HTR3B(rs2276307)	Various	The 2 variant alleles were significantly associated	(Ruano G et al.,		
HTR7 (rs1935349)		with the myalgia score.	2007)		
Abbreviations: Al	BCB1 = A'	TP-binding cassette B1; ADR = adverse drug react	ions AMPD1		
= adenosine mor	nophosphat	te deaminase 1; COQ2 = coenzyme Q2 homol	og; CPT2 =		
carnitine palmitoyltransferase II; CYP = cytochrome P450 enzyme; HTR =					
5a-hydroxytryptamine receptor; PYGM = phosphorylase, glycogen, muscle (muscle					
glycogen phosph	orylase); S	SLCO1B1 = Solute carrier organic anion transp	orter family,		
member 1B1.					

Table 1-15. Association of genetic polymorphisms with statin-induced myopathy

However, a recent genome-wide scan from the SEARCH (Study of the Effectiveness of Additional Reductions in Cholesterol and Homocysteine) participants taking the 80 mg dose of simvastatin and replicated in the HPS study with the 40 mg dose has identified a single genetic marker associated with simvastatin induced myopathy, which was a non-coding SNP in SLCO1B1 (Link E et al., 2008) that is in strong LD with the functional SNP 521T>C. More than 60% of the myopathy cases could be attributed to the 521C variant in the study and this finding is likely to apply to other statins since SLCOIB1 polymorphisms affect the blood levels of most of statins. Most recently, a pharmacogenetic study examined whether common genetic polymorphisms that lead to reduced function in drug metabolizing enzymes or transporters would be associated with mild statin-induced side effects, particularly those without CK elevations in STRENGTH participants who were randomly assigned to 8 weeks of 10 mg/day atorvastatin, 20 mg/day simvastatin, or 10 mg/day pravastatin followed by 8 weeks of 80 mg/day atorvastatin, 80 mg/day simvastatin, and 40 mg/day pravastatin, respectively during the trial (Voora D et al., 2009). The SLCO1B1 521T>C polymorphism was associated with statin-induced side effects in a gene-dose dependent manner, and the carriers of the 521C variant allele were at a 2-fold relative risk of mild statin induced side effects, the majority of which had normal CK levels. Furthermore, this study also identified that the risk of the side effects was greatest in those 521C carriers assigned to simvastatin and negligible in those assigned to pravastatin, which was consistent with the pharmacokinetic observation in the study that the acid metabolite concentration of the drug was elevated in carriers who received simvastatin but not in subjects receiving pravastatin (Voora D et al., 2009). The results of this study expand the findings of the SEARCH trial and emphasize the crucial role of the elevated systemic exposures to stating and/or their active metabolites in statin-induced myopathy.

# Chapter 2 Aim of the study

Although the clinical efficacy of statins has been well established, there is a wide inter-individual variation in the lipid responses to statins, and pharmacogenetic studies have identified some genetic differences that contribute to the variation, but overall the results have been disappointing (Hu M et al., 2009, Kajinami K et al., 2004e). As more intensive reduction of LDL-C with statins is associated with greater reductions in cardiovascular events (Baigent C et al., 2005), it may be anticipated that optimizing the choice of statin and the dose for an individual will have favorable effects.

Rosuvastatin is one of most potent statins and it was recommended to use lower starting doses of this drug in 'Asian' patients due to evidence of higher systemic drug exposure in Asians compared to non-Asians (Po AL, 2007), but ethnic differences in efficacy have not been described. The functional SNP (421C>A, Lys141Gin) in *ABCG2* resulted in increased plasma concentrations of rosuvastatin (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009d, Zhang W et al., 2006b), and this is likely to play a major role in the ethnic differences observed in rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics because the 421A variant allele has a frequency of about 35% in Chinese and other East Asian subjects compared to 14% in Caucasians. However, the effect of this polymorphism on lipid response to rosuvastatin has not been reported. Previous studies have also identified polymorphisms in *HMGCR* (Chasman DI et al., 2004, Krauss RM et al., 2008) or *APOE* (Zintzaras E et al., 2009), being associated with LDL-C responses, but results have been inconsistent or the variants are uncommon in some ethnic groups. Non-genetic confounding factors such as drug adherence and changes in diet are also

likely to play an important role.

The present study was conducted to examine the effect of the *ABCG2* 421C>A SNP and other common polymorphisms in genes potentially related to the pharmacokinetics of statins or loci in the lipid metabolism pathways on the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients with increased risk of CVD including some with FH. Attempts were made to minimize the influence of non-genetic factors by using a single drug dose for a relatively short time and excluding results from patients who reported poor adherence to therapy. Assessed phenotypic variables included age, gender, body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), percentage of total body fat, baseline values of lipid parameters, smoking status (current smoker/nonsmoker), FH and other comorbidities. The primary endpoint was prospectively defined as the percentage reduction in LDL-cholesterol compared to a baseline level when on no lipid-lowering treatment, which could largely reduce the influence of the baseline levels. The genetic determinants of the percent change in total cholesterol, HDL-C, triglyceride and non-HDL-C were also assessed.

In addition, a secondary analysis was performed to examine the genetic determinants of some cardiovascular risk factors e.g. hsCRP, uric acid, baseline lipid and bilirubin levels in study patients.

# Chapter 3 Methodology

# 3.1 Patient recruitment

This study was approved by the Joint Clinical Research Ethics Committee of The Chinese University of Hong Kong and New Territories East Cluster (CUHK-NTEC) and all participants gave written informed consent before any study procedures were undertaken.

## 3.1.1 Inclusion criteria

Subjects aged  $\geq 18$  years with baseline low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) >2.6 mmol/L were eligible for inclusion if they were considered at increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) because of a history of coronary heart disease (CHD), other clinical evidence of atherosclerosis, diabetes mellitus, calculated 10-year CHD risk score >20%, or having familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH). The diagnosis of FH was made on clinical criteria considered appropriate for Hong Kong Chinese patients (Mak YT et al., 1998).

#### 3.1.2 Exclusion criteria

Patients in which baseline lipid levels were not available and who were unwilling to stop current lipid-lowering treatment or in whom interruption of treatment may be considered unsafe were not eligible to enter this study. Individuals with uncontrolled diabetes, hypertension or thyroid disease, or a history of hypersensitivity to statins, significant renal impairment, hepatic dysfunction, unexplained high (>3 ULN) serum creatine kinase (CK) or who had experienced a cardiovascular event within the 3 months before recruitment or who were unwilling to give additional blood samples taken for DNA tests or who were those taking other drugs known to modify plasma lipids or to have an interaction with rosuvastatin e.g. corticosteroids, cyclosporine etc were excluded from this study.

#### 3.1.3 Patients with hypercholesterolaemia

Patients involved in the study were mainly recruited from the Lipid Clinic of the Prince of Wales Hospital and the Drug Development Centre (DDC) of the Chinese University of Hong Kong. They were recruited if they fulfilled the above criteria and were being treated or eligible to be treated with rosuvastatin 10 mg daily according to the local Hospital Authority (HA) guideline. For patients who had previously received lipid-lowering treatment they were asked to stop their lipid-lowering medication for at least 4 weeks to get the baseline lipid levels examined before taking rousvastatin 10 mg. For those patients in whom suspending lipid treatment were not appropriate, they were invited to join the study only if the baseline lipid levels on no treatment for at least 4 weeks could be obtained from previous medical records. All patients were advised to continue with their usual diet and other aspects of lifestyle during the study and education on the reasons for taking lipid lowering treatment and importance of maintaining treatment was given to improve drug compliance.

Participants were interviewed at the DDC at a scheduled follow-up visit after at least 4 weeks treatment with rosuvastatin (more than 97% of patients had at least 6 weeks treatment with rosuvastatin). Subjects were asked to fast for 12 hours before their visit. Routine assessments, anthropometric measurement, drug compliance assessment, collection of fasting blood samples for routine blood tests and DNA extraction were performed at the visit. At this time aliquots of heparin plasma and spot urine samples were stored for future analysis. Routine assessments included sitting blood pressure and heart rate which were measured in triplicate after 10 minutes resting. Anthropometric measurements included body weight, body height, waist circumference (WC), hip circumference, and percentage of total body fat. Using an electronic scale, participants were weighed to the nearest 0.1 kg after removing their shoes and outdoor clothing. Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm. The body mass index (BMI) was calculated as the weight in kilograms divided by the height in meters squared. Hip and waist circumference were also obtained using standardized protocols. Percentage of total body fat was measured using an impedance device (TANITA Body Composition Analyzer BF-350, TANITA Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Adherence to therapy was assessed by asking patients about their medication-taking behavior in a non-judgmental manner and tablet counting and subjects with poor compliance with therapy (if they took <80% or >120% of the prescribed number of tablets) were excluded unless they agreed to improve compliance and had a further assessment after another 4 weeks treatment.

Some subjects were recruited from the Alice Ho Mui Ling Nethersole Hospital at Tai Po. All these subjects were patients with primary hypercholesterolaemia and high cardiovascular risk, who had been involved in a 12-week, randomized, open-label, parallel-group study to assess the efficacy and safety of starting doses of rosuvastatin and atorvastatin in Chinese patients in Hong Kong (Zhu JR et al., 2007).

# 3.1.4 Patients with rheumatoid arthritis

A small group of patients (n=36) with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) who had participated in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study to assess the effect of rosuvastatin 10 mg on carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT) and arterial stiffness (ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT00555230) were recruited from the Rheumatology Clinic of the Prince of Wales Hospital. These patients were clinically diagnosed to have RA for at least 6 months before enrollment and had baseline total cholesterol levels of  $\leq 6.2 \text{ mmol/L}$ .

#### 3.2 Routine biochemistry tests

All routine biochemistry tests e.g. lipid profiles, renal and liver function tests etc were performed in the Department of Chemical Pathology laboratory at the Prince of Wales Hospital, which has international laboratory accreditation.

#### 3.2.1 Lipids

Total cholesterol level was measured by the enzymatic method (Centrichem chemistry System, Baker Instruments Co. Allentown). Esterified cholesterol is hydrolyzed by cholesterol esterase to release free cholesterol that is further oxidized by cholesterol oxidase to release hydrogen peroxide, which then reacts with a chromogen to give a measurable color change at 540nm. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) level was determined by using the fractional precipitation of dextran sulphate with manganous ion. Triglycerides levels were measured by the glyceryl dehydrogenase reaction following the hydrolysis of the triglyceride (Centrichem Chemistry System, Baker Instruments Co., Allentown). LDL-C level was estimated by using the Friedewald's formula (Friedewald WT et al., 1972) or directly measured if triglycerides levels were greater than 4.5mmol/L.

# 3.2.2 Fasting plasma glucose

Fasting plasma glucose (FPG) level was measured using a standard glucose oxidase method.

## 3.2.3 Laboratory safety parameters

Renal function tests (RFT) included sodium, potassium, urea, creatinine. Plasma electrolytes were measured by ion-selective electrodes on a parallel multichannel analyzer (American Monitor, IND, USA). Creatinine was measured using the Jaffe method on a Beckman Astra-8 Chemistry analyzer (Beckman, Brea, CA). The CK levels and the liver function tests (LFT) including total protein, albumin, total bilirubin, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), alanine transaminase (ALT) were measured by standard methods.

#### 3.2.4 Uric acid

Plasma uric acid was measured using the uricase method on the Dade Dimension clinical chemistry system (Dade International Inc, DE, USA).

## 3.3 High-sensitive CRP measurement

The plasma high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) on-treatment concentration was determined by an immunonephelometric method (Siemens Dade Behring CardioPhase hsCRP assay) on Siemens BN ProSpec® System with the help of another PhD student, Michael Lee. The detection limit was 0.146 mg/L, and the measurement range was 0.146 -9.35 mg/L and at higher levels the plasma sample was diluted and remeasured automatically. The inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were 2.5, 3.8 and 2.1% at hsCRP concentrations of 0.5, 1.3 and 2.1 mg/L, respectively.

## 3.4 Selection of genetic polymorphisms and genotyping

## 3.4.1 Selection of genetic polymorphisms

With extensive literature searching, a total of 135 common polymorphisms in 62 candidate genes/loci potentially related to the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of statin, lipid metabolism and metabolic disorders were selected based on previous publications (Table 3-1). Two single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) failed for genotyping, 1 SNP was not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) and 7 SNPs with a minor allele frequency (MAF) less than 1% were excluded from the analysis as shown in Table 3-1. In addition, another 5 SNPs in three genes related to uric acid transport were also selected due to special interest (Table 3-2).

			Polymorphism	
Locus	Candidate Genes / Nearby Genes	Symbol	(Amino acid	dbSNP
	•		changes)	
Genes pote	ntially involved in statin pharmacokin	etics		
7q21.1	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family B,	ABCB1	2677G>T	rs2032582
	member 1			
7q21.1	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family B,	ABCB1	3435C>T	rs1045642
	member 1			
7q21.1	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family B,	ABCB1	1236 C>T	rs1128503
	member 1			
10q24	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family C,	ABCC2	4544G>A	rs8187710*
	member 2		(Cys1515Tyr)	
10q24	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family C,	ABCC2	1446C>G	
	member 2		(Thr482Thr) *	
10q24	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family C,	ABCC2	1249G>A	rs2273697
	member 2		(Val417Ile)	
10q24	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family C,	ABCC2	3563T>A	rs8187694*
	member 2		(Val1188Glu)	
4q22	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G,	ABCG2	421C>A	rs2231142
	member 2		(Gln141Lys)	
4q22	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G,	ABCG2	34G>A	rs2231137
	member 2			
10q24	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2C19	*3, 636G>A	
	subfamily C, polypeptide 19			
10q24	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2C19	*2, 681G>A	
	subfamily C, polypeptide 19			
10q24	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2C9	*3, 1075A>C	rs1057910
	subfamily C, polypeptide 9			
22q13.1	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2D6	188C>T	
	subfamily D, polypeptide 6			
22q13.1	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2D6	1934G>A	
	subfamily D, polypeptide 6			
22q13.1	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2D6	1846G>A/T	
	subfamily D, polypeptide 6			
22q13.1	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2D6	2938C>T	
	subfamily D, polypeptide 6			

# Table 3-1. List of 135 SNPs examined in the study

22q13.1	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2D6	4268G>C	
	subfamily D, polypeptide 6			
22q13.1	Cytochrome P450 family 2,	CYP2D6	*5, deletion	
	subfamily D, polypeptide 6			
7q22.1	Cytochrome P450 family 3,	CYP3A4	*1G,	тs2242480
	subfamily A, polypeptide 4		20230G>A	
7q22.1	Cytochrome P450 family 3,	CYP3A5	*3	rs776746
	subfamily A, polypeptide 5			
7q22.1	Cytochrome P450, family 3,	CYP3AP1	*3, -44G>A	
	subfamily A, polypeptide 5, pseudogene	1		
1q23-q25	Flavin containing monooxygenase 3	FMO3	Glu158Lys	rs2266782
1q23-q25	Flavin containing monooxygenase 3	FMO3	Val 257Met	rs1736557
1q23-q25	Flavin containing monooxygenase 3	FMO3	Glu 308Gly	rs2266780
8p22	N-acetyltransferase 2	NAT2	*6,590G>A	rs1799930
			(Arg197Gln)	
8p22	N-acetyltransferase 2	NAT2	*7,857G>A	rs1799931
			(Gly286Glu)	
14q24.1	Solute carrier family 10, member 1	SLC10A1	*2,800C>T	rs2296651
		(NTCP)	(Ser267Phe)	
6q26	Solute carrier family 22 (organic	SLC22A1	480C>G	rs683369
	cation transporter), member 1	(OCTI)	(Phe160Leu)	
6q26	Solute carrier family 22 (organic	SLC22A1	1022C>T	rs2282143
	cation transporter), member 1	(OCTI)	(Pro341Leu)	
6q26	Solute carrier family 22 (organic	SLC22A1	1222A>G	rs628031
	cation transporter), member 1	(OCTI)	(Met480Val)	
6q26	Solute carrier family 22 (organic	SLC22A2	808G>T	rs316019
	cation transporter), member 2	(OCT2)	(Ala270Ser)	
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter	SLCO1B1	T>G	rs2291073
	family, member 1B1			
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter	SLCO1B1	C>A	rs4149036
	family, member 1B1			
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter	SLCO1B1	G>C	rs4149080
	family, member 1B1			
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter	SLCO1B1	388A>G	rs2306283
	family, member 1B1		(Asn130Asp)	
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter	SLCO1B1	521T>C	rs4149056
	family, member 1B1		(Val174Ala)	

12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter SLCO1B1	571T>C	rs4149057
	family, member 1B1		
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter SLCO1B1	597 C>T	rs2291075
	family, member 1B1		
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter SLCO1B1	-11187 G>A	rs4149015
	family, member 1B1		
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter SLCO1B3	344T>G	rs4149117
	family, member 1B3		
12p12	Solute carrier organic anion transporter SLCO1B3	699G>A	rs7311358
	family, member 1B3		
11q13	Solute carrier organic anion transporter SLCO2B1	1457C>T	rs2306168
	family, member 2B1	(Ser486Phe)	
2q37	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, UGT1A1	<b>*60, -3279T&gt;</b> G	rs4124874
	polypeptide A1		
2q37	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, UGT1A1	*6,211G>A	rs4148323
	polypeptide A1	(Gly71Arg)	
2q37	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, UGT1A1	(TA)6>7, *28	
	polypeptide A1		
2q37	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, UGT1A6	541A>G	rs2070959
	polypeptide A6	(Thr181Ala)	
2q37	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, UGT1A6	552A>C	rs1105879
	polypeptide A6	(Arg184Ser)	
4q13	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 2 family, UGT2B7	*2,802C>T	rs7439366 <sup>†</sup>
	polypeptide B7	(His268Tyr)	
4q13	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 2 family, UGT2B7	-327A>G	rs7662029
	polypeptide B7		
4q13	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 2 family, UGT2B7	211G>T	rs12233719
	polypeptide B7	(Ala71Ser)	
4q13	UDP glucuronosyltransferase 2 family, UGT2B7	-161T>C	rs7668258
	polypeptide B7		
Genes invo	lved in statin pharmacodynamics		
9q22-q31	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, ABCA1	T>C	rs2472384
	member 1		
9q22-q31	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, ABCA1	1051G>A	rs2230806
	member 1	(Arg219Lys)	
9q22-q31	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, ABCA1	5155G>A	rs2230808
* *			

9q22-q31 member 1ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, member 1ABCA169C>Trs180097 rs180097 rs180097 member 19q22-q31ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 5ABCA1378G>Crs180097 rs180097 rs1800972p21ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 5ABCG8Q604Ers672017 rs180272p21ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG8Y54Crs4148217 rs180272p21ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG8T400Krs4148217 rs1802717q23Angiotensin 1-converting enzymeACEG>A(Ala157Ala)rs433117q23Angiotensin 1-converting enzymeACEC>Grs434116p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACSJ) $> G$ rs11336016p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs11336016p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs5716 <sup>12</sup> 16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/de1rs8843316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/de1rs18192216p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/de1rs18192216p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/de1rs1819216p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(					
9q22-q31 member 1ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, member 5ABCA1378G>Crs1800974 rs18009742p21 member 5ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG5Q604Ers6720175 rs67201752p21 member 8ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG8Y54Crs4148217 rs41482172p21 member 8ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG8T400Krs4148217 rs413117q23Angiotensin 1-converting enzymeACEC>Grs4341 rs433116p12.3 family member 1ACSM1(MACST)>Grs151328 rs151328 family member 1rs151328 rs15132816p12.3 family member 1Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM2BC>Trs1513667 rs15132816p13.11 family member 3(MACS2)(Leu513Ser)rs151328 (Leu513Ser)rs151328 rs15132816p13.11 family member 3ACSM3(SAH) family member 3-GTrs186433 (Leu513Ser)16p13.11 family member 3ADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs264716 rs2647163q27 Adiponectin family member 3ADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs264716 rs22417663q27 Adiponectin-Like 3ADIPOQ26GST>Crs101292 rs1021291913.1-223.3Angioportein-Like 3ADIPOQ26GST>Crs2637263q27 Adiponectin family member 3ADIPOQ26GC>Trs102192 rs102191924-p23 apoliportein-Like 3ADIPOQ26GST>Crs62793 rs2647163q27 Adiponectin family member 3 <td>9q22-q31</td> <td>ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, member 1</td> <td>ABCA1</td> <td>69C&gt;T</td> <td>rs1800977</td>	9q22-q31	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, member 1	ABCA1	69C>T	rs1800977
2p21         ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 5 $ABCG3$ Q604E         rs672017.           2p21         ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8 $ABCG3$ Y54C         rs414821.           2p21         ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8 $ABCG3$ T400K         rs414821.           2p21         ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8 $ABCG3$ T400K         rs414821.           17q23         Angiotensin I-converting enzyme $ACE$ C>G         rs4341           16p12.3         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1 $ACSM1(MACSJ)$ $A SG$ rs151328           16p12.4         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1 $ACSM1(MACSJ)$ $A SG$ rs151328           16p12.5         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 2B $(MACS2)$ (Leu513Ser)         rs151328           16p13.11         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3 $ACSM3(SAH)$ $962$ ins/de1         rs886433           16p13.11         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3 $ACSM3(SAH)$ $962$ ins/de1         rs241766           3q27         Adiponectin $ACSM3(SAH)$ $962$ ins/de1         rs241766           3q27         Adip	9q22-q31	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, member 1	ABCA1	378G>C	rs1800978
2p21ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG8Y54Crs41482172p21ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG8T400Krs414821717q23Angiotensin 1-converting enzymeACEC>Grs434116p12.3Angiotensin 1-converting enzymeACEC>Grs434116p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACS1)A>Grs1532816p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM2BC>Trs15132816p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs15136916p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)0>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)0>Crs8716 <sup>4</sup> 16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)0>Crs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)0>Crs267293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs267293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ27GS¬Trs15128216p13.12Apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs50823q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11317 <c>Grs267293q27Adiponectin A-IIAPOA2-265T&gt;Crs50821913.1-22.3Apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T&gt;Crs50821924-23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA5-1131T&gt;C<!--</td--><td>2p21</td><td>ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 5</td><td>ABCG5</td><td>Q604E</td><td>rs6720173</td></c>	2p21	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 5	ABCG5	Q604E	rs6720173
2p21ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8ABCG8T400Krs41482117q23Angiotensin I-converting enzymeACEG>A(Ala157Ala)rs433117q23Angiotensin I-converting enzymeACEC>Grs434116p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACSI)A>Grs16325316p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACSI)A>Grs15132816p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 2BACSM2BC>Trs15132616p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs5716 <sup>+1</sup> 16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)g>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)g>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)g>Trs287763q27AdiponectinADIPOQ11377 C>Grs2671963q27Adiponectin A-IIADIPOQ276G>Trs17481923q27Adiponectin A-IIADIPOQ276G>Trs17481923q27Adiponectin A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs50823q27Adiponectin A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs62793q27Adiponectin A-IIAPOBIsl.171>Crs62733q21apolipoprotein A-IIAPOB	2p21	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8	ABCG8	Y54C	rs4148211
17q23Angiotensin I-converting enzymeACEG>A(Ala157Ala)rs433117q23Angiotensin I-converting enzymeACEC>Grs434116p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACSI)>Grs16325316p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACSI)>Grs15328416p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 2BACSM2BC>Trs11360716p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs5716 <sup>4</sup> 16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)oPG2 ins/delrs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)oPG2 ins/delrs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)oPG2 ins/delrs241764327AdionectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs26729rs241764327Adionectin family member 3ADIPOQ276G>Trs101292327Adionectin apoinctin-like 3ADIPOQ26G>Trs101292327Adionectin apoinctin A-IIAPOA2-26ST>Crs50821q21Apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-26ST>Crs50821q24Apolipoprotein A-IIAPOBIns/Delrs627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs62799	2p21	ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 8	ABCG8	T400K	rs4148217
17q23Angiotensin I-converting enzymeACEC>Grs434116p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACS)>Grs15132816p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM2BC>Trs11336016p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 2B(MACS2)(LeuS13Ser)rs11336016p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)1070<	17q23	Angiotensin I-converting enzyme	ACE	G>A(Ala157Ala)	rs4331
16p12.3 family member 1Acsyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1ACSM1(MACSI) ASGrs15328 rs15132816p12.3 family member 1Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 2BACSM2BC>Trs113360 rs13136016p13.11 family member 3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs5716 $^4$ rs886433 rs13136016p13.11 family member 3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs886433 rs886433 rs886433 ra1913ming member 316p13.11 family member 3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/delrs267293q27Adiponectin AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs2667293q27Adiponectin Adiponectin-like 3ADIPOQ276G>Trs15101291913.1-p22.3Angioportein A-IIADIPOQ276G>Trs1619191q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein A-VAPOB1131T>Crs6027992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs612391p31.1-g2.4Apolipoprotein BAPOB1131T>Crs63231p31.2Apolipoprotein BAPOB1132T>Crs63231p31.3Apolipoprotein BAPOB1132T>Crs63231p31.4Apolipoprotein BAPOB1132T>Crs63231p31.4Apolipoprotein BAPOB1132T>Crs63231p31.4Apolipoprotein BAPOB1132T	17q23	Angiotensin I-converting enzyme	ACE	C>G	rs4341
16p12.3 amily member 1ACSM1(MACSJ) >>Grs151328 rs1136016p12.3 amily member 2BACSM2BC>Trs113360 rs1138016p13.11 amily member 2B(MACS2)(Leu513Ser)rs5716 f16p13.11 amily member 3ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs5716 f16p13.11 amily member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs886433 rs1139016p13.11 amily member 3ACSM3(SAH)of 2rs886433 rs1139016p13.11 amily member 3ACSM3(SAH)of 2rs886433 rs1139016p13.11 amily member 3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)of 2rs886433 rs129016p13.11 amily member 3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)of 2rs2667293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs2667293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ276G>Trs15012993q27Adiponectin A-IIADIPOQ276G>Trs15012991q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs50821q24-p23apolipoprotein A-VAPOA51131T>Crs622792p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE34T>Crs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE34T>Crs741219q13.4Apolipoprotein EAPOE34T>Crs420358 (Cys112Arg)19q13.4Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs420632	16p12.3	Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1	ACSM1(MACS1)	A>G	rs163253 ‡
16p12.3Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 2BACSM2BC>Trs11336016p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)1077G>Crs5716 <sup>‡</sup> 16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/delrs3q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs2667293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ276G>Trs1501293q27Adiponectin-like 3ANGPTL3C>Grs1748191q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein A-VAPOA5-1131T>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs69319q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs69319q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs429358(Cys112Arg)19q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/CIA>Grs429633	16p12.3	Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 1	ACSM1(MACS1)	A>G	rs151328
family member 2B         (MACS2)         (Leu513Ser)           16p13.11         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain $ACSM3(SAH)$ 1077G>C         rs5716 <sup>4</sup> 16p13.11         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain $ACSM3(SAH)$ G>T         rs886433           16p13.11         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain $ACSM3(SAH)$ G>T         rs886433           16p13.11         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain $ACSM3(SAH)$ -962 ins/del         rs286729           16p13.11         Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain $ACSM3(SAH)$ -962 ins/del         rs266729           3q27         Adiponectin $ADIPOQ$ -11377 C>G         rs266729           3q27         Adiponectin $ADIPOQ$ 276G>T         rs266729           3q27         Adiponectin-like 3 $ANGPTL3$ C>G         rs150129           1q21-q23         Angioportein A-II $APOA2$ -265T>C         rs5082           11q23         Apolipoprotein A-V $APOA5$ -1131T>C         rs60379           2p24-p23         apolipoprotein B $APOB$ Ins/Del         rs712           19q13.2         Apolipoprotein E $APOE$ 334T>C         rs429358<	16p12.3	Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain	ACSM2B	C>T	rs1133607
16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3 $ACSM3(SAH)$ $1077G>C$ $rs5716^{+}$ 16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3 $ACSM3(SAH)$ $G>T$ $rs886433$ 16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3 $ACSM3(SAH)$ $-962$ ins/del $rs286729$ 3q27Adiponectin $ADIPOQ$ $-11377$ C>G $rs266729$ 3q27Adiponectin $ADIPOQ$ $276G>T$ $rs2241760$ 3q27Adiponectin $ADIPOQ$ $276G>T$ $rs1748192$ 3q27Adiponectin $ADIPOQ$ $276G>T$ $rs1748192$ 1q21-q23apolipoprotein A-II $APOA2$ $-265T>C$ $rs5082$ 11q23Apolipoprotein A-V $APOB$ $Atla 1, 7673C>T$ $rs662799$ 2p24-p23apolipoprotein B $APOB$ $Ins/Del$ $rs7412$ 19q13.2Apolipoprotein E $APOE$ $334T>C$ $rs7412$ $(Cys112Arg)$ $19q13$ Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-II $APOE/CI$ $A>G$ $rs429358$		family member 2B	(MACS2)	(Leu513Ser)	
family member 3(Lys359Asn)16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs88643316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/delrs3q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs2667293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ45T>Grs22417693q27AdiponectinADIPOQ276G>Trs15012993q27Adiponectin A-IIADIPOQ276G>Trs15012991931.1-p22.3Angioportein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs50821q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-1131T>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBSba1, 7673C>rs6932p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs741219q13.3Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-II/C-IIAPOE/CIA>Grs42035819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IIAPOE/CIA>Grs420358	16p13.11	Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain	ACSM3(SAH)	1077G>C	rs5716 <sup>‡</sup>
16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)G>Trs88643 rs8864316p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/delrs3q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs2667293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ45T>Grs22417643q27AdiponectinADIPOQ276G>Trs15012943q27Adiponectin-like 3ANGPTL3C>Grs17481941q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein A-IIAPOBTinJT>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs6931pq13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE34T>Crs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE34T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein EAPOE34T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs42063		family member 3		(Lys359Asn)	
16p13.11Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3ACSM3(SAH)-962 ins/del3q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs2667293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ257SGrs22417603q27AdiponectinADIPOQ276G>Trs1501291931.1-p22.3Angiopoietin-like 3ANGPTL3C>Grs1748191q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein BAPOBTillT>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBTis/Delrs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs741219q13.4Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs42035819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs442063	16p13.11	Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3	ACSM3(SAH)	G>T	rs886433
3q27AdiponectinADIPOQ-11377 C>Grs2667293q27AdiponectinADIPOQ45T>Grs22417643q27AdiponectinADIPOQ276G>Trs15012941p31.1-p22.3Angiopoietin-like 3ANGPTL3C>Grs17481941q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein A-VAPOA5-1131T>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBXba 1, 7673C>Trs6932p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/CIA>Grs442063	16p13.11	Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 3	ACSM3(SAH)	-962 ins/del	
3q27AdiponectinADIPOQ45T>Grs2241763q27AdiponectinADIPOQ276G>Trs1501291p31.1-p22.3Angiopoietin-like 3ANGPTL3C>Grs1748191q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein A-VAPOA5-1131T>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBXba 1, 7673C>Trs6932p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Del-19q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE472C>Trs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs420358	3q27	Adiponectin	ADIPOQ	-11377 C>G	rs266729
3q27Adiponectin $ADIPOQ$ $276G>T$ $rs150129$ $1p31.1-p22.3$ Angiopoietin-like 3 $ANGPTL3$ $C>G$ $rs174819$ $1q21-q23$ apolipoprotein A-II $APOA2$ $-265T>C$ $rs5082$ $11q23$ Apolipoprotein A-V $APOA5$ $-1131T>C$ $rs662799$ $2p24-p23$ apolipoprotein B $APOB$ $Xba1, 7673C>T$ $rs693$ $2p24-p23$ apolipoprotein B $APOB$ $Ins/Del$ $rs7412$ $19q13.2$ Apolipoprotein E $APOE$ $334T>C$ $rs429358$ $19q13.2$ Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-II $APOE/CI$ $A>G$ $rs420632$	3q27	Adiponectin	ADIPOQ	45T>G	rs2241766
1p31.1-p22.3Angiopoietin-like 3ANGPTL3C>Grs17481931q21-q23apolipoprotein A-IIAPOA2-265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein A-VAPOA5-1131T>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBXba1, 7673C>Trs6932p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Delrs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs742935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs420633	3q27	Adiponectin	ADIPOQ	276G>T	rs1501299
1q21-q23apolipoprotein A-II $APOA2$ -265T>Crs508211q23Apolipoprotein A-V $APOA5$ -1131T>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein B $APOB$ Xba 1, 7673C>Trs6932p24-p23apolipoprotein B $APOB$ Ins/Delrs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein E $APOE$ 334T>Crs42935819q13.2Apolipoprotein E $APOE$ 334T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-II $APOE/C1$ A>Grs420632	1p31.1-p22.3	Angiopoietin-like 3	ANGPTL3	C>G	rs1748195
11q23Apolipoprotein A-VAPOA5-1131T>Crs6627992p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBXba1, 7673C>Trs6932p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Del19q13.219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE472C>Trs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420632	1q21-q23	apolipoprotein A-II	APOA2	-265T>C	rs5082
2p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBXba 1, 7673C>Trs6932p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/DelIns/Del19q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE472C>Trs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420632	11q23	Apolipoprotein A-V	APOA5	-1131T>C	rs662799
2p24-p23apolipoprotein BAPOBIns/Del19q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE472C>Trs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs429358(Cys112Arg)rs42063519q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420635	2p24-p23	apolipoprotein B	APOB	Xba 1, 7673C>T	rs693
19q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE472C>Trs741219q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs429358(Cys112Arg)(Cys112Arg)19q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420632	2p24-p23	apolipoprotein B	APOB	Ins/Del	
19q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE(Cys158Arg)19q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1334T>Crs42935819q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420632	19q13.2	Apolipoprotein E	APOE	472C>T	rs7412
19q13.2Apolipoprotein EAPOE334T>Crs429358(Cys112Arg)(Cys112Arg)19q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420632				(Cys158Arg)	
19q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420633	19q13.2	Apolipoprotein E	APOE	334T>C	rs429358
19q13Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-IIAPOE/C1A>Grs4420633				(Cys112Arg)	
	19q13	Apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-II	APOE/C1	A>G	rs4420638
/C4/C2			/C4/C2		

1p13	Cadherin, EGF LAG seven-pass	CELSR2/PSRC1	C>T	rs646776			
	G-type receptor 2 (flamingo homolog, /SORT1						
	Drosophila)/Proline/serine-rich						
	coiled-coil 1/Sortilin 1						
16q21	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein, plasma	CETP	C>A	rs3764261			
16q21	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein, plasma	CETP		rs12149545			
16q21	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein, plasma	CETP	-971G>A	rs4783961			
16q21	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein, plasma	CETP	16G>A	rs5882			
			(Ile405Val)				
16q21	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein, plasma	CETP	TaqIB	rs708272			
16q21	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein, plasma	CETP	-629C>A	rs1800775			
1q21-q23	C-reactive protein, pentraxin-related	CRP	3872G>A	rs1205			
1q21-q24	C-reactive protein, pentraxin-related	CRP	5237A>G	rs2808630			
11q13.5	Diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase	DGAT2	T>C	rs3060			
	homolog 2						
11q <b>13.5</b>	Diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase	DGAT2	C>T	rs10899116			
	homolog 2						
1q41-q42	UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-D-galactosamine:	GALNT2	T>G	rs2144300			
	polypeptide N-acetylgalactos-						
	aminyltransferase 2 (GalNAc-T2)						
1q42	UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-D-galactosamine:	GALNT2	G>A	rs4846914			
	polypeptide N-acetylgalactos-						
	aminyltransferase 2 (GalNAc-T2)						
1q42	UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-D-galactosamine:	GALNT2	G>A	rs4846914			
	polypeptide N-acetylgalactos-						
	aminyltransferase 2 (GalNAc-T2)						
2p23	Glucokinase (hexokinase 4) regulator	GCKR	C>T	rs1260326			
2p23	Glucokinase (hexokinase 4) regulator	GCKR	G>A	rs780094			
2p23	Glucokinase (hexokinase 4) regulator	GCKR	C>T	rs1260326			
2p23	Glucokinase (hexokinase 4) regulator	GCKR	G>A	rs780094			
16q12.2-q13	Homocysteine-inducible, endoplasmic	HERPUDI	G>A	rs9989419			
	reticulum stress-inducible, ubiquitin-like						
	domain member 1						
5q13.3-q14	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-Coenzyme A reductase	HMGCR	C>T	rs3846662			
5q13.3-q15	3-hydroxy-4-methylglutaryl-Coenzyme A reductase	HMGCR	A>T	rs12654264			
12q24.2	Hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 alpha	HNF1a	Ile27Leu	rs1169288			

12q24.2	Hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 alpha	HNF1a	Ala98Val	rs1800574 *
6p21.2	Kinesin family member 6	KIF6	2155T>C	rs20455
			(Trp719Arg)	
16q22.1	Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase	LCAT	A>G	rs255052
19p13.3	Low density lipoprotein receptor	LDLR	2052T>C	rs5925
			(Val653Val)	
19p13.3	Low density lipoprotein receptor	LDLR	1866C>T	rs688
			(Asn591Asn)	
19p13.3	Low density lipoprotein receptor	LDLR	T>C	rs1529729
19p13.3	Low density lipoprotein receptor	LDLR	44857C>T	rs1433099
19p13.3	Low density lipoprotein receptor	LDLR	44964A>G	rs2738466
1p31	Leptin receptor	LEPR	Gln223Arg	rs1137101
1p31	Leptin receptor	LEPR	Lys109Arg	rs1137100
15q21-q23	Lipase, hepatic	LIPC	C>T	rs1532085
15q21-q23	Lipase, hepatic	LIPC	-514C>T	rs1800588
18q21.1	Lipase, endothelial/ Acetyl-Coenzyme A	LIPG	T>C	rs4939883
	acyltransferase 2	/ACAA2		
18q21.1	Lipase, endothelial/ Acetyl-Coenzyme A	LIPG	A>C	rs506696
	acyltransferase 2	IACAA2		
6q26	Lipoprotein, Lp(a)	LPA	T>C	rs3798220
6q26	Lipoprotein, Lp(a)	LPA	G>C	rs7765781
8p22	Lipoprotein lipase	LPL	A>G	rs331
8p22	Lipoprotein lipase	LPL	Ser447X	rs328
7q11.23	MLX interacting protein-like	MLXIPL	771G>C	rs3812316
19p13	Neurocan/cartilage intermediate layer	NCAN/CILP2	G>T	rs16996148
	protein 2 / Pre-B-cell leukemia homeobox 4	/PBX4		
7p13	NPC1 (Niemann-Pick disease, type C1,	NPCILI	1679C>G	rs2072183
	gene)-like 1		(Leu272Leu)	
7p13	NPC1 (Niemann-Pick disease, type C1, gene)-like 1	NPC1L1	18975G>A	rs4720470
7p13	NPC1 (Niemann-Pick disease, type C1, gene)-like 1	NPCILI	A>C	rs2301935
1p32.3	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin	PCSK9	158C>T	rs11583680
	type 9		(Ala53Val)	
1p32.3	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin	PCSK9	c.658-7C> T	rs2483205
	туре у			

1p32.3	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin	PCSK9	c.799 + 3A>G	rs2495477
	type 9			
1p32.3	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin	PCSK9	1420G>A	rs562556
	type 9		(Val474Ile)	
1p32.3	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin	PCSK9	2009G>A	rs505151
	type 9		(Glu670Gly)	
7q21.3	Paraoxonase 1	PONI	Gln192Arg	rs662
22q12-q13.1;	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor	PPARA	Leu162Val	rs1800206 *
22q13.31	alpha			
22q12-q13.1;	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor	PPARA	A>G	rs4253776 *
22q13.31	alpha			
22q12-q13.1;	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor	PPARA	C>G	rs4253778 *
22q13.31	alpha			
3p25	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor	PPARG	167C>G	rs1801282
	gamma		(Pro12Ala)	
4p15.1	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor	PPARGC1A	1546G>A	rs8192678
	gamma, coactivator 1 alpha			
7q11	Transducin (beta)-like 2 /	TBL2	C>T	rs17145738
	MLX interacting protein-like	/MLXIPL		
8q24.13	Tribbles homolog 1 (Drosophila)	TRIBI	A>G	rs4518686
8q24.13	Tribbles homolog 1 (Drosophila)	TRIB1	T>C	rs10808546
11q13	Uncoupling protein 3 (mitochondrial,	UCP3	-55C>T	rs1800849
	proton carrier)			

\* MAF <1%; <sup>†</sup> Depart from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium; <sup>‡</sup> Failed for genotyping.

			Polymorphism	
Locus	Candidate Genes / Nearby Genes	Symbol	(Amino acid	dbSNP
			changes)	
17q11.2-q12	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2	CCL2 (MCP-1)	-3813C>T	rs1860188
4p16-p15.3	Solute carrier family 2 (facilitated	SLC2A9	T>C	rs1014290
An16-n153	glucose transporter), member 9 Solute carrier family 2 (facilitated	(GLUT9) SLC2A9	T>C	rs12510549 rs893006
For Form	glucose transporter), member 9 Solute carrier family 22 (organic	(GLUT9)	() T	
11q13.1	anion/urate transporter), member 12	(URAT1)	(His142His)	
11q13.1	Solute carrier family 22 (organic anion/urate transporter), member 12	SLC22A12 (URAT1)	426C>T	rs11231825

Table 3-2. List of additional 5 SNPs potentially related to uric acid transport

## 3.4.2 DNA extraction

The DNA samples were extracted from the blood specimens by the traditional phenol chloroform method as below.

- 10 ml peripheral venous blood was collected, centrifuged at 3000 rpm, 4°C for 10 minutes and the plasma was aspirated off.
- 12 ml of lysis buffer (10 mM KHCO3, 155 mM NH4Cl, 0.1 mM EDTA) was added to the blood and placed on ice for 15 minutes. After centrifuging at 3000rpm, 4°C for 20 minutes, the supernatant was then decanted.
- 3. The cell pellet was re-suspended in 12 ml lysis buffer and step 2 was repeated.
- The cell pellet was resuspended in 3ml of TE buffer, then 600ul of 10% SDS and 50ul proteinase K (20mg/ml) was added and incubated at 65°C in a water bath overnight.
- 5. 1.2 ml of 6M NaCl was added to the overnight digested sample with vigorous

shaking for a few seconds. Then, the sample was centrifuged at 3000rpm, 4°C for 10 minutes.

- 6. The supernatant was decanted to a clean test tube and 1 ml of TE equilibrated phenol was added and mixed well.
- One milliliter of chloroform was then added and mixed well. The mixture was centrifuged at 3000 rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes and the upper aqueous layer was transferred to a new test tube.
- Two milliliters of chloroform was added and mixed well. The mixture was centrifuged at 3000rpm, 4°C for 10 minutes. The upper aqueous layer was transferred to a new test tube for DNA precipitation.
- After two volumes of ice cold absolute alcohol was added and well-mixed, DNA started to precipitate as a loose mass.
- 10. The precipitated DNA was transferred to a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube and washed with 1 ml 70% alcohol. After being centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3,000 rpm, the DNA was pelleted to the bottom of the Eppendorf tube and the alcohol was drained off.
- 11. The DNA was air-dried for about 10 minutes and then thoroughly dissolved in 200 - 400 µl TE buffer. The optical density (OD) at 260 nm and 280 nm were measured to determine the quantity and quality of the DNA. A ratio of 1.8 was regarded as good quality.

# 3.4.3 Genotyping

The genotyping of the polymorphisms in this study was mainly performed in the Genome Research Centre at The University of Hong Kong using the SEQUENOM MassARRAY system in 2007 and 2008 except for some SNPs that the primers of which could not be compatible with the optimized assay designs.

#### 3.4.3.1 Genotyping by the SEQUENOM MassARRAY

With the completion of the Human Genome Project and International HapMap Project, a great number of rapid, and cost effective technologies for SNP analysis have been developed, particularly those high-throughput systems e.g. the mass spectroscopy-based MassARRAY system (Sequenom), the fluorescent microarray-based systems (Affymetrix) and the fluorescent bead-based technologies (Luminex, Illumina, Q-dot), etc.

The iPLEX Gold assay on the MassARRAY® Platform developed by Sequenom Inc. combines the benefits of robust single-base primer extension biochemistry with the sensitivity and accuracy of MassARRAY MALDI-TOF (matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight) mass spectrometry detection, which can analyse maximally up to 40 SNPs simultaneously within a single well of a 384 well plate (www.sequenom.com). The iPLEX® Gold assay is based on multiplex PCR followed by a single base primer extension reaction. After the PCR (polymerase chain reaction), remaining nucleotides are deactivated by Shrimp Alkaline Phosphatase (SAP) treatment. The single base primer extension step is performed, and the primer extension products analyzed using MALDI TOF MS. Finally, the SpectroCHIP is placed into the MALDI-TOF, and the mass and their correlating genotypes are determined in real time with MassARRAY RT software (www.sequenom.com). This new technology is available in the Genome Research Centre at The University of Hong Kong (www.genome.hku.hk), where we had the majority of the SNPs genotyped.

#### 3.4.3.2 TaqMan polymerase chain reaction allelic discrimination

The TaqMan 5' nuclease assay is an established method widely used for real-time PCR quantification. The *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism was genotyped in some patients at one stage before all samples were sent to the Genome Research Centre at The University of Hong Kong due to its importance. For some other SNPs that were not compatible with the assay designs of the MassARRAY system and some newly-selected supplemental SNPs, Taqman assays (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, US) were applied. A total of 16 SNPs were genotyped using the Taqman assays (Table 3-3).

		Drug metabolism		Assays-by-design
Gene	SNP	genotyping assay	Genotyping assay	service
ABCG2	421C>A	C_15854163_70		
CYP2C9	1075A>C (*3)	C_27104892_10		
CYP2D6*	188C>T	C_11484460_40		
	1934G>A	C_27102431_D0		
	1846G>A	C_30634117D_30		
	1846G>T	C_30634117C_20		
	2938C>T	C_27102425_10		
	4268G>C	C_27102414_10		
SLCO1B1	-11187G>A	C_32325356_10		
SLCO2B1	1457C>T	C_16193013_20		
KIF6	2155T>C		C_3054799_10	
PCSK9	158C>T		C_2018187_10	
	658-7C>T		C_2018176_10	
	799+3A>G		C_2018175_10	
	1420G>A		C_998751_10	
	2009G>A		C_998744_10	
SAH				-962 I/D

Table 3-3. SNPs genotyped using Taqman assays in the study

\* The 5kb of the cyp2D6 gene was amplified first & then diluted 100 fold with water before performing the Taqman assay.

#### 3.4.3.3 Polymerase chain reaction

Polymerase chain reaction was performed to detect the deletion of the *CYP2D6* gene (\*5) as described previously (Stamer UM et al., 2002). The primers 5' -F (ACC GGG CAC CTG TAC TCC TCA) and 5' -R (GCA TGA GCT AAG GCA CCC AGA CCG TCT AGT GGG AGA CAA AC) were used to amplify a 3.5-kb PCR product in the presence of allele \*5 in contrast to a 4.2-kb PCR product without \*5 (Figure 3-1).

All the reagents for PCR reaction were from Roche Diagnostics Mannheim Germany. The PCR reaction was performed with PCR machine 9700.





Lane 5 shows heterozygous \*5; lane 14 shows homozygous \*5, other lanes show absence of \*5 apart from lanes 1 and 10 showing controls. Presence of \*5 yielded 3.5 kb band (lower arrow) whereas without \*5 allele yielded a 4.2 kb band (upper arrow).

For the APOB ins/del polymorphism, the primers 5' -F (CAG CTG GCG ATG GAC

CCG CCG A) and 5' -R (ACC GGC CCT GGC GCC CGC CAG CA) were used to amplify a 96 bp PCR product in the presence of allele ins in contrast to a 84 bp PCR product with del allele (Figure 3-2) (Choong ML et al., 1999).

Figure 3-2. Polymerase chain reaction for detection of *APOB* ins/del polymorphism



ins/ins ins/del del/del

Lanes 5, 8 and 11 show heterozygous ins/del; lane 7 shows homozygous del, other lanes show homozygous ins apart from lane 9 showing controls. Presence of del yielded 84 bp band (lower arrow) whereas presence of ins allele yielded a 96 bp band (upper arrow).

## 3.4.3.4 Polymerase chain reaction - restriction fragment length polymorphism

Traditional polymerase chain reaction - restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP) tests were performed for determining polymorphisms of *ABCC2* 4544G>A and *APOE* 334T>C. For each polymorphism, about 100 ng DNA template was amplified with specific forward and reverse primers as described previously

(Izzedine H et al., 2006).

7  $\mu$ l of the amplified 449-bp PCR product for *ABCC2* 4544G>A were digested with 2 U restriction enzyme Rsa I at 37°C overnight in a total volume of 20  $\mu$ l. The digested mixture was run with 3% agarose gel. The mutated allele of A should have the restriction site giving bands of 95 and 196 bp while the wild-type allele of G gave a band of 291 bp. No variant allele was found in our samples (Figure 3-3).

Figure 3-3. PCR-RFLP for detection of ABCC2 4544G>A polymorphism



The wild-type G allele yielded a 291 bp band. All lanes show homozygous G allele except for control samples.

7  $\mu$ l of the amplified 318 bp PCR product for *APOE* 334T>C were digested with 2.5 U restriction enzyme Afl III at 37°C overnight in a total volume of 20  $\mu$ l. The digested mixture was run with 3% agarose gel. The mutated allele of C had the restriction site giving bands of 295 bp while the wild-type allele of T gave bands of 64 and 231 bp (Figure 3-4).







Lane 9 shows heterozygous 334TC; lane 7 shows homozygous 334CC, other lanes show homozygous 334TT apart from lane 1 showing controls. Presence of C varioant allele yielded 295-kb band (upper arrow), whereas presence of T allele yielded 64- and 231-bp bands (middle and lower arrows).

# 3.4.3.5 Sequencing

(TA)n repeats in the UGT1A1 promoter were examined by sequencing in Tech Dragon Limited (www.techdragon.com.hk) using the high throughput Applied Biosystems 3730x1 DNA Analyzer. The chromatogram for the sequence was viewed by the Chromas Lite 2.01 (Technelysium Pty Ltd).

# Figure 3-5. Sequencing of (TA)6>7 repeats in the UGT1A1 promoter

# A. UGT1A1 (TA)6/6 (\*1/\*1)



# B. UGT1A1 (TA)<sub>6/7</sub> (\*1/\*28)

40 50 60 70 80 90 100 FG GT GTATC GATT GGTTTTT CCCA TA TATATATATATATAT GTA GGAGA GA OC GA ACCTCT GGGA GG (



#### C. UGT1A1 (TA)<sub>7/7</sub> (\*28/\*28)

7 TA repeats

40 50 60 70 80 90 100 CITIG GT GTATE GATITG GTTTTT OCCATA TATATATA TA TATA A GTA G GAGAGGE GAACE TE TGGEAGE

A shows the sample of homozygous 6 TA repeats; B shows the sample of heterozygous 7 TA repeats; C shows the sample of homozygous of 7 TA repeats.

## 3.5 Statistical analysis

Most analyses in this study were performed using the statistical analytical software package Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for windows, version 17.0, SPSS Inc, Chicago, USA. The Haploview program (Daly Lab) was used to estimate pairwise linkage disequilibrium (LD) and construct haplotypes. Study power was calculated using the Genetic Power Calculator (Purcell S et al., 2003).

Skewed data were logarithmically (base 10) transformed before analysis. Continuous variables were expressed as means  $\pm$  standard deviation or median (Interquartile range). General comparisons between groups were performed using student's t-test or analysis of variance (ANOVA) for normally distributed parameters. Mann-Whitney test or Kruskal-Wallis H test was used for the comparison of continuous variables

that could not be successfully transformed into normally distributed data. The Chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) test was used for comparison of categorical data and HWE.

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was utilized to evaluate genetic effects on the lipid responses to rosuvastatin and other CHD risk factors evaluated in the study. In normally distributed data, one-way ANOVA was used. When the data was skewed, the Kruskal-Wallis H test was utilized. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used to assess the relationship between parameters with adjusting for the confounding factors. Pearson's bivariate correlation or Spearman's bivariate correlation were used to estimate the degree of association between two normally or non-normally distributed continuous variables. Partial correlations examined the linear relationship after adjustment for confounding factors. Univariate and multivariate linear regression analysis were performed to determine contributions of genetic and environment factors to the variations of the lipid responses to rosuvastatin and other CHD risk factors evaluated in the study. Binary logistic regression was used to determine the odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) for estimating risk associated with genotypes of various genetic parameters.

A two-tailed P value less than 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. To adjust for multiple testing, we calculated an experiment wide significance level using the conservative method of Bonferroni (ie, 0.05/n) and therefore only those genetic factors with a probability value below this level were considered to be statistical significant.

# Chapter 4 Pharmacogenetic analysis of lipid responses to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients

#### 4.1 Introduction

The lipid response to the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors or statins is usually assessed by the percentage change in low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and this varies widely between individuals, partly for genetic reasons (Chasman DI et al., 2004, Hu M et al., 2009, Kajinami K et al., 2004e, Schmitz G et al., 2007). More intensive reduction of LDL-C with statins is associated with greater reductions in cardiovascular events in a wide range of subject groups (Baigent C et al., 2005, Howard BV et al., 2008, Lewington S et al., 2007), but may increase the risk of toxicity so that optimizing the choice of statin and the dose for an individual may have beneficial effects.

Rosuvastatin in high doses (40 mg) has shown benefits on surrogate endpoints in the ASTEROID (A Study to Evaluate the Effect of Rosuvastatin on Intravascular Ultrasound-Derived Coronary Atheroma Burden) trial (Ballantyne CM et al., 2008, Nissen SE et al., 2004) and the METEOR (Measuring Effects on Intima-Media Thickness: an Evaluation of Rosuvastatin) study (Crouse JR, 3rd et al., 2007). In the recent CORONA (COntrolled ROsuvastatin MultiNAtional Trial in Heart Failure) study, there was no significant reduction in the primary composite outcome with 10 mg rosuvastatin in patients with moderate to severe heart failure, but in a prespecified secondary analysis, there were fewer hospitalizations for cardiovascular causes in the rosuvastatin group than in the placebo group (P<0.001) (Kjekshus J et al., 2007).

Rosuvastatin is one of the few drugs for which regulatory authorities including the FDA have recommended starting with lower doses (5 mg) in 'Asian' patients (Food and Drug Administration), but the term 'Asian' was not clearly defined (Po AL, 2007). The dose recommendation was based on single dose pharmacokinetic studies showing that systemic exposure to rosuvastatin was approximately twice as high in Asian Americans than in non-Asians (Grundy SM, 2005) and similar findings reported from Japanese subjects living in Japan compared with Caucasians (Tzeng T et al., 2004). A study from Singapore showed that Chinese subjects had, on average, higher systemic exposure than White subjects living in the same environment, with Malays and Asian Indians having intermediate values (Lee E et al., 2005). These differences in pharmacokinetics are unlikely to be due to ethnic variations in the drug metabolizing enzymes as rosuvastatin undergoes relatively little enzymic modification, but it is a substrate for a number of drug transporters which influence its disposition (Ho RH et al., 2006, Tirona RG, 2005). The uptake transporter organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 (OATP1B1, gene SLCO1B1) influences hepatic uptake of rosuvastatin, but the common polymorphisms and haplotypes in SLCOIBI did not explain the ethnic differences in Singapore (Lee E et al., 2005).

The efflux transporter breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) or ATP-binding cassette G2 (ABCG2) transporter, plays a significant role in the disposition of rosuvastatin *in vitro* (Huang L et al., 2006). One functional single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), 421C>A (rs2231142, Gln141Lys) in *ABCG2* reduces the transport function of ABCG2 (Robey RW et al., 2009). The 421C>A polymorphism has been shown to have an important effect on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in Chinese (Zhang W et al., 2006a) and Caucasians subjects (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c) with the A variant allele associated with increased systemic drug exposure to

rosuvastatin. The 421A allele is more common in Chinese and Japanese (allele frequency about 35%) than in Caucasians (14%) (Robey RW et al., 2009, Zamber CP et al., 2003), which may contribute to the ethnic difference in pharmacokinetics of rosuvstatin. However, no studies have been published on the effects of ABCG2 polymorphism on the efficacy of statins.

On the basis of mechanism of action and pharmacokinetics, a number of candidate genes and SNPs have been reported to be associated with lipid responses to some statins as described in the Chapter 1, although few results can be replicated on subsequent testing which may be due to small sample size in most of studies, low allele frequency of SNPs, small effect size or chance finding and non-genetic confounding factors e.g. drug compliance may also play a role. No studies so far have reported the genetic predictors of lipid response to rosuvastatin, the most potent and recent statin in the market.

The present study was intended to explore whether the 421C>A polymorphism in *ABCG2* and other common polymorphisms in genes related to statin pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, cholesterol synthesis and lipoprotein metabolism pathways including some of those newly identified lipid-related loci and metabolic disorders influence the lipid response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients. The effects of phenotypic factors on the lipid response were also assessed in the study.
#### 4.2 Subjects and Methods

## 4.2.1 Subjects and study design

Please refer to Chapter 3 for the details of study design and methods.

## 4.2.2 SNP selection and genotyping

A total of 135 polymorphisms in 62 candidate genes/loci were selected based on their potential roles in the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of statin, lipid metabolism or metabolic disorders (Table 3-1). DNA was extracted and genotyping was performed as described in Chapter 3. Two SNPs failed for genotyping as shown in Table 3-1. All other polymorphisms were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) (P>0.05) apart from *UGT2B7* 802C>T which was excluded from the analysis. Seven SNPs with a minor allele frequency (MAF) less than 1% were also excluded (Table 3-1).

#### 4.2.3 Statistical analysis

The percentage reduction in LDL-C was prospectively defined as the primary endpoint, which could largely reduce the influence of the baseline level of LDL-C. The percentage changes in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), triglycerides, total cholesterol and non-HDL-C were also assessed. The assessment of the lipid responses to rosuvastatin was performed in patients with good adherence with rosuvastatin. The baseline characteristics between gender and other subgroups e.g. familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH) vs. non-FH or rheumatoid arthritis (RA) vs. non-RA were compared using Student's t-test for normally distributed parameters or Mann-Whitney test for continuous variables that could not be successfully transformed into normally distributed data and chi-square tests for categorical

variables. Effects of phenotypic or genotypic factors on the percentage changes in LDL-C, HDL-C, triglycerides, total cholesterol, and non-HDL-C were initially assessed singly using Student's t-test or analysis of variance (ANOVA) for normally distributed variables or Mann-Whitney test or Kruskal-Wallis H test for skewed variables. Assessed phenotypic variables included age, gender, body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), percentage of total body fat, baseline values of lipid parameters, smoking status (current smoker/nonsmoker), FH, type 2 diabetes status, hypertension, RA, as well as history of cardiovascular disease (CVD). The phenotypic factors associated with the outcome measures at P<0.2 were considered for inclusion in the multivariate stepwise regression analysis. The genetic effects of 125 polymorphisms on percent changes in LDL-C, HDL-C, triglycerides, total cholesterol and non-HDL-C were evaluated separately using analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with phenotypic predictors of each outcome as covariates when appropriate. Polymorphisms with P values < 0.05 without correction for multiple testing were reported, but statistical significance at this level should be interpreted with caution. To adjust for multiple testing, we calculated an experiment wide significance level using the conservative method of Bonferroni (i.e., 0.05/125=0.0004), and therefore only those polymorphisms with a probability value below this level were considered to be statistical significant. Multivariate stepwise regression analysis was performed to determine the contribution of phenotypic and genetic factors with nominally significant P values (P<0.05) to the variation of the lipid responses. All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

In post hoc power analysis, we had > 80% power to detect genetic effects that explain 2.5% of the variance in percentage changes in lipid parameters for a variant with a minor allele frequency of >1% with a type I error rate of 0.05.

## 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Baseline characteristics of participants

Baseline characteristics in 386 eligible patients with good adherence to rosuvastatin treatment, including 36 patients with RA are shown in Table 4-1. The mean ( $\pm$  SD) age was 55.7  $\pm$  11.4 years and about 45% were male. In patients over 60 years old, 58% were female (Figure 4-1). Two of the subjects were Caucasian and the remainder were Chinese. The mean values for BMI were 25.7  $\pm$  4.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in males and 24.9  $\pm$  4.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in females corresponding to WC of 90.7  $\pm$  11.0 cm and % body fat of 25.2  $\pm$  5.9 % in men and WC of 83.3  $\pm$  10.8 cm and % body fat of 34.7  $\pm$  8.1 % in women respectively, suggesting that at least half of the subjects were generally and centrally obese according to the criteria for Asian subjects. Out of the 386 subjects, 166 had a clinical diagnosis of FH, 191 had hypertension, 109 had type 2 diabetes and 55 were known to have a history of CVD. About 10% of subjects were current smokers and the majority of smokers were male.

The baseline LDL-C and total cholesterol were  $5.14 \pm 1.71 \text{ mmol/L}$  and  $7.49 \pm 1.80 \text{ mmol/L}$ , respectively. Male subjects had lower baseline HDL-C concentrations but higher triglycerides than females (Table 4-1).

Characteristics	All	Males	Females	Р
	<b>n=386</b>	<b>n=173</b>	<b>n=213</b>	
Age, years	55.7 ± 11.4	54.7 ± 11.6	56.6 ± 11.2	0.109
Weight, kg	$64.6 \pm 13.4$	$\textbf{71.8} \pm \textbf{13.0}$	58.9 ± 10.8	< 0.001*
Height, m	$1.59\pm0.09$	$1.67\pm0.06$	$1.54 \pm 0.06$	< 0.001
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$25.2 \pm 4.2$	$25.7 \pm 4.0$	$\textbf{24.9} \pm \textbf{4.3}$	0.061*
Waist circumference, cm	86.6 ± 11.5	$\textbf{90.7} \pm \textbf{11.0}$	83.3 ± 10.8	<0.001 <sup>†</sup>
Hip circumference, cm	97.4 ± 7.5	<b>98.4</b> ± <b>7.1</b>	$96.7 \pm 7.8$	0.004 <sup>†</sup>
Waist to hip ratio	$0.89 \pm 0.08$	$0.92\pm0.07$	$0.86 \pm 0.08$	<0.001
Body fat, %	<b>29.9</b> ± 8.5	$25.2 \pm 5.9$	$34.7\pm8.1$	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
FH, n	166 (43.0)	69 (39.9)	97 (45.5)	0.264
Hypertension, n	191 (49.5)	91 (52.6)	100 (46.9)	0.269
Type 2 diabetes, n	109 (28.2)	58 (33.5)	51 (23.9)	0.038
History of CVD, n	55 (14.2)	24 (11.3)	31 (17.9)	0.063
RA, n	36 (9.3)	9 (5.2)	27 (12.7)	0.012
Current smoker, n	37 (9.6)	33 (19.1)	4 (1.9)	< 0.001
Total cholesterol, mmol/L	$7.49 \pm 1.80$	7.33 ± 1.66	$7.62 \pm 1.89$	$0.080^{\dagger}$
LDL-C, mmol/L	$5.14 \pm 1.71$	$5.08 \pm 1.49$	5.18 ± 1.86	$0.800^{+}$
HDL-C, mmol/L	$1.51 \pm 0.40$	1.34 ± 0.29	$1.64 \pm 0.43$	<0.001 <sup>†</sup>
Triglycerides, mmol/L	$2.00 \pm 1.46$	2.15 ± 1.48	$1.88 \pm 1.44$	0.009*
non-HDL-C, mmol/L	5.98 ± 1.77	5.99 ± 1.63	$5.98 \pm 1.88$	0.162*
FPG, mmol/L	$6.2 \pm 2.2$	6.3 ± 2.3	$6.1 \pm 2.2$	0.225
CK, U/L	<b>128 ±</b> 117	$162 \pm 158$	$101 \pm 57$	<0.001*
Creatinine, µmol/L	7 <b>9</b> ± 21	91 ± 19	$70 \pm 15$	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
ALT, IU/L	$28.8 \pm 23.1$	$32.8 \pm 22.9$	25.6 ± 22.8	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
ALP, U/L	75 ± 28	$73 \pm 23$	76 ± 23	0.022 <sup>†</sup>

Table 4-1. Baseline characteristics for participants with good adherence with rosuvastatin

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD or n (%) and compared by t-test or  $\chi^2$ -test for continuous variable or categorical variable unless otherwise indicated;

\* Data were logarithmically (base 10) transformed for comparison;

<sup>†</sup> Data were compared by Mann-Whitney U test.

Abbreviations: ALP = alkaline phosphatase; ALT = alanine transaminase; CK = creatine kinase; CVD = cardiovascular disease; FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; FPG = fasting plasma glucose; HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; RA = rheumatoid arthritis.

Figure 4-1. Distribution of ages in male and female subjects



The mean ( $\pm$  SD) age of 36 patients with RA was 53.6  $\pm$  5.9 years and three-quarters of them were female. Patients with RA tended to have lower body weight, BMI, and WC than patients with hypercholesterolaemia, which may be partly due to the different gender distributions between groups (Table 4-2). Among 36 RA patients, 6 of them also had hypertension but none of these RA patients had diabetes or CVD. The baseline LDL-C, total cholesterol and triglycerides were significantly lower in patients with RA compared to those in patients with hypercholesterolaemia (Table 4-2). RA patients had a relatively higher HDL-C level than patients with hypercholesterolaemia (1.64  $\pm$  0.45 mmol/L vs. 1.50  $\pm$  0.39 mmol/L, P = 0.048) but again this may also be due to the high proportion of females in the RA group.

Characteristics	RA	Non-RA	P
	<b>n=36</b>	<b>n=350</b>	
Age, years	53.6 ± 5.9	55.9 ± 11.8	0.051
Male, n	9 (25.0)	164 (46.9)	0.012
Weight, kg	$58.7 \pm 9.9$	$65.3 \pm 13.6$	0.004*
Height, m	$1.57\pm0.07$	$1.60\pm0.09$	0.092
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$23.8 \pm 3.7$	25.4 ± 4.2	0.019 <sup>†</sup>
Waist circumference, cm	$82.8\pm9.4$	87.0 ± 11.6	0.035
Hip circumference, cm	$94.3 \pm 6.7$	97.8 ± 7.6	0.001 <sup>†</sup>
Waist to hip ratio	$0.88 \pm 0.07$	$\textbf{0.89} \pm \textbf{0.08}$	0.461
Hypertension, n	6 (16.7)	185 (52.9)	< 0.001
Type 2 diabetes, n	0 (0)	109 (31.1)	<0.001
Total cholesterol, mmol/L	$5.03 \pm 0.99$	$7.74 \pm 1.67$	<0.001*
LDL-C, mmol/L	$2.89 \pm 0.84$	$5.37 \pm 1.60$	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
HDL-C, mmol/L	1.64 ± 0.45	$1.50\pm0.39$	0.048*
Triglycerides, mmol/L	$1.14 \pm 0.53$	$2.09\pm1.50$	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
non-HDL-C, mmol/L	$3.40\pm0.98$	$6.25 \pm 1.61$	<0.001 <sup>+</sup>
Fasting plasma glucose, mmol/L	$4.9 \pm 0.5$	$6.3 \pm 2.3$	< 0.001 +
Creatine kinase, U/L	99 ± 80	$132 \pm 121$	0.020*
Creatinine, µmol/L	67 ± 15	$81 \pm 20$	<0.001*
Alanine transaminase, IU/L	21.9 ± 8.9	$29.6 \pm 24.1$	$0.022^{\dagger}$
Alkaline phosphatase, U/L	92 ± 59	$73 \pm 21$	0.006 <sup>†</sup>

 Table 4-2. Comparison of baseline characteristics for patients with rheumatoid

 arthritis and patients with hypercholesterolaemia

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD or n (%) and compared by t-test or  $\chi^2$ -test for continuous variable or categorical variable, respectively, unless otherwise indicated;

\* Data were logarithmically (base 10) transformed for comparison;

<sup>†</sup> Data were compared by Mann-Whitney U test.

Abbreviations: HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; RA = rheumatoid arthritis.

In 350 patients with hypercholesterolaemia, patients with FH were younger and less obese than non-FH patients (Table 4-3). There was significant difference in age distributions in FH and non-FH patients (P=0.001) and in 105 patients with age  $\leq$  50 years, 65 (61.9%) had FH (Figure 4-2). FH patients had higher baseline levels of

total cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C and non-HDL-C, but a lower level of triglycerides, than those of non-FH patients. In contrast, non-FH patients had higher levels of blood pressure and fasting glucose as there were higher proportions of patients with diabetes or hypertension in the non-FH group than in those with FH. The creatinine and ALP were lower in patients with FH compared to non-FH patients (Table 4-3).



Figure 4-2. Distribution of ages in FH and non-FH patients

1≤40; 2.41-50; 3.51-60; 4.61-70; 5.71-85 (years)

Characteristics	Combined	FH	Non-FH	Р
	n=350	n=166	n=184	
Age, years	55.9 ± 11.8	52.8 ± 12.5	58.8 ± 10.4	< 0.001
Male, n	164 (46.9)	69 (41.6)	95 (51.6)	0.060
Weight, kg	$65.3 \pm 13.6$	$62.3 \pm 10.8$	68.1 ± 15.4	$0.001^{\dagger}$
Height, m	$1.60 \pm 0.09$	$1.60\pm0.09$	1.59 ± 0.09	0.390
Body mass index, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$25.4 \pm 4.2$	$24.2 \pm 3.5$	$26.6 \pm 4.5$	<0.001*
Waist circumference, cm	87.0 ± 11.6	$83.5 \pm 9.9$	91.1 ± 12.2	<0.001*
Hip circumference, cm	$97.8 \pm 7.6$	96.8 ± 6.1	$99.0\pm8.8$	$0.036^{\dagger}$
Waist to hip ratio	$0.89\pm0.08$	$0.86\pm0.07$	$0.92 \pm 0.08$	< 0.001
Body fat, %	$29.9 \pm 8.5$	$29.1 \pm 8.2$	$30.9\pm8.8$	0.110
Hypertension, n	185 (52.9)	45 (27.1)	140 (76.1)	< 0.001
Type 2 diabetes, n	109 (31.1)	19 (11.4)	90 (48.9)	< 0.001
History of CVD, n	55 (15.7)	10 (6.0)	45 (24.5)	< 0.001
Current smoker, n	36 (10.6)	15 (9.1)	21 (12.0)	0.384
Total cholesterol, mmol/L	$7.74 \pm 1.67$	8.80±1.68	$6.79 \pm 0.92$	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
LDL-C, mmol/L	$5.37 \pm 1.60$	$6.44 \pm 1.57$	$4.40\pm0.82$	< 0.001 <sup>+</sup>
HDL-C, mmol/L	$1.50\pm0.39$	$1.57\pm0.37$	$1.43 \pm 0.40$	<0.001 <sup>†</sup>
Triglycerides, mmol/L	$2.09 \pm 1.50$	$1.83 \pm 1.29$	$2.32 \pm 1.63$	<0.001 <sup>†</sup>
non-HDL-C, mmol/L	$6.25 \pm 1.61$	7.22 ± 1.67	5.37 ± 0.88	<0.001*
FPG, mmol/L	$6.3 \pm 2.3$	$5.5 \pm 1.0$	$7.1 \pm 2.8$	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
CK, U/L	$132\pm121$	$143 \pm 152$	119 ± 72	0.326
Creatinine, µmol/L	$81 \pm 20$	78 ± 16	84 ± 23	0.008*
ALT, IU/L	$29.6 \pm 24.1$	29.4 ± 23.2	29.8 ± 25.0	0.737 <sup>†</sup>
ALP, U/L	$73 \pm 21$	70 ± 21	$75 \pm 20$	0.008*

Table 4-3. Baseline characteristics for patients with hypercholesterolaemia

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD or n (%) and compared by t-test or  $\chi^2$ -test for continuous variable or categorical variable unless otherwise indicated;

\* Data were logarithmically (base 10) transformed for comparison;

<sup>†</sup> Data were compared by Mann-Whitney U test.

Abbreviations: ALP = alkaline phosphatase; ALT = alanine aminotransferase; CK = creatine kinase; CVD = cardiovascular disease; FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; FPG = fasting plasma glucose; HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; RA = rheumatoid arthritis.

#### 4.3.2 Lipid response and safety

In 386 patients with good adherence to rosuvastatin, there were significant reductions (P<0.001) in LDL-C, triglycerides, total cholesterol and non-HDL-C (-51.8  $\pm$  12.2%, -19.3  $\pm$  33.6%, -37.7  $\pm$  9.1% and -47.8  $\pm$  10.9%, respectively), but a nonsignificant change in HDL-C (1.6  $\pm$  13.3%, P>0.05). The LDL-C response to rosuvastatin varied considerably among individuals from -7.1% to -85.4% (Figure 4-3).

Figure 4-3. The LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in study participants



Patients with RA had a similar percentage reduction in LDL-C to patients with hypercholesterolaemia (Figure 4-4), although RA patients had lower baseline LDL-C levels ( $2.89 \pm 0.84$  vs.  $5.37 \pm 1.60$ , P<0.001). However, the changes in HDL-C, triglycerides and total cholesterol were different between the two groups (Figure 4-4).

# Figure 4-4. Mean lipid responses to rosuvastatin in patients with RA (n=36) and hypercholesterolaemia (n=350)



Data were compared by t-test or Mann-Whitney U test (\*).

Abbreviations: HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TC = total cholesterol; TG = triglyceride; RA = rheumatoid arthritis.

FH patients had a significantly smaller percentage LDL-C response to rosuvastatin compared to non-FH but the changes in other lipid parameters in FH were of a similar magnitude to non-FH patients (Figure 4-5).

Figure 4-5. Mean lipid responses to rosuvastatin in patients with FH (n=166) and non-FH (n=220)



Data were compared by t-test or Mann-Whitney U test (\*).

Abbreviations: FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TC = total cholesterol; TG = triglyceride.

## 4.3.2.1 Effects of phenotypic factors on the LDL-C response

The analysis of the effects of different phenotypic parameters on the changes in LDL-C levels in response to rosuvastatin 10 mg daily are shown in Table 4-4. There was no significant effect of baseline LDL-C levels, BMI, WC, % body fat, smoking status, having hypertension, RA or CVD on the percentage change in LDL-C. Post hoc analysis showed that patients with age 51-70 years had a greater LDL-C reduction than that of the younger patients (18-50 years). Female subjects had greater reductions in LDL-C than male subjects. The associations between age and gender and LDL-C response to rosuvastatin were still significant after adjusting for other variables. Patients with FH or without diabetes had a smaller reduction in LDL-C compared to the remainder but this was no longer significant after adjustment for age, gender, having diabetes, FH, or hypertension and baseline LDL-C levels (Table 4-4).

		Baseline	On-treatment	ex 61		
Variable	Group, (n)	LDL-C	LDL-C	% Change in	Р	P †
		(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)	LDL-C		
Age, year	≤40, (33)	5.83 ± 1.39	3.07 ± 0.85	-46.9 ± 10.6		
	41-50, (85)	$5.14 \pm 1.69$	$2.66 \pm 1.06$	-47.8 ± 12.5		
	51-60, (142)	$5.07 \pm 1.87$	$2.35\pm1.05$	-53.7 ± 11.5	< 0.001	0.014
	61-70, (86)	$4.97 \pm 1.66$	$2.2 \pm 0.84$	$-55.0 \pm 12.1$		
	>70, (40)	$5.13 \pm 1.37$	$2.53 \pm 1.01$	$-51.1 \pm 12.5$		
Condar	Female, (213)	5.18 ± 1.86	$2.42 \pm 1.04$	-53.1 ± 12.0	0.025	0.010
Gender	Male, (173)	$5.08 \pm 1.49$	$2.51\pm0.98$	-50.3 ± 12.3	0.025	0.039
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	<22.58, (91)	5.21 ± 1.93	$2.50 \pm 1.05$	$-51.8 \pm 11.7$		
(Quartiles)	22.58-24.84, (93)	$5.33 \pm 1.79$	$2.61 \pm 1.06$	$-50.7 \pm 13.1$	0.617	
	24.85-27.07, (92)	$4.99 \pm 1.43$	$2.32\pm0.85$	-52.9 ± 11.8		
	>27.07, (91)	5.05 ± 1.76	$2.40 \pm 1.12$	$-52.6 \pm 12.1$		
WC, (cm)	<78.2, (83)	5.64 ± 2.10	$2.73 \pm 1.16$	-51.3 ± 12.7		
(Quartiles)	78.2-85.9, (84)	$5.12 \pm 1.70$	$2.42\pm0.98$	$-52.8 \pm 10.8$	A 701#	
	86.0-93.0, (83)	$5.09 \pm 1.68$	$2.40\pm0.93$	$-51.9 \pm 12.3$	0.782*	
	>93.0 (84)	$5.06 \pm 1.57$	$2.48 \pm 1.05$	-50.7 ± 12.7		
Body fat, %	<23.8, (60)	$5.49 \pm 1.63$	2.61 ± 0.94	$-51.2 \pm 12.9$		
(Quartiles)	23.8-28.7, (59)	$5.54 \pm 1.58$	$2.71 \pm 0.97$	-50.9 ± 11.9	0.601	
	28.8-35.3, (61)	$5.76 \pm 1.81$	$2.78 \pm 1.09$	$-51.5 \pm 11.4$	0.091	
	>35.3, (59)	5.33 ± 1.70	$2.47\pm0.96$	-53.3 ± 10.8		
Baseline	<4.0, (95)	$3.27\pm0.65$	1.57 ± 0.45	$-51.4 \pm 12.4$		
LDL-C,	4.0-4.88, (97)	$4.41 \pm 0.25$	$2.10\pm0.65$	-52.5 ± 14.5	0 120#	0 667
mmol/L	4.89-6.0, (96)	$5.39\pm0.34$	$2.52\pm0.62$	$-53.2 \pm 11.3$	0.150*	0.007
(Quartiles)	>6.0, (96)	$7.46 \pm 1.27$	$3.67 \pm 0.85$	$-50.5 \pm 11.1$		
PU	No, (220)	$4.15 \pm 0.99$	$1.93\pm0.66$	-53.0±13.1	0.007*	0.070
rn	Yes, (166)	$6.44 \pm 1.57$	$3.17\pm0.97$	$-50.4 \pm 10.8$	0.007*	0.078
Disheter	No, (277)	5.34 ± 1.85	$2.59 \pm 1.03$	$-51.1 \pm 11.2$	0.007*	0.060
Diabetes	Yes, (109)	4.60 ± 1.09	$2.14 \pm 0.90$	$-53.7 \pm 14.3$	0.007*	0.000
Hymertension	No, (200)	5.49 ± 1.94	2.66 ± 1.09	-51.1 ± 11.6	0 157*	0.502
rypertension	Yes, (186)	4.76 ± 1.32	$2.25 \pm 0.88$	$-52.6 \pm 12.8$	0.137*	0.393
History of	No, (331)	5.22 ± 1.74	2.50 ± 1.03	$-52.0 \pm 11.8$	0.044*	
CVD	Yes, (55)	4.61 ± 1.38	$2.25 \pm 0.92$	$-50.9 \pm 14.4$	0.9007	

Table 4-4. Effects of phenotypic factors on percentage changes in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin in patients with good adherence

RA	No, (350)	5.37 ± 1.60	2.57 ± 0.99	-51.9 ± 12.2		
	Yes, (36)	$2.89\pm0.84$	$1.38 \pm 0.48$	$-51.4 \pm 12.4$	0.826	
Current	No, (349)	5.11 ± 1.71	$2.44 \pm 1.00$	$-52.1 \pm 12.1$	0.017	
smoker	Yes, (37)	5.39 ± 1.65	2.69 ± 1.10	$-49.4 \pm 12.9$	0.217	

Data were expressed as mean ± SD and compared by t-test or ANOVA unless otherwise indicated.

\* Data were compared by non-parametric test (Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis H test) as data were skewed.

<sup>†</sup> P value were adjusted for multiple variables with P<0.2 in the univariant analysis including age, gender, FH, diabetes, hypertension and baseline LDL-C levels.

#### 4.3.2.2 Effects of phenotypic factors on the HDL-C response

The analysis of the effects of different phenotypic parameters on the changes in HDL-C levels in response to rosuvastatin 10 mg daily are shown in Table 4-5. High baseline HDL-C level and having RA or diabetes were associated with an unfavorable effect on HDL-C change even after adjustment for other variables although patients with diabetes had a lower baseline level of HDL-C than that of non-diabetic patients. There was no significant effect of age, gender, BMI, WC, % body fat, smoking status, having hypertension, FH or CVD on the percentage change in LDL-C.

Variable	Group, (n)	Baseline HDL-C	On-treatment HDL-C	% Change in	Р	P †
		(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)	прг-с		
Age, year	≤40, (33)	$1.49\pm0.35$	$1.46\pm0.36$	$-1.68 \pm 11.4$		
	41-50, (85)	$1.44\pm0.37$	$1.45\pm0.39$	0.87 ± 12.8		
	51-60, (142)	$1.54\pm0.42$	$1.57\pm0.42$	2.25 ± 13.4	0.316	
	61-70, (86)	$1.50\pm0.37$	$1.52\pm0.37$	2.70 ± 14.1		
	>70, (40)	$1.59\pm0.49$	$1.59 \pm 0.44$	1.66 ± 14.1		
() l	Female, (213)	$1.64 \pm 0.43$	$1.65 \pm 0.42$	1.09 ± 13.8	0.220	
Gender	Male, (173)	$1.34\pm0.29$	$1.37\pm0.32$	2.34 ± 12.6	0.329	
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	<22.58, (91)	1.66 ± 0.43	$1.68 \pm 0.41$	2.03 ± 13.0		
(Quartiles)	22.58-24.84, (93)	$1.46 \pm 0.35$	$1.51 \pm 0.41$	4.04 ± 15.5	0.010	
	24.85-27.07, (92)	$1.54 \pm 0.43$	1.51 ± 0.39	$-0.35 \pm 12.0$	0.319	
	>27.07, (91)	$1.39 \pm 0.34$	1.39 ± 0.35	1.19 ± 12.7		
WC, cm	<78.2, (83)	1.68 ± 0.41	1.71 ± 0.42	2.87 ± 13.7		
(Quartiles)	78.2-85.9, (84)	$1.54 \pm 0.42$	1.56 ± 0.40	2.62 ± 14.3	•	
	86.0-93.0, (83)	1.48 ± 0.42	1.47 ± 0.40	0.78 ± 13.7	0.777	
	>93.0 (84)	1.37 ± 0.31	$1.39\pm0.32$	$2.27 \pm 13.4$		
Body fat, %	<23.8, (60)	1.53 ± 0.37	1.58 ± 0.42	3.68 ± 12.9		
(Quartiles)	23.8-28.7, (59)	$1.40 \pm 0.30$	$1.42 \pm 0.32$	1.55 ± 12.8		
	28.8-35.3, (61)	$1.53 \pm 0.50$	$1.55 \pm 0.49$	2.55 ± 15.9	0.821	
	>35.3, (59)	$1.53 \pm 0.37$	$1.56\pm0.39$	2.69 ± 12.0		
Baseline	<1.23, (98)	1.08 ± 0.12	1.14 ± 0.18	4.92 ± 14.6		
HDL-C,	1.23-1.43, (95)	$1.32 \pm 0.06$	$1.35\pm0.16$	2.46 ± 12.6	0.017	10.100
mmol/L	1. <b>44-1.72, (95)</b>	$1.57 \pm 0.08$	$1.59\pm0.21$	1.12 ± 12.8	0.017	1.2×10°
(Quartiles)	>1.72, (98)	2.05 ± 0.31	2.01 ± 0.35	$-1.89 \pm 12.3$		
DU	No, (220)	1.46 ± 0.42	1.46 ± 0.39	1.00 ± 13.4		
гн	Ycs, (166)	$1.57 \pm 0.37$	1.60 ± 0.40	2.51 ± 13.2	0.191	0.851
D'1 /	No, (277)	1.56 ± 0.41	1.58 ± 0.40	2.46 ± 13.4	0.073	0.001
Diabetes	Yes, (109)	1.38 ± 0.36	$1.37 \pm 0.37$	$-0.41 \pm 13.0$	0.073	0.001
	No, (200)	1.59 ± 0.40	1.60 ± 0.41	1.41 ± 12.9	0.001	
Hypertension	Yes, (186)	$1.43 \pm 0.38$	1.44 ± 0.38	1.90 ± 13.7	0.881	
	No, (331)	$1.54 \pm 0.41$	1.54 ± 0.40	1.38 ± 13.1	0.307	
History of CVD	Yes, (55)	$1.35 \pm 0.32$	1.39 ± 0.38	3.26 ± 14.3	0.307	

Table 4-5. Effects of phenotypic factors on percentage changes in HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin in patients with good adherence

RA	No, (350)	1.50 ± 0.39	1.52 ± 0.41	$2.23 \pm 13.1$	0.009	0.003
	Yes, (36)	$1.64 \pm 0.45$	1.55 ± 0.38	$-4.04 \pm 14.1$	0.008	0.003
Current smoker	No, (349)	$1.53 \pm 0.41$	$1.54 \pm 0.41$	1.62 ± 13.3	0.001	
	Yes, (37)	$1.31 \pm 0.28$	$1.33\pm0.30$	$1.96 \pm 13.3$	0.001	

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and compared by non-parametric test (Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis H test) as data were skewed.

<sup>†</sup> P value were adjusted for multiple variables with P<0.2 in the univariant analysis including FH, diabetes, RA and baseline HDL-C levels.

## 4.3.2.3 Effects of phenotypic factors on the triglycerides response

The analysis of the effects of different phenotypic parameters on the changes in triglyceride levels in response to rosuvastatin 10 mg daily are shown in Table 3-6. The baseline triglyceride levels were strongly associated with the percentage changes in triglycerides before and after adjustment for other potential confounding factors  $(P<1\times10^{-14})$ . Age, and having RA or diabetes was associated with the changes in triglycerides but these were not significant after adjustment for baseline triglycerides. There was no significant effect of gender, BMI, WC, % body fat, smoking status, having hypertension, FH or CVD on the percentage change in triglycerides.

Variable	Group, (n)	Baseline TG	On-treatment	% Change in	р	n†
variable		(mmol/L)	TG (mmol/L)	TG	r	r
Age, ycar	≤40, (33)	$1.50 \pm 1.25$	1.18 ± 0.79	$-12.9 \pm 35.2$		
	41-50, (85)	$1.91 \pm 1.37$	1.47 ± 1.11	-15.5 ± 39.3		
	51-60, (142)	$2.04 \pm 1.78$	$1.40 \pm 0.66$	$-18.0 \pm 35.9$	0.045	0.457
	61-70, (86)	2.20 ± 1.21	$1.45 \pm 0.71$	$-29.3 \pm 21.5$		
	>70, (40)	$2.02\pm0.93$	1.59 ± 0.68	-15.8 ± 28.8		
Candra	Female, (213)	1.88 ± 1.44	$1.35 \pm 0.78$	-19.4 ± 30.4	0.450	
Gender	Male, (173)	2.15 ± 1.48	$1.53 \pm 0.83$	-19.2 ± 37.2	0.439	
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	<22.58, (91)	$1.43 \pm 0.88$	$0.98 \pm 0.45$	-23.2 ± 29.3		
(Quartiles)	22.58-24.84, (93)	<b>2</b> .00 ± 1.39	$1.43 \pm 0.93$	$-19.5 \pm 34.7$	0.400	
	24.85-27.07, (92)	2.05 ± 1.29	$1.52 \pm 0.83$	$-16.1 \pm 35.4$	0.009	
	>27.07, (91)	2.47 ± 1.99	1.67 ± 0.71	-19.9 ± 35.6		
WC, cm	<78.2, (83)	$1.44 \pm 0.98$	1.04 ± 0.60	$-20.6 \pm 25.2$		
(Quartiles)	78.2-85.9, (84)	$1.76 \pm 1.22$	$1.26 \pm 0.61$	$-19.0 \pm 31.7$	0.869	
	86.0-93.0, (83)	$2.23 \pm 1.37$	1.66 ± 1.06	$-15.2 \pm 45.7$		
	>93.0 (84)	$2.63\pm2.09$	$1.71\pm0.73$	-22.1 ± 32.0		
Body fat, %	<23.8, (60)	1.74 ± 1.41	$1.20 \pm 0.91$	$-24.6 \pm 26.4$		
(Quartiles)	23.8-28.7, (59)	$1.93 \pm 0.98$	$1.43\pm0.69$	$-19.3 \pm 38.8$	0 706	
	28.8-35.3, (61)	$2.08 \pm 1.61$	$1.48\pm0.91$	$-14.2 \pm 41.5$	0.700	
	>35.3, (59)	$2.30\pm0.99$	$1.61 \pm 0.65$	-23.7 ± 28.0		
Baseline TG,	<1.1, (93)	$0.84\pm0.16$	$0.82\pm0.32$	$0.20\pm40.3$		
mmol/L	1.1-1.68, (100)	$1.34\pm0.19$	$1.11\pm0.34$	$-15.8 \pm 26.4$	2.0×10.17	7 1 10-15
(Quartiles)	1.69-2.44, (97)	2.03 ± 0.22	1.53 ± 0.54	$-24.7 \pm 25.1$	2.9410	1.1^10
	>2.44, (96)	3.79 ± 1.88	2.23 ± 0.98	$-36.5 \pm 30.2$		
FU	No, (220)	2.13 ± 1.57	1.55 ± 0.85	$-17.2 \pm 37.1$	0 270	
	Yes, (166)	$1.83 \pm 1.29$	1.26 ± 0.71	-22.2 ± 28.1	0.279	
Dishetes	No, (277)	$1.84 \pm 1.45$	$1.34 \pm 0.76$	$-18.1 \pm 31.7$	0.046*	0 878
Diabetes	Yes, (109)	$2.40\pm1.43$	$\textbf{1.65} \pm \textbf{0.87}$	$-22.4\pm37.9$	0.040	0.070
Urmertension	No, (200)	$1.70\pm1.53$	$1.20\pm0.73$	$-18.6 \pm 32.5$	0 369	
Trypertension	Yes, (186)	$2.32 \pm 1.31$	$1.67\pm0.81$	$-20.1 \pm 34.8$	0.008	
History of	No, (331)	$1.94 \pm 1.49$	$1.39 \pm 0.82$	$-19.3 \pm 33.1$	0.833	
CVD	Yes, (55)	$2.33 \pm 1.23$	$1.66 \pm 0.67$	-19.5 ± 36.5	0.000	
D A	No, (350)	$2.09 \pm 1.50$	$1.47\pm0.81$	$-20.6 \pm 32.0$	0.035	0 100
	Yes, (36)	$1.14 \pm 0.53$	$0.98 \pm 0.49$	-6.7 ± 44.5	0.035	0.500

Table 4-6. Effects of phenotypic factors on percentage changes in triglycerides in response to rosuvastatin in patients with good adherence

Current No, (349) $1.95 \pm 1.41$ $1.40 \pm 0.80$ $-19.5 \pm 33.4$ smoker Yes, (37) $2.45 \pm 1.85$ $1.67 \pm 0.75$ $-17.7 \pm 35.3$	
Current No, (349) $1.95 \pm 1.41$ $1.40 \pm 0.80$ $-19.5 \pm 33.4$	

Data were expressed as mean ± SD and compared by non-parametric test \* (Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis H test) as data were skewed.

<sup>†</sup> P values were adjusted for multiple variables with P<0.2 in the univariant analysis including age, diabetes, RA and baseline triglyceride levels.

# 4.3.2.4 Effects of phenotypic factors on the total cholesterol response

The analysis of the effects of different phenotypic parameters on the changes in total cholesterol levels in response to rosuvastatin 10 mg daily are shown in Table 4-7. The baseline total cholesterol level was a strong predictor of total cholesterol response to rosuvastatin before and after adjustment for other potential confounding factors. Age, having diabetes or RA was associated with the changes in total cholesterol but these were not significant after adjustment for baseline total cholesterol levels. Other phenotypic factors examined did not show a significant effect on the changes in total cholesterol in response to rosuvastatin.

 Table 4-7. Effects of phenotypic factors on percentage changes in total

 cholesterol in response to rosuvastatin in patients with good adherence

Variable	Group, (n)	<b>Baseline TC</b>	On-treatment	% Change in	р	nt
variable		(mmol/L)	TC (mmol/L)	TC	, F	r
Age, year	≤40, (33)	7.99 ± 1.35	5.05 ± 0.96	$-36.4 \pm 9.2$		
	41-50, (85)	$7.45 \pm 1.92$	4.77 ± 1.37	-35.7 ± 8.7		
	51-60, (142)	$7.42 \pm 1.92$	$4.54 \pm 1.15$	$-38.1 \pm 9.1$	0.011*	0.430
	61-70, (86)	$7.40 \pm 1.80$	$4.38 \pm 1.00$	$\textbf{-40.1} \pm \textbf{9.0}$		
	>70, (40)	7.64 ± 1.33	$4.85 \pm 1.00$	$-36.3 \pm 9.1$		
	Female, (213)	7.62 ± 1.89	4.67 ± 1.11	$-38.0 \pm 8.8$	0.422	
Gender	Male, (173)	7.33 ± 1.66	$\textbf{4.58} \pm \textbf{1.22}$	$-37.3 \pm 9.5$	0.432	
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	<22.58, (91)	7.49 ± 1.98	$4.62 \pm 1.14$	-37.5 ± 9.2		
(Quartiles)	22.58-24.84, (93)	7.60 ± 1.85	$4.74 \pm 1.16$	$-37.0 \pm 9.2$	0.575*	
	24.85-27.07, (92)	$7.42 \pm 1.62$	$4.56 \pm 1.16$	$-38.2 \pm 9.3$	0.575*	
	>27.07, (91)	7.46 ± 1.85	$4.54 \pm 1.22$	-38.8 ± 8.3		
WC, cm	<78.2, (83)	7.93 ± 2.11	4.91 ± 1.21	$-37.2 \pm 9.1$		<u></u>
(Quartiles)	78.2-85.9, (84)	$7.37 \pm 1.82$	4.53 ± 1.10	$-37.7 \pm 9.3$	0.074	
	86.0-93.0, (83)	$7.54 \pm 1.86$	$4.65 \pm 1.21$	$-37.8 \pm 8.8$	0.974	
	>93.0 (84)	7.50 ± 1.67	4.65 ± 1.16	-37.7 ± 8.8		
Body fat, %	<23.8, (60)	7.72 ± 1.82	4.80 ± 1.29	-37.4 ± 10.1		
(Quartiles)	23.8-28.7, (59)	$7.79 \pm 1.72$	4.77 ± 1.08	$-38.3 \pm 9.7$	0 705	
	28.8-35.3, (61)	8.09 ± 1.85	$4.96 \pm 1.15$	$-38.5 \pm 6.7$	0.795	
	>35.3, (59)	7.87 ± 1.74	$4.76 \pm 1.05$	$\textbf{-38.9} \pm \textbf{8.2}$		
Baseline TC,	<6.3, (95)	5.47 ± 0.74	$3.54\pm0.60$	-34.8 ± 9.9		
mmol/L	6.3-7.3, (100)	$6.82\pm0.32$	$4.27\pm0.71$	$-37.4 \pm 9.9$	0.001	1 4-10-7
(Quartiles)	7.31-8.38, (95)	$7.82 \pm 0.30$	$4.79 \pm 0.64$	$-38.7 \pm 8.4$	0.001	1.4×10
	>8.38, (96)	9.86 ± 1.42	5.93 ± 1.04	$-39.7 \pm 7.2$		
EU	No, (220)	$6.51 \pm 1.14$	$4.08 \pm 0.83$	$-36.9 \pm 9.4$	0.052	0.541
гн	Yes, (166)	8.80 ± 1.68	$5.36 \pm 1.12$	-38.7 ± 8.6	0.032	0.541
Dishatas	No, (277)	$7.69 \pm 1.93$	4.78 ± 1.16	-37.1 ± 8.7	0.000*	0.002
Diabetes	Yes, (109)	6.98 ± 1.26	$4.25 \pm 1.06$	$-39.2 \pm 9.9$	0.008*	0.005
TT	No, (200)	$7.80 \pm 2.06$	4.81 ± 1.27	-37.5 ± 9.3	0.76	
Hypertension	Yes, (186)	7.15 ± 1.39	$4.43\pm0.98$	$-37.8 \pm 8.9$	0.70	
History of	No, (331)	$7.58 \pm 1.83$	4.67 ± 1.17	-37.9 ± 9.1	0.224	
CVD	Yes, (55)	6.96 ± 1.51	$\textbf{4.39} \pm \textbf{1.07}$	-36.5 ± 9.2	0.324	
DA	No, (350)	7.74 ± 1.67	4.76 ± 1.12	-38.1 ± 8.9	0.001	0.676
	Yes, (36)	5.03 ± 0.99	3.33 ± 0.59	-33.0 ± 9.4	0.001	0.070

				· ·		_
smoker	Yes, (37)	$7.63 \pm 1.85$	4.76 ± 1.24	$-37.3 \pm 9.2$	0.793	
Current	No, (349)	$7.48 \pm 1.79$	$4.62 \pm 1.15$	$-37.7 \pm 9.1$	0 705	

Data were expressed as mean ± SD and compared by t-test or ANOVA unless otherwise indicated.

\* Data were compared by non-parametric test (Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis H test) as data were skewed.

<sup>†</sup> P values were adjusted for multiple variables with P<0.2 in the univariant analysis including age, FH, diabetes, RA and baseline total cholesterol levels.

# 4.3.2.5 Effects of phenotypic factors on the non-HDL-C response

The analysis of the effects of different phenotypic parameters on the changes in non-HDL-C levels in response to rosuvastatin 10 mg daily are shown in Table **4-8**. There was no significant effect of baseline non-HDL-C levels, BMI, WC, % body fat, smoking status, having hypertension, RA or CVD on the percentage change in LDL-C. Female subjects had greater reductions in non-HLDL-C than male subjects. Age tended to be related to the non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin but this relationship was not significant after adjusting for gender and having diabetes. The baseline level of non-HDL-C, BMI, WC, % body fat, having diabetes, FH, hypertension, RA or CVD and smoking status did not significantly affect the non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin (Table **4-8**).

	2	Baseline	On-treatment	% Change in	_	•
Variable	Group, (n)	non-HDL-C	non-HDL-C	non-HDL-C	Р	P
		(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)			
Age, year	≤40, (33)	$6.50 \pm 1.21$	$3.59 \pm 0.86$	$-44.4 \pm 10.6$		
	41-50, (85)	$6.01 \pm 1.93$	$3.32 \pm 1.36$	-44.9 ± 10.7		
	51-60, (142)	5.87 ± 1.89	$2.98 \pm 1.07$	$-49.0 \pm 10.5$	0.0004*	0.142
	61-70, (86)	$5.90 \pm 1.72$	$2.86\pm0.88$	$-50.9 \pm 10.3$		
	>70, (40)	6.05 ± 1.38	$3.25 \pm 1.07$	-46.4 ± 11.9		L. C.
Cardan	Female, (213)	5.98 ± 1.88	$3.02 \pm 1.05$	-49.0 ± 10.5	0.029#	0.010
Gender	Male, (173)	5.99 ± 1.63	3.21 ± 1.17	$-46.4 \pm 11.2$	0.028*	0.019
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	<22.58, (91)	5.83 ± 1.95	2.94 ± 1.09	-49.1 ± 10.9		
(Quartiles)	22.58-24.84, (93)	6.14 ± 1.78	3.22 ± 1.10	-47.3 ± 11.2	0.712	
	24.85-27.07, (92)	$5.89 \pm 1.65$	3.05 ± 1.13	-47.9 ± 11.4		
	>27.07, (91)	$6.07 \pm 1.80$	3.15 ± 1.15	$-48.2 \pm 10.1$		
WC, cm	<78.2, (83)	$6.25 \pm 2.10$	3.19 ± 1.19	-48.5 ± 10.6		9
(Quartiles)	78.2-85.9, (84)	$5.84 \pm 1.76$	2.97 ± 1.05	-48.7 ± 11.1		
	86.0-93.0, (83)	$6.07 \pm 1.89$	3.18 ± 1.20	-47.2 ± 10.7	0.585	
	>93.0 (84)	6.13 ± 1.59	3.26 ± 1.09	-46.9 ± 10.5		
Body fat, %	<23.8, (60)	6.19 ± 1.77	3.22 ± 1.28	-48.1 ± 12.4		
(Quartiles)	23.8-28.7, (59)	$6.39 \pm 1.62$	$3.35 \pm 0.98$	-47.1 ± 11.2	0.704	
	28.8-35.3, (61)	$6.56 \pm 1.80$	3.41 ± 1.11	-48.0 ± 8.6	0.794	
	>35.3, (59)	6.34 ± 1.66	$3.20 \pm 0.96$	-49.1 ± 10.1		
Baseline	<4.87, (95)	3.99 ± 0.80	2.08 ± 0.57	-47.2 ± 12.1		
non-HDL-C,	4.87-5.79, (94)	$5.30 \pm 0.26$	$2.76 \pm 0.58$	-47.8 ± 10.8		
mmol/L	5.8-6.86, (100)	$6.28 \pm 0.32$	3.27 ± 0.75	-48.0 ± 11.7	0.910*	
(Quartiles)	>6.86, (97)	8.28 ± 1.38	4.28 ± 1.07	-48.4 ± 8.8		
	No, (220)	5.04 ± 1.15	$2.62 \pm 0.82$	-47.9 ± 11.6		
FH	Yes, (166)	7.22 ± 1.67	3.76 ± 1.10	-47.8 ± 9.9	0.621*	
	No, (277)	6.13 ± 1.92	3.20 ± 1.14	$-47.5 \pm 10.3$		
Diabetes	Yes, (109)	5.59 ± 1.22	$2.88 \pm 1.00$	-48.8 ± 12.3	0.079*	0.174
	No, (200)	6.21 ± 2.05	3.21 ± 1.23	-47.8 ± 10.9	100000000	
Hypertension	Yes, (186)	5.73 ± 1.35	$2.99 \pm 0.96$	-47.8 ± 10.9	0.985	
History of	No, (331)	6.04 ± 1.81	3.12 ± 1.12	-48.1 ± 10.8		
CVD	Yes, (55)	5.61 ± 1.45	$3.00 \pm 1.05$	$-46.5 \pm 11.7$	0.384*	
	, (00)		5100 - 1100		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Table 4-8. Effects of phenotypic factors on percentage changes in non-HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin in patients with good adherence

D A	No, (350)	$6.25 \pm 1.61$	$3.24 \pm 1.06$	$-48.0 \pm 10.8$	0.550*
KA	Yes, (36)	$3.40 \pm 0.98$	1.78 ± 0.53	$-46.3 \pm 12.3$	0.539*
Current	No, (349)	5.94 ± 1.77	3.07 ± 1.10	-48.1 ± 10.9	0.2718
smoker	Yes, (37)	$6.32 \pm 1.72$	$3.43 \pm 1.18$	-45.7 ± 11.1	0.271*

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and compared by t-test or ANOVA unless otherwise indicated.

\* Data were compared by non-parametric test (Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis H test) as data were skewed.

<sup> $\dagger$ </sup> P values were adjusted for multiple variables with P<0.2 in the univariant analysis including age, gender, and diabetes.

#### 4.3.2.6 Side effects and laboratory safety profiles

Rosuvastatin was well tolerated in all study participants, including those with poor (<80%) adherence to therapy who were excluded from the analysis. No patients had clinically relevant elevations in creatine kinase (CK), alanine aminotransferase (ALT) or creatinine, and no muscle problems were observed during the study. The main cause for poor adherence reported in those patients with <80% adherence was being forgetful, and none of them complained of significant side effects.

# 4.3.2.6.1 Side effects

In all patients involved in the study, rosuvastatin 10 mg daily was well tolerated and no patient was withdrawn from the study due to any significant side effects of rosuvastatin. There was no rhabdomyolysis or muscle toxicity observed in the study. One patient, who had a history of muscle pain with some other statins previously, was given rosvuastatin 10 mg together with Coenzyme Q10 (10 mg, three times daily) while joining in the study, and she did not experience any muscle problem with this regimen.

# 4.3.2.6.2 Glucose

After rosuvastatin treatment, there was a very small but significant change in FPG (-0.26  $\pm$  18.1 %, P=0.009) from baseline mean ( $\pm$ SD) value of 6.2  $\pm$  2.2 mmol/L to 6.1  $\pm$  2.1 mmol/L in this group of patients. Patients with diabetes had no significant change in FPG (median 7.6 mmol/L before and after rosuvastatin treatment) whereas patients with no diabetes had a reduced FPG levels from baseline median value of 5.2 mmol/L to 5.1 mmol/L (P=0.001). However, there was no significant difference in percentage change in FPG between patients with or without diabetes (Figure 4-6).





\* Data are median (interquartile range) and values were compared by Mann-Whitney test. Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, circles indicating outliers and stars indicating values of greater than 3×IQR.

## 4.3.2.6.3 Creatine kinase

Rosuvastatin treatment was associated with a significant increase  $(8.8 \pm 85.2 \text{ U/L};$ 25.1 ± 95.2 %, P<0.001) in plasma CK levels from baseline mean (±SD) value of 128 ± 117 U/L to 136 ± 96 U/L. Female subjects had lower baseline and on-treatment CK levels than males (Figure 4-7) but there was no gender difference in percentage changes in CK.

A 40-year-old man had a high baseline CK level of 1496 U/L and he had a history of persistent elevated CK for several years and muscle biopsy in 2001 revealed non-specific myopathy, which was considered to be related to his heavy workload. The CK level was 886 U/L while receiving rosuvastatin 10 mg daily and he had no myalgia. Some other patients also had high baseline and on-treatment CK levels due to their vigorous physical activities but they did not have muscle symptoms and they were monitored carefully during the treatment with statin.

# Figure 4-7. Baseline (A) and on-treatment CPK levels (B) in men and women





#### **B.** On-treatment CK levels



\* Data are median (interquartile range) and values were compared by Mann-Whitney test. Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, circles indicating outliers and stars indicating values of greater than 3×IQR.

# 4.3.2.6.4 Liver and renal function tests

Male subjects had higher baseline and on-treatment levels of creatinine, ALT and total bilirubin but a lower level of ALP than females (Table 4-9). Rosuvastatin therapy did not affect the plasma creatinine concentrations. After rosuvastatin treatment, the ALT levels were increased in both males and females, whereas the ALP concentrations were slightly decreased. There was a small but significant increase in total bilirubin levels in male subjects. No patients in the study had clinically important elevations in these parameters and there were no reports of liver or renal adverse events.

	D		% changes from	
	Baseline levels	On-treatment levels	baseline	
All				
Creatinine (µmol/L)	77 (65, 89)	75 (66, 90)	0.0 (-6.3, 5.7)	
ALT (IU/L)	23 (17, 33)	27 (19, 37) ***	11.8 (-6.0, 40.3)	
ALP (U/L)	70 (58, 85)	67 (58, 82) ***	-2.38 (-9.46, 4.88)	
Total bilirubin (µmol/L)	11 (8, 14)	11 (9, 14) **	0.0 (-14.3, 27.3)	
Males				
Creatinine (µmol/L)	89 (80, 98)	90 (79, 100)	0.0 (-6.2, 5.9)	
ALT (IU/L)	28 (20, 38)	33 (23, 43) ***	14.3 (-4.0, 40.9)	
ALP (U/L)	66 (57, 81)	65 (57,80) *	-1.59 (-9.46, 5.42)	
Total bilirubin (µmol/L)	12 (9, 15)	12 (10, 16) *	5.88 (-13.6, 25.0)	
Females	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Creatinine (µmol/L)	67 (61, 76)	67 (61, 75)	-1.3 (-6.6, 5.0)	
ALT (IU/L)	21 (16, 27)	24 (19, 32) ***	9.3 (-9.5, 38.7)	
ALP (U/L)	73 (58, 86)	72 (58, 85) ***	-2.99 (-9.46, 4.17)	
Total bilirubin (µmol/L)	10 (8, 13)	10 (8, 13)	0.0 (-14.3, 28.6)	

Table 4-9. Liver and renal function tests before and after rosuvastatin treatment

Data are median (interquartile ranges) and values of baseline and on-treatment levels were compared by Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test.

\*P<0.05; \*\* P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001.

Abbreviations: ALT= alanine transaminase; ALP= alkaline phosphatase.

## 4.3.3 Genetic determinants of LDL-C response to rosuvastatin

Of 126 polymorphisms evaluated in the present study, 8 SNPs (rs255052 in *LCAT* [lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase], rs1433099 in *LDLR* [LDL receptor], 421C>A and 34G>A in *ABCG2*, V257M in *FMO3* [flavin containing monooxygenase 3], rs16996148 in *NCAN/CILP2/PBX4* [neurocan / cartilage intermediate layer protein 2 / Pre-B-cell leukemia homeobox 4], rs4420638 in *APOE/C1/C4/C2* cluster, and 1421C>G in *LPL* [lipoprotein lipase]) were associated with the percentage changes in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin before and after adjustment for age, gender and having FH (P<0.05) (Table 4-10). The \*7 variant in *NAT2* (N-acetyltransferase 2) tended to be related to the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in univariate analysis but

there was no gene-dose effect and the relationship was no longer significant after adjustment for age, gender and having FH.

Constran	N	% change in	ъ	D*	ъt	p‡
Genotype	LDL-C		r	L.	I.	r
GG	314	-52.4 ± 12.2	0.038	0.033	0.037	0.04
GA/AA	63/2	-48.9 ± 11.8				
CC	197	-52.6 ± 12.3				
CT	150	$-51.8 \pm 11.7$	0.017	0.024	0.045	0.111
ТТ	28	-45.6 ± 13.9				
GG	251	-50.7 ± 12.4				
GA	116	$-54.2 \pm 11.7$	0.035	0.062	0.111	
AA	11	$-52.5 \pm 11.7$				
CC	191	-48.9 ± 12.2				
CA	136	-53.8 ± 11.7	3.8×10 <sup>-6</sup>	5.9×10 <sup>-6</sup>	-	0.0001
AA	55	$-57.0 \pm 10.8$				
GG	175	-54.3 ± 11.9				
GA	162	-49.9 ± 11.9	0.002	0.001	0.258	
AA	38	-49.8 ± 12.6				
GG	226	$-53.8 \pm 11.3$				
GA	131	-49.2 ± 12.7	0.0005	0.0005	0.003	0.001
AA	23	-47.3 ± 14.2				
GG	308	-52.5 ± 11.9	0.011	0.01	0.038	0.043
GT	70	-48.4 ± 12.9				
AA	287	-52.4 ± 12.1				
AG	77	-50.5 ± 12.3	0.045	0.031	0.017	0.047
GG	8	-42.5 ± 14.6				
	GG GG GA/AA CC CT TT GG GA AA CC CA AA CC CA AA GG GA AA GG GA AA GG GA AA AG GG	Genotype       N         GG       314         GA/AA       63/2         CC       197         CT       150         TT       28         GG       251         GA       116         AA       11         CC       191         CA       136         AA       55         GG       175         GA       162         AA       38         GG       226         GA       131         AA       23         GG       308         GT       70         AA       287         AG       77         GG       8	GenotypeN% change in LDL-CGG314-52.4 $\pm$ 12.2GA/AA63/2-48.9 $\pm$ 11.8CC197-52.6 $\pm$ 12.3CT150-51.8 $\pm$ 11.7TT28-45.6 $\pm$ 13.9GG251-50.7 $\pm$ 12.4GA116-54.2 $\pm$ 11.7AA11-52.5 $\pm$ 11.7CC191-48.9 $\pm$ 12.2CA136-53.8 $\pm$ 11.7AA55-57.0 $\pm$ 10.8GG175-54.3 $\pm$ 11.9GA162-49.9 $\pm$ 11.9AA38-49.8 $\pm$ 12.6GG226-53.8 $\pm$ 11.3GA131-49.2 $\pm$ 12.7AA23-47.3 $\pm$ 14.2GG308-52.5 $\pm$ 11.9GT70-48.4 $\pm$ 12.9AA287-52.4 $\pm$ 12.1AG77-50.5 $\pm$ 12.3GG8-42.5 $\pm$ 14.6	GenotypeN% change in LDL-CPGG314 $-52.4 \pm 12.2$ 0.038GA/AA $63/2$ $-48.9 \pm 11.8$ 0.017CC197 $-52.6 \pm 12.3$ CT150 $-51.8 \pm 11.7$ 0.017TT28 $-45.6 \pm 13.9$ 0.017GG251 $-50.7 \pm 12.4$ GA0.035AA11 $-52.5 \pm 11.7$ 0.035AA11 $-52.5 \pm 11.7$ 0.035AA11 $-52.5 \pm 11.7$ $3.8 \times 10^{-6}$ AA55 $-57.0 \pm 10.8$ $3.8 \times 10^{-6}$ AA55 $-57.0 \pm 10.8$ $-53.8 \pm 11.7$ GG175 $-54.3 \pm 11.9$ AA $0.002$ AA38 $-49.8 \pm 12.6$ $0.002$ AA23 $-47.3 \pm 14.2$ $0.0005$ GG308 $-52.5 \pm 11.9$ $0.011$ GT70 $-48.4 \pm 12.9$ $0.045$ AA287 $-52.4 \pm 12.1$ $0.045$ GG8 $-42.5 \pm 14.6$ $0.045$	GenotypeN% change in LDL-CPP*GG314-52.4 $\pm$ 12.20.0380.033GA/AA63/2-48.9 $\pm$ 11.80.0170.038CC197-52.6 $\pm$ 12.3 CT150-51.8 $\pm$ 11.70.0170.024TT28-45.6 $\pm$ 13.90.0170.024GG251-50.7 $\pm$ 12.4 GA116-54.2 $\pm$ 11.70.0350.062AA11-52.5 $\pm$ 11.70.0350.062AA11-52.5 $\pm$ 11.73.8 $\times$ 10 <sup>-6</sup> 5.9 $\times$ 10 <sup>-6</sup> AA55-57.0 $\pm$ 10.83.8 $\times$ 10 <sup>-6</sup> 5.9 $\times$ 10 <sup>-6</sup> AA38-49.9 $\pm$ 11.90.0020.001AA38-49.8 $\pm$ 12.60.00050.0005GG226-53.8 $\pm$ 11.30.00050.0005AA23-47.3 $\pm$ 14.20.0110.01GT70-48.4 $\pm$ 12.90.0110.01GT70-52.4 $\pm$ 12.30.0450.031GG308-52.5 $\pm$ 11.90.0450.031	GenotypeN% change in LDL-CP $P^+$ $P^+$ GG314-52.4 ± 12.20.0380.0330.037GA/AA63/2-48.9 ± 11.80.0170.0240.045CC197-52.6 ± 12.3 -51.8 ± 11.70.0170.0240.045CT150-51.8 ± 11.7 -52.5 ± 13.90.0350.0620.111GG251-50.7 ± 12.4 -52.5 ± 11.70.0350.0620.111AA11-52.5 ± 11.7 -54.3 ± 11.90.0350.0620.111GG175-54.3 ± 11.9 -57.0 ± 10.80.0020.0010.258GG226-53.8 ± 11.3 -57.0 ± 10.80.0020.0010.258GG226-53.8 ± 11.3 -49.2 ± 12.70.00050.00050.003AA23-47.3 ± 14.20.0110.010.038GT70-48.4 ± 12.90.0110.010.038AA287-52.4 ± 12.1 -50.5 ± 12.30.0450.0310.017GG8-42.5 ± 14.6-52.5 ± 14.6-50.5 ± 14.6-50.5 ± 14.6

Table 4-10. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and LDL-C response to rosuvastatin

LPL	CC	290	$\textbf{-50.8} \pm \textbf{12.9}$	0.005	0.009	0.004	0.001
1421C>G	CG/GG	84/4	$-55.0 \pm 9.0$				

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of %LDL-C response among genotype groups were compared by ANOVA unless otherwise indicated.

\* P value was calculated after adjustment for age, gender and having familial hypercholesterolaemia.

<sup>†</sup> P value was calculated after adjustment for age, gender, having familial hypercholesterolaemia and *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism.

<sup>‡</sup> P value was calculated after adjustment for age, gender, having familial hypercholesterolaemia and all other genetic polymorphisms with  $P^{\dagger} < 0.05$  in the table. Abbreviations: ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; APOE/C1/C4/C2 = apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-II; FMO3 = flavin containing monooxygenase 3; LCAT = lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase; LDLR = low density lipoprotein receptor; LPL = lipoprotein lipase; NAT2 = N-acetyltransferase 2; NCAN/CILP2/PBX4 = neurocan / cartilage intermediate layer protein 2 / Pre-B-cell leukemia homeobox 4.

Of these 8 SNPs, the *ABCG2* 421C>A (MAF = 0.322) that was associated with percentage reduction in LDL-C in the response to rosuvastatin before and after adjustment for age, gender and having FH in a gene-dose dependent manner was the only SNP reaching the experiment-wide significance level (P<1×10<sup>-5</sup>). Patients with the 421AA genotype (n=55) had a greater reduction in LDL-C (least square mean  $\pm$  SE) than those with 421CC genotype (n=191) (57.1  $\pm$  1.6 % vs. 49.1  $\pm$  0.8 %) with 421CA heterozygote subjects having intermediate values (-53.6  $\pm$  1.0 % n=136) after adjustment for age, gender and having FH (Figure 4-8).



Figure 4-8. Percentage changes in LDL-C by ABCG2 421C>A genotypes

Median (interquartile range) of LDL-C response in each genotype groups was given. Values of LDL-C response among genotype groups were compared by ANCOVA with age, gender, having familial hypercholesterolaemia as covariates.

Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval and circles indicating outliers. CC: n=191; CA: n=136; AA: n=55

The association between the *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism and the percentage changes in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin remained for both sexes (Figure 4-9), and for both subgroups of FH and non-FH (Figure 4-10). This SNP was not related to the baseline LDL-C levels but the A variant allele of this SNP was significantly (P<0.0001) associated with lower on-treatment LDL-C levels (Figure 4-11).

Figure 4-9. Associations of percentage changes in LDL-C with ABCG2 421C>A genotypes in males and females



Female: CC: n=98; CA: n=81; AA: n=33. Male: CC: n=93; CA: n=55; AA: n=22.

Figure 4-10. Associations of percentage changes in LDL-C with ABCG2 421C>A genotypes in patients with and without FH



Non-FH: CC: n=107; CA: n=80; AA: n=31. FH: CC: n=84; CA: n=56; AA: n=24.

Figure 4-11. Association of *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism and mean LDL-C on-treatment levels



\* P value was calculated by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Another SNP in ABCG2 (34G>A, MAF = 0.214) examined in this study was shown to be related to the LDL-C response but there was no gene-dose effect and this association was no longer present after adjustment for the ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism (P>0.05), suggesting its effect on the LDL-C response observed was due to its linkage with the 421C>A polymorphism (Figure 4-12). Indeed, diplotype analysis showed that the 34G>A polymorphism had no effect on LDL-C response to rosuvastatin within each of the 421C>A genotype groups, whereas the 421C>A polymorphism was significantly associated with % change in LDL-C within 34GG and 34GA genotype groups (Table 4-11). Figure 4-12. Degree of linkage disequilibrium of 421C>A and 34G>A polymorphisms in the *ABCG2* 



Value in the diamond represent the pairwise LD coefficients  $(r^2)$  calculated using Haploview.

Diplotypes	_	% abanas in LDL C	Overall P	
421C>A/34G>A	n	% change in LDL-C		
CC / GG	48	-49.8 ± 11.7 *		
CC / GA	100	$-48.5 \pm 12.1$ <sup>†‡</sup>		
CC / AA	38	$-49.8 \pm 12.6$		
CA / GG	75	$-55.2 \pm 12.1$	0.0002	
CA / GA	59	$-52.1 \pm 11.1$		
AA / GG	52	$-57.2 \pm 10.7$		
AA/GA	3	$-54.0 \pm 15.4$		
	and a second			

Table 4-11. The LDL-C response among diplotypes of 421C>A and 34G>A polymorphisms in the *ABCG2* 

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of LDL-C response among diplotype groups were compared by ANOVA.

\* P=0.039 for CC/GG vs. AA/GG;

<sup>†</sup>P=0.005 for CC/GA vs. CA/GA;

<sup>‡</sup>P=0.005 for CC/GA vs. AA/GG.

In addition to the ABCG2 polymorphisms described above, the other 6 SNPs

(rs255052 in LCAT [MAF = 0.088]; rs1433099 in LDLR [MAF = 0.275]; V257M in *FMO3* [MAF = 0.233]; rs16996148 in *NCAN/CILP2/PBX4* [MAF = 0.093]; rs4420638 in *APOE/C1/C4/C2* cluster [MAF = 0.125] and 1421C>G in LPL [MAF = 0.122]) also tended to be associated with the LDL-C response before and after adjustment for age, gender and having FH but these associations failed to reach the prior defined experiment-wide significance level after multiple correction (Table **4-10**).

In addition, the association between rs1433099 in *LDLR* and LDL-C response was not present after adjustment for age, gender, having FH and other genetic factors. However, further analysis revealed that this polymorphism was significantly associated with LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with FH, but not in non-FH patients (Figure 4-13). In patients with FH, subjects with two copies of the variant allele (TT:  $38.5\pm10.7$ , n=12) had significantly (P<0.001) smaller LDL-C reduction compared to those with one or two copies of wild-type alleles (CT:  $51.6\pm9.2\%$ , n=67; CC:  $50.7\pm11.1\%$ , n=82).

Figure 4-13. Effect of *LDLR* rs1433099 on LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with or without FH



Non-FH: CC: n=115; CT: n=83; TT: n=16. FH: CC: n=82; CT: n=67; TT: n=12.

Neither the polymorphisms in *HMGCR*, *APOE*, *APOB* or other newly identified lipid-related loci, nor variants in drug metabolizing enzymes or drug transporters showed significant effects on LDL-C reduction (Table 4-12).

				Baseline	On-treatmen	Percentage		
Gene	SNP	Genotype	n	LDL-C	t LDL-C	reduction in		
				(mmol/L)	(mmol/L)	LDL-C		
Polymorphisms in genes related to pharmacokinetics of statins								
CYP2C9	*3 (1075A>C)	AA	260	5.13 (1.68)	2.46 (1.00)	$-51.7 \pm 12.2$		
		AC	23	5.41 (1.91)	2.56 (1.17)	$\textbf{-53.2} \pm 12.3$		
CYP2C19	*2 (681G>A)	GG	155	5.09 (1.67)	2.45 (0.97)	$\textbf{-51.4} \pm 12.0$		
		GA	182	5.13 (1.71)	2.48 (1.05)	$\textbf{-51.6} \pm \textbf{12.4}$		
		AA	26	5.30 (2.07)	2.34 (1.16)	$\textbf{-56.5} \pm 10.6$		
CYP2C19	*3 (636G>A)	GG	353	5.12 (1.74)	2.46 (1.03)	$-51.8 \pm 12.2$		
		GA	28	5.32 (1.32)	2.54 (0.85)	$-51.9 \pm 12.4$		
CYP2D6	*10, *5	*1*1,*2*2	38	5.39 (1.57)	2.57 (1.05)	$-51.7 \pm 13.6$		
		*1/*10	138	5.33 (1.65)	2.57 (0.99)	$-51.8 \pm 11.8$		
		*10/*10	114	5.21 (1.60)	2.51 (0.99)	-51.7 ± 12.2		
		*5 carriers	32	5.19 (1.56)	2.40 (0.80)	$-53.1 \pm 11.6$		
CYP3A5	*3	*1*1	28	4.69 (1.63)	2.11 (0.92)	$-54.2 \pm 14.6$		
		*1*3	159	5.21 (1.66)	2.50 (1.00)	-51.9 ± 11.8		
		*3*3	197	5.13 (1.74)	2.48 (1.04)	$-51.4 \pm 12.2$		
UGTIA1	*28	*1*1	292	5.22 (1.69)	2.54 (1.05)	$-51.4 \pm 12.4$		
		*1*28	82	5.01 (1.08)	2.28 (0.85)	$-53.2 \pm 11.0$		
		*28*28	6	4.57 (0.87)	1.94 (0.77)	$-58.6 \pm 9.0$		
ABCB1	1236C>T	CC	152	5.12 (1.50)	2.46 (0.95)	$-51.7 \pm 12.3$		
		CT	171	5.02 (1.70)	2.40 (0.96)	-51.7 ± 11.9		
		TT	59	5.57 (2.06)	2.69 (1.26)	$-51.8 \pm 12.8$		
	2677G>T/A	GG	97	5.24 (1.73)	2.52 (1.08)	$-52.0 \pm 13.2$		
		GT/GA	204	5.08 (1.68)	2.46 (0.95)	$-51.0 \pm 12.0$		
		TT/AA/TA	61	5.32 (1.75)	2.51 (1.14)	$-53.1 \pm 12.8$		

Table 4-12. Negative associations (P>0.05) between certain genetic factors and LDL-C response to rosuvastatin 10mg daily

	3435C>T	CC	140	5.15 (1.77)	2.44 (1.04)	-52.4 ± 12.1
		CT	195	5.07 (1.67)	2.44 (0.95)	$-51.5 \pm 12.0$
		TT	48	5.36 (1.64)	2.63 (1.21)	-51.2 ± 13.8
	Haplotype	CGC/CGC	36	5.64 (2.05)	2.72 (1.30)	-52.2 ± 14.9
		CGC/TTT	58	4.91 (1.75)	2.37 (1.01)	-51.5 ± 11.6
		TTT/TTT	35	5.32 (1.69)	2.61 (1.22)	-51.1 ± 14.4
		Others	250	5.09 (1.62)	2.43 (0.93)	-51.9 ± 11.7
SLCO1B1	388A>G	AA	24	4.76 (1.39)	2.40 (0.89)	-49.7 ± 13.1
		AG	121	5.22 (1.84)	2.52 (1.03)	-51.5 ± 11.3
		GG	207	5.13 (1.66)	2.48 (1.02)	-51.5 ± 12.6
	521T>C	TT	286	5.17 (1.68)	2.48 (0.99)	-51.6 ± 12.5
		TC	83	5.09 (1.78)	2.46 (1.09)	-51.9 ± 11.7
		CC	10	4.79 (0.98)	2.19 (0.76)	$-54.7 \pm 9.1$
SLC10A1	*2 (800C>T)	CC	313	5.10 (1.66)	2.47 (1.00)	-51.5 ± 12.3
		CT/TT	64/5	5.27 (1.80)	2.44 (1.04)	-53.0 ± 11.7
Polymorphi	isms in genes related	l to pharmaco	dynam	ics of statins		
APOB	ID	Π	221	4.90 (1.63)	2.39 (0.97)	-51.1 ± 12.8
		ID	142	5.41 (1.72)	2.55 (1.05)	-52.8 ± 11.1
		DD	19	5.68 (2.14)	2.62 (1.28)	-52.4 ± 13.6
APOE	e2/e3/e4	e2 carrier	32	5.60 (2.31)	2.66 (1.33)	$-52.3 \pm 14.0$
		e3e3	259	5.19 (1.72)	2.46 (1.04)	$-52.4 \pm 12.0$
		e4 carrier	84	4.88 (1.28)	2.44 (0.80)	-49.4 ± 12.4
HMGCR	rs3846662 C>T	CC	124	5.10 (1.59)	2.41 (0.98)	-52.7 ± 11.2
		CT	197	5.24 (1.83)	2.52 (1.07)	$-51.5 \pm 12.6$
		TT	61	4.85 (1.44)	2.37 (0.90)	-51.0 ± 12.9
	rs12654264 A>T	AA	121	5.12 (1.60)	2.43 (0.98)	-52.6 ± 11.2
		AT	194	5.24 (1.84)	2.52 (1.08)	-51.5 ± 12.8
		TT	62	4.89 (1.49)	2.37 (0.89)	-51.1 ± 12.9

PCSK9	158C>T	CC	290	5.10 (1.75)	2.42 (1.02)	-52.2 ± 12.4
		CT	86	5.32 (1.57)	2.65 (0.98)	$-50.1 \pm 11.2$
		TT	7	4.84 (1.01)	1.90 (0.50)	-60.2 ± 9.7
	2009G>A	GG	345	5.16 (1.72)	2.46 (1.02)	-52.0 ± 12.3
		GA	39	4.95 (1.57)	2.46 (0.94)	$-50.0 \pm 11.1$

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.

Abbreviations: ABCB1 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily B, member 1; APOB = apolipoprotein B; APOE = apolipoprotein E; CYP2C9 = cytochrome P450 family 2, subfamily C, polypeptide 9; CYP2C19 = cytochrome P450 family 2, subfamily C, polypeptide 19; CYP3A5 = cytochrome P450 family 3, subfamily A, polypeptide 5; CYP2D6 = cytochrome P450 family 2, subfamily D, polypeptide 6; HMGCR = 3-hydroxy-4-methylglutaryl-Coenzyme A reductase; PCSK9 = proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9; SLCO1B1 = solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1B1; SLC10A1 = solute carrier family 10, member 1; UGT1A1 = UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, polypeptide A1.

Multivariate stepwise regression analysis showed that ABCG2 421C>A (P=9.2×10<sup>-7</sup>), *FMO3* V257M (P = 0.0002), *LPL* 1421C>G (P=0.002), *APOE/C1/C4/C2* rs4420638 (P=0.004), and having FH (P=0.009) were predictors of LDL-C response, which totally explained 13.6% of the variance in percentage change in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin. Age, gender, baseline LDL-C level and other genetic factors were not determinants of LDL-C response to rosuvastatin treatment in the multivariate analysis (P>0.05). The *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism explained 6.0% of the variance in percentage reduction in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin, whereas having FH only contributed to 1.4% of the variance. *FMO3* V257M, *LPL* 1421C>G and *APOE/C1/C4/C2* rs4420638 explained 2.9%, 1.7% and 1.6% of variance in percentage reductions in LDL-C, respectively (Table 4-13).
Variables	Standardized Coefficients	P	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
<i>ABCG2</i> 421C>A*	-0.243	9.2×10 <sup>-7</sup>	0.060
FMO3 V257M*	0.182	0.0002	0.029
LPL 1421C>G *	-0.153	0.002	0.017
APOE/C1/C4/C2 rs4420638 *	0.141	0.004	0.016
Having FH	0.127	0.009	0.014

Table 4-13. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin

\* Homozygous wild-type allele = 1; heterozygous wild-type allele = 2; homozygous variant allele = 3.

Abbreviations: ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; APOE/C1/C4/C2= apolipoprotein E/C-I/C-IV/C-II; FH = Familial hypercholesterolaemia; FMO3 = flavin containing monooxygenase 3; LPL = lipoprotein lipase.

# 4.3.4 Genetic determinants of HDL-C response to rosuvastatin

Three genetic polymorphisms (rs1260326 in *GCKR* [glucokinase (hexokinase 4) regulator] [MAF = 0.483] -1131T>C in *APOA5* [apolipoprotein A-V] [MAF = 0.303] and 521T>C in *SLCO1B1* [MAF = 0.136]) tended to be associated with percentage changes in HDL-C (P<0.05) as shown in Table 4-14, but none of these genetic factors reach the prior defined significance level.

Gene/SNPs	Genotype	N	Baseline HDL-C (mmol/L)	% change in HDL-C	Р
GCKR	CC	107	$1.52 \pm 0.45$	$-1.49 \pm 11.89$	
rs1260326	CT	178	$1.51 \pm 0.40$	$\textbf{2.73} \pm \textbf{13.61}$	0.026
	TT	94	$1.49\pm0.35$	$2.71 \pm 13.97$	
APOA5	TT	182	$1.58 \pm 0.42$	0.69 ± 12.82	
-1131 T>C	TC	131	$1.50 \pm 0.40$	$0.97 \pm 11.96$	0.026
	CC	42	1.35 ± 0.32 *	$7.05 \pm 14.82$	
SLCO1B1	TT	287	1.51 ± 0.41	2.39 ± 13.59	
521 T>C	TC	83	$1.52 \pm 0.39$	$-1.27 \pm 12.36$	0.05
	CC	10	$1.59\pm0.50$	$-1.12 \pm 10.31$	
SLCO1B1	TT	287	$1.51 \pm 0.41$	2.39 ± 13.59	0.023
521 T>C	TC/CC	83/10	$1.52 \pm 0.40$	$-1.25 \pm 12.10$	

Table 4-14. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and HDL-C response to rosuvastatin

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of HDL-C response among genotype groups were compared by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

\*P=0.002 for baseline level of HDL-C among 3 genotype groups.

Abbreviations: APOA5 = apolipoprotein A-V; GCKR = glucokinase (hexokinase 4) regulator; SLCO1B1 = Solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1B1.

Subjects with one or two copies of the T variant allele of rs1260326 in GCKR had a more favorable response in HDL-C levels (Table 4-14). The effect of this polymorphism remained in patients with or without diabetes although the associations between rs1260326 and HDL-C response in both subgroups were not significant (P>0.05) due to relatively small numbers (Figure 4-14).





Mean values of % change in HDL-C in each genotype groups were presented in the figure and values among genotype groups in patients with and without diabetes were compared by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Non-diabetes: CC: n=76; CT: n=129; TT: n=67. Diabetes: CC: n=31; CT: n=49; TT: n=27.

The homozygous variant allele of -1131 T>C in *APOA5* was associated with a low baseline level of HDL-C and a greater HDL-C increase in response to rosuvastatin (Table 4-14). The relationship between this polymorphism and HDL-C response was no longer present after adjustment for baseline HDL-C levels (P>0.05), suggesting that the *APOA5* -1131 T>C polymorphism affected the baseline HDL-C and thereby HDL-C response to rosuvastatin.

The *SLCO1B1* 521 T>C was associated with percentage change in HDL-C with subjects carrying one or two copies of the variant allele having less increase in HDL-C with rosuvastatin treatment compared to those with homozygous wild-type alleles (Table 4-14). Further analysis in subgroups of patients with and without FH

showed that the *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism was associated with baseline HDL-C level and HDL-C response in patients with FH, but not for non-FH patients (Figure 4-15), suggesting the effect on HDL-C response may be partly due to its impact on baseline HDL-C levels.

Figure 4-15. Effect of *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism on baseline HDL-C levels and HDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with and without FH



A. Effect of *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism on baseline HDL-C levels; B. Effect of *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism on HDL-C response to rosuvastatin. Values among genotype groups in patients with and without FH were compared by Kruskal-Wallis H test. Non-FH: TT: n=160; TC: n=48; CC: n=7. FH: TT: n=127; TC: n=35; CC: n=3.

In multivariate stepwise regression analysis, baseline HDL-C, having diabetes or RA and the *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism were determinants of percentage changes in HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin, which total explained 9.9% of the variance in percentage change in HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin whereas genetic factors only contributed to a very small proportion of the variance (0.8%) (Table 4-15). The GCKR rs1260326 and APOA5 -1131T>C polymorphisms were not associated with HDL-C response after adjustment for confounding factors (P>0.05).

Table 4-15. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin

Variables	Standardized Coefficients	P	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Baseline HDL-C levels	-0.243	1.6×10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.049
Having diabetes	-0.180	0.0004	0.019
Having RA	-0.159	0.002	0.023
SLCO1B1 521T>C*	-0.105	0.031	0.008

\* Homozygous wild-type allele = 1; heterozygous wild-type allele = 2; homozygous variant allele = 3.

Abbreviations: RA = rheumatoid arthritis; SLCO1B1 = Solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1B1.

#### 4.3.5 Genetic determinants of triglyceride response to rosuvastatin

Among all polymorphisms examined, three SNPs in *CYP3A* tended to be related to triglyceride response but none of them showed a gene-dose effect or reached the experiment-wide significance levels (Table 4-16). The *DGAT2* (diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase homolog 2) rs10899113 C>T polymorphism also appeared to be associated with triglyceride response in a gene-dose dependent manner (Table 4-16).

Gene/SNPs	Genotype	N	Baseline TG	On-treatment	% change	Р
			(mmol/L)	TG (mmol/L)	in TG	
CYP3A4	CC	200	$2.03 \pm 1.61$	$1.44\pm0.80$	$-19.3 \pm 29.7$	
*1G	CT	160	$2.01 \pm 1.31$	$1.41\pm0.82$	-21.7 ± 35.0	0.018
	ΤT	21	$1.69 \pm 1.11$	$1.52 \pm 0.75$	$\textbf{2.7} \pm \textbf{50.4}$	
CYP3AP1	AA	193	2.04 ± 1.52	$1.51 \pm 0.88$	-16.2 ± 36.2	
-44G>A	AG	151	$1.98 \pm 1.46$	$1.31 \pm 0.67$	$-24.8 \pm 27.6$	0.019
	GG	30	$1.95 \pm 1.25$	$1.58 \pm 0.86$	$-8.5 \pm 41.2$	
CYP3A5	AA	28	1.90 ± 1.28	$1.56 \pm 0.88$	-7.3 ± 42.4	
*3	AG	159	$1.98 \pm 1.44$	$1.32\pm0.67$	$-24.2 \pm 28.8$	0.028
	GG	197	$2.04 \pm 1.52$	$1.50\pm0.88$	$-16.9 \pm 35.4$	
DGAT2	CC	219	2.08 ± 1.54	$1.44\pm0.87$	-22.0 ± 32.9	
rs10899113	CT	152	1.91 ± 1.35	$1.40 \pm 0.69$	-16.2 ± 34.8	0.047
	TT	15	1.81 ± 1.43	$1.48 \pm 0.92$	$-11.8 \pm 28.4$	

 Table 4-16. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and of triglyceride

 response to rosuvastatin

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of triglyceride response among genotype groups were compared by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Abbreviations: CYP3A4 = cytochrome P450 family 3, subfamily A, polypeptide 4; CYP3A5 = cytochrome P450 family 3, subfamily A, polypeptide 5; CYP3AP1 = cytochrome P450, family 3, subfamily A, polypeptide 5, pseudogene 1; DGAT2 = diacylglycerol O-acyltransferase homolog 2; TG = triglycerides.

Those 3 SNPs in *CYP3A* are in strong LD, particularly for the -44G>A in *CYP3AP1* (cytochrome P450, family 3, subfamily A, polypeptide 5, pseudogene 1) and *CYP3A5* \*3. We found that the *CYP3A5* \*3 variant allele was closely linked to the the *CYP3AP1* -44G allele (Table 4-17). The *CYP3A5* \*3 (or *CYP3AP1* -44G>A) were also in strong LD with *CYP3A4* \*1G ( $r^2=0.5$ , Figure 4-16).

Table 4-17.	Genotype dis	stributions of	<i>CYP3A5</i> *3 and	I CYP3AP1	-44G>A in s	study
subjects						

		СҮРЗА5 *3		
		*1*1	*1*3	*3*3
CYP3AP1 -44G>A	GG	28	2	0
	GA	0	150	1
	AA	0	3	189

Values in the table represent subject number in each genotype groups.

Figure 4-16. Degree of linkage disequilibrium of CYP3A4 \*1G and CYP3A5 \*3



Value in the diamond represent the pairwise LD coefficients  $(r^2)$  calculated using Haploview.

In multivariate stepwise regression analysis, baseline triglyceride level was the only factor (beta = -0.383, P =  $6.8 \times 10^{-15}$ ) that strongly related to the percentage change in triglycerides in response to rosuvastatin, which explained 14.5% of variance in triglyceride response. None of the other genetic or phenotypic factors showed a

significant effect on triglyceride response after adjustment for baseline level of triglyceride (P>0.05).

The *APOA5* -1131 T>C polymorphism was strongly ( $P = 4.5 \times 10^{-5}$ ) associated with baseline triglyceride levels in a gene-dose dependent manner, but this polymorphism did not affect triglyceride response to rosuvastatin in this study (Figure 4-17).

Figure 4-17. Effect of the APOA5 -1131 T>C polymorphism on baseline triglyceride levels and percentage changes in triglycerides in response to rosuvatatin



\*Mean values of baseline triglyceride and % change in triglycerides in each genotype group were presented in the figure and values among genotype groups were compared by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

TT: n=182; TC: n=131; CC: n=42.

#### 4.3.6 Genetic determinants of total cholesterol response to rosuvastatin

Two polymorphisms in *ABCG2* (421C>A, 34G>A), V257M in *FMO3*, *APOE* e2/e3/e4, 1421C>G in *LPL* and 2009A>G in *PSCK9* (proprotein convertase

subtilisin/kexin type 9) tended to be related to percentage changes in total cholesterol in response to rosuvastatin (P<0.05), but only the *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism was significantly associated with total cholesterol response before and after adjustment for baseline levels of total cholesterol and having diabetes (Table 4-18). The relationship between total cholesterol response and 1421C>G in *LPL* or 2009A>G in *PSCK9* was no longer present after adjusting for baseline total cholesterol (P>0.05) (Table 4-18). The *APOE* e2/e3/e4 polymorphisms were significant associated with baseline total cholesterol levels with e2 carriers having the highest vales whereas e4 carries had the lowest values, but the total cholesterol response was greater in subjects with homozygous e3 alleles compared to those with e2 or e4 alleles (Table 4-18).

The multivariate stepwise regression analysis revealed that baseline total cholesterol, having diabetes, *ABCG2* 421C>A and *FMO3* V257M polymorphisms were predictors of the percentage change in total cholesterol in response to rosuvastatin (Table 4-19), whereas other genetic factors were excluded from the model. Baseline total cholesterol (P= $3.9 \times 10^{-8}$ ) and *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism (P= $7.7 \times 10^{-7}$ ) were strong predictors of total cholesterol response which contributed to 5.2% and 5.5% of variance in total cholesterol response to rosuvastatin, respectively.

Gene/SNPs	Genotype	otype N Baseline TC % change (mmol/L) in TC		P	P*	
ABCG2	CC	194	$7.58 \pm 1.77$	-35.6 ± 9.2		
421C>A	CA	137	$7.38 \pm 1.92$	$-39.4 \pm 8.6$	1.8×10 <sup>-5</sup>	5.0×10 <sup>-7</sup>
	AA	55	$7.48 \pm 1.58$	-40.7 ± 8.0		
ABCG2	GG	176	7.49 ± 1.67	-39.4 ± 8.8		
34G>A	GA	164	$7.61 \pm 1.91$	-36.7 ± 8.8	0.001	0.002
	AA	39	$6.92 \pm 1.74$	-34.4 ± 10.7		
FMO3	GG	230	7.53 ± 1.85	-38.8 ± 9.0		
Val257Met	GA	131	$7.35 \pm 1.62$	$-35.9 \pm 9.0$	0.007	0.044
	AA	23	7.78 ± 2.23	$\textbf{-35.6} \pm \textbf{8.5}$		
LPL	CC	294	7.41 ± 1.73	-37.0 ± 9.5	0.025	0.083
1421C>G	CG/GG	84/4	$7.76 \pm 1.98$	-39.5 ± 7.2		
APOE	e2e2/e2e3	2/26	8.64 ± 2.37	-36.2 ± 10.1		
e2/e3/e4	e3e3	233	7.79 ± 1.64	$\textbf{-39.0}\pm\textbf{8.8}$	0.038	0.033
	e3e4/e4e4	78/4	$7.36 \pm 1.31^\dagger$	$-36.4 \pm 8.6$		
PCSK9	AA	347	7.51 ± 1.81	-38.0 ± 9.1	0.046	0.055
2009A>G	GA	39	$7.34 \pm 1.72$	$-34.9 \pm 8.2$		

 Table 4-18. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and total cholesterol

 response to rosuvastatin

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of total cholesterol response among genotype groups were compared by ANOVA.

\* P value was calculated after adjustment for baseline total cholesterol levels and having diabetes.

<sup>†</sup> P = 0.01 for baseline level of total cholesterol among 3 genotype groups by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Abbreviations: ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; APOE = apolipoprotein E; FMO3 = flavin containing monooxygenase 3; LPL = lipoprotein lipase; PCSK9 = proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9; TC = total cholesterol.

 Table 4-19. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in total cholesterol in response to rosuvastatin

Variables	Standardized Coefficients	P	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Baseline TC levels	-0.27	3.9×10 <sup>-8</sup>	0.052
ABCG2 421C>A*	-0.24	7.7×10 <sup>-7</sup>	0.055
Having diabetes	-0.169	0.0005	0.027
FMO3 V257M*	0.116	0.015	0.011

\* Homozygous wild-type allele = 1; heterozygous wild-type allele = 2; homozygous variant allele = 3.

Abbreviations: ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; FMO3 = flavin containing monooxygenase 3; TC = total cholesterol.

# 4.3.7 Genetic determinants of non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin

Six SNPs appeared to be related to non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin (**Table 4-20**). Apart from the rs506696 in *LIPG/ACAA2* (lipase, endothelial/ Acetyl-Coenzyme A acyltransferase 2) (MAF = 0.488), the other 5 SNPs were also associated with the LDL-C response including 421C>A and 34A>G in *ABCG2*, V257M in *FMO3*, rs16996148 in *NCAN/CILP2/PBX4*, and 1421C>G in *LPL*. Among these SNPs, only the 421C>A and 34A>G in *ABCG2* were significantly associated with percentage change in non-HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin after correction for multiple testing and in a gene-dose dependent manner. There was no gene-dose effect of rs506696 in *LIPG/ACAA2* on % change in non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin.

Gene/SNPs	Genotype	N	Baseline non-HDL-C	% change in non-HDL-C	Р
LIPG/ACAA2	AA	89	$6.39 \pm 1.99$	-45.6±9.3	
rs506696	CA	196	5.85 ± 1.68	$-48.8 \pm 10.9$	0.037
	CC	98	$5.87 \pm 1.66$	$-47.8 \pm 12.0$	
ABCG2	CC	194	6.11 ± 1.76	-45.0 ± 11.1	
421C>A	CA	137	$5.83 \pm 1.86$	$-50.1 \pm 9.9$	5.0×10 <sup>-7</sup>
	AA	55	5.92 ± 1.51	-52.1 ± 9.9	
ABCG2	GG	176	5.94 ± 1.62	$-50.2 \pm 10.6$	
34G>A	GA	164	$6.14 \pm 1.87$	$-46.3 \pm 10.0$	0.0002
	AA	39	$5.41 \pm 1.72$	-44.2 ± 13.5	
FMO3	GG	230	$6.04 \pm 1.79$	$-49.2 \pm 10.5$	
Val257Met	GA	131	$5.84 \pm 1.63$	-45.7 ± 11.0	0.007
	AA	23	5.23 ± 2.18	-45.8 ± 12.4	
NCAN/CILP2/PBX4	GG	312	$5.91 \pm 1.71$	$-48.3 \pm 10.9$	0.044
rs16996148	GT	70	$6.33 \pm 1.91$	$-45.4 \pm 10.5$	
LPL	CC	294	$5.90 \pm 1.72$	$\textbf{-46.9} \pm \textbf{11.4}$	0.021
1421C>G	CG/GG	84/4	6.22 ± 1.88	$-50.5 \pm 8.6$	

 Table 4-20. Associations between genetic polymorphisms and non-HDL-C

 response to rosuvastatin

Data were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of total cholesterol response among genotype groups were compared by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Abbreviations: ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; FMO3 = flavin containing monooxygenase 3; LIPG/ACAA2 = Lipase, endothelial / Acetyl-Coenzyme A acyltransferase 2; LPL = lipoprotein lipase; NCAN/CILP2/PBX4 = neurocan / cartilage intermediate layer protein 2 / Pre-B-cell leukemia homeobox 4.

Subjects with the 421A variant allele had greater non-HDL-C reduction compared to those with homozygous C alleles in a gene-dose dependent manner, whereas, having the 34A variant allele was associated with a reduced non-HDL-C response to

rosuvastatin (Figure 4-18).





\* The percentage changes in non-HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin among diplotype groups were compared by Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval and circles indicating outliers.

In multivariate stepwise regression analysis, ABCG2 421C>A, LPL 1421C>G, FMO3 V257M and ABCG2 34G>A polymorphisms were predictors of the percentage change in non-HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin, whereas no phenotypic factors (e.g. age, gender, baseline non-HDL-C or having FH) were found to be determinants of non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin (Table 4-21). These 4 genetic factors totally contributed to 9.8% of the variance in non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin with ABCG2 421C>A explaining the highest proportion of variance (6.3%) whereas

34G>A only contributed to 0.9% of the variance in the non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin.

Variables	Standardized Coefficients	Р	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
ABCG2 421C>A*	-0.183	0.002	0.063
LPL 1421C>G*	-0.140	0.005	0.014
FMO3 V257M*	0.127	0.01	0.012
<i>ABCG2</i> 34G>A*	0.122	0.033	0.009

Table 4-21. Multivariate model of predictors of % change in non-HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin

\* Homozygous wild-type allele = 1; heterozygous wild-type allele = 2; homozygous variant allele = 3.

Abbreviations: ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; FMO3 = flavin containing monooxygenase 3; LPL = lipoprotein lipase.

## 4.4 Discussion

Multiple large prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trials have shown that statin therapy could significantly reduce the risk of cardiovascular events by 20-30%, an effect strongly related to the magnitude of LDL-C reduction (Baigent C et al., 2005). However, the lipid response to statins is highly variable and the cause for this is largely unknown, therefore we performed a pharmacogenetic study in Chinese patients to examine genetic determinants of lipid response to rosuvastatin, the most recently introduced statin in Hong Kong public hospitals. As non-genetic factors such as age, gender, race, and smoking status have been shown to have some impact on statin response in some previous studies (Kannel WB et al., 1990, Shear CL et al., 1992, Simon JA et al., 2006), the potential confounding phenotypic factors were also evaluated in this study.

# 4.4.1 Associations of environmental factors with lipid response to rosuvastatin

# 4.4.1.1 Age and gender

In this study, age and gender were found to be associated with percentage change in LDL-C from baseline (Table 4-4). Older participants (>50 years) tended to have a greater response than younger participants ( $\leq$ 50 years), which is in agreement with findings in some previous studies with various statins e.g. lovastatin (Shear CL et al., 1992) and pravastatin (Simon JA et al., 2006), although in the CARE (Cholesterol and recurrent Events) trial the effect of pravastatin on LDL-C reduction was similar among subjects <65 and  $\geq$ 65 years but the older subjects in the trial did have a nonsignificant 2% greater reduction in LDL-C (Lewis SJ et al., 1998). The finding of an enhanced rosuvastatin-induced effect on LDL-C with advanced age is noteworthy as older patients have an increased CVD risk, which may be related to the different distributions of FH among age groups (Figure 4-2) as discussed below.

Female patients had greater reductions in LDL-C and non-HDL-C in response to rosuvastatin than males before and after adjustment for other phenotypic factors. The gender difference in LDL-C response to cerivastatin treatment has been reported with a markedly larger LDL-C reduction in females than in males observed ( $44.4 \pm 8.9\%$  vs.  $37.0 \pm 0.9\%$ , P< 0.05) (Ose L et al., 1999). We did not find a gender difference in HDL-C or triglyceride response to statin in the present study like that of AFCAPS/TexCAPS (Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study) (Downs JR et al., 1998), although some previous studies with lovastatin and simvastatin reported a greater HDL-C increase in women than in men after statin treatment (Kannel WB et al., 1990, Shear CL et al., 1992, Simon JA et al., 2006).

It is unclear whether the effect of age and gender on lipid-lowering effects of rosuvastatin results from age- and gender-related differences in the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin or other age- and gender-associated factors that influence the efficacy of rosuvastatin although there were only small differences in rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics between different age and gender groups and these differences were not considered clinically relevant (Martin PD et al., 2002).

# 4.4.1.2 Familial hypercholesterolaemia and baseline level of lipids

This study included 166 patients with a clinical diagnosis of FH and identification of mutations in the *LDLR* or other relevant genes was not performed. Data from previous different studies suggested that patients with heterozygous FH respond to rosuvastatin in a similar way to those without FH in both Caucasians (Jones PH et al., 2003c, Stein EA et al., 2003) and Asians (Mabuchi H et al., 2004, Zhu JR et al., 2007) (Table **4-22**), but there was no single study to directly compare the lipid response to rosuvastatin in patients with or without FH. In this study, patients with FH had a 2.6% smaller percentage reduction in LDL-C than patients without FH, suggesting that patients with impaired LDLR function due to genetic defects may have a reduced LDL-C response to statin treatment compared to those with normal LDLR function.

It has previously been suggested that subjects with heterozygous FH might show differing responses to statins depending upon the type of mutation in the *LDLR* as described in Chapter 1 (Table 1-10). Miltiadous et al reported that apart from *LDLR* mutations, baseline levels of LDL-C and plasma lipoprotein(a) levels appear to be independent factors that affect the LDL-C-lowering effect of atorvastatin in patients with heterozygous FH (Miltiadous G et al., 2006), but the subject number in that study was rather small (n=49). In the present study, the baseline level of LDL-C was not associated with percentage LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with FH (data not shown), but the role of plasma lipoprotein(a) levels and different types of LDLR mutations were not assessed in the study and these warrant further investigations.

		Mean	Populations	Dose	Baseline	% change	References
Patients	Ν	age (y)		(mg)	LDL-C	in LDL-C	
					(mmol/L)		
				20		18.8	(Marais AD
HomoFH	41	28	Caucasians	40	13.3	22.5	et al., 2008)
			(80%)	80		21.4	
				20		47.1	(Stein EA et
HeFH	436	48	Caucasians	40	7.56	53.9	al., 2003)
			(96%)	80		57.9	
				10		49.2	(Mabuchi H
	37	51.8	Japanese	20	7.87	53.9	et al., 2004)
				40		56.7	
	156		White	10	4.04	45.8	(Jones PH et
Non-FH	160	58	(86%)	20	4.14	52.4	al., 2003b)
	157			40	4.07	55.0	
	515	60.3	Asians	10	4.32	47.5	(Zhu JR et
			(97.8%)				al., 2007)

Table 4-22. The LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with and without FH in previous studies

Abbreviations: FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; HeFH = heterozygous FH; HomoFH = homozygous FH;

We defined the percentage changes from baseline in lipid parameters as outcomes, which can largely remove the influence of some baseline lipid levels. Indeed, the percentage reductions in LDL-C and non-HDL-C were not related to their baseline levels. However, the baseline levels of HDL-C, triglyceride and total cholesterol were still strong predictors of percentage changes in HDL-C, triglyceride and total cholesterol respectively (Table 4-5, 4-6, 4-7). As has been reported elsewhere, subjects with high total cholesterol and triglyceride or low HDL-C levels had more favorable responses compared to those with relatively "normal" lipid parameters. Since a low baseline level of HDL-C predicts a greater increase in HDL-C (absolute change) with statin treatment, the effect of the baseline level of HDL-C on HDL-C response to statins would be even greater with percentage change in HDL-C from baseline. However, further analysis showed that the absolute change in HDL-C was only slightly less dependent on the baseline level of HDL-C (r = -0.190, P = 0.0001).

# 4.4.1.3 Diabetes, hypertension, rheumatoid arthritis and preexisting cardiovascular disease

Few studies reported in the literature examined the effect of diabetes on the lipid response to statins. Simon et al reported there was no difference in lipid response to simvastatin in patients with and without diabetes in the CAP (Cholesterol and Pharmacogenetics) trial, although patients with diabetes did have a nonsignificant 3% greater LDL-C reduction than those non-diabetic patients (Simon JA et al., 2006). In this study, subjects having diabetes showed greater percentage reductions in LDL-C than non-diabetic patients from the unadjusted data. There may be some confounding factors which contribute to this finding and one of the most obvious to consider is the high proportion of FH in non-diabetic patients (Table 4-3). Indeed, when the analysis was adjusted for FH and other factors, the difference in LDL-C response to rosuvastatin between patients with and without diabetes was no longer significant. Patients with diabetes also had a greater triglyceride response to

rosuvastatin, which is likely to be related to their high baseline triglyceride levels.

However, although patients with diabetes had a lower level of HDL-C than non-diabetics, they still had a smaller HDL-C response that remained statistically significant after adjusting for a number of potentially confounding variables, including baseline levels of HDL-C and triglyceride. This finding is consistent with previous observations of a smaller increase in HDL-C in diabetics treated with simvastatin in the Heart Protection Study (Collins R et al., 2003) and the finding from a very recent meta-analysis of 32,258 dyslipidaemic patients included in 37 randomized studies using rosuvastatin, atorvastatin, and simvastatin (Barter PJ et al., 2009). The explanation and the clinical implications of a reduced HDL-C response to therapy in people with diabetes warrant further investigation.

Having hypertension, RA or a history of CVD did not appear to be related to LDL-C or other lipid response to rosuvastatin in this study, which agree with findings of some previous studies showing no interactions between blood pressure and statin-induced lipid changes (Downs JR et al., 1998, Kannel WB et al., 1990). RA patients had a higher baseline level of HDL-C than patients without this condition but having hypercholesterolaemia (Table 4-5), which probably led to a reduced increase in HDL-C levels after statin treatment in the RA group of patients.

# 4.4.1.4. Obesity, and smoking status

BMI and WC, measures of general and central adiposity, respectively, or percentage total body fat did not seem to affect LDL-C or any other lipid responses to rosuvastatin in this study. We are not aware of any other reports showing a relationship between obesity and LDL-C response to statins but the CAP trial did reveal that subjects with increased WC had a diminished triglyceride lowering response to simvastatin (Simon JA et al., 2006). In the present study, smoking status was not associated with lipid responses to rosuvastatin, which is consistent with findings from the AFCAPS/TexCAPS and the EXCEL (Expanded Clinical Evaluation of Lovastatin) studies with lovastatin treatment (Downs JR et al., 1998, Shear CL et al., 1992), but not the CAP trial with simvastatin, which showed that smokers had less LDL-C, apolipoprotein-B and triglyceride reductions than nonsmokers (Simon JA et al., 2006).

#### 4.4.1.5 Adherence to rosuvastatin therapy

We assessed adherence to rosuvastatin from the patient's own subjective reporting and tablet counting, the two most common methods used to measure adherence in the clinical settings, which may not be accurate, but no currently available method for measuring adherence is considered as the gold standard (Osterberg L and Blaschke T, 2005). It has been reported from some studies that self-reported adherence to drug therapy may be consistent with the data from electronic monitoring (Walsh JC et al., 2002) and other more objective methods for measurement of adherence (Hugen PW et al., 2002), but this has not always been the case (Garber MC et al., 2004). Furthermore, many aspects of lifestyle e.g. diet and exercise, have been known to influence plasma lipoprotein profiles (Lewis B, 1990). In this study, patients were asked to maintain their lifestyles during the study, but it is possible that some patients who claimed no changes in lifestyle or good drug compliance may not have reported this correctly, which may introduce some bias to the data.

#### 4.4.2 Genetic determinants of lipid response to rosuvastatin

#### 4.4.2.1 ABCG2 polymorphisms

The study extensively examined the effects of polymorphisms in genes potentially related to statin pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and lipid metabolism on the lipid responses to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients with good adherence to treatment. The most significant finding of this study is that the *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism was significantly associated with LDL-C response to rosuvastatin and the difference in percentage reduction in LDL-C between the two homozygote groups is equivalent to more than doubling the dose of rosuvastatin.

Rosuvastatin undergoes little metabolism, but it is a substrate for a number of drug transporters which influence its disposition, including the efflux transporter ABCG2 (Ho RH et al., 2006, Tirona RG, 2005). The findings of greater reduction in LDL-C in subjects with the ABCG2 421AA genotype are consistent with the pharmacokinetic studies in Chinese and Caucasian subjects showing about twice the level of systemic exposure to rosuvastatin in subjects with at least one 421A allele compared to those with the 421CC genotype (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c, Zhang W et al., 2006a). The nonsynonymous 421 C>A SNP is located in exon 5 of the ABCG2 gene in which a 421C>A transversion results in an amino acid change of glutamine to lysine at codon 141 (Cusatis G and Sparreboom A, 2008). The 421A variant allele results in lower expression levels of the ABCG2 efflux transporter protein in hepatocytes, enterocytes and other tissues and a reduced ability to export substrate, which would increase drug accumulation in hepatocytes and the systemic circulation (Cusatis G and Sparreboom A, 2008, Kondo C et al., 2004, Robey RW et al., 2009). The pharmacokinetic study in Caucasians showing that the AUCs of rosuvastatin and atorvastatin and the Cmax of rosuvastatin are affected by the ABCG2 genotype, with no effect on their elimination half-life  $(t_{1/2})$  suggests that the increases in plasma concentration of rosuvastatin and atorvastatin in subjects with the 421A variant allele are most likely due to enhanced absorption of these drugs, increasing their bioavailability after oral administration, as a consequence of decreased intestinal efflux of these statins by ABCG2 in association with the 421A variant allele (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c).

Rosuvastatin shows dose-linear pharmacokinetics (Rosenson RS, 2003), so that having a single 421A variant allele is associated with almost double the plasma concentration or equivalent to doubling the dose compared to 421CC homozygotes, and plasma concentrations will be increased more in those with the 421AA genotype. It has been suggested that the AUC<sub>0- $\infty$ </sub> after a single dose is equal to the dose-interval AUC at steady state, therefore, the AUCs of rosuvastatin during continuous treatment should be similar to those after a single dose (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c). Doubling the dose of a statin typically only reduces the LDL-C by a further 6% from the original baseline (Roberts WC, 1997). In the STELLAR (Statin Therapies for Elevated Lipid Levels compared Across doses to Rosuvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin across doses, doses of 10, 20 and 40 mg rosuvastatin for 6 weeks produced LDL-C reductions of 45.8%, 52.4%, and 55.1%, respectively (Jones PH et al., 2003c). These figures could be compared to the reductions of 48.9 % and 57.0% with 10 mg rosuvastatin in the *ABCG2* 421CC and 421AA genotypes in our study.

The 421A variant is more prevalent in Chinese (35%) or Japanese (35%) than in African-American (2-5%), European (11-14%), Hispanic (10%) or Middle Eastern (13%) subjects (Cusatis G and Sparreboom A, 2008, Robey RW et al., 2009). The

high allele frequency of the 421A variant allele in Chinese and Japanese compared to Caucasians may contribute to the ethnic difference in rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics and potentially the treatment outcomes of rosuvastatin. To our knowledge, the present study was the first to demonstrate the association between the ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism and the lipid response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients. A recent study in Caucasian patients with acute coronary syndrome (ACS), published in an abstract form, has also replicated these findings, showing that the ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism was related to the plasma LDL-C concentration after 3 months treatment with rosuvastatin 10 mg (Romaine SP et al., 2008). Patients with one or two A variant alleles (n = 75) achieved significantly lower mean LDL-C levels than the 421CC individuals (1.78 vs. 1.98 mmol/L; P=0.012). These results are similar to the findings in our patients (Figure 4-11) although the patients involved in this study had a wide range of baseline level of LDL-C. This independent study in Caucasians, in whom the A allele frequency is only 12%, provides strong evidence to support our findings and emphasized that the ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism plays an important role in the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin and the importance of this variant on the lipid response to rosuvastatin in different ethnic groups with a variable frequency of the polymorphism.

The other nonsynonymous 34G>A SNP located in exon 2 of the *ABCG2* gene leading to an amino acid change of valine to methionine at codon 12, apparently did not confer an alteration in protein expression or function (Cusatis G and Sparreboom A, 2008, Kondo C et al., 2004, Robey RW et al., 2009). In this study, the 34G>A polymorphism appeared to be related to the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin but this is most likely due to its LD with the 421C>A SNP. However, this polymorphism was also associated with the non-HDL-C response before and after adjustment for the

421C>A polymorphism although this association did not reach the experiment-wide significance level.

The list of ABCG2 substrates has been expanding rapidly, which highlights the important role of this transporter in drug disposition and treatment outcomes. Experiments in cell lines demonstrated that some hydrophilic statins and/or their metabolites like rosuvastatin and pitavastatin acid (Fujino H et al., 2005), were substrates of ABCG2, and more recently the lipophilic statin, atorvastatin was identified to be a substrate of this efflux transporter (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c). The ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism was shown to have different impact on the disposition of these statins. The effect was greater in the case of rosuvastatin than atorvastatin (the AUC<sub>0-∞</sub> of rosuvastatin was ~140% greater and that of atorvastatin was ~70% greater in the c.421AA genotype compared to the c.421CC genotype) but there was no significant effect on the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin and pitavastatin (Ho RH et al., 2007, Ieiri I et al., 2007). Some reported substrates have also been identified as ABCG2 inhibitors, such as imatinib and gefitinib (Houghton PJ et al., 2004, Ozvegy-Laczka C et al., 2004). It is still unclear whether these substrate statins themselves could influence the activity of ABCG2. However, membrane lipids, especially cholesterol, have been involved in the regulation of various membrane proteins, including several ABC transporters e.g. ABCG2 (Dos Santos SM et al., 2007, Hegedus C et al., 2009). ABCG2 was shown to be located in rafts of mammalian cell membranes, and it has been shown that destroying membrane rafts by cholesterol depletion causes about a 40% decrease in ABCG2 activity (Storch CH et al., 2007). Telbisz et al reported that membrane cholesterol can modulate the activity of ABCG2 in a selective and reversible manner (Telbisz A et al., 2007). Whether cholesterol is an additional substrate for ABCG2 or rather a co-factor

or allosteric modulator promoting its proper transport function requires further evaluation. However, a recent study has shown that the baseline mRNA expression levels of ABC and SLCO transporters (ABCB1, ABCC2, ABCG2, and SLCO2B1) were almost ten-fold higher in subjects with hypercholesterolaemia than those with normal lipid levels and atorvatatin treatment significantly downregulated the gene expression of these influx and efflux transporters (Rodrigues AC et al., 2009). Whether rosuvastatin could affect the function of ABCG2 by altering the concentration of cholesterol in serum and membranes that in turn might affect the efficacy and toxicity of substrate drugs is an important topic that needs to be addressed in future research.

The hepatic expression of ABCG2 was shown to be higher in men compared with women, which may potentially affect the sex-specific variability in the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of ABCG2 substrates (Merino G et al., 2005). However, gender did not seem to influence the pharmacokinetics of rosuvasatin in healthy subjects although a nonsignificant higher drug exposure to rosuvastain in females than that in males was observed (Martin PD et al., 2002). In this study the lipid responses to rosuvastatin in males and females were not statistically different after adjustment for other genotypic and phenotypic factors. Further studies are needed to investigate environmental and physiological factors that may affect expression of the transporter.

# 4.4.2.2 FMO3 polymorphisms

FMO3 catalyzes the oxygenation of various heteroatom-containing compounds (e.g., amine-, sulfide-, phosphorus-, and other nucleophilic heteroatom-containing compounds) in the liver (Cashman JR and Zhang J, 2006). The *FMO3* gene is highly

polymorphic, and some common polymorphic variants of FMO3 affect the amount or activity of the enzyme and, thereby, alter N-oxygenation of certain amines, including drugs, dietary agents, and other xenobiotics (Cashman JR and Zhang J, 2006, Phillips IR and Shephard EA, 2008). Deficiency in FMO3 activity due to rare inherited defects in the FMO3 gene causes primary trimethylaminuria (TMAU), the fish-odour syndrome (Phillips IR and Shephard EA, 2008). The frequency of polymorphisms in FMO3 varies considerably between different ethnic groups (Hao D et al., 2007), which may contribute to interethnic variability in the phenotype of this enzyme. The variant alleles for the two commonly linked SNPs, E158K and E308G ( $r^2$ =0.86 in Chinese, data from HapMap) can result in a reduced enzyme activity in a substrate-dependent manner. Homozygotes for 158K/308G can exhibit symptoms of mild or transient TMAU. However, some haplotypes inferred from high-activity promoter variants of FMO3 that were also linked to the variants of E158K/E308G were found to increase transcription of FMO3 in Hispanic, non-Latino whites, and African Americans with different prevalence among populations (Koukouritaki SB et al., 2007), which may lead to an increase in the amount of protein produced, via promoter SNPs, compensating for the low activity of the enzyme due to the two coding SNPs, E158K and E308G (Phillips IR and Shephard EA, 2008). The presence of LD between these SNPs might contribute to some of the discrepancies between the results of analysis of mutant enzyme activity in vitro and drug metabolism in vivo.

In this study the E158K and E308G polymorphisms were not associated with the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin, but we found *FMO3* V257M was significantly related to the LDL-C response after adjusting for other genotypic and phenotypic factors. The V257M polymorphism was only mildly linked with the E158K and

E308G polymorphisms (r<sup>2</sup><0.1 in Chinese, data from HapMap) and the functional effect of this polymorphism on FMO3 activity has not been fully addressed, but the in vitro study showed that the methionine variant at codon 257 of human FMO3 had decreased N-oxygenation for the substrate tyramine (Cashman JR et al., 2000) and some previous studies have also shown that this polymorphism linked with another polymorphism causing stop codon (Trp<sup>388</sup>Stop) was responsible for TMAU (Shimizu M et al., 2007). However, in this study subjects with the variant allele of V257M polymorphism had reduced LDL-C response to rosuvastatin suggesting an increased activity of the enzyme associated with this variant allele. This study did not examine those promoter SNPs in the 5'-flanking region which may increase the transcription of FMO3, although haplotypes containing these high-activity promoter variants are uncommon. However, a recent study suggested that the expression levels of trans-acting factors, i.e. hepatocyte nuclear factor-4 (HNF-4) and nuclear factor Y box-binding protein (NF-Y) might regulate the expression level of the FMO3 gene (Shimizu M et al., 2008). Further analysis in human liver microsomes from Japanese samples has shown that microsomal FMO3 protein content was significantly correlated with FMO3 mRNA levels, whereas the FMO3 mRNA levels were significantly correlated with HNF-4 mRNA and NF-Y mRNA levels, but not the FMO3 haplotypes suggesting FMO3 activity was independent of genetic variation in the FMO3 gene (Nagashima S et al., 2009).

Whether rosuvastatin is a substrate of FMO3 is still unclear, but considering only a small proportion of rosuvastatin (about 10%) is recovered as metabolite, mainly N-desmethyl rosuvastatin formed principally by CYP2C9 (Figure 4-19) (White CM, 2002), FMO3 activity is unlikely to have a marked effect on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin. The significant association between the *FMO3* V257M polymorphism

and the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin might be due to its linkage to other genes or variants related to the pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of rosuvastatin. A very recent genome-wide association (GWA) analysis in 17,296 women from the Women's Genome Health Study (WGHS) has identified an association between *HNF-4A* polymorphism and lipoprotein fractions, which may link lipoprotein metabolism, FMO3 and lipid response to rosvuastatin, (Chasman DI et al., 2009) that requires further evaluations.

Figure 4-19. Chemical structure and metabolic pathways of rosuvastatin



**Rosuvastatin 5S-Lactone** 

Rosuvastatin undergoes a small degree of enzymic modification, principally by CYP2C9 and CYP2C19, to N-desmethyl rosuvastatin with mean  $C_{max}$  values of <10% and approximately one-sixth to one-half the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitory activity of rosuvastatin (Martin PD et al., 2003). Studies *in vitro* suggest rosuvastatin undergoes glucuronidation via *UGT1A1* and *UGT1A3* to form an acyl glucuronide conjugate with subsequent lactonization to form rosuvastatin-5S-lactone which can undergo hydrolysis back to the acid form (Prueksaritanont

# 4.4.2.3 Other polymorphisms potentially related to LDL-C response to rosuvastatin

The other SNPs in the genes or loci related to lipoprotein metabolism have also shown some effects on LDL-C response (Table 4-10), but these associations did not reach the significant level after correction for multiple testing, which may be attributed to under-powering or lack of a true effect.

LPL is a key regulator of lipid metabolism, which governs the delivery of triglyceride-derived free fatty acids to adipose tissue and muscle. The LPL rs328 variant involving a C-terminal truncation of two amino acids (Ser447X) has been shown to be associated with increased LPL activity, reduced triglyceride levels and raised HDL-C levels in various studies (Gagne SE et al., 1999, Wung SF et al., 2006). Furthermore, a longitudinal association analyses in 2864 Busselton Health Survey participants has shown that the association of the variant allele of rs328 with raised HDL-C levels significantly increased with age (Webster RJ et al., 2009). The GWA analysis in WGHS participants has identified 36 loci for roles in lipoprotein metabolism defined by 22 traits related to lipoprotein size, concentration and cholesterol content (Chasman DI et al., 2009), and the LPL gene was found to be significantly related to multiple parameters including HDL-C, triglycerides etc. and particularly with the size of lipoprotein particles that may impact on disease risk (Stampfer MJ et al., 1996). Polymorphisms in LPL have been shown to affect HDL-C and triglyceride responses to statin therapy and progression of atherosclerosis in 829 subjects from the Post-Coronary Artery Bypass Graft trial

(Goodarzi MO et al., 2007), but we did not find such an association. In this study, the variant allele of rs328 polymorphism was associated with a greater reduction in LDL-C response, which contributes to 2.3% of variance in percentage change in LDL-C in response to rosuvastatin.

Multiple GWA studies showed that the minor allele of SNP rs4420638 in the *APOE-APOC* cluster was strongly associated with increased LDL-C concentrations, decreased CRP levels and increased risk of CHD and Alzheimer disease respectively (Coon KD et al., 2007, Elliott P et al., 2009, Willer CJ et al., 2008b). This polymorphism is situated about 14 kb distal to the APOE locus and was in strong LD with SNPs that characterize the *APOE* e2/e3/e4 locus, rs429358 and rs7412 (Coon KD et al., 2007). However, the *APOE* e2/e3/e4 polymorphism did not seem to affect the LDL-C response in this study (P=0.1), although a strong linkage between rs4420638 and APOE e2/e3/e4 was presented ( $r^2 = \sim 0.8$  for both).

The rs16996148 SNP located on chromosome 19p13 in an intergenic region between *CILP2* and *PBX4* showed strong association with LDL-C and triglycerides levels in a GWA study, although these loci had no established connections to cholesterol metabolism. LCAT is the major enzyme responsible for the esterification of free cholesterol present in circulating plasma lipoproteins, and catalyzes the transfer of an unsaturated fatty acid from the sn-2 position of lecithin to free cholesterol, generating cholesteryl ester and lysolecithin (Santamarina-Fojo S et al., 2000). A recent GWAS reported that the rs255052 SNP, located 49 kb downstream of *LCAT* was associated with HDL-C levels with the variant allele having an effect size of 0.019 mmol/l on HDL-C (Willer CJ et al., 2008b). Although these 2 polymorphisms tended to be associated with LDL-C response to rosuvastatin, these associations did not reach the

experiment-wide significance level and after adjustment for other genotypic and phenotypic factors the associations were no longer present in the multivariant analysis. Whether these polymorphisms could influence statin efficacy is still an open question and needs to be explored in future studies with a larger sample size.

It has previously been suggested that subjects with heterozygous FH might show differing responses to statins depending upon the type of mutation in the *LDLR*, although this finding has not been consistent (Kajinami K et al., 2004e, Miltiadous G et al., 2005). The present study did not examine the genetic cause of FH, but we found that the *LDLR* rs1433099 polymorphism was associated with the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with FH with the homozygous variant allele being associated with less response to rosuvastatin (Figure 4-13) suggesting that the impaired LDLR function may influence the lipid response to statins, particularly for patients with FH.

HMG-CoA reductase is the rate-limiting enzyme in cholesterol synthesis and the target enzyme for statins and variants (SNP12 and SNP29) in *HMGCR* influenced the LDL-C responses to pravastatin (Chasman DI et al., 2004) and simvastatin (Krauss RM et al., 2008). These polymorphisms are more common in African Americans but are almost absent in Asian populations so we did not examine their effects. However, two other common SNPs in *HMGCR* (rs12654264 and rs3846662), which were identified to be associated with altered LDL-C or HDL-C levels in a GWAS (Kathiresan S et al., 2008b) did not seem to affect lipid responses to rosuvastatin in the present study. Similarly, in another pharmacogenetic study in 707 renal transplant recipients (97% Caucasian) treated with fluvastatin there was no association between *HMGCR* polymorphisms and the LDL-C response to fluvastatin,

which may reflect differences due to drug or ethnicity or choice of SNPs (Singer JB et al., 2007).

In this study, subjects with the variant allele of *CYP2C9* or homozygous variants of *CYP2C19*, *CYP3A5* and *UGT1A1* tended to have greater LDL-C responses to rosuvastatin, which were not statistically significant, possibly due to small numbers in the variant groups (Table 4-12). These relationships with the less active variants of the enzymes thought to be involved in the metabolism of rosuvastatin are biologically plausible (Figure 4-19) and should be further explored in future studies with a larger sample size, preferably including pharmacokinetic data.

# 4.4.2.4 SLCO1B1 polymorphisms

Although the 521T>C polymorphism in the *SLCO1B1* hepatic uptake transporter was associated with increased systemic exposure to rosuvastatin in Korean and Caucasian subjects (Choi JH et al., 2008, Pasanen MK et al., 2007), this SNP or associated haplotypes did not explain the differences in pharmacokinetics between ethnic groups in the study in Singapore (Lee E et al., 2005). Subjects with a haplotype including 521C showed reduced acute effects on cholesterol synthesis with pravastatin, another SLCO1B1 substrate (Niemi M et al., 2005). However, another study showed no effect of the 521T>C SNP on the lipid responses to 3 weeks dosing with pravastatin, but that study may have been too small or too brief to show a significant effect (Igel M et al., 2006). In the present study, we examined 8 SNPs in *SLCO1B1* including 521T>C, but none of these SNPs or haplotypes showed a significant effect on the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin. In the Heart Protection Study, subjects with the 521C variant had an increased risk of developing myopathy and less reduction in LDL-C with simvastatin (-1.28% per C allele, P<0.0001) (Link

E et al., 2008), but in the present study there was no effect of the 521T>C heterozygote on LDL-C reduction and there were only 10 subjects homozygous for the 521C variant, who tended to show a greater effect (Table 4-12).

However, we found the 521T>C polymorphism tended to be associated with HDL-C response in patients with FH, partly related to its effect on the baseline level of HDL-C (Figure 4-15) and the association was still significant after adjustment for baseline level of HDL-C. The 521T>C polymorphism has been reported to be associated with increased cholesterol synthesis rate (Pasanen MK et al., 2008a) probably through its impact on bile acid homeostasis (Xiang X et al., 2009) as intracellular bile acid concentrations regulate cholesterol catabolism, which may influence the effect of this polymorphism on lipid response to statins. Animal studies indicate that the liver may be a major source of the cholesterol circulating in HDL particles (Brewer HB, Jr. et al., 2004), and therefore the effect of the 521T>C polymorphism on hepatic cholesterol synthesis may alter the level of circulating HDL-C and consequently the HDL-C response to statin treatment.

#### 4.4.2.5 Genetic determinants of changes in other lipid traits

In this study, changes in HDL-C and triglycerides were examined although these secondary analyses were not expected to yield significant results due to the minimal response of HDL-C and the high variability of triglyceride levels. Indeed, none of the SNPs examined in the study was found to significantly affect these two secondary traits after correction for multiple testing, although the *SLCO1B1* 521T>C tended to affect the HDL-C response in patients with FH.

The mechanism by which statins increase the concentration of HDL-C remains

unclear and is apparently unrelated to the mechanism by which this class of agents lowers the LDL-C levels. It has been recognized that statins could up-regulate hepatic ABCA1 gene expression, which at least partly explains the statin-induced increase in HDL-C (Tamehiro N et al., 2007). A second possible mechanism by which statins increase HDL-C involves their effects on the cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) inhibition due to reduction in the number of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins available to accept cholesterol ester from HDL (Barter PJ et al., 2009, Chapman MJ et al., 2010, McTaggart F and Jones P, 2008). However, statin-induced HDL-raising was much less than expected values (>20%) speculated from the 20 to 25% inhibition of CETP associated with statin treatment, which suggests statins may have other effects that oppose the HDL-raising resulting from CETP inhibition (Barter PJ et al., 2009, Chapman MJ et al., 2010, McTaggart F and Jones P, 2008). Furthermore, statin-induced increase in HDL-C may partly be due to enhancing PPARalpha activity, which may stimulate hepatic apoA-I synthesis and HDL formation (Chapman MJ et al., McTaggart F and Jones P, 2008). Variations in the balance between such opposing effects may be the explanation for the markedly differing patterns of the HDL-C response to treatment with different statins. With the complicated mechanisms involved in the statin-induced HDL-C raising, it is unlikely to be able to identify genetic cause for HDL-C response to rosuvastatin with the design of the present study. Further studies with larger numbers of homogeneous patients are required to identify the genetic predictors of HDL-C response to statins.

The triglyceride response to rosuvastatin was highly variable and was strongly related to baseline levels, as shown in many previous studies. DGAT2 plays a key role in triglyceride biosynthesis (Yen CL et al., 2008) and may be involved in the mechanism of action of niacin (Kamanna VS and Kashyap ML, 2008). The

rs10899113 SNP in *DGAT2* appeared to affect triglyceride response to rosuvstatin suggesting that DGAT2 might also be related to the pharmacological effect of statins, which warrants further evaluation. Those 3 linked SNPs in *CYP3A* appeared to be related to triglyceride response to rosuvastatin but there was no gene-dose effect suggesting the effect may be due to LD with other genetic variants or a chance finding. Although CYP3A has not been considered to play a role in the metabolism of rosuvastatin, polymorphism in *CYP3A5* (\*3) was found to be associated with the plasma LDL-C concentration after 3 months treatment with rosuvastatin 10 mg in Caucasian patients with ACS (Romaine SP et al., 2008), but not in patients in the present study. Previous studies have consistently demonstrated that APOA5 is a key determinant of plasma triglyceride concentrations and polymorphisms in this gene have been shown to be related to familial combined hyperlipidaemia in Chinese (Liu ZK et al., 2010) and lipid responses to fenofibrate (Liu Y et al., 2009). In the present study, the *APOA5* -1131T>C polymorphism was strongly associated with baseline triglyceride levels but not the response to rosuvastatin.

The determinants of total cholesterol and non-HDL-C response to rosuvastatin were very similar to those of LDL-C response which are not surprising as the levels of these two parameters are largely determined by the LDL-C concentrations.

# 4.4.3 Limitations of the study

This study had several potential limitations which require consideration. Firstly, this study was conducted in Chinese patients, and the main findings of the present study need to be replicated in an independent cohort in other ethnic groups although the study in Caucasian patients also showed a significant association between *ABCG2* 421C>A and LDL-C on-treatment level in response to rosuvastatin. Secondly, we

selected some common and representative SNPs in those candidate gene/loci based on published data, but it is likely that some rare or unexamined variants also play a role in LDL-C response but we cannot identify those. Thirdly, we have not examined the effect of polymorphisms on the response to other statins or to different doses of statins, which may be important (Voora D et al., 2008). Fourthly, only a small proportion of the variation in LDL-C response could be explained by these SNPs, suggesting that other genetic and lifestyle factors may also be important in determining the response to statins. We attempted to reduce the variation due to poor adherence to therapy by only including the efficacy data from subjects reporting good adherence to treatment. Lastly, changes in LDL-C may be predictive of clinical outcomes, but it would also be important to examine the impact of these polymorphisms on cardiovascular events. Furthermore, increased systemic exporesure to rosuvastatin in patients with ABCG2 421AA genotype might be associated with increased risk of side effects of rosuvastatin e.g. rhabdomyolysis and hepatitis, but we were not able to examine this in the present study as no patients experienced rhabdomyolysis or hepatitis, which is probably due to the small dose used in the study. However, there was no significant difference in changes in liver enzymes and creatine kinase in response to rosuvastatin treatment among ABCG2 421C>A genotype groups.

### 4.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, this study is the first to identify the *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism to be associated with an increased LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in Chinese subjects. The greater percent reduction in LDL-C in patients with the 421AA genotype compared to those with the 421CC genotype was equivalent to at least doubling the dose of rosuvastatin. This finding confirms the previous observations in the
pharmacokinetic studies and provides importance evidence for genetic factors influencing statin response. Several other polymorphisms, in particular *FMO3* V257M, *LPL* 1421C>G and *APOE/C1/C4/C2* rs4420638, also tended to influence the LDL-C response to rosuvatatin, which need to be replicated in other populations. In this study, patients with FH had a smaller percentage reduction in LDL-C than patients without FH suggesting patients with impaired LDLR function due to genetic defects may have a reduced LDL-C response to statin treatment compared to those with normal LDLR function, but this effect was much smaller than the impact of the *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism or other genetic factors on the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin after adjustment for genetic confounding factors.

Chapter 5 Abdominal obesity and *CRP* polymorphisms predict high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels in Chinese patients on treatment with rosuvastatin

# **5.1 Introduction**

Low-grade inflammation plays a pivotal role in the formation and activation of atherosclerotic plaques (Libby P and Ridker PM, 2004, Ross R, 1999). C-reactive protein (CRP), the classic acute-phase response protein, is the most extensively studied systemic marker of inflammation which is produced primarily by hepatocytes and its synthesis is regulated at the transcription level by various cytokines, including interleukin (IL)-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  (Reiner AP et al., 2008) (Casas JP et al., 2008). The cytokine IL-6, derived in part from adipose tissue as well as vascular tissue, is a potent regulator of a number of acute phase genes in the liver and is the key cytokine responsible for the stimulus of synthesis and secretion of CRP (Schuett H et al., 2009).

Multiple population-based prospective studies have reported associations of slightly elevated circulating CRP levels from 2 to 3 mg/L and above (<10mg/L) with various cardiovascular endpoints as well as with high-risk vascular phenotypes such as high blood pressure, higher body mass index (BMI) and levels of abdominal obesity, smoking, diabetes and other metabolic risk factors (Danesh J et al., 2007, Danesh J et al., 2004, Lakoski SG et al., 2005b, Sakkinen P et al., 2002, Ye X et al., 2007). Although numerous effects have been demonstrated in mechanistic studies, neither the normal functions of human CRP nor its role in disease states have been fully determined (Casas JP et al., 2008, Nordestgaard BG, 2009). It has been questioned

whether CRP is a causal risk factor of coronary heart disease (CHD) or just a marker of established cardiovascular risk factors with which it is associated or whether atherosclerosis causes the increases in CRP. However, recent Mendelian randomization studies have shown that the systemic CRP level is unlikely to be a causal factor for development of ischaemic vascular disease (Elliott P et al., 2009, Zacho J et al., 2008). In contrast to traditional less sensitive methods for the detection of CRP, high-sensitivity CRP (hsCRP) assays can measure the typically low concentrations of CRP that circulate in the absence of acute disease.

Baseline hsCRP concentrations are widely distributed and genetic factors could explain about as much as 50% of the variance of baseline hsCRP concentrations, which is largely attributable to noncoding polymorphisms in the *CRP* gene (Casas JP et al., 2008, Shen J and Ordovas JM, 2009). More recently, genome-wide association studies (GWASs) have identified several other loci associated with circulating hsCRP levels, in particular genes related to the metabolic syndrome, such as the leptin receptor (*LEPR*) and hepatic nuclear factor 1-alpha (*HNF1A*) (Table 5-1) (Elliott P et al., 2009, Reiner AP et al., 2008, Ridker PM et al., 2008b). Moreover, multiple environmental factors including age, gender, obesity, ethnicity, socioeconomic status and lifestyle factors are also associated with hsCRP levels (Greenfield JR et al., 2004, Kelley-Hedgepeth A et al., 2008, Khera A et al., 2005, Ridker PM et al., 2003, Ye X et al., 2007) and a previous twins study has demonstrated that baseline CRP levels were strongly related to obesity, blood pressure and lipid levels independent of genetic influences (Greenfield JR et al., 2004).

Participants	Stage I (GWAS)	Stage II (Replication)	Loci identified associated with CRP	Reference
	<b>(n)</b>	<b>(n)</b>		
WGHS	4418	1927	APOE, CRP, GCKR, LEPR,	(Ridker PM et
			HNF1A, IL6R	al., 2008b)
LOLIPOP, NFBC,	17967	13615	APOE-APOC cluster, CRP,	(Elliott P et al.,
CoLaus, GEMS, DESIR			LEPR, HNF1A, IL6R	2009)
CAD - ADDINGE	1000	2020	ADOR ODD IDICIA	(Reiner AP et
CAP and PRINCE	1980	2930	APOE, CKP, HNFIA	al., 2008)

Table 5-1. Loci associated with plasma hsCRP levels in genome-wide association studies

**Genes:** APOE = Apolipoprotein E; APOE-APOC = Apolipoprotein E-Apolipoprotein C; CRP = C-reactive protein; HNFIA = hepatic nuclear factor 1-alpha; IL6R = Interleukin 6 receptor; LEPR = leptin receptor.

**Studies:** CAP = the Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis Pharmacogenetics; CoLaus = the Lausanne Cohort; DESIR = the Data from an Epidemiological Study on the Insulin Resistance syndrome study; GEMS = the Genetic Epidemiology of Metabolic Syndrome study; LOLIPOP = the London Life Sciences Population study; NFBC = the 1966 Northern Finnish Birth Cohort; PRINCE = the Pravastatin Inflammation/CRP Evaluation; WGHS = Women's Genome Health Study.

Statin therapy reduces hsCRP levels in a wide range of populations and the recent JUPITER (Justification for the Use of statins in Primary prevention: an Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin) study in apparently healthy persons without hyperlipidaemia but with elevated hsCRP levels has demonstrated that rosuvastatin 20 mg daily reduced the median LDL-C by 50% and hsCRP by 37% and was accompanied by a 44% relative risk reduction in combined major cardiovascular events although the overall incidence of the composite primary end point was only 2.8% in the placebo arm with an absolute risk reduction of 1.2%, and the incidence of hard cardiovascular end points was only 1.8% with an absolute risk reduction of 0.9% (Table 5-2) (Ridker PM et al., 2008a, Ridker PM et al., 2009). This study has

also shown that the LDL-C and hsCRP reductions were only weakly correlated in individual patients, suggesting that a reduction in hsCRP levels after statin treatment is unlikely to be secondary to the reduced LDL-C levels.

So far, a very few studies have examined the determinants of hsCRP on-treatment levels with statins (Liem AH et al., 2008, Ray KK et al., 2005). The Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy – Thrombolysis In Myocardial Infarction 22 (PROVE IT-TIMI 22) study has shown that hsCRP on-treatment levels varied considerably and were associated with multiple cardiovascular risk factors even among patients receiving intensive statin therapy (Ray KK et al., 2005). Another recent study has also suggested that in patients with longstanding intensive statin therapy with known cardiovascular disease, CRP levels are still associated with the components of metabolic syndrome, with waist circumference (WC), fasting glucose level and smoking being the most important determinants of CRP levels (Liem AH et al., 2008). The effects of genetic factors on hsCRP on-treatment levels with statin have not been reported, but polymorphisms in *CRP* have been shown to modulate the hsCRP response to fenofibrate therapy in patients with metabolic syndrome with alleles associated with higher baseline hsCRP levels being associated with a smaller reduction in hsCRP with fenofibrate (Shen J et al., 2008).

We examined whether rosuvastatin treatment might alter the previously reported relationships between genetic and environmental factors and hsCRP in study patients.

	Placebo	Rosuvastatin			
Baseline	(1-7922)	hsCRP ≥2 mg/L		hsCRP <2 mg/L	
	(N = 7832)	(N=4	(305)	(N=3411)	
Age (years)	66 (60-71)	66 (6	1-71)	66 (6	0-71)
Women	2957 (37.8)	1798	(41.8)	1149	(33.7)
Current smoking	1231 (15.7)	740 (	17.2)	452 (	(13.3)
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28.4 (25.3-32.0)	29.0 (25	.7-33.0)	27.7 (24	.9-30.9)
SBP (mm Hg)	134 (124-145)	135 (12	25-146)	134 (12	23-145)
DBP (mm Hg)	80 (75-87)	80 (7	5-88)	80 (7	5-87)
Family history of CD	936 (12.0)	473 (	11.0)	421 (	(12.4)
Metabolic syndrome	3274 (42.1)	1859	(43.5)	1279	(37.8)
hsCRP (mg/L)	4.3 (2.8-7.1)	5.4 (3	.6-8.6)	3.2 (2	.4-4.7)
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.8 (2.4-3.1)	2.8 (2.	.4-3.1)	2.8 (2	.5-3.1)
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.3 (1.0-1.6)	1.3 (1	.0-1.5)	1.3 (1	.1-1.6)
TG (mmol/L)	1.33 (0.97-1.91)	1.36 (0.9	99-1.92)	1.30 (0.	93-1.88)
Glucose (mmol/L)	5.22 (4.88-5.66)	5.22 (4.	83-5.66)	5.22 (4.88-5.66)	
	Placebo	Rosuvastatin			
Outcomes	(N=7832)	hsCRP	hsCRP ≥2 mg/L		<2 mg/L
		(N=4305)		(N=3	3411)
Events	189	72		31	
Event rate	1.11	0.	77	0.42	
HR* (95%CI)	1	0.68 (0.	51-0.89)	0.36 (0.24-0.54)	
	Placebo	hsCRP	≥2 mg/L	hsCRP <2 mg/L	
Outcomes		LDL-C≥1.8	LDL-C<1.8	LDL-C≥1.8	LDL-C<1.8
	(N=7832)	(N=1384)	(N=2921)	(N=726)	(N=2685)
Events	189	31	41	8	23
Event rate	1.11	1.11	0.62	0.54	0.38
HR*	1	1.06	0.53	0.42	0.35
(95%CI)		(0.72-1.55)	(0.38-0.74)	(0.18-0.94)	(0.23-0.54)
	Placebo	hsCRP ≥1 mg/L		hsCRP	<1 mg/L
Outcomes	()1 (2022)	LDL-C>1.8	LDL-C<1.8	LDL-C≥1.8	LDL-C<1.8
	(N=7832)	(N=1874)	(N=4662)	(N=236)	(N=944)
Events	189	36	59	3	5
Event rate	1.11	0.95	0.56	0.64	0.24
HR*	1	0.89	0.49	0.46	0.21
(95%CI)		(0.62-1.28)	(0.37-0.66)	(0.11-1.85)	(0.09-0.51)

 Table 5-2. Baseline clinical characteristics and hazard ratios for incident

 cardiovascular events in JUPITER study participants

Baseline characteristics are expressed as median (IQR) or number (%).

\*HR controlled for age, baseline LDL-C, baseline hsCRP, baseline HDL-C, blood pressure, sex, body-mass index, smoking status, and parental history of premature CHD.

BMI = Body-mass index; CD = coronary disease; CI = confidence interval; DBP = Diastolic blood pressure; HDL-C high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HR = hazard ratios; hsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; LDL-C = low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP = Systolic blood pressure; TG = triglycerides.

# 5.2 Subjects and methods

#### 5.2.1 Subjects

This analysis was performed in patients with hypercholesterolaemia who were treated with rosuvastatin for at least 4 weeks (more than 97% of patients had at least 6 weeks treatment with rosuvastatin) with good drug compliance and with on-treatment plasma samples available for hsCRP measurement. This analysis did not include those subjects with rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Anthropometric measurements and routine blood tests were performed as described in Chapter 3.

#### 5.2.2 High-sensitive C-reactive protein measurement

The plasma hsCRP on-treatment concentration was determined by an immunonephelometric method (Siemens Dade Behring CardioPhase hsCRP assay) on Siemens BN ProSpec® System. The calibration of the assay was traceable to Certified Reference Material 470. The detection limit was 0.175 mg/L, and the measurement range was 0.175 –9.35 mg/L and at higher levels the plasma sample was diluted and remeasured automatically. The inter-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were 2.5, 3.8 and 2.1% at hsCRP concentrations of 0.5, 1.3 and 2.1 mg/L, respectively. The performance of this assay was monitored with commercial controls at different hsCRP levels (Siemens Dade Behring Apolipoprotien Control Serum CHD, N/T Rheumatology Controls SL/1 and SL2). To minimize the variation of the

assay, all hsCRP measurements were performed with the same batch of reagent and within the same calibration. As turbidity and particles in the sample may interfere with the determination of hsCRP, all frozen samples were thawed once and centrifuged prior to testing. Lipaemic or turbid samples were clarified by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 15000 rpm before analysis. The lipid and laboratory safety parameters were measured by routine methods.

#### 5.2.3 Single nucleotide polymorphism selection and genotyping

A total of 135 polymorphisms were genotyped in this study as described in Chapter 3. For the purposes of this focused analysis, we have selected 9 SNPs in 5 genes/loci thought to be related to CRP from recent GWA studies, including two SNPs in *CRP* (3872G>A [rs1205], 5237A>G [rs2808630]), the Ile27Leu (rs1169288) and Ala98Val (rs1800574) in *HNF1A*, Cys112Arg (rs429358, 334T>C) and Cys158Arg (rs7412, 472C>T) in *APOE*, rs4420638 in *APOE-CI-CII* cluster, Lys109Arg (rs1137100) and Gln223Arg (rs1137101) in *LEPR*. (Elliott P et al., 2009, Ridker PM et al., 2008b). In addition, 6 common polymorphisms in genes potentially related to the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin (*CYP2C9 \*3* [1075 A>C, rs1057910]; *CYP2C19 \*2* [681G>A, rs4244285] and \*3 [636G>A, rs4986893]; *ABCG2* 421C>A [rs2231142]; *SLCO1B1* 388A>G [rs2306283] and 521T>C [rs4149056]) were also selected to examine whether these variants might affect the hsCRP levels by altering the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in this group of patients.

Genotyping were performed in the Genome Research Centre, University of Hong Kong using the mass-spectroscopy based, high-throughput MassARRAY iPLEXTM platform (Sequenom, San Diego, CA) as described in Chapter 3. The genotyping for detection of the *CYP2C9* \*3 polymorphism was performed with the Taqman Drug

Metabolism Genotyping Assay (C\_27104892\_10) from Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA, USA) using the Applied Biosystems PCR System 9700 system. All SNPs genotyped were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ( $\chi^2$  test P>0.05). No variant allele was found in the Ala98Val in *HNF1A*, therefore this SNP was excluded from the analysis.

## 5.2.4 Statistical analysis

Subjects with hsCRP levels greater than 10 mg/L were excluded from the analysis (Nordestgaard BG, 2009) and for those with hsCRP levels below the limit of detection, the value of 0.1 mg/L was assigned. hsCRP levels were log-transformed for analysis to fulfill the model assumption of residual normality. Univariate and multivariate regression analysis were performed to identify the clinical covariates associated with log-hsCRP. Clinical covariates examined in the study included age, gender, body mass index (BMI), percentage of total body fat, WC, waist to hip ratio (WHR), smoking status, history of cardiovascular event or CHD, diabetes, hypertension, FH, HDL-C, LDL-C, triglycerides and concomitant medications. Variables with P<0.05 were allowed to be retained in the stepwise-selection models. The effects of 14 SNPs on log-hsCRP were analyzed separately in an exploratory analysis with adjustment for clinical variables, and only those genetic variables with significant effects on hsCRP (P<0.05) were selected in the stepwise-selection models. Multivariate linear regression analysis was used to determine contributions of the environmental factors and genetic factors to the variance of log-hsCPR. Associations between genetic polymorphism and log-hsCRP were assessed by analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) followed by a post-hoc test with the Bonferroni test after correction for the effect of clinical variables and other genetic variables. Finally, multivariate logistic regression analysis was performed to examine covariates

associated with having a high relative risk of hsCRP  $\geq 2.0$  mg/L. To adjust for multiple testing, we calculated an experiment-wide significance level using the conservative method of Bonferroni (0.05/14 = 0.0036), and only those polymorphisms with a probability value below this level were considered to be statistical significant. Data were analyzed with SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

#### **5.3 Results**

#### 5.3.1 Clinical characteristics of participants

Clinical characteristics of 281 subjects with good compliance to rosuvastatin and having hsCRP less than 10 mg/L were shown in Table 5-3. The median age was 57 years and about 50% of the study participants were male. The median hsCRP level was 0.811 mg/L (Interquartile range, 0.46 - 1.86 mg/L) including 13 subjects with hsCRP levels less than the limit of detection. About half of the subjects had familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH) or hypertension, and one-quarter of them had diabetes, and most of these patients were receiving treatment for these comorbidities. Only 12.8% of subjects were current smokers and 17.1% of the participants had a history of cardiovascular disease (CVD).

The demographic data for subjects with hsCRP values below and above the median value of 0.811 mg/L were shown in Table 5-4. Patients with lower hsCRP levels were less obese and had lower levels of fasting glucose, diastolic blood pressure, triglycerides but higher HDL-C and had a relatively lower prevalence of diabetes and hypertension compared to those with hsCRP values above the median. There were no differences in age or LDL-C levels between the two groups. The proportion of FH patients was lower in subjects with hsCRP values below the median than those above.

In addition, for those subjects with extremely low hsCRP level (< 0.146 mg/L), although the number was small, most of these had FH and they were younger compared to the rest with hsCRP greater than 0.146 mg/L (Table 5-5).

Characteristics	Total	Male	Female	Р
	(n=281)	(n=137)	(n=144)	
Age, years	57 (49-64)	55 (48-64)	58 (50-65)	0.077
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	24.9 (22.7, 27.1)	25.2 (23.3, 27.0)	24.5 (22.0, 27.2)	0.130 †
WC, cm	86.0 (79.0, 93.8)	89.0 (83.2, 99.0)	83.5 (76.3, 90.5)	
WHR	0.89 (0.84, 0.94)	0.91 (0.87, 0.97)	0.87 (0.81, 0.92)	<0.001
Body fat, %	28.7 (23.6, 35.3)	24.5 (21.7, 28.4)	34.2 (29.2, 39.4)	<0.001 *
SBP, mmHg	123 (113, 135)	123 (114, 135)	123 (110, 134)	0.3
DBP, mmHg	75 (66, 82)	78 (72, 86)	71 (63, 80)	< 0.001
Pulse, beats/minute	69 (63, 77)	70 (63, 76)	68 (62, 77)	0.566 *
FH	144 (51.2)	64 (46.7)	80 (55.6)	0.153
Diabetes	71 (25.2)	38 (27.7)	33 (22.9)	0.41
Hypertension	151 (53.7)	77 (56.2)	74 (52.1)	0.473
History of CVD	48 (17.1)	30 (21.9)	18 (12.5)	0.04
Current smoker	36 (12.8)	32 (23.4)	4 (2.8)	< 0.001
hsCRP, mg/L	0.81 (0.46, 1.86)	0.81 (0.48, 1.76)	0.83 (0.40, 1.87)	0.909 *
LDL-C, mmol/L	2.4 (1.9, 3.3)	2.4 (1.8, 3.3)	2.4 (1.9, 3.2)	0.815*
HDL-C, mmol/L	1.5 (1.24, 1.76)	1.33 (1.20, 1.55)	1.6 (1.38, 1.98)	<0.001*
TG, mmol/L	1.34 (0.92, 1.88)	1.40 (0.98, 1.99)	1.20 (0.90, 1.79)	0.067*
TC, mmol/L	4.7 (4.0, 5.45)	4.6 (3.8, 5.55)	4.85 (4.2, 5.4)	0.092 †
Glucose, mmol/L	5.4 (4.9, 6.3)	5.4 (4.9, 6.5)	5.4 (4.95, 6.3)	0.803 *
Concomitant medications				
Antihypertensive &				
antiarrhythmic drugs	151 (53.7)	80 (58.4)	71 (49.3)	0.151
Anti-diabetic drugs	41 (14.6)	21 (15.3)	20 (13.9)	0.739
Aspirin	41 (14.6)	28 (20.4)	13 (9.0)	0.011
NSAIDs	21 (7.5)	6 (4.4)	15 (10.4)	0.069

Table 5-3. Clinical characteristics in subjects with hsCRP < 10 mg/L

Data were expressed as median (interquartile range) or n (%) and compared by t-test or  $\chi^2$ -test for continuous variable or categorical variable unless otherwise indicated;

\* Data were logarithmically (base 10) transformed for comparison;

<sup>†</sup> Data were compared by Mann-Whitney U test.

Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; CVD = cardiovascular disease; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; hsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; NSAIDs = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; SBP = systolic blood pressure; TC = total cholesterol; TG = triglycerides; WC = waist circumference; WHR = waist to hip ratio.

Characteristics	≤ 0.811	> 0.811	Р
	(n=140)	(n=141)	
Age, years	57 (49, 65)	56 (49,64)	0.749
Male	69 (49.3)	68 (48.2)	0.859
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.7 (21.7, 25.8)	26.1 (24.0, 28.9)	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
WC, cm	83.0 (76.9, 89.4)	90.0 (83.8, 99.6)	< 0.001
WHR	0.88 (0.83, 0.92)	0.90 (0.85, 0.97)	<0.001
Body fat, %	26.2 (22.3, 31.4)	32.3 (26.3, 37.6)	< 0.001
SBP, mmHg	120 (109, 134)	124 (114, 135)	0.152
DBP, mmHg	73 (66, 81)	76 (67, 85)	0.028 <sup>†</sup>
Pulse, beats/minute	68 (62, 76)	70 (63, 79)	0.142
FH	80 (57.1)	64 (45.4)	0.049
Diabetes	20 (14.3)	51 (36.2)	< 0.001
Hypertension	60 (42.9)	91 (64.5)	< 0.001
History of CVD	18 (12.9)	30 (21.3)	0.061
Current smoker	14 (10)	22 (15.6)	0.160
hsCRP, mg/L	0.46 (0.28, 0.58)	1.86 (1.08, 2.78)	< 0.001
LDL-C, mmol/L	2.55 (1.9, 3.3)	2.3 (1.8, 3.2)	0.185 <sup>†</sup>
HDL-C, mmol/L	1.58 (1.30, 1.89)	1.39 (1.15, 1.6)	<0.001*
Triglycerides, mmol/L	1.1 (0.8, 1.53)	1.6 (1.12, 2.1)	<0.001*
TC, mmol/L	4.8 (4.1, 5.58)	4.6 (3.9, 5.4)	0.457
Glucose, mmol/L	5.2 (4.8, 5.8)	5.7 (5.1, 6.7)	<0.001 <sup>†</sup>
Concomitant medications,			
Antihypertensive &			
antiarrhythmic drugs	65 (46.4)	86 (61.0)	0.014
Anti-diabetic drugs	14 (10)	27 (19.1)	0.03
Aspirin	13 (9.3)	28 (19.9)	0.012
NSAIDs	11 (7.9)	10 (7.1)	0.807

Table 5-4. Clinical characteristics in subjects with hsCRP  $\leq$  0.811 mg/L and > 0.811 mg/L

Data were expressed as median (interquartile range) or n (%) and compared by t-test or

 $\chi^2$ -test for continuous variable or categorical variable unless otherwise indicated;

\* Data were logarithmically (base 10) transformed for comparison;

<sup>†</sup> Data were compared by Mann-Whitney U test.

Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; CVD = cardiovascular disease; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; FH = familial hypercholesterolemia; hsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; NSAIDs = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; SBP = systolic blood pressure; TC = total cholesterol; WC = waist circumference; WHR = waist to hip ratio.

Characteristics	< 0.146	≥ 0.146	Р
	(n=13)	( <b>n=268</b> )	
Age, years	45 (35-53)	57 (50-65)	0.001
Male,	9 (69.2)	128 (47.8)	0.130
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	21.8 (20.7, 23.8)	25.2 (22.9, 27.2)	<0.001 <sup>†</sup>
WC, cm	79.0 (74.6, 84.6)	86.5 (80.5, 94.8)	0.001
WHR	0.84 (0.81, 0.91)	0.89 (0.84, 0.95)	0.052
Body fat, %	23.0 (20.6, 29.0)	28.9 (23.8, 35.6)	0.048
SBP, mmHg	115 (98, 118)	123 (113, 135)	0.009
DBP, mmHg	74 (65, 81)	75 (66, 83)	0.028 <sup>†</sup>
Pulse, beats/minute	67.5 (62.8, 73.5)	69 (63, 77)	0.671
FH,	10 (76.9)	134 (50.0)	0.058
Diabetes,	0 (0)	71 (26.5)	0.043
Hypertension,	1 (7.7)	150 (56.0)	0.01
History of CVA/CHD,	1 (7.7)	47 (17.5)	0.704
Current smoker,	2 (15.4)	34 (12.7)	0.676
LDL-C, mmol/L	2.8 (2.4, 3.6)	2.4 (1.8, 3.2)	0.09*
HDL-C, mmol/L	1.80 (1.32, 2.02)	1.48 (1.23, 1.7)	<0.001 <sup>†</sup>
Triglycerides, mmol/L	0.90 (0.64, 1.3)	1.37 (0.98, 1.9)	0.003*
TC, mmol/L	5.20 (4.25, 5.85)	4.7 (4.0, 5.4)	0.187*
Glucose, mmol/L	5.0 (4.6, 5.3)	5.4 (4.9, 6.4)	< 0.001 <sup>†</sup>
Concomitant medications,			
Antihypertensive &			
antiarrhythmic drugs	1 (7.7)	150 (56.0)	0.001
Antidiabetic drugs	0 (0)	41 (15.3)	0.227
Aspirin	0 (0)	41 (15.3)	0.227
NSAIDs	1 (7.7)	20 (7.5)	1.000

Table 5-5. Clinical characteristics in subjects with hsCRP < 0.146 mg/L and  $\geq$  0.146 mg/L

Data were expressed as median (interquartile range) or n (%) and compared by t-test or

 $\chi^2$ -test for continuous variable or categorical variable unless otherwise indicated;

\* Data were logarithmically (base 10) transformed for comparison;

<sup>†</sup> Data were compared by Mann-Whitney U test.

Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; CVD = cardiovascular disease; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; hsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; NSAIDs = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; SBP = systolic blood pressure; <math>TC = total cholesterol; WC = waist circumference; WHR = waist-hip ratio.

#### 5.3.2 Associations of environmental factors with hsCRP

#### 5.3.2.1 Age and gender

In univariate analysis, age and gender did not seem to be associated with hsCRP levels (Figure 5-1).



Figure 5-1. hsCRP distribution in different age groups in males and women

# 5.3.2.2. Body mass index, waist circumference and percentage body fat

In univariate analysis, WC (r = 0.437,  $P < 5 \times 10^{-14}$ ), BMI (r = 0.422,  $P < 4 \times 10^{+13}$ ), WHR (r = 0.328,  $P < 4 \times 10^{-8}$ ) and percentage body fat (r = 0.346,  $P < 2 \times 10^{-7}$ ) were significantly associated with log-hsCRP levels, respectively, but the associations of BMI, WHR and percentage body fat with hsCRP were not significant after adjustment for WC, although patients with both high BMI and WC values had the highest hsCRP concentrations (Figure 5-2).

Figure 5-2. Median hsCRP by strata of body mass index and waist circumference



Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; T = tertile; WC = waist circumference.

The associations of log-hsCRP with BMI, WC and WHR were similar in both males and females (Figure 5-3, 5-4, 5-5). However, the relationship between log-hsCRP and the percentage body fat was more significant in females than males (Figure 5-6).

Figure 5-3. Spearman's correlations between log-hsCRP and body mass index (BMI) in males and females



Figure 5-4. Spearman's correlations between log-hsCRP and waist circumference (WC) in males and females



Figure 5-5. Pearson's correlations between log-hsCRP and waist to hip ratio (WHR) in males and females



Figure 5-6. Spearman's correlations between log-hsCRP and percentage body fat in males and females



#### 5.3.2.3 Lipids and familial hypercholesterolaemia

Low HDL-C and high triglyceride levels were associated with elevated hsCRP concentrations. There was no significant association between LDL-C or total cholesterol with log-hsCRP. Patients with FH tended to have a lower level of hsCRP compared to non-FH, but after adjustment for other confounding factors there was no difference in hsCRP levels between these subgroups.

#### 5.3.2.4 Fasting plasma glucose and diabetes

Fasting plasma glucose was also strongly associated with log-hsCRP levels and patients with diabetes had higher levels of hsCRP than those without.

#### 5.3.2.5 Blood pressure and hypertension

Systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure were weakly associated with log-hsCRP (r = 0.147, P = 0.015 and r = 0.126, P = 0.037, respectively) and patients with hypertension had higher hsCRP levels compared to those without.

## 5.3.2.6 History of cardiovascular disease and smoking

There was no significant difference in hsCRP levels in patients with a history of CVD or smoking compared to those without.

#### **5.3.2.7** Concomitant medications

Apart from rosuvastatin, patients were also treated with various other medications for their comorbidities, particularly antihypertensive and antidiabetic drugs (Table 5-6).

Concomitant medications	n (%)
Antihypertensive & antiarrhythmic drugs	151 (53.7)
ACEI	64 (22.8)
ARB	16 (5.7)
α-blocker, n (%)	20 (7.1)
β-blocker, n (%)	78 (27.8)
CCB, n (%)	74 (26.3)
Diuretics, n (%)	50 (17.8)
HTCZ diuretics, n (%)	31 (11.1)
Nitrate, n (%)	11 (3.9)
Antidiabetic drugs, n (%)	41 (14.6)
Metformin, n (%)	35 (12.5)
Sulfonylureas, n (%)	27 (9.6)
Aspirin, n (%)	41 (14.6)
NSAIDs, n (%)	21 (7.5)
Clopidogrel, n (%)	5 (1.8)
Warfarin, n (%)	3 (1.1)

Table 5-6. Concomitant medications in subjects involved in the analysis

Abbreviations: ACEI = angiotensin converting enzymeinhibitors; ARBs = angiotensin receptor blockers; CCBs = calcium channel blockers; HTCZ = hydrochlorothiazide; NSAIDs = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.

Patients receiving concomitant medications for diabetes and hypertension tended to have higher hsCRP levels, particularly for  $\beta$ -blockers (Figure 5-7). Taking aspirin or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) did not significantly influence the hsCRP levels.

# Figure 5-7. Geometric mean hsCRP levels in patients with or without concomitant medications



#### 5.3.2.8 Multivariate analysis of environmental factors

Multivariate analysis showed that log-hsCRP levels were strongly correlated with WC ( $P<1\times10^{-6}$ ) and moderately correlated with triglycerides and inversely correlated with HDL-C (P<0.05). Having diabetes and female gender were also associated with increased hsCRP levels after adjustment for other variables (P<0.05) (Table 5-7). Other environmental factors were not associated with hsCRP levels after adjustment for these confounding factors.

#### 5.3.3 Associations of genetic factors with hsCRP

Among all the SNPs examined in the analysis, three SNPs were found to be independently associated with log-hsCRP levels, including rs1169288 in HNF1A (P<0.003); rs1205 (P<1×10<sup>-6</sup>) and rs2808630 (P=0.0004) in *CRP* before and after adjustment for other confounding factors. The association between log-hsCRP and

rs1169288 in HNF1A were only observed in females but not in males (Table 5-7).

	A	LL	N	lale	Fei	male
-	Beta	P value	Beta	P value	Beta	P value
Age	0.048	0.375	0.038	0.623	0.091	0.241
Gender	-0.215	0.0002				
BMI	0.12	0.268	-0.046	0.767	0.239	0.123
WC	0.313	8.6×10 <sup>-7</sup>	0.352	1.2 ×10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.365	4×10 <sup>-6</sup>
LDL-C	-0.02	0.716	0.024	0.75	-0.093	0.2
HDL-C	-0.197	0.001	-0.218	0.0004	-0.218	0.005
TG	0.122	0.048	0.155	0.065	0.106	0.233
FH	0.035	0.527	-0.017	0.832	0.019	0.799
Hypertension	0.014	0.807	0.099	0.215	-0.009	0.909
Diabetes	0.109	0.045	0.081	0.293	0.122	0.114
History of CVD	-0.001	0.981	0.017	0.814	-0.026	0.722
Current Smoker	0.025	0.64	0.017	0.817	0.012	0.872
Anti-hypertensive drugs	-0.022	0.695	0.134	0.089	-0.135	0.088
Anti-diabetes drugs	-0.097	0.192	0.074	0.313	-0.02	0.795
Aspirins	0.043	0.411	0.072	0.322	-0.005	0.947
NSAIDs	0.007	0.886	0.035	0.636	-0.011	0.885
CRP rs1205	-0.301	6.4×10 <sup>-7</sup>	-0.364	2.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.227	0.008
CRP rs2808630	-0.212	0.0004	-0.169	0.043	-0.273	0.002
HNF1A rs1169288	-0.156	0.0029	-0.066	0.364	-0.194	0.009

Table 5-7. Multivariate model of predictors of log-hsCRP

Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; CVD = cardiovascular disease; FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; HNF1A = Hepatic nuclear factor 1-alpha; hsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; NSAIDs = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; TG = triglycerides; WC = waist circumference.

Subjects with one or two copies of variant alleles of rs1205, rs2808630 in *CRP* and rs1169288 in *HNF1A* had reduced hsCRP levels compared to those with wild-type alleles (Table **5-8**, Figure **5-8**). hsCRP levels differed across 6 diplotypes of rs1205 and rs2808630 in *CRP* ( $P<4 \times 10^{-5}$ ). Subjects with wild-type alleles (GG/AA) had

high CRP levels, whereas individuals with 2 mutated alleles had reduced CRP levels with carriers of 1 mutated allele having intermediate levels (Table 5-8, Figure 5-8). These associations were statistically significant after correction for multiple testing. None of the polymorphisms in genes potentially related to the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin was found to be associated with hsCRP levels.

Variant		Geometric CRP levels	Overall
у агіад(	N	(95%CI)	P value
CRP rs1205			
GG	49	1.374 (1.079, 1.746)	
GA	135	0.893 (0.780, 1.026)	4.7×10 <sup>-6</sup>
AA	75	0.585 (0.480, 0.714)	
CRP rs2808630			
AA	174	0.984 (0.869, 1.117)	0.0007
AG+GG	85	0.646 (0.533, 0.782)	
CRP rs1205 + rs2808630			
GGAA	15	1.611 (1.064, 2.438)	
GGAG	23	1.194 (0.859, 1.660)	
GAAA	84	1.028 (0.863, 1.225)	3.6×10 <sup>-5</sup>
GAAG	52	0.689 (0.553, 0.859)	
AAAA	75	0.673 (0.561, 0.807)	
GGGG	10	0.659 (0.401, 1.084)	
HNF1A rs1169288			
AA	103	0.966 (0.826, 1.130)	
AC	107	0.893 (0.767, 1.042)	0.004
CC	49	0.611 (0.486, 0.766)	

Table 5-8. Geometric mean hsCRP levels among genotype groups

Data were expressed as geometric mean and 95% CI after adjustment for multiple genetic and environmental variables.

Abbreviations: CI = confidence interval; CRP = C-reactive protein; HNF1 $\alpha$  = Hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 alpha.

Genotypes	No.of subjects	Geometric mean ± 95%CI	% change in hsCRP	P
HNF1A 127L, 1311692	8			0.004
I	103		0	
C.	107		-8	
LL	49	,	-37	
CRP 3872G>A, rs1205				<5×104
GG	49		0	
GA	135		-35	
AA	75		-57	
CRP 5237A>G. rd808	630	81 — 82		0.0007
AA	174	<b></b>	O	
AG+CG	85	<b>⊢</b> •−1	.34	
CRP genotype combin	ation			<4 x 10 <sup>6</sup>
GG AA	15	<b>}</b>	i 0	2.75.42.7
GG AG	23	j	-26	
GA AA	84	<u></u>	-36	
GG AA	10	<b>⊢</b> •−-1	.\$7	
GA AG	52	<b>⊢</b> •−1	-56	
AA AA	75	······	-59	
	L	<u> </u>		
	0.0	05 1.0 1.5	2.0 2.5 3.0	
		Plasma hsCRP (n	ng/L)	

Figure 5-8. Association of genetic variants with hsCRP levels in multivariableadjusted model<sup>\*</sup>

\*Data were expressed as geometric mean and 95% CI after adjustment for multiple genetic and environmental variables.

Abbreviations: CI = confidence interval;  $HNF1\alpha = Hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 alpha$ ; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; SNPs = single-nucleotide polymorphisms.

5.3.4 Interactions between waist circumference, rs1205 and plasma hsCRP levels WC and the rs1205 polymorphism were the most significant factors associated with hsCRP in this study. CRP concentrations increased with increasing WC within each rs1205 genotype group. Similarly, within each WC tertile, the rs1205 variant allele was associated with reduced CRP levels in a gene-dose-dependent manner (overall  $P=8.2\times10^{-10}$ , Figure 5-9). Similar interactions were also observed in BMI, rs1205 and

plasma hsCRP levels (overall P= $2.6 \times 10^{-11}$ , Figure 5-10). The relationships remained in men and women separately. In addition, there was no difference in WC among rs1205 genotype groups, suggesting that there was no relationship between abdominal obesity and rs1205.

Figure 5-9. Plasma hsCRP levels by strata of *CRP* rs1205 genotype and waist circumference



Abbreviations: CRP = C-reactive protein; T = tertile; WC = waist circumference.





Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; CRP = C-reactive protein; T = tertile.

# 5.3.5 Contributions of genetic and environmental factors to the variance of on-treatment hsCRP concentrations

These genetic and environmental factors explained totally 35.5% of the variance in hsCRP levels. WC explained the largest proportion of the variance in hsCRP concentrations (19.1%), followed by HDL-C (3.7%). The 3 genetic variables together explained 8.5% of the variance. Having diabetes and the levels of triglycerides each contributed only 1.0%, and 0.8% of the variance, respectively. Including BMI or percentage body fat in the multivariate model neither explained a higher proportion of variance in hsCRP nor changed the associations between genetic factors and hsCRP.

#### 5.3.6 Multivariate odds ratios of predictors of having hsCRP level of $\geq 2 \text{ mg/L}$

Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that the variants of rs1205 and rs2808630 were inversely associated with the relatively high-risk hsCRP levels. Female gender, higher WC and lower HDL-C levels were also predictors for patients having an hsCRP level of  $\geq 2$  mg/L. Smoking, having FH and diabetes also tended to increase the risk of having an hsCRP level of  $\geq 2$  mg/L of  $\geq 2$  mg/L. Similar predictors were observed when using 1mg/L as a cutoff point (data not shown).

Variables	OR	95% CI	Р
Age, years	1.006	0.970-1.044	0.734
Gender			
Male	1		
Female	2.892	1.175-7.120	0.021
BMI			
$< 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1		
$\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1.557	0.572-4.237	0.387
WC, 10 cm <sup>†</sup>	1.875	1.150-3.058	0.012
FH			
No	1		
Yes	2.371	0.839-6.699	0.103
Diabetes			
No	1		
Yes	2.105	0.656-6.757	0.211
Hypertension			
No	1		
Yes	1.047	0.220-4.971	0.954
Current smoker			
No	1		
Yes	1.724	0.567-5.243	0.337
History of CVD			
No	1		
Yes	1.016	0.266-3.884	0.982
LDL-C, mmol/L	0.828	0.529-1.298	0.411
HDL-C, $0.1 \text{ mmol/L}^{\dagger}$	0.858	0.758-0.971	0.016
TG, mmol/L	1.570	0.895-2.756	0.116
Antihypertensive drugs			
No	1		
Yes	1.180	0.254-5.480	0.832
Antidiabetic drugs			
No	1		
Yes	0.486	0.136-1.734	0.266
Aspirin			
No	1		
Yes	0.699	0.164-2.969	0.627

Table 5-9. Multivariable-adjusted odds ratios (ORs)<sup>\*</sup> of predictors of having a high-risk hsCRP concentration (≥2 mg/L)

NSAIDs			
No	1		
Yes	0.479	0.105-2.175	0.340
CRP 3872G>A, rs1205			
GG	1		
GA	0.402	0.147-1.100	0.076
AA	0.106	0.030-0.367	0.0004
CRP 5237A>G, rs2808630			
AA	1		
AG+GG	0.251	0.099-0.632	0.003
HNF1A I27L, rs1169288			
AA	1		
AC	1.000	0.442-2.261	0.999
CC	0.656	0.219-1.960	0.450

\*Multivariate logistic regression for OR and P value.

<sup>†</sup> The OR estimated for a 10 cm increase in WC or 0.1 mmol/L incresses in HDL-C of having an hsCRP level of  $\geq 2$  mg/l when controlling for other variables in the model. Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; CI: confidence interval; CVD = cardiovascular disease; FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; HNF1A = Hepatic nuclear factor 1-alpha; hsCRP = high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; NSAIDs = non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; OR = odds ratio; TG = triglycerides; WC = waist circumference.

#### **5.4 Discussion**

Plasma hsCRP concentration is a heritable trait and there is substantial evidence for the significant impact of *CRP* polymorphisms on baseline hsCRP levels. Variants and haplotypes in the *CRP* gene have been shown to be associated with circulating CRP levels in childhood and adulthood, with the strongest effects being found for average serum CRP level across the life course in a population-based prospective cohort study (1980-2001) of 1609 young Finns, which supports the assumption that genetic variants define groups with long-term difference in circulating CRP levels (Kivimaki M et al., 2007). In the present study, the variant alleles of rs1205 and rs2808630 in CRP were significantly associated with reduced hsCRP levels, which is consistent with previous findings in different populations (Kathiresan S et al., 2006, Kolz M et al., 2008, Lee CC et al., 2009, Teng MS et al., 2009) although patients in this study were on treatment with a potent statin which is known to reduce hsCRP levels. The mechanism of the associations of rs1205 and rs2808630 with hsCRP might be through their linkage disequilibrium (LD) with the functional triallelic SNP rs3091244 (Kathiresan S et al., 2006) or their own functional effects as these two SNPs are located in the 3' untranslated region (Figure 1-11) potentially affecting mRNA transcription and stability (Kolz M et al., 2008). The triallelic SNP rs3091244 is located in the promoter sequence 301 bases upstream of the CRP gene transcription start site. It has been considered to be functional as it resides within the hexameric core of transcription factor-binding elements and and the mutation alters a transcription factor-binding motif for upstream stimulating factor 1 (USF1), thus affecting the transcriptional activity of the CRP gene (Carlson CS et al., 2005). The variant alleles of T and A of this triallelic SNP rs3091244 were highly correlated with the wild type alleles of rs1205 and rs2808630 in Framingham Heart Study participants (Kathiresan S et al., 2006).

The SNP rs1205 was recently found to capture the strongest effects of 8 SNPs covering the *CRP* gene including 10kb surrounding the gene on circulating CRP levels and the haplotypes did not add to the effect on CRP levels beyond the effect of this SNP that was considered to be due to the extremely strong LD over and upstream of the *CRP* gene (Eiriksdottir G et al., 2009). The frequency of the rs1205 polymorphism varies among ethnic groups corresponding to different population levels of CRP (Table 5-10). This SNP is highly prevalent in Chinese (the variant

allele frequency of 54% in this study) and Japanese (73%) and is likely to be the major determinant of lower CRP concentrations in these populations (Kelley-Hedgepeth A et al., 2008).

Ethnic Groups	Median CRP levels * (mg/L)	Frequency of the variant allele of rs1205 <sup>†</sup>
Sub-Saharan African	3.2	0.15
Caucasians	1.5	~ 0.30
Chinese	0.7	0.54
Japanese	0.5	0.73

Table 5-10. Frequencies of rs1205 and median CRP levels by ethnicity

\*Data are from the study of Women's Health Across the Nation (Kelley-Hedgepeth A et al., 2008).

<sup>†</sup>Data are from the present study and the NCBI SNP website.

The effect of the rs1205 polymorphism in *CRP* on hsCRP on-treatment levels observed in the present study appeared to be greater than its impact on the baseline level of hsCRP with no treatment in Caucasians (12% and 23% reductions in CRP levels in subjects with 1 and 2 copies of variants respectively comparing to subjects with homozygous wild-type alleles) (Zacho J et al., 2008), but a recent study in Taiwanese showed the effect of this polymorphism on baseline hsCRP (35% and 56% reductions in CRP levels in subjects with 1 and 2 copies of variants respectively comparing to subjects with homozygous wild-type alleles) (Teng MS et al., 2009) was similar to the findings of on-treatment hsCRP levels in the present study which suggests that rosuvastatin treatment did not alter the association between this genetic factor and hsCRP levels. The *CRP* polymorphism may affect the binding of the transcriptional complex with c-Fos, STAT3, and HNF-1 $\alpha$  caused by cytokine

stimulation that induces synergistic expression of the CRP gene and thereby CRP expression. Statins were shown to inhibit cytokine-induced STAT3 activation (Arnaud C et al., 2005), which may reduce the formation of the transcriptional complex, but this effect is unlikely to be influenced directly by polymorphisms in CRP.

Hepatic nuclear factor  $1-\alpha$  (HNF1- $\alpha$ ) is a homeodomain-containing transcription factor which is known to regulate the expression of a number of liver genes, including those of the acute phase proteins such as CRP (Armendariz AD and Krauss RM, 2009). It has been shown that the human CRP promoter contained two functional HNF1A-binding sites, which is necessary but not sufficient for induction of CRP (Toniatti C et al., 1990). More recently, Nishikawa et al have demonstrated that the formation of a complex of three proteins including HNF1A is essential for cytokine-driven CRP gene expression (Nishikawa T et al., 2008). Recent GWASs have consistently demonstrated the strong association between polymorphisms in HNF1A and CRP phenotypes (Reiner AP et al., 2008, Ridker PM et al., 2008b). In the GWAS in the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS) participants, the most significant association between HNF1A haplotypes and CRP was observed in the haplotype which harbored the minor allele of I27L and S486N in HNF1A. In the present study, the common non-synonymous coding SNP I27L was associated with reduced hsCRP levels with a gender difference observed. The mechanisms behind this gender difference in the relationships between this polymorphism and hsCRP are unknown, but HNF1A also plays a role in bile acid and cholesterol homeostasis and glucose metabolism and mutations in HNF1A are also associated with one type of maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY-3) in Chinese (Ng MC et al., 1999) and in other populations (Fajans SS et al., 2001), These observations reveal a complex

interaction between metabolic and inflammatory pathways mediated by this transcription factor (Armendariz AD and Krauss RM, 2009).

Apart from the CRP gene itself and HNF1A, APOE is the other gene that was consistently related to CRP levels in the GWASs (Reiner AP et al., 2008, Ridker PM et al., 2008b). The APOE gene has been extensively investigated for its impact on plasma lipid levels and risk of CVD. The two polymorphisms at the amino acids 112 and 158 that define the major e2, e3, and e4 haplotypes (Table 1-11) were associated with CRP levels in previous candidate-gene studies in Caucasians and Japanese-Americans with lower levels of CRP among APOE e4 carriers or higher levels of CRP among e2 carriers compared to the remaining haplotype carriers reported (Austin MA et al., 2004, Chasman DI et al., 2006, Marz W et al., 2004). However, in the present study the associations of e2, e3, and e4 haplotypes with hsCPR were not significant although e4 homozygote subjects (n=3) did have the lowest level of CRP but the number in this group was too small to compare and e4 heterozygote subjects did not seem to have a reduced CRP level. The mechanism of the correlation between APOE polymorphisms but not apolipoprotein E protein with CRP was still unclear (Chasman DI et al., 2006). It has been speculated that the association was related to the changes in the metabolism of plasma lipoproteins determined by APOE polymorphisms which may in turn influence the half life of lipoprotein-bound CRP (Austin MA et al., 2004) and this effect was independent of inflammation since other inflammation markers like fibrinogen and white cell count were not related to the APOE genotype (Marz W et al., 2004). Therefore, it is possible that rosuvastatin treatment affected the association between APOE polymorphisms and CRP by reducing plasma LDL-C concentrations.

Most recently, the minor allele of SNP rs4420638 in the *APOE-CI-CII* cluster was shown to be strongly associated with increased LDL-C, triglycerides and total cholesterol, reduced HDL-C and CRP levels, as well as an increased risk of CHD in various studies (Elliott P et al., 2009, Willer CJ et al., 2008b). This polymorphism is situated about 14 kb distal to the *APOE* locus and was in strong LD with the two SNPs that characterize the *APOE* e2/e3/e4 locus. In the present study, the rs4420638 polymorphism was also found to be strongly linked with *APOE* e2/e3/e4 but it did not show a significant impact on hsCRP levels.

Leptin, the adipocyte-derived protein product of the leptin (*LEP*) gene, is involved in appetite regulation and obesity, blood pressure regulation and immune response (Shamsuzzaman AS et al., 2004). Circulating leptin levels are consistently associated with CRP levels, although the exact mechanism is not clear but it is conceivable that leptin may act via induction of IL-6 production, or perhaps via the leptin receptor to upregulate CRP production (Shamsuzzaman AS et al., 2004). A number of studies have shown that *LEPR* polymorphisms were associated with leptin and CRP levels (Ridker PM et al., 2008b, Zhang YY et al., 2007), but such an association was not found in the present study, which may be due to the small number of subjects in this analysis.

In the patients in this study, rosuvastatin 10 mg reduced LDL-C by 52% and a recent study in Chinese patients with hypercholesterolaemia (Qu HY et al., 2009) has reported 40% and 47.5% mean reductions in hsCRP and LDL-C, respectively, after 12 weeks treatment with rosuvatatin 10 mg, which are similar in magnitude to those effects observed in the JUPITER study with 20 mg of rosuvastatin. The systemic exposure to rosuvastatin in Asians has been shown to be 2-fold higher than in

Caucasians (Carlson CS et al., 2005), which may contribute to the greater efficacy in Chinese (Qu HY et al., 2009). The functional SNP 421C>A in ABCG2 was associated with altered systemic exposure to rosuvastatin in Chinese and Caucasians subjects (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c, Zhang W et al., 2006a) and the higher allele frequency of ABCG2 421A in Chinese and Japanese (35%) compared to Caucasians (14%) may suggest that this polymorphism contributes to the elevated plasma concentrations of rosuvastatin in Asians. The 421C>A polymorphism was found to be the major genetic determinant from a number of candidate polymorphisms of the on-treatment LDL-C level and the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in these patients as shown in Chapter 4, but not for the hsCRP levels. It is noteworthy that the ABCG2 was newly identified as a uric acid transporter and the 421C>A polymorphism in ABCG2 was strongly associated with increased uric acid level and risk of gout in a GWAS (Dehghan A et al., 2008). Increasing evidence suggests that elevated uric acid levels are associated with hypertension, renal disease, and increased risk of CVD and importantly may play a role in the metabolic syndrome. The oxidative changes uric acid induces in adipocytes may be one of the potential mechanisms to explain how hyperuricaemia might induce the metabolic syndrome (Feig DI et al., 2008), which may also be associated with elevated CRP levels. Therefore, the complex interaction between the ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism, increased systemic exposure of rosuvastatin, and elevated uric acid levels may have obscured the association of this polymorphism with hsCRP.

In prospective observational studies, baseline hsCRP levels have been consistently linked with the traditional cardiovascular risk factors and other environmental factors (Miller DT et al., 2005). The post hoc analysis of the PROVE IT-TIMI 22 trial has shown that hsCRP levels varied considerably and were strongly associated with multiple cardiovascular risk factors including age, female gender, smoking, obesity, low HDL-C, high triglycerides etc. in patients receiving standard or intensive statin therapy (Ray KK et al., 2005). The present study also found similar associations and the proportions of the variance in hsCRP concentrations explained by these factors are similar to the other studies in populations on no treatment (Kathiresan S et al., 2006).

Adiposity, especially abdominal obesity is the strongest predictor of hsCRP concentrations across different populations as a result of up-regulation of the cytokines IL-6 and TNF-a by obesity (Kelley-Hedgepeth A et al., 2008, Timpson NJ et al., 2005). A recent study has shown that abdominal adiposity was associated with elevated hsCRP levels independent of BMI, a measure of general adiposity (Lapice E et al., 2009). Large prospective studies have shown that BMI and WC are associated with risk factors of CVD and are both predictors of CVD mortality. A meta-analysis has suggested indices of abdominal obesity were superior over BMI for detecting cardiovascular risk factors in both men and women (Lee CM et al., 2008) but individual studies have demonstrated equally strong associations of BMI and WC with CVD risk (van Dis I et al., 2009) and independent associations of BMI and WC with the risk of death (Pischon T et al., 2008). Changes in visceral adiposity with age may also partly contribute to age-related variations in plasma CRP concentrations (Cartier A et al., 2009). Females had a higher level of hsCRP than males, which may be due to the effect of sex hormones since oestrogen is known to increase CRP levels in women (Lakoski SG et al., 2005a) or different fat distributions, particularly subcutaneous adiposity between males and females (Cartier A et al., 2009). A recent study has shown the interaction of adiposity (BMI and WC) with CRP rs1205 genotypes to influence CRP levels where the relationship of increasing CRP with adiposity is carried by selected genotypes in men (Eiriksdottir G et al., 2009), but this interaction was not observed in our study.

In this study, patients with FH who have high LDL-C levels due to monogenetic defects had a lower average level of CRP than non-FH, which may be largely attributable to this group having fewer other metabolic risk factors. However, further logistic regression analysis showed that FH patients tended to have a 2.4-fold increased risk of having hsCRP  $\geq 2$  mg/L after adjustment for multiple confounding factors, suggesting that FH itself may be associated with higher levels of CRP and proinflammatory cytokines compared to non-FH subjects as demonstrated in a previous small study (El Messal M et al., 2006). The lack of association between smoking status or presence of CVD with hsCRP in this study may be due to the small number of smokers and patients having had CVD events.

Various cardiovascular drugs apart from statins have been suggested to lower circulating CRP levels in some but not all studies, including fibrate, nicotinic acid, angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), antidiabetic agents, anti-inflammatory and antiplatelet agents ect (Prasad K, 2006). However, a recent randomized trial of open-label insulin and placebo-controlled metformin in 500 patients with recent-onset type 2 diabetes has shown that there was no significant difference in hsCRP reduction among those allocated to insulin (-11.8%; 95% CI, -18.7 - -4.4%) or no insulin (-17.5%; 95% CI, -23.9 - -10.5%) (P=0.25), or among those allocated to metformin (-18.1%; 95% CI, -24.4 - -11.1%) or placebo (-11.2%; 95% CI, -18.1 - -3.7%) (P=0.17) (Pradhan AD et al., 2009). In this study some of these medications appeared to be associated with higher hsCRP levels (Figure 5-5) suggesting that the hsCRP levels were determined by the
diseases and/or risk factors that these medications treated, although patients treated with antidiabetic drugs, NSAIDs and aspirin tended to have a lower risk of having an hsCRP level of  $\geq 2$  mg/L (Table 5-9).

Recent Mendelian randomization studies have shown that the systemic hsCRP level is unlikely to be a causal factor for development of ischaemic vascular disease (Elliott P et al., 2009, Zacho J et al., 2008). Although the JUPITER study has shown that the maximal treatment benefits were obtained in those who achieved the lowest levels of both LDL-C and CRP with adjustment for some traditional risk factors (Ridker PM et al., 2009) these may not account entirely for features of the metabolic syndrome, visceral obesity or insulin resistance. In fact, patients with on-treatment hsCRP levels < 2 mg/L who had the greatest reduction in cardiovascular events were also those who had the lowest initial values of hsCRP in the JUPITER study (Danchin N, 2009, Ridker PM et al., 2009). In addition, an hsCRP concentration of less than 1 mg/L with an LDL-C level of at least 1.8 mmol/L did not significantly reduce the risk of the primary outcome in the JUPITER study (95% CI for the hazard ratios for incident cardiovascular events: 0.11-1.85) whereas the hazard for hsCRP levels of less than 2 mg/L with an LDL-C level of at least 1.8 mmol/L did (95% CI for the hazard ratios for incident cardiovascular events: 0.18-0.94) (Table 5-2) and this inconsistency also raises concerns about the causal effect of CRP in CVD. The lower CRP levels in those patients in the JUPITER study may be due to the low levels of other risk factors that are associated with hsCRP e.g. adiposity, smoking, blood pressure and other lipid parameters, as observed in the present study and previous studies (Liem AH et al., 2008, Ray KK et al., 2005). Therefore patients with persisting elevation of hsCRP ≥2.0 mg/l despite achieving the LDL-C target <70 mg/dl with the rosuvastatin dosage used in the JUPITER study (or 10 mg dosage in Chinese patients) may be candidates for interventions targeted to the other risk factors related to the metabolic syndrome rather than intensified lowering of LDL-C.

# 5.5 Study limitations

This is a post hoc analysis and there are several limitations requiring consideration. The most important is the lack of baseline hsCRP levels in this group of patients, so we are unable to assess if the genetic variants or obesity indices affected the CRP-lowering effect of rosuvastatin. The CRP polymorphisms and obesity, which is unlikely to change with statin therapy, are the main determinants of on-treatment hsCRP levels suggesting the baseline level of CRP driven by the CRP polymorphisms and obesity is the major determinant of on-treatment levels of hsCRP but not the determinant of changes in hsCRP in response to statins, although interactions between genetic factors, obesity, other metabolic risk factors and the change in hsCRP response cannot be excluded. Secondly, we only examined 2 common SNPs in CRP, but there are several other CRP SNPs which affect hsCRP levels, and may also contribute to the variance in hsCRP, although these two SNPs are highly correlated with the functional triallelic SNP rs3091244 that was the strongest variant associated with CRP levels out of 13 well-selected SNPs capturing the underlying common genetic variation in CRP in the Framingham Heart Study. Thirdly, although in the present study WC appeared to be a better predictor of hsCRP than BMI and percentage body fat, these obesity measures and/or other obesity indexes like measures of visceral fat may have additional ability to predict hsCRP levels. Fourthly, our sample consisted of a small number of smokers, and thus, we cannot assess the contribution of this cardiovascular risk factor to the variance of hsCRP levels. Further studies with a large sample size are required to address the effects of genetic and environmental factors on the hsCRP response to statins.

## **5.6 Conclusions**

In summary, this study demonstrated close relationships between genetic variants and cardiovascular risk factors and levels of hsCRP in Chinese patients receiving treatment with rosuvastatin, which are similar to the relationships reported in patients not on statin treatment. These findings support the concept that hsCRP is a useful biomarker for CHD risk, partly through its association with traditional CHD risk factors, but it may not be a true risk factor for CHD.

# Chapter 6 Genetic determinants of some cardiovascular risk factors in Chinese patients

# **6.1 Introduction**

There have been rapid developments in the genomics of complex traits and recent genome-wide association studies (GWASs) have localized common DNA sequence variants that contribute to many human phenotypes, including those influencing plasma lipids, uric acid and bilirubin levels (Chasman DI et al., 2009, Dehghan A et al., 2008, Johnson AD et al., 2009, Kolz M et al., 2009, Wallace C et al., 2008) and many of these associations have also been reported in candidate gene studies (Saito A et al., 2009, Yamada Y et al., 2007). Furthermore, multiple novel loci have been identified to be related to these phenotypes in the GWASs which may provide a better understanding of the genetic basis of dyslipidaemia, hyperuricaemia and hyperbilirubinaemia and the role of different molecular players in the pathogenesis of these disorders.

It has been well recognized that serum lipids are important determinants of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and are related to morbidity. Blood concentrations of lipoproteins and lipids are highly heritable and in some studies the heritabilities of these plasma lipid concentrations are as high as 50 - 70% (Lusis AJ and Pajukanta P, 2008). Different types of studies have clearly shown that elevated LDL-C causes human atherothrombosis, and that individuals with lifelong exposure to high plasma LDL-C levels due to the genetic disorder familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH) develop early atherothrombotic CVD (Garg A and Simha V, 2007). In addition, epidemiological studies have shown that low levels of HDL-C and high triglyceride concentrations, common features of type 2 diabetes mellitus and the metabolic

syndrome, are associated with increased risk of coronary artery disease (CAD) (Gordon DJ et al., 1989, Nordestgaard BG et al., 2007, Patel JV et al., 2009) although the causality has not been established. The GWAS reported by Willer et al investigated whether the lipid-associated variants were associated with CAD in the Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium (WTCCC) sample of ~2000 CAD and ~13000 British individuals, which showed that nearly all alleles that were associated with increased LDL-C concentrations were also associated with increased risk of CAD but there was no similar pattern of association for alleles associated with HDL-C and triglyceride levels (Willer CJ et al., 2008b).

Uric acid is the final catabolic, heterocyclic purine derivative resulting from the oxidation of purines in humans. Elevated serum uric acid concentrations may be related to high dietary intake of purine-rich foods, excess alcohol consumption, impaired renal function with decreased uric acid clearance, and impaired renal uric acid excretion in various conditions e.g. obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension, low-sodium diet, diuretic therapy (Feig DI et al., 2008, Strazzullo P and Puig JG, 2007). Elevated serum uric acid concentration causes gout and is related to a wide variety of cardiovascular conditions, e.g. hypertension, metabolic syndrome, renal disease, CVD and stroke etc. (Feig DI et al., 2008, Strazzullo P and Puig JG, 2007). Epidemiological evidence suggests that serum uric acid is an independent predictor of CVD in subjects with hypertension and established vascular disease but not in healthy subjects suggesting that the influence of uric acid on CVD is explained by the secondary association of uric acid with other established risk factors (Strazzullo P and Puig JG, 2007, Wannamethee SG, 2005). However, a large prospective cohort study in over 90,000 Chinese subjects aged >35 years conducted in Taiwan has shown that hyperuricaemia is an independent risk factor for all-cause and CVD

mortality not only in all subjects representing the general public, but also in patients with hypertension and diabetes and potentially low-risk subgroups (Chen JH et al., 2009). It has been reported that uric acid also has a positive role as an antioxidant substance and is associated with longevity in mammals (Cutler RG, 1984), which may provide a possible explanation for the previously reported controversial association between uric acid and CVD (Bo S et al., 2008, Strazzullo P and Puig JG, 2007). Serum uric acid concentration is an inherited trait with heritability estimates of up to about 70% (Whitfield JB and Martin NG, 1983, Yang Q et al., 2005), suggesting genetic variation may determine uric acid level through regulation of uric acid metabolic pathways. More recently, several new loci were identified to be associated with serum uric acid levels and gout in GWASs, including the solute carrier family 2, member 9 gene (SLC2A9) and ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2 gene (ABCG2) etc (Kolz M et al., 2009), which expands our understanding of physiological mechanisms of the disease. The strongest association was detected for SLC2A9 variants with uric acid levels with a gender-specific effect observed in various populations (Dehghan A et al., 2008, Doring A et al., 2008, Vitart V et al., 2008). However, the genetic determinants of uric acid levels in Chinese patients with normal uric acid levels have not been reported.

Bilirubin is excreted as a major component of bile as the breakdown product of haeme catabolism, which has been shown to be inversely related to CVD in both retrospective and prospective studies and supported by meta-analysis suggesting that it could be a protective factor (Novotny L and Vitek L, 2003, Schwertner HA and Vitek L, 2008). It has also been reported that low serum bilirubin concentrations were closely associated with multiple risk factors of CVD in Hong Kong Chinese subjects (Ko GT et al., 1996). Serum bilirubin levels are also heritable and recent

GWASs have identified genetic polymorphisms that contribute to variability in serum bilirubin levels, in particular variants in UGT1A1 and SLCO1B1 (Johnson AD et al., 2009). UGT1A1 controls bilirubin conjugation and clearance, and a TA dinucleotide insertion in the TATA box of the UGT1A1 promoter, \*28 (TA<sub>6>7</sub>), resulting in 70% reduction of UGT1A1 gene transcription is strongly associated with hyperbilirubinaemia (Schwertner HA and Vitek L, 2008). The SLCO1B1 transporter is also a logical candidate for effects on bilirubin considering it has transport affinity for bilirubin into hepatocytes (Johnson AD et al., 2009).

Given the growing importance of these risk factors of CVD, we further analyzed whether polymorphisms in candidate genes examined in the study were associated with lipids, uric acid and bilirubin levels in Chinese patients.

#### **6.2 Methods**

#### 6.2.1 Subjects and data collection

The baseline lipid profiles and bilirubin levels were collected in all patients involved in this pharmacogenetic study including those with poor adherence to therapy, whereas, the uric acid level for individuals was retrieved retrospectively with a representative value selected since this test was not routinely examined during the study. For patients who had been taking urate-lowering drugs, the baseline uric acid level prior to the drug treatment was used.

#### 6.2.2 Single nucleotide polymorphism selection

## 6.2.2.1 Polymorphisms in genes related to lipids

A total of 94 polymorphisms in 46 candidate genes potentially related to cholesterol

synthesis and lipoprotein metabolism including some drug transporters were analyzed for association with baseline lipid traits, including LDL-C, HDL-C and triglycerides.

### 6.2.2.2 Polymorphisms in genes related to uric acid

Eight single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in 5 candidate genes potentially related to uric acid transport (Kolz M et al., 2009) were selected for analysis of association with uric acid concentrations (Table 6-1).

Genes rs number Polymorphism ABCG2 rs2231142 421C>A ABCG2 rs2231137 34G>A CCL2 rs1860188 -3813C>T GCKR rs1260326 C>T SLC2A9 rs1014290 T>C SLC2A9 rs12510549 T>C SLC22A12 rs893006 G>T SLC22A12 rs11231825 426C>T

Table 6-1. SNPs in genes potentially related to uric acid transport

ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; CCL2 = Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2; GCKR = glucokinase regulatory protein; SLC2A9 = Solute carrier family 2, member 9; SLC22A12 = Solute carrier family 22, member 12.

# 6.2.2.3 Polymorphisms in genes potentially related to bilirubin

Fifteen polymorphisms in UGTs and SLCO1B1 were selected for analysis of association with bilirubin levels (Table 6-2).

Genes	rs number	Polymorphism
SLCO1B1	rs2291073	T>G
	rs4149036	C>A
	rs4149080	G>C
	rs2306283	388A>G
	rs4149056	521T>C
	rs4149057	571T>C
	rs2291075	597 C>T
	rs4149015	-11187 G>A
UGTIAI	rs4124874	*60, -3279T>G
	rs4148323	*6, 211G>A
		(TA)6>7, *28
UGT1A6	rs2070959	541A>G
	rs1105879	552A>C
UGT2B7	rs7662029	-327A>G
	rs12233719	211G>T
	rs7668258	-161T>C

Table 6-2. SNPs in genes potentially related to bilirubin disposition

SLCO1B1 = Solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1B1; UGT1A1 = UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, polypeptide A1; UGT1A6 = UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, polypeptide A6; UGT2B7 = UDP glucuronosyltransferase 2 family, polypeptide B7.

# 6.2.3 Statistical analysis

Baseline levels of LDL-C, HDL-C, triglyceride, bilirubin and uric acid concentrations were logarithmically transformed due to non-normal distributions. Univariate analysis was performed to identify the genetic determinants of these traits and only those genetic variants with P<0.05 were reported. Multivariate linear regression analysis was used to determine contributions of the environmental factors and genetic factors to the variance of these selected traits. Data were analyzed with SPSS version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

#### 6.3 Results

## 6.3.1 Genetic determinants of lipids

Baseline lipid levels were obtained from 410 subjects including 171 patients with FH. The association between genetic polymorphisms and lipid traits were analyzed in FH and non-FH patients separately due to their different lipid profiles.

#### 6.3.1.1 Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

In patients without FH, 3 SNPs were found to be related to LDL-C levels including two tightly linked SNP in *ABCA1* (ATP-binding cassette, subfamily A, member 1) and rs266729 in *ADIPOQ* (adiponectin) (Table 6-3), but the *ADIPOQ* SNP did not show a gene-dose effect with heterozygous subjects having the lowest value of baseline level of LDL-C suggesting lack of true effect of this polymorphism.

In 171 patients with FH, 9 polymorphisms appeared to be related to baseline LDL-C concentrations but none of them was in *ABCA1* or *ADIPOQ* and some SNPs did not show a gene-dose effect (Table 6-3).

Subjects	Polymorphisms	Genotypes	N	Mean LDL-C levels	р
Subjects	i orginor pinsins	Genotypes		(mmol/L)	•
non-FH					
	ABCA1	TT	86	$\textbf{3.90} \pm \textbf{0.95}$	
	rs2472384 T>C	TC	109	$4.13\pm0.96$	0.045*
		CC	43	$4.39\pm0.99$	
	ABCA1	GG	88	$3.92 \pm 0.96$	
	R219K	GA	105	$4.09\pm0.95$	0.018*
		AA	43	$4.45 \pm 0.96$	
	ADIPOQ	CC	129	$4.18 \pm 1.01$	
	rs266729	CG	88	$3.92 \pm 0.85$	0.045*
		GG	22	4.29 ± 1.19	
FH					
	ABCB1	CC	28	$7.14 \pm 1.86$	
	1236C>T	CT	71	$6.41 \pm 1.51$	0.019
		TT	71	$6.18 \pm 1.37$	
	ACSM2B	CC	104	6.63 ± 1.55	0.028 <sup>†</sup>
	rs1133607 C>T	CT	64	$6.13 \pm 1.50$	
	APOB	CC	135	$6.30 \pm 1.54$	0.016 <sup>†</sup>
	rs693	CT	33	6.99 ± 1.50	
	APOB	п	87	6.23 ± 1.52	
	ID	ID	72	$6.59 \pm 1.52$	0.032*
		DD	8	$7.54 \pm 1.75$	
	APOE	e2 carrier	19	6.79 ± 1.81	
	e2e3e4	e3e3	112	$6.56 \pm 1.54$	0.005
		e4 carrier	38	$5.75 \pm 1.23$	
	APOE-APOC cluster	AA	131	6.61 ± 1.59	0.004 <sup>†</sup>
	rs4420638	AG/GG	36	$5.82 \pm 1.28$	

Table 6-3. Associations between genetic p	olymorphism and baseline LDL-C
levels in patients with and without FH	

LDLR	TT	84	$6.81 \pm 1.55$	
rs1529729 T>C	TC	70	$\textbf{6.08} \pm \textbf{1.36}$	0.01
	CC	17	$6.14 \pm 1.92$	
NCAN/CILP2/PBX4	GG	135	$6.32 \pm 1.54$	0.042 <sup>†</sup>
rs16996148 G>T	GT	35	$\textbf{6.89} \pm \textbf{1.50}$	
NPC1L1	AA	52	$6.71 \pm 1.59$	
rs2301935 A>C	AC	84	$6.00 \pm 1.38$	0.0007
	CC	33	$7.09 \pm 1.62$	
PPARG	CC	158	$6.49 \pm 1.56$	0.046 <sup>†</sup>
167C>G	CG	11	$5.55\pm0.96$	

Data are given as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of LDL-C levels among genotype groups were compared by ANOVA unless otherwise indicated.

\* Data were compared by Kruskal-Wallis test.

<sup>†</sup>Data were log transformed for comparison.

Abbreviations: ABC = ATP-binding cassette; ACSM2B = Acyl-CoA synthetase medium-chain family member 2B; ADIPOQ = adiponectin; APO = apolipoprotein ; LDLR = LDL receptor; NCAN/CILP2/PBX4 = Neurocan/cartilage intermediate layer protein 2 / Pre-B-cell leukemia homeobox 4; NPC1L1 = NPC1 (Niemann-Pick disease, type C1, gene)-like 1; PPARG = Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma.

# 6.3.1.2 High-density lipoprotein cholesterol

In patients without FH, 2 SNPs in *ABCA1* and 2 SNPs in *LIPC* (hepatic lipase) were found to be related to HDL-C levels, but the SNPs in *ABCA1* did not present a gene-dose effect, whereas 8 polymorphisms in genes other than *ABCA1* and *LIPC* were shown to be associated with baseline HDL-C concentrations in FH patients (Table 6-4).

Subjects	Polymorphisms	Genotypes	N	Mean HDL-C levels	P
Non-FH				(minov L)	
	ABCA1	TT	86	$1.44 \pm 0.45$	
	rs2472384 T>C	TC	109	$1.40 \pm 0.34$	0.031 <sup>†</sup>
		CC	44	$1.59\pm0.45$	
	ABCA1	GG	88	$1.47 \pm 0.47$	
	R219K	GA	105	$1.39 \pm 0.33$	$0.026^{\dagger}$
		AA	44	$1.59 \pm 0.45$	
	LIPC	CC	67	1.32 ± 0.35	
	rs1532085	CT	124	$1.51\pm0.45$	0.002*
		TT	46	$1.53 \pm 0.38$	
	LIPC	CC	93	$1.36 \pm 0.39$	
	-514C>T	CT	102	$1.46 \pm 0.37$	0.002*
	14 - 212	TT	44	$1.64 \pm 0.51$	
FH					
	ABCBI	GG	38	$1.70\pm0.37$	
	2677G>T/A	GT/GA	94	$1.55 \pm 0.36$	$0.007^{\dagger}$
		TT/AA/AT	31	$1.43 \pm 0.36$	
	ABCB1	СС	59	$1.62 \pm 0.35$	
	3435C>T	СТ	85	$1.61 \pm 0.38$	0.005 <sup>†</sup>
		TT	27	$1.37\pm0.31$	
	APOA2	TT	146	$1.54\pm0.37$	0.011*
	-265T>C	TC/CC	26	$1.72\pm0.34$	
	APOA5	TT	77	1.63 ± 0.39	
	-1131T>C	TC	66	$1.55 \pm 0.35$	0.024*
		CC	22	1.39 ± 0.34	

Table 6-4. Associations between genetic polymorphism and baseline HDL-C levels in patients with and without FH

Statist M					1.
	LDLR	TT	109	$1.52\pm0.36$	
	2052T>C	TC	56	$1.66 \pm 0.37$	0.046 <sup>†</sup>
		CC	7	$1.69 \pm 0.28$	
	LDLR	CC	115	$1.52 \pm 0.37$	
	1866C>T	CT	47	$1.69\pm0.38$	0.019 <sup>†</sup>
		TT	7	$1.69 \pm 0.28$	
	NPC1L1	AA	52	$1.69 \pm 0.39$	
	rs2301935 A>C	AC	84	$1.54\pm0.36$	0.025*
		CC	33	$1.48\pm0.33$	
	SLCO1B1	TT	133	$1.55 \pm 0.38$	
	521T>C	TC	35	1.61 ± 0.29	0.026*
		CC	3	$2.21 \pm 0.45$	

Data are given as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of HDL-C levels among genotype groups were compared by ANOVA unless otherwise indicated.

\* Data were compared by Kruskal-Wallis test.

<sup>†</sup>Data were log transformed for comparison.

Abbreviations: ABC = ATP-binding cassette; APO = apolipoprotein; LDLR = LDL receptor; LIPC = lipase, hepatic; NPC1L1 = NPC1 (Niemann-Pick disease, type C1, gene)-like 1; SLCO1B1 = Solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1B1.

# 6.3.1.3 Triglycerides

Five SNPs were found to be related to baseline triglyceride levels in patients without FH as shown in Table 6-5 including the *APOA5* (apolipoprotein A 5) -1131T>C and the *LDLR* (LDL receptor) 44964A>G. These two polymorphisms along with other 3 SNPs were related to triglyceride levels in patients with FH but interestingly, the *LDLR* 44964A>G polymorphism presented an opposite effect on baseline level of triglyceride in patients with and without FH separately.

		. Without I II	1-11-		
Subjects	Polymorphisms	Genotypes	N	Mean triglyceride levels	Р
		Curta.		(mmol/L)	
non-FH					
	ACSM3	GG	52	$2.39 \pm 1.23$	
	rs886433G>T	GT	111	$1.93\pm1.31$	0.03*
		TT	77	$2.12 \pm 1.93$	
	ACSM3	II	53	$\textbf{2.38} \pm \textbf{1.23}$	
	962ID	ID	109	$1.94\pm1.32$	0.009 <sup>†</sup>
		DD	79	$\textbf{2.10} \pm \textbf{1.91}$	
	APOA5	TT	114	$1.91 \pm 1.36$	
	-1131T>C	TC	83	$1.91 \pm 0.89$	0.001*
		CC	20	$3.43 \pm 3.22$	
	HNF1A	AA	87	$1.98 \pm 1.32$	
	127L	AC	117	$2.01 \pm 1.71$	0.011 <sup>†</sup>
		CC	37	$2.56 \pm 1.30$	
	LDLR	AA	101	$2.34 \pm 1.45$	
	44964A>G	AG	101	$1.99 \pm 1.74$	0.007 <sup>†</sup>
		GG	36	$1.72 \pm 0.91$	
FH		00 AUN 10.			
	ABCB1	GG	38	$1.47 \pm 0.83$	
	2677G>T/A	GT/GA	94	$1.83 \pm 1.19$	0.026*
		TT/AA/AT	31	$2.39 \pm 1.85$	1996-1997 B
	ABCB1	CC	59	$1.48 \pm 0.74$	
	3435 C>T	CT	85	1 75 + 1 13	0 004*
		TT	27	$2.75 \pm 2.06$	0.001
		**	21	2.75 - 2.00	
	APOA5	тт	77	$149 \pm 0.93$	
	-1131T>C	TC	66	$1.77 \pm 0.75$	0.005*
	-11511/0	00	22	$1.75 \pm 1.10$	0.005
			22	$2.33 \pm 2.12$	

 Table 6-5. Associations between genetic polymorphism and baseline triglyceride

 levels in patients with and without FH

 120 12.6				
LDLR	AA	60	$1.70 \pm 1.20$	
44964A>G	AG	88	$1.75\pm1.29$	0.03*
	GG	23	$2.37 \pm 1.39$	
LEPR	GG	149	$1.88 \pm 1.29$	0.015*
rs1137101	GA/AA	21	$1.40 \pm 1.16$	

Data are given as mean  $\pm$  SD and values of triglyceride levels among genotype groups were compared by ANOVA unless otherwise indicated.

\* Data were compared by Kruskal-Wallis test.

<sup>†</sup>Data were log transformed for comparison.

Abbreviations: ABC = ATP-binding cassette; ACSM3 = Acyl-CoA synthetase mediumchain family member 3; APO = apolipoprotein; HNF1A = hepatic nuclear factor 1-alpha; LDLR = LDL receptor; LEPR = leptin receptor;

# 6.3.2 Determinants of uric acid

Plasma uric acid levels were collected from 349 patients with a mean ( $\pm$  SD) of 0.35  $\pm$  0.09 mmol/L. The mean age of study participants was 56.1  $\pm$  10.8 years and about 47% of them (n=164) were male. Among these subjects, 137 had FH, 105 had diabetes, and 186 had hypertension. The uric acid levels were strongly related to ages in female subjects whereas there was no difference in uric acid levels among age groups in males although male subjects with age above 60 years tended to have increased uric acid levels (Figure 6-1).

## Figure 6-1. Effect of age on uric acid levels in study participants



Among the 8 SNPs examined in this analysis, the *SLC2A9* rs1014290 T>C was the only polymorphism that was significantly associated with plasma uric acid levels in a gene-dose dependent manner (TT vs. TC vs.  $CC = 0.38 \pm 0.08 \text{ mmol/L}$ :  $0.34 \pm 0.09 \text{ mmol/L}$ :  $0.31 \pm 0.10 \text{ mmol/L}$ , P= $1.0 \times 10^{-5}$ ). The association between the *SLC2A9* rs1014290 T>C and uric acid levels was more pronounced in women or in patients without hypertension than in men or patients with hypertension (Figure 6-2). Male subjects and patients with hypertension had higher uric acid levels than females and patients without hypertension respectively across all genotype groups (Figure 6-2). The other SNP in *SLC2A9* or SNPs in other candidate genes was not significantly associated with uric acid levels in all subjects combined (Figure 6-3) or in any subgroup of patients.





\* Uric acid levels among genotype groups were compared by Kruskal-Wallis test.

In females: TT, n=70; TC, n=83; CC, n=31.

In males: TT, n=74; TC, n=68; CC, n=20.

In patients without hypertension: TT, n=64; TC, n=72; CC, n=27.

In patients with hypertension: TT, n=80; TC, n=79; CC, n=24.

Figure 6-3. Non-significant associations (P>0.05) between other SNPs examined and uric acid levels

Genotypes	<u>No.of subjects</u>		<u>Mean</u>	<u>± 95%CI</u>	
ABCG2 421C>A					
CC	172		F	<b></b>	
CA	129		⊢●	<b></b>	
AA	48		⊢_●		
ABCG2 34G>A		ļ			
GG	160		⊢+	-1	
GA	148		F	<del>+</del> -(	
AA	35	E .	<u>⊢</u> ●	⊢	
CCL-2 -3813C>T					
CC	225	1 I	H	<b>◆ -1</b>	
CT	108		⊢•	<b></b> 1	
тт	12		H	•	
GCKR rs1260326			_		
CC	102		<b>⊢</b> ●		
CT	156		H	▶┥	
TT	84		F	- <b>+</b>	
SLC2A9 rs12510549					
TT	243		H	H	
TC	97	ļ	Ľ	<b>€</b> [	
CC	9			<b>⊢</b>	
SLC22A12 rs893006					
TT	203		⊢ <b>●</b>	-1	
TC	120		F	<b></b> !	
CC	20	1 I	<b>⊢</b>	<b>▶</b> ───┤	
SLC22A12 426C>T					
CC	202		<b>⊢</b> ♦	-1	
CT	127		F		
TT	18		<b>├──</b> ─●	<b></b>	
				,	
		0.20	0.30	0.40	 0.50

Abbreviations: ABCG2 = ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G, member 2; CCL2 = Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2; GCKR = glucokinase regulatory protein; SLC2A9 = Solute carrier family 2, member 9; SLC22A12 = Solute carrier family 22, member 12.

In univariate analysis, male gender, advanced age, presence of hypertension and diabetes, absence of FH, high body mass index (BMI), high waist circumference (WC), high creatinine level, low HDL-C, levels and high triglycerides were associated with increased uric acid levels (P<0.05). However, the associations between uric acid with age, presence of FH, BMI, and HDL-C levels were no longer significant after adjustment for other confounding factors (Table 6-6). Multivariate regression analysis revealed that WC, creatinine levels, triglyceride levels, presence of hypertension and the *SLC2A9* rs1014290 polymorphism were predictors of plasma uric acid concentrations in all subjects combined or subgroup of female subjects, which totally explained 34.4% and 44.7% of the variance in uric acid levels, respectively with serum creatinine level and *SLC2A9* rs1014290 polymorphism being strongest predictors (Table 6-6). In contrast, having hypertension, but not creatinine level was the strongest predictor of uric acid levels in male subjects. Having diabetes and SLC2A9 rs1014290 polymorphism tended to have some ability to predict uric acid levels in males.

	A	All		ale	Female	
Variables	В	Р	В	Р	В	Р
Age (year)	0.043	0.443	0.047	0.636	0.069	0.321
Gender*	0.096	0.115				
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.003	0.977	0.086	0.346	0.175	0.165
WC (cm)	0.197	0.0007	0.138	0.153	0.204	0.004
Creatinine (µmol/L)	0.273	6.0×10 <sup>-7</sup>	0.004	0.965	0.39	3.8×10 <sup>-8</sup>
LDL-C (mmol/L)	-0.032	0.536	-0.041	0.658	-0.071	0.263
HDL-C (mmol/L)	-0.056	0.318	-0.138	0.121	-0.021	0.76
TG (mmol/L)	0.112	0.037	0.096	0.276	0.142	0.036
$\mathbf{FH}^{\dagger}$	-0.062	0.243	-0.077	0.424	-0.102	0.113
Hypertension <sup>†</sup>	0.208	0.0002	0.422	1.9×10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.159	0.024
Diabetes <sup>†</sup>	-0.056	0.308	-0.19	0.046	0.06	0.37
SLC2A9, rs1014290 <sup>‡</sup>	-0.226	1.3×10 <sup>-5</sup>	-0.193	0.028	-0.235	0.0003

Table 6-6. Multivariate analysis of predictors of serum uric acid concentrations

\*0 = Female; 1 = male.  $^{\dagger}0$  = absence of the disease; 1= presence of the disease;  $^{\ddagger}1$  = homozygous wild-type allele; 2 = heterozygous variant allele; 3= homozygous variant allele. Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index; FH = familial hypercholesterolaemia; TG = triglycerides; SLC2A9 = Solute carrier family 2, member 9; WC = waist circumference.

## 6.3.3 Genetic determinants of bilirubin

Baseline bilirubin levels were obtained from 403 subjects with a median (interquartile range [IQR]) value of 10 (8, 13)  $\mu$ mol/L for women and 12 (9, 15)  $\mu$ mol/L for men. Male subjects had higher mean (±SD) baseline bilirubin levels than that of females (12.6 ± 4.5  $\mu$ mol/L vs. 10.5 ± 3.8  $\mu$ mol/L, P = 6.6×10<sup>-7</sup>). There was no difference in bilirubin levels in patients with hypertension, diabetes, or FH comparing to those without these conditions. Triglyceride level was found to be inversely associated with bilirubin levels (r = -0.155, P = 0.002). Other phenotypic factors including age, general or central obesity etc were not associated with bilirubin levels.

Among 17 polymorphisms in 4 candidate genes, we found variants in the UGT1A1 (\*6, \*28 and \*60) and 1A6 (541A>G and 552A>C) examined in this study were significantly associated with bilirubin levels (Table 6-7), whereas none of the SNPs in SLCO1B1 and UGT2B7 was related to bilirubin concentrations. The UGT1A1 \*28 appeared to have a stronger effect on bilirubin level than other genetic variants (Table 6-7).

Delementhiome	Baseline bilirut		<b>Baseline bilirubin levels</b>	P
Polymorphisms	Genotype	N	(µmol/L)	Р
UGTIAI				
-3279T>G (*60)	TT	159	10 (8, 13)	
	TG	191	11 (8, 14)	0.001
	GG	50	13 (9.8, 16)	
211G>A	GG	293	10 (8, 13)	0.00007
	GA/AA	102/5	13 (9, 15)	
(TA) <sub>6&gt;7</sub> (*28)	(TA) <sub>6/6</sub>	308	10 (8, 13)	
	(TA) <sub>6/7</sub>	83	12 (10, 15)	7.8×10 <sup>-8</sup>
	(TA)777	7	21 (19, 28)	
UGT1A6				
541A>G	AA	275	10 (8, 13)	
	AG	116	13 (10, 15)	0.00002
	GG	9	13 (9.5, 19)	
552 A>C	AA	248	10 (8, 13)	
	AC	135	12 (9, 15)	6.8×10 <sup>-6</sup>
	CC	16	13.5 (11.2, 21)	

Table 6-7. Associations between polymorphisms in *UGT1A1* and *UGT1A6* and bilirubin levels

Data are given as median (IQR) and were compared by Mann-Whitney U or Kruskal-Wallis test.

Abbreviations: UGT1A1 = UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, polypeptide A1; UGT1A6 = UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, polypeptide A6. To determine the extent of linkage disequilibrium (LD) of the polymorphisms in the UGTs cluster in this group of subjects, standardised LD coefficients were calculated (Figure 6-4). The 2 SNPs in *UGT1A6* were highly linked ( $r^2 = 0.75$ ) and were also in LD with *UGT1A1* \*6 ( $r^2 = 0.36$  and 0.48, respectively). The *UGT1A1* (TA)<sub>6>7</sub> (\*28) polymorphism in the promoter region of UGT1A1 was moderately linked to the other SNP in the same region, the -3279T>G (\*60).



Figure 6-4. Degree of linkage disequilibrium present within UGTs cluster

Values in each diamond represent the pairwise linkage disequilibrium coefficients  $(r^2)$  calculated using Haploview 4.0.

Further analysis showed that the *UGT1A1* \*28 and \*6 polymorphisms had a greater effect on bilirubin levels than \*60 (Figure 6-5). Subjects with two variant alleles had higher values of bilirubin than those with homozygous wild-type alleles with heterozygous having intermediate values (Figure 6-6).





Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, circles indicating outliers and stars indicating values of greater than  $3 \times IQR$ .

Figure 6-6. Effect of UGT1A1 haplotypes on bilirubin levels



Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, circles indicating outliers and stars indicating values of greater than  $3 \times IQR$ .

The haplotype analysis of the closely linked SNPs 541A>G and 552A>C in UGT1A6 showed that subjects with \*2 (G-C) and \*4 (A-C) had higher bilirubin levels than those with wild type alleles (A-A) in a gene-dose dependent manner (Figure 6-7) and the effect of UGT1A6 haplotypes on bilirubin levels was mainly determined by the 552A>C SNP as the 541G variant in \*2 had no additional effect compared to \*4.

Figure 6-7. Effect of UGT1A6 haplotypes on bilirubin levels



Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, circles indicating outliers and stars indicating values of greater than  $3 \times IQR$ .

Multivariate regression analysis showed that triglyceride level (P= $2.6 \times 10^{-15}$ ), gender (P= $2.8 \times 10^{-8}$ ), UGT1A1 \*28 (P= $1.5 \times 10^{-9}$ ) and \*6 (P= $2.2 \times 10^{-7}$ ) were independently associated with log-bilirubin levels which total explained 29.2% of variance of log-bilirubin levels (Table 6-8). The 2 SNPs in UGT1A6 were not associated with bilirubin level after adjustment for variants in UGT1A1 suggesting their effects on bilirubin level may be due to the LD with UGT1A1 \*6 (Figure 6-4).

Variables	Standardized Coefficients	Р	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Triglyceride levels	-0.367	2.6×10 <sup>-15</sup>	0.122
Gender *	0.252	2.8×10 <sup>-8</sup>	0.065
<i>UGT1A1</i> *28 <sup>†</sup>	0.280	1.5×10 <sup>-9</sup>	0.053
<i>UGT1A1</i> *6 <sup>†</sup>	0.238	2.2×10 <sup>-7</sup>	0.052

Table 6-8. Multivariate model of predictors of bilirubin levels

\*0 = Female; 1 = male. <sup>†</sup> 1 = Homozygous wild-type allele; 2 = heterozygous variant allele; 3 = homozygous variant allele.

Abbreviations: UGT1A1 = UDP glucuronosyltransferase 1 family, polypeptide A1.

## **6.4 Discussion**

## 6.4.1 Associations between genetic polymorphisms and baseline levels of lipids

The analysis of associations between lipid concentration traits and polymorphisms in genes related to cholesterol synthesis and lipoprotein metabolism has identified several different genetic predictors of LDL-C or HDL-C levels in patients with and without FH. Furthermore, more genetic factors appear to affect the baseline lipid levels in patients with FH compared to non-FH patients. These findings suggest the complex interactions between genetic and environmental factors and plasma cholesterol levels in patients with and without FH.

In contrast to the high LDL-C in FH resulting from a monogenic defect in one of several genes that affect receptor-mediated uptake of LDL, including *LDLR*, *APOB*, and proprotein convertase subtilisin-like kexin type 9 (*PCSK9*), the pathogenesis of common dyslipidaemia is more complicated and largely unclear. It has been known that dyslipidaemia is more often secondary to other causes than a primary genetic defect. Even in patients with known genetic disorders, secondary factors may affect

lipid levels considerably (Pimstone SN et al., 1998). These include obesity; lifestyle influences such as diet, exercise, smoking, and alcohol use; endocrine disorders such as diabetes mellitus and hypothyroidism; liver and renal diseases; and the use of pharmacological agents (Garg A and Simha V, 2007, Watanabe H et al., 2003), so it is not surprising that the variants identified in those large GWASs explained only a small fraction (~5%) of interindividual variability in lipoprotein levels (Lusis AJ and Pajukanta P, 2008).

APOE is a multifunctional protein that plays a key role in the metabolism of cholesterol and triglycerides and 2 common polymorphisms in this gene lead to 3 APOE isoforms (e2, e3, and e4) with different functions in lipid metabolism (Chapter 1, Table 1-11). Multiple epidemiologic studies have shown that individuals carrying the e4 allele have higher and those carrying the e2 allele have lower LDL-C levels than people with the commonest e3/e3 genotype. In the present study, the APOE polymorphism also tended to present a similar association with LDL-C levels in patients without FH but this was not significant (e2 carriers vs. e3e3 vs. e4 carriers =  $3.57 \pm 1.20 \text{ mmol/L}: 4.11 \pm 0.95 \text{ mmol/L}: 4.25 \pm 0.91 \text{ mmol/L}, P>0.05$ ). However, a reverse association between APOE polymorphisms and LDL-C levels was observed in patients with FH (Figure 6-8). It has been suggested that the effect of APOE polymorphisms on LDL-C levels is based on the differences in the LDLR affinity and the different regulatory effects on LDLR among APOE variants (Kolovou G et al., 2009, Mahley RW et al., 2009), therefore, the impaired function of LDLR in patients FH may alter the association between LDL-C and APOE polymorphism which requires further evaluations.

Figure 6-8. Different associations between APOE polymorphisms and baseline levels of LDL-C in patients with and without FH



Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, circles indicating outliers and stars indicating values of greater than  $3 \times IQR$ . In non-FH: e2 carriers, n= 14; e3e3, n= 167; e4 carriers, n=51. In FH: e2 carriers, n= 19; e3e3, n= 112; e4 carriers, n=38.

It is also worthy to note that the *LDLR* 44964A>G polymorphism showed an opposite relationship with baseline triglyceride levels in FH and non-FH patients separately (Figure 6-9). This SNP has been found to be associated with increased baseline triglyceride levels but a decreased LDL-C level and a greater incidence of CHD or CVD in PROSPER (Prospective Study of Pravastatin in the Elderly at Risk) participants (Polisecki E et al., 2008). Again, the reduced function of LDLR in patients with FH may play a role in the reverse relationship between the *LDLR* 44964A>G polymorphism and baseline triglyceride levels in patients with and without FH.

Figure 6-9. Different associations between the *LDLR* rs2738466 polymorphism and baseline levels of triglyceride in patients with and without FH



Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, circles indicating outliers and stars indicating values of greater than  $3 \times IQR$ .

Previous studies have consistently demonstrated that APOA5 is a key determinant of plasma triglyceride concentrations and polymorphisms in this gene have been shown to be related to familial combined hyperlipidaemia in Chinese (Liu ZK et al., 2010). In the present study, the *APOA5* -1131T>C polymorphism was strongly associated with baseline triglyceride levels in both FH and non-FH patients suggesting the significant role of this polymorphism on plasma triglyceride levels (Table 6-3).

Most of these associations did not reach a significant level after correction for multiple testing, which may be due to the small sample size in the subgroups of FH and non-FH. In addition, we may not have adequate power to detect some potential associations with the obtained sample size, but the results from this analysis can be used as a basis for further evaluation with expanded number of subjects.

## 6.4.2 Determinants of uric acid

This analysis shows that the SLC2A9 rs1014290 polymorphism was significantly associated with reduced uric acid levels in Chinese patients particularly in female subjects, which is consistent with the findings from GWASs in Caucasian and Black subjects (Dehghan A et al., 2008, Doring A et al., 2008, Vitart V et al., 2008). In previous genome-wide studies, the strongest effect on serum uric acid concentrations was detected for the SLC2A9 with several linked noncoding genetic variants of SLC2A9 including rs1014290 in intron 3 and rs12510549 in intergenic region examined in the study strongly associated with decreased serum uric acid concentrations and increased fractional excretion of uric acid suggesting it as a key player in the renal excretion of uric acid (Dehghan A et al., 2008, Doring A et al., 2008, Vitart V et al., 2008) (Kolz M et al., 2009). Nonsynonymous SNPs in SLC2A9 showed less significant associations with serum uric acid levels than intronic SNPs (Vitart V et al., 2008), although the missense SNP rs16890979 in SLC2A9 leading to a valine to isoleucine aminoacid substitution (V253I) showed strong associations with uric acid level and gout in the Framingham cohort and the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) participants (Dehghan A et al., 2008, Doring A et al., 2008, Vitart V et al., 2008). This nonsynonymous SNP rs16890979 is in high LD ( $r^2=0.88$ ) with an intronic SNP rs7345553, the SNP showing the strongest association  $(P=5.2\times10^{-201})$  at the SLC2A9 locus with uric acid levels in meta-analysis of the GWA data from 28,141 individuals of European ancestry (Kolz M et al., 2009). It has been proposed that SLC2A9 may play an important role in urate reabsorption and polymorphisms in the gene associated with reduced activity of the transporter impair the reabsorption of urate leading to reduced levels of serum uric acid (Le MT et al., 2008).

Before being identified as a modulator of uric acid levels in recent GWASs, SLC2A9 coding for glucose transporter 9 (GLUT9), was newly identified as a member of the SLC2A gene family of hexose facilitative transporters functioning in the transport of both glucose and fructose (Manolescu AR et al., 2007). Although the exact mechanism of *SLC2A9* affecting urate excretion is unclear, functional assay has suggested that SLC2A9 has a direct role in urate transport (Matsuo H et al., 2008, Vitart V et al., 2008) and this function has been shown to be facilitated by glucose and fructose in one study (Caulfield MJ et al., 2008). It is worthy noting that fructose itself promotes uric acid formation (Hallfrisch J, 1990), so it would be of interest to examine the interactions between fructose intake, *SLC2A9* polymorphisms and uric acid levels. A very recent study in 1,822 Croatians has suggested that there is a certain extent of interaction between *SLC2A9* and dietary patterns in serum uric acid determination and the metabolic effect of soft drinks seems to be determined by the underlying genotype of *SLC2A9* rs1014290 (Jeroncic I et al., 2010).

An elevated uric acid level has been consistently associated with an increased relative risk for development of hypertension (Feig DI et al., 2008). In this study, further analysis in subgroups of patients with and without hypertension revealed that the *SLC2A9* rs1014290 polymorphism had a more predominant effect on uric acid levels in patients without hypertension than those with hypertension, which may be due to the influence of disease itself or diuretic use in patients with hypertension altering this association. The *SLC2A9* polymorphism was not associated with hypertension in this study and previous GWASs suggesting uric acid is not a direct

causal factor for hypertension (Vitart V et al., 2008).

The ABCG2 is highly expressed in the placenta, kidney, liver and small intestine, and has also been newly identified to be a urate transporter. The functional SNP 421C>A polymorphism was shown to be significantly associated with increased uric acid levels and risk of gout in different populations (Dehghan A et al., 2008, Wang B et al., 2010). However, the present study only replicated the association between the SLC2A9 rs1014290 polymorphism and uric acid levels, the strongest relationship identified in previous GWASs, but not ABCG2 421C>A or other SNPs in candidate genes, which may be largely due to the influence of other confounding factors such as concomitant medications, lifestyles e.g. dietary intake and physical activities or lack of power to detect the variance in serum uric acid levels related to the genotypes investigated in this study. It is worth noting that patients in this study were treated with rosuvastatin, which is the substrate of ABCG2 and the variant allele of 421C>A polymorphism was associated with increased systemic exposure to rosuvastatin (Keskitalo JE et al., 2009c) and the lipid response as described in Chapter 4 (Tomlinson B et al., 2010). Statins have been shown to reduce uric acid levels in patients with CHD in the GREek Atorvastatin and Coronary-heart-disease Evaluation (GREACE) study (Athyros VG et al., 2004), therefore, lack of association between ABCG2 421C>A and uric acid level in the present study may be due to the complicated interaction between genetic effects and drug effects on uric acid levels.

In the present study, male subjects had higher uric acid levels than female subjects as shown in many previous studies, but this gender difference in uric acid levels is unlikely to be due to the different effects of the *SLC2A9* rs1014290 polymorphism on uric acid concentrations in males and females as male patients had higher uric acid levels than females within each *SLC2A9* rs1014290 genotype group. In this study, we found a gender-specific association between age and uric acid level. Age did not seem to affect uric acid levels in males but in females the uric acid level increased with increasing age. It has been reported that postmenopausal women had higher uric acid levels than in premenopausal women (Hak AE and Choi HK, 2008), and therefore, it is possible that menopause status or oestrogen hormone affects the observed association between age and uric acid in women.

It has been well known that multiple phenotypic factors are associated with uric acid levels, including age, gender, obesity, blood pressure and other metabolic disorders. In the present study, serum creatinine level, waist circumference, triglyceride levels and having hypertension were independent phenotypic predictors of uric acid level in female subjects, whereas serum creatinine level was not related to uric acid levels in male subjects after adjustment for other phenotypic factors. Similarly, having hypertension is the strongest predictor of uric acid levels in males but was only moderately associated with uric acid level in females. Patients with hypertension had higher creatinine levels than those non-hypertensive patients in females  $(76.2 \pm 19.1)$  $\mu$ mol/L vs. 64.3 ± 19.1  $\mu$ mol/L, P<0.001), but there was no significant difference in creatinine levels in male subjects with and without hypertension (93.3  $\pm$  24.2  $\mu$ mol/L vs.  $88.0 \pm 12.4 \mu mol/L$ , P>0.05). In multivariate analysis, waist circumference was associated with uric acid levels in females but not in males, which was similar to the finding from a previous study in Korean subjects (Jang WC et al., 2008). The underlying mechanism of gender-specific relationships between hypertension, creatinine level, waist circumference and uric acid level observed in the study is unclear and may be related to gender-related differences in uric acid metabolism and other clinical features.

This analysis has several limitations which require consideration. Patients in the present study had increased risk of CVD and were treated with multiple pharmacotherapy for these risk factors, which may influence uric acid level and/or association between genetic polymorphism and uric acid level, therefore, the results of this study should be interpreted with caution. In addition, lifestyle factors, in particular diet, also play an important role in uric acid concentrations and these were not evaluated in this study.

## 6.4.3 Determinants of bilirubin

SLCO1B1 and UGT1A1 appear to play an important role in the disposition of bilirubin. It has been shown that homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations of the *UGT1A1* gene can result in inheritable unconjugated hyperbilirubinaemia (Kadakol A et al., 2000). The *UGT1A1* \*28 and \*6 variants are known to reduce enzymatic activity of *UGT1A1* and the \*28 polymorphism in the *UGT1A1* has been proven to be associated with hyperbilirubinaemia (Schwertner HA and Vitek L, 2008). Several other studies have also shown that the 211G>A SNP (\*6) in *UGT1A1* is associated with increased bilirubin concentrations in different populations (Lin R et al., 2009, Saito A et al., 2009). The \*28 allele is more common in White and Black subjects (0.25-0.56) than in Asians (~0.1) (Hall D et al., 1999), whereas the \*6 variant is prevalent in Asian populations with a frequency of 0.13-0.25 but almost absent in other populations (Kaniwa N et al., 2005).

In the present study, we have confirmed the well-known associations between \*28 and \*6 polymorphisms and increased bilirubin level in Chinese patients with increased risk of CVD. Polymorphisms in *SLCO1B1* did not appear to affect bilirubin levels in this study nor in previous studies in Chinese and Japanese subjects (Lin R et al., 2009, Saito A et al., 2009). We also examined whether common SNPs in other UGT genes e.g. UGT1A6 and UGT2B7 influence bilirubin levels although UGT1A1 has been considered to be the only enzyme that contributes substantially to bilirubin glucuronidation, but none of the others showed a significant effect after adjustment for UGT1A1 polymorphisms.

Several prospective studies have shown that high normal and moderately elevated serum bilirubin levels protect against CVD, which suggests that bilirubin or some other factors associated with bilirubin prevents future CVD (Schwertner HA and Vitek L, 2008). The protective effect of bilirubin against CVD is probably related to its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Nakagami T et al., 1993, Stocker R and Keaney JF, Jr., 2004). In 1,780 individuals participating in the Framingham Offspring Study who had been followed up for 24 years, homozygote *UGT1A1* \*28 allele carriers with higher serum bilirubin concentrations had approximately one third the risk of CVD and CHD of those with wild and heterozygous genotypes (Lin JP et al., 2006). Future prospective studies are needed to determine if elevated serum bilirubin levels due to these genetic factors are associated with decreased CVD mortality.

Serum bilirubin has been shown to be independently related to many of the existing risk factors for CVD (Schwertner HA and Vitek L, 2008). A previous retrospective study on the association of cardiovascular risk factors and bilirubin levels in Hong Kong Chinese (n=1,508) showed an inverse relationship between serum bilirubin levels and triglycerides, insulin, glycated hemoglobin and VLDL (very-low-density lipoprotein) (Ko GT et al., 1996). A strong inverse correlation of plasma bilirubin

concentrations with triglyceride levels ( $P < 5 \times 10^{-15}$ ) was also observed in this study. It is still unclear whether bilirubin is responsible for the protection of CVD or some other factors associated with bilirubin prevents future CVD.

In vitro and animals studies have suggested that statins upregulate the antioxidant defense protein haeme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), the enzyme that plays an important role in haeme metabolism and production of biliverdin, bilirubin and carbon monoxide (Grosser N et al., 2004, Muchova L et al., 2007). In this study, rosuvastatin appeared to increase the bilirubin levels by 5.9% from baseline levels in male subjects, but had no effect in female subjects (Chapter 4, Table 4-9). The gender-dependent effect of statins on bilirubin level or HO-1 induction has not been reported, however, the association between bilirubin levels and cardiovascular event has been shown to be gender-dependent in Framingham offspring study (Djousse L et al., 2001) and some other large prospective studies (Kimm H et al., 2009). In 78,724 Korean subjects (41,054 men, aged 30-89 years) with stroke cases of 1137 in men and 827 in women, participants with a higher level of bilirubin (>15.3 µmol/L) showed lower hazard ratios in men with ischaemic stroke after adjustment for multiple confounding factors compared to the lowest level of bilirubin ( $\leq 10.2 \,\mu$ mol/L), but these associations were not found in haemorrhagic stroke or in studies of women (Kimm H et al., 2009). The mechanism of gender difference in bilirubin response to rosvuastatin in the present study is unclear, but this may be related to the gender-specific associations between bilirubin levels and CVD risk, which needs to be further investigated. The polymorphisms in UGT1A1 or other candidate genes did not affect bilirubin response to rosuvastatin.
## **6.5** Conclusion

In summary, our findings from the large-scale SNP database of drug-related and lipid-related genes confirms some previous associations between genetic polymorphisms and lipid parameters, uric acid and bilirubin levels, the commonly measured quantitative traits associated with risk of CVD. This analysis also provides some novel findings regarding different genetic determinants of lipoprotein levels in patients with and without FH, which warrant further evaluations.

# Chapter 7 Summary of the study

### 7.1 Summary of the study

This study has shown that there is a wide variation in LDL-C response to rosuvastatin (Figure 4-3) in Chinese patients with increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD). The *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism was strongly associated with an increased LDL-C response to rosuvastatin, which explained about 5% of the variance in LDL-C response to rosuvastatin. Several other polymorphisms, in particular *FMO3* V257M, *LPL* 1421C>G and *APOE/C1/C4/C2* rs4420638, also tended to influence the LDL-C response to rosuvatatin. In this study, patients with familial hypercholesterolaemia (FH) had a 2.6% smaller percentage reduction in LDL-C than patients without and age and gender also tended to affect LDL-C response but these effects were much smaller than the impact of the *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism or other genetic factors on the LDL-C response.

The HDL-C response to treatment with rosuvastatin 10 mg daily in study participants was minimal and was strongly related to baseline HDL-C levels. The *SLCO1B1* 521T>C polymorphism may also contribute to the difference in baseline HDL-C and HDL-C response to rosuvastatin in patients with FH. The triglyceride response to rosuvastatin was highly variable and was strongly related to baseline levels. A common SNP in *DGAT2* (rs10899113) appeared to have some impact on the triglyceride response to rosuvstatin.

This study also demonstrated close relationships between genetic variants and

cardiovascular risk factors (e.g. obesity, low HDL-C, and high triglycerides) and levels of hsCRP in Chinese patients receiving treatment with rosuvastatin, which are similar to the relationships reported in patients not on statin treatment.

Analysis of associations between genetic factors and baseline lipid levels in FH and non-FH patients showed that multiple polymorphisms in candidate genes/loci tended to be associated with baseline lipoprotein levels with different genetic polymorphisms contributing to the variance in lipid levels in subgroup of FH and non-FH.

The present study also confirmed prior reported associations between *UGT1A1* polymorphisms and bilirubin levels, and gender-specific effects of SLC2A9 polymorphisms on uric acid levels.

#### 7.2 Clinical implications

It is well recognized that lowering elevated levels of LDL-C reduces cardiovascular risk. Statins are indicated for the prevention of cardiovascular events in a very large number of the population in most developed countries throughout the world. However, there is a considerable variation between individuals in the response to these drugs in terms of the main primary lipid parameter, which is the reduction in plasma LDL-C concentration and this is thought to be the major determinant of the cardiovascular outcome. Pharmacogenetic studies have shown that genetic variation may determine statin response and side effects.

This study was performed to examine whether genetic variants predicted lipid

responses to rosuvastatin in Hong Kong Chinese patients, which might help to optimize statin therapy by identifying individuals with increased risk or benefit. One of the major novel findings was that a genetic polymorphism in ABCG2, a protein in the cell membrane that helps to pump drugs out of liver cells into the bile, was associated with a greater reduction in plasma LDL-C with rosuvastatin. The greater reduction in LDL-C in patients with the AA genotype compared to those with the CC genotype was equivalent to at least doubling the dose of rosuvastatin. This corresponds with previously published pharmacokinetic data indicating that the ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism plays an important role in the LDL-C response to rosuvastatin through a pharmacokinetic effect. This genetic variant or polymorphism is relatively common in Chinese people and about 50% of the population carries at least one copy of the variant allele and they may respond to smaller doses of rosuvastatin. The finding of this study helped to optimize the lipid response in the cohort of patients studied by choosing the most appropriate statin at the most appropriate dose and this is likely to have greater benefits in reducing cardiovascular events in the long term.

Today, there are about 10% of labels for FDA-approved drugs which contain pharmacogeneomic information (Frueh FW et al., 2008). There are several examples where pharmacogenetic tools already impact therapeutics with the most promising examples in the field of oncology. For example, testing for HER2/neu and epidermal growth factor receptor expression is required before starting therapy with specific oncology agents (Frueh FW et al., 2008). Pharmacogenetics has also influenced the clinical practise in Hong Kong, for example, testing of *HLA-B*\*1502 allele should be performed in patients prior to starting carbamazepine treatment as recommended by the local regulatory authority due to the strong association between certain serious skin reactions to carbamazepine and HLA-B\*1502 in Asian ancestry (Ferrell PB, Jr. and McLeod HL, 2008). The application of pharmacogenetics to cardiovascular disease is less clear at present. The best example of the clinical implications of utilizing pharmacogenetic-based theray is the impact of the vitamin K epoxide reductase complex, subunit 1 (*VKORC1*) and *CYP2C9* variants on warfarin response which totally explain about 50% of the variability in response to warfarin (Manolopoulos VG et al., 2010). The present study identified certain genetic polymorphisms that determine the lipid response to rosuvastatin in Chinese patients which provides important pharmacogenetic information on rosuvastatin and a better understatanding of the mechamisms of action of the drug. With the rapid development of technology and more clinical outcome data available, the pharmacogenetic information on statins could be used as a basis for reaching a therapeutic decision in the future.

The importance of C-reactive protein (CRP) as a biomarker of inflammation and an indicator of risk for cardiovascular events has received considerable attention in recent years. Achieving lower levels of CRP during statin treatment is associated with improved cardiovascular outcome but baseline plasma CRP levels vary considerably among individuals and are driven by multiple genetic factors and cardiovascular correlates. Whether CRP represents a risk marker or risk factor is an area of hot debate. Based on results from the JUPITER (Justification for the Use of statins in Prevention: an Intervention Trial Evaluation Rosuvastatin) trial, FDA has now approved rosuvastatin for reducing the risk of stroke, myocardial infarction, and revascularization procedures in individuals who have normal LDL-C levels and no clinically evident coronary heart disease but who do have an increased risk based on age ( $\geq$  50 years in men;  $\geq$  60 years in women), elevated hsCRP, and the presence of

at least one additional CVD risk factor, which include high blood pressure, low HDL-C, smoking, or a family history of premature coronary heart disease (FDA, 2010). In JUPITER, age was the only cardiovascular risk factor, in addition to elevated CRP, in 25% of patients, while nearly 50% of patients had at least one other risk factor. In a post hoc subgroup analysis, the benefit of treatment was observed only in those who met the age and elevated-CRP criteria with at least one additional risk factor. Among patients who strictly qualified for treatment based on age and CRP only, the reduction in the primary end point was not statistically significant. The levels of CRP during statin therapy have been shown to be still related to traditional cardiovascular risk factors, but we believe the present study is the first to examine the effects of traditional risk factors together with relevant genotypes on CRP during statin treatment and the results of the study provide additional insights into the interpretation of CRP levels.

#### 7.3 Potential for further development of the research

This study has identified genetic predictors of LDL-C response to rosuvastatin, the most recently introduced statin in Hong Kong public hospitals. It would be interesting to see if these genetic polymorphisms also influence the lipid response to other commonly used statins, e.g. simvastatin. Furthermore, it will be useful to measure the concentrations in the plasma samples obtained and perform the population pharmacokinetic analysis to examine the impact of the ABCG2 421C>A polymorphism and other variants in drug metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin and to link this to the pharmacodynamic result described in this thesis. It is also worth examining whether certain ABCG2 inducers/inhibitors or other environmental and physiological factors

could alter expression of the transporter and thereby the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of rosuvastatin.

In addition, the exact mechanism of effect of *FMO3* V257M, the other common genetic polymorphism associated with the LDL-C response to rosuvatatin with an effect size similar to the *ABCG2* 421C>A polymorphism in the study is still unclear, and needs to be further evaluated and replicated in an independent cohort.

Changes in LDL-C may be predictive of clinical outcomes, but it would also be important to examine the impact of polymorphisms identified in this study on cardiovascular events. Future analyses of clinical outcome studies are warranted to identify whether genetic variations influencing the lipid response to statins can be translated to differences in the actual clinical outcome response to this class of medications.

In this study, patients with FH had a smaller LDL-C response to rosuvastatin than non-FH patients suggesting impaired LDLR function in FH may influence the statin response. However, the diagnosis of FH was made on the basis of phenotypic criteria which may be not accurate. Further genetic tests could be performed to verify the diagnosis and most importantly to examine whether different genetic causes of FH influence the lipid response to statins in Chinese patients with FH.

229

## References

- Abifadel M, Rabes JP, Devillers M, Munnich A, Erlich D, Junien C, et al. Mutations and polymorphisms in the proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin 9 (PCSK9) gene in cholesterol metabolism and disease. *Hum Mutat* 2009; 30: 520-9.
- Amirimani B, Ning B, Deitz AC, Weber BL, Kadlubar FF, Rebbeck TR. Increased transcriptional activity of the CYP3A4\*1B promoter variant. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2003; 42: 299-305.
- Apte SS. A disintegrin-like and metalloprotease (reprolysin-type) with thrombospondin type 1 motif (ADAMTS) superfamily: functions and mechanisms. J Biol Chem 2009; 284: 31493-7.
- Armendariz AD, Krauss RM. Hepatic nuclear factor 1-alpha: inflammation, genetics, and atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 2009; 20: 106-11.
- Arnaud C, Burger F, Steffens S, Veillard NR, Nguyen TH, Trono D, et al. Statins reduce interleukin-6-induced C-reactive protein in human hepatocytes: new evidence for direct antiinflammatory effects of statins. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005; 25: 1231-6.
- Athyros VG, Elisaf M, Papageorgiou AA, Symeonidis AN, Pehlivanidis AN, Bouloukos VI, et al. Effect of statins versus untreated dyslipidemia on serum uric acid levels in patients with coronary heart disease: a subgroup analysis of the GREek Atorvastatin and Coronary-heart-disease Evaluation (GREACE) study. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 43: 589-99.
- Austin MA, Zhang C, Humphries SE, Chandler WL, Talmud PJ, Edwards KL, et al. Heritability of C-reactive protein and association with apolipoprotein E genotypes in Japanese Americans. *Ann Hum Genet* 2004; 68: 179-88.
- Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Buck G, Pollicino C, et al. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet* 2005; 366: 1267-78.
- Ballantyne CM, Herd JA, Stein EA, Ferlic LL, Dunn JK, Gotto AM, Jr., et al. Apolipoprotein E genotypes and response of plasma lipids and progression-regression of coronary atherosclerosis to lipid-lowering drug therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 36: 1572-8.
- Ballantyne CM, Raichlen JS, Nicholls SJ, Erbel R, Tardif JC, Brener SJ, et al. Effect of Rosuvastatin Therapy on Coronary Artery Stenoses Assessed by Quantitative Coronary Angiography. A Study to Evaluate the Effect of Rosuvastatin on Intravascular Ultrasound-Derived Coronary Atheroma Burden. Circulation 2008.

- Barter PJ, Brandrup-Wognsen G, Palmer MK, Nicholls SJ. Effect of statins on HDL: a complex process unrelated to changes in LDL: Analysis of the VOYAGER Database. *J Lipid Res* 2009.
- Bercovich D, Friedlander Y, Korem S, Houminer A, Hoffman A, Kleinberg L, et al. The association of common SNPs and haplotypes in the CETP and MDR1 genes with lipids response to fluvastatin in familial hypercholesterolemia. *Atherosclerosis* 2006; 185: 97-107.
- Berge KE, Ose L, Leren TP. Missense mutations in the PCSK9 gene are associated with hypocholesterolemia and possibly increased response to statin therapy. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2006; 26: 1094-100.
- Bertolini S, Pisciotta L, Di Scala L, Langheim S, Bellocchio A, Masturzo P, et al. Genetic polymorphisms affecting the phenotypic expression of familial hypercholesterolemia. *Atherosclerosis* 2004; 174: 57-65.
- Blankenberg S, Rupprecht HJ, Bickel C, Jiang XC, Poirier O, Lackner KJ, et al. Common genetic variation of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene strongly predicts future cardiovascular death in patients with coronary artery disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2003; 41: 1983-9.
- Blum A, Shamburek R. The pleiotropic effects of statins on endothelial function, vascular inflammation, immunomodulation and thrombogenesis. *Atherosclerosis* 2009; 203: 325-30.
- Bo S, Gambino R, Durazzo M, Ghione F, Musso G, Gentile L, et al. Associations between serum uric acid and adipokines, markers of inflammation, and endothelial dysfunction. *J Endocrinol Invest* 2008; 31: 499-504.
- Boekholdt SM, Kuivenhoven JA, Hovingh GK, Jukema JW, Kastelein JJ, van Tol A. CETP gene variation: relation to lipid parameters and cardiovascular risk. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2004; 15: 393-8.
- Bogman K, Peyer AK, Torok M, Kusters E, Drewe J. HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors and P-glycoprotein modulation. Br J Pharmacol 2001; 132: 1183-92.
- Brewer HB, Jr., Remaley AT, Neufeld EB, Basso F, Joyce C. Regulation of plasma high-density lipoprotein levels by the ABCA1 transporter and the emerging role of high-density lipoprotein in the treatment of cardiovascular disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2004; 24: 1755-60.
- Burkhardt R, Kenny EE, Lowe JK, Birkeland A, Josowitz R, Noel M, et al. Common SNPs in HMGCR in micronesians and whites associated with LDL-cholesterol levels affect alternative splicing of exon13. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2008; 28: 2078-84.
- Caillier B, Lepine J, Tojcic J, Menard V, Perusse L, Belanger A, et al. A pharmacogenomics study of the human estrogen glucuronosyltransferase UGT1A3. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2007; 17: 481-95.

- Carlson CS, Aldred SF, Lee PK, Tracy RP, Schwartz SM, Rieder M, et al. Polymorphisms within the C-reactive protein (CRP) promoter region are associated with plasma CRP levels. *Am J Hum Genet* 2005; 77: 64-77.
- Carmena R, Roederer G, Mailloux H, Lussier-Cacan S, Davignon J. The response to lovastatin treatment in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia is modulated by apolipoprotein E polymorphism. *Metabolism* 1993; 42: 895-901.
- Cartier A, Cote M, Lemieux I, Perusse L, Tremblay A, Bouchard C, et al. Sex differences in inflammatory markers: what is the contribution of visceral adiposity? Am J Clin Nutr 2009; 89: 1307-14.
- Casas JP, Shah T, Hingorani AD, Danesh J, Pepys MB. C-reactive protein and coronary heart disease: a critical review. J Intern Med 2008; 264: 295-314.
- Cascorbi I. Role of pharmacogenetics of ATP-binding cassette transporters in the pharmacokinetics of drugs. *Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 112: 457-73.
- Cashman JR, Akerman BR, Forrest SM, Treacy EP. Population-specific polymorphisms of the human FMO3 gene: significance for detoxication. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2000; 28: 169-73.
- Cashman JR, Zhang J. Human flavin-containing monooxygenases. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 2006; 46: 65-100.
- Caulfield MJ, Munroe PB, O'Neill D, Witkowska K, Charchar FJ, Doblado M, et al. SLC2A9 is a high-capacity urate transporter in humans. *PLoS Med* 2008; 5: e197.
- Chapman MJ, Le Goff W, Guerin M, Kontush A. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: at the heart of the action of lipid-modulating therapy with statins, fibrates, niacin, and cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors. *Eur Heart J* 2010; 31: 149-64.
- Chasman DI, Kozlowski P, Zee RY, Kwiatkowski DJ, Ridker PM. Qualitative and quantitative effects of APOE genetic variation on plasma C-reactive protein, LDL-cholesterol, and apoE protein. *Genes Immun* 2006; 7: 211-9.
- Chasman DI, Pare G, Mora S, Hopewell JC, Peloso G, Clarke R, et al. Forty-three loci associated with plasma lipoprotein size, concentration, and cholesterol content in genome-wide analysis. *PLoS Genet* 2009; 5: e1000730.
- Chasman DI, Posada D, Subrahmanyan L, Cook NR, Stanton VP, Jr., Ridker PM. Pharmacogenetic study of statin therapy and cholesterol reduction. *JAMA* 2004; 291: 2821-7.
- Chaves FJ, Real JT, Garcia-Garcia AB, Civera M, Armengod ME, Ascaso JF, et al. Genetic diagnosis of familial hypercholesterolemia in a South European outbreed population: influence of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor gene mutations on treatment response to simvastatin in total, LDL, and

high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001; 86: 4926-32.

- Chen JH, Chuang SY, Chen HJ, Yeh WT, Pan WH. Serum uric acid level as an independent risk factor for all-cause, cardiovascular, and ischemic stroke mortality: a Chinese cohort study. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009; 61: 225-32.
- Chen S, Tsybouleva N, Ballantyne CM, Gotto AM, Jr., Marian AJ. Effects of PPARalpha, gamma and delta haplotypes on plasma levels of lipids, severity and progression of coronary atherosclerosis and response to statin therapy in the lipoprotein coronary atherosclerosis study. *Pharmacogenetics* 2004; 14: 61-71.
- Chen Y, Chen S, Li X, Wang X, Zeng S. Genetic variants of human UGT1A3: functional characterization and frequency distribution in a Chinese Han population. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2006; 34: 1462-7.
- Chen YC, Chen YD, Li X, Post W, Herrington D, Polak JF, et al. The HMG-CoA reductase gene and lipid and lipoprotein levels: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Lipids* 2009; 44: 733-43.
- Choi JH, Lee MG, Cho JY, Lee JE, Kim KH, Park K. Influence of OATP1B1 genotype on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in Koreans. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2008; 83: 251-7.
- Choong ML, Koay ES, Khaw MC, Aw TC. Apolipoprotein B 5'-Ins/Del and 3'-VNTR polymorphisms in Chinese, malay and Indian singaporeans. *Hum Hered* 1999; 49: 31-40.
- Choudhuri S, Klaassen CD. Structure, function, expression, genomic organization, and single nucleotide polymorphisms of human ABCB1 (MDR1), ABCC (MRP), and ABCG2 (BCRP) efflux transporters. Int J Toxicol 2006; 25: 231-59.
- Collins R, Armitage J, Parish S, Sleigh P, Peto R. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol-lowering with simvastatin in 5963 people with diabetes: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2003; 361: 2005-16.
- Coon KD, Myers AJ, Craig DW, Webster JA, Pearson JV, Lince DH, et al. A high-density whole-genome association study reveals that APOE is the major susceptibility gene for sporadic late-onset Alzheimer's disease. J Clin Psychiatry 2007; 68: 613-8.
- Couture P, Brun LD, Szots F, Lelievre M, Gaudet D, Despres JP, et al. Association of specific LDL receptor gene mutations with differential plasma lipoprotein response to simvastatin in young French Canadians with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998; 18: 1007-12.
- Couvert P, Giral P, Dejager S, Gu J, Huby T, Chapman MJ, et al. Association

between a frequent allele of the gene encoding OATP1B1 and enhanced LDL-lowering response to fluvastatin therapy. *Pharmacogenomics* 2008; 9: 1217-27.

- Crouse JR, 3rd, Raichlen JS, Riley WA, Evans GW, Palmer MK, O'Leary DH, et al. Effect of rosuvastatin on progression of carotid intima-media thickness in low-risk individuals with subclinical atherosclerosis: the METEOR Trial. JAMA 2007; 297: 1344-53.
- Cusatis G, Sparreboom A. Pharmacogenomic importance of ABCG2. *Pharmacogenomics* 2008; 9: 1005-9.
- Cutler RG. Urate and ascorbate: their possible roles as antioxidants in determining longevity of mammalian species. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 1984; 3: 321-48.
- Danchin N. Rosuvastatin, C-reactive protein, LDL cholesterol, and the JUPITER trial. Lancet 2009; 374: 24-5; author reply 26-7.
- Danesh J, Erqou S, Walker M, Thompson SG, Tipping R, Ford C, et al. The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration: analysis of individual data on lipid, inflammatory and other markers in over 1.1 million participants in 104 prospective studies of cardiovascular diseases. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2007; 22: 839-69.
- Danesh J, Wheeler JG, Hirschfield GM, Eda S, Eiriksdottir G, Rumley A, et al. C-reactive protein and other circulating markers of inflammation in the prediction of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 2004; 350: 1387-97.
- de Grooth GJ, Zerba KE, Huang SP, Tsuchihashi Z, Kirchgessner T, Belder R, et al. The cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) TaqIB polymorphism in the cholesterol and recurrent events study: no interaction with the response to pravastatin therapy and no effects on cardiovascular outcome: a prospective analysis of the CETP TaqIB polymorphism on cardiovascular outcome and interaction with cholesterol-lowering therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 43: 854-7.
- Dehghan A, Kottgen A, Yang Q, Hwang SJ, Kao WL, Rivadeneira F, et al. Association of three genetic loci with uric acid concentration and risk of gout: a genome-wide association study. *Lancet* 2008; 372: 1953-61.
- Di YM, Chan E, Wei MQ, Liu JP, Zhou SF. Prediction of deleterious non-synonymous single-nucleotide polymorphisms of human uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase genes. *Aaps J* 2009; 11: 469-80.
- Djousse L, Levy D, Cupples LA, Evans JC, D'Agostino RB, Ellison RC. Total serum bilirubin and risk of cardiovascular disease in the Framingham offspring study. *Am J Cardiol* 2001; 87: 1196-200; A4, 7.
- Donnelly LA, Doney AS, Dannfald J, Whitley AL, Lang CC, Morris AD, et al. A paucimorphic variant in the HMG-CoA reductase gene is associated with

lipid-lowering response to statin treatment in diabetes: a GoDARTS study. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2008; 18: 1021-6.

- Doring A, Gieger C, Mehta D, Gohlke H, Prokisch H, Coassin S, et al. SLC2A9 influences uric acid concentrations with pronounced sex-specific effects. Nat Genet 2008; 40: 430-6.
- Dos Santos SM, Weber CC, Franke C, Muller WE, Eckert GP. Cholesterol: Coupling between membrane microenvironment and ABC transporter activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2007; 354: 216-21.
- Downs JR, Clearfield M, Weis S, Whitney E, Shapiro DR, Beere PA, et al. Primary prevention of acute coronary events with lovastatin in men and women with average cholesterol levels: results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study. JAMA 1998; 279: 1615-22.
- Eiriksdottir G, Smith AV, Aspelund T, Hafsteinsdottir SH, Olafsdottir E, Launer LJ, et al. The interaction of adiposity with the CRP gene affects CRP levels: age, gene/environment susceptibilty-Reykjavik study. Int J Obes (Lond) 2009; 33: 267-72.
- El Messal M, Beaudeux JL, Drissi A, Giral P, Chater R, Bruckert E, et al. Elevated serum levels of proinflammatory cytokines and biomarkers of matrix remodeling in never-treated patients with familial hypercholesterolemia. *Clin Chim Acta* 2006; 366: 185-9.
- Elliott P, Chambers JC, Zhang W, Clarke R, Hopewell JC, Peden JF, et al. Genetic Loci associated with C-reactive protein levels and risk of coronary heart disease. *JAMA* 2009; 302: 37-48.
- Fajans SS, Bell GI, Polonsky KS. Molecular mechanisms and clinical pathophysiology of maturity-onset diabetes of the young. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 971-80.
- FDA. Questions and Answers for Healthcare Professionals: CRESTOR and the JUPITER Trial. Release: 8 February 2010. http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationfor PatientsandProviders/ucm199891.htm (Accessed on 25 Mar 2010).
- Feig DI, Kang DH, Johnson RJ. Uric acid and cardiovascular risk. N. Engl. J. Med. 2008; 359: 1811-21.
- Ferrell PB, Jr., McLeod HL. Carbamazepine, HLA-B\*1502 and risk of Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis: US FDA recommendations. *Pharmacogenomics* 2008; 9: 1543-6.
- Fiegenbaum M, da Silveira FR, Van der Sand CR, Van der Sand LC, Ferreira ME, Pires RC, et al. Pharmacogenetic study of apolipoprotein E, cholesteryl ester transfer protein and hepatic lipase genes and simvastatin therapy in Brazilian subjects. *Clin Chim Acta* 2005a; 362: 182-8.

- Fiegenbaum M, da Silveira FR, Van der Sand CR, Van der Sand LC, Ferreira ME, Pires RC, et al. The role of common variants of ABCB1, CYP3A4, and CYP3A5 genes in lipid-lowering efficacy and safety of simvastatin treatment. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2005b; 78: 551-8.
- Fiegenbaum M, da Silveira FR, Van der Sand CR, Van der Sand LC, Ferreira ME, Pires RC, et al. The role of common variants of ABCB1, CYP3A4, and CYP3A5 genes in lipid-lowering efficacy and safety of simvastatin treatment. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 2005c; 78: 551-8.
- Food and Drug Administration. Food and Drug Administration. FDA Public Health Advisory on Crestor (rosuvastatin). Media Release: 2 March 2005. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.fda.gov</u> (Accessed on May 17 2008).
- Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin Chem* 1972; 18: 499-502.
- Frudakis TN, Thomas MJ, Ginjupalli SN, Handelin B, Gabriel R, Gomez HJ. CYP2D6\*4 polymorphism is associated with statin-induced muscle effects. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2007; 17: 695-707.
- Frueh FW, Amur S, Mummaneni P, Epstein RS, Aubert RE, DeLuca TM, et al. Pharmacogenomic biomarker information in drug labels approved by the United States food and drug administration: prevalence of related drug use. *Pharmacotherapy* 2008; 28: 992-8.
- Fujino H, Saito T, Ogawa S, Kojima J. Transporter-mediated influx and efflux mechanisms of pitavastatin, a new inhibitor of HMG-CoA reductase. J Pharm Pharmacol 2005; 57: 1305-11.
- Fujino H, Yamada I, Shimada S, Yoneda M, Kojima J. Metabolic fate of pitavastatin, a new inhibitor of HMG-CoA reductase: human UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzymes involved in lactonization. *Xenobiotica* 2003; 33: 27-41.
- Fujiwara R, Nakajima M, Oda S, Yamanaka H, Ikushiro S, Sakaki T, et al. Interactions between human UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) 2B7 and UGT1A enzymes. J Pharm Sci 2010; 99: 442-54.
- Fujiwara R, Nakajima M, Yamanaka H, Katoh M, Yokoi T. Interactions between human UGT1A1, UGT1A4, and UGT1A6 affect their enzymatic activities. Drug Metab Dispos 2007; 35: 1781-7.
- Fukushima-Uesaka H, Saito Y, Watanabe H, Shiseki K, Saeki M, Nakamura T, et al. Haplotypes of CYP3A4 and their close linkage with CYP3A5 haplotypes in a Japanese population. *Hum Mutat* 2004; 23: 100.
- Fung KL, Gottesman MM. A synonymous polymorphism in a common MDR1 (ABCB1) haplotype shapes protein function. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2009;

1794: 860-71.

- Furberg CD, Pitt B. Withdrawal of cerivastatin from the world market. *Curr Control Trials Cardiovasc Med* 2001; 2: 205-207.
- Gagne SE, Larson MG, Pimstone SN, Schaefer EJ, Kastelein JJ, Wilson PW, et al. A common truncation variant of lipoprotein lipase (Ser447X) confers protection against coronary heart disease: the Framingham Offspring Study. *Clin Genet* 1999; 55: 450-4.
- Garber MC, Nau DP, Erickson SR, Aikens JE, Lawrence JB. The concordance of self-report with other measures of medication adherence: a summary of the literature. *Med Care* 2004; 42: 649-52.
- Garcia-Otin AL, Civeira F, Aristegui R, Diaz C, Recalde D, Sol JM, et al. Allelic polymorphism -491A/T in apo E gene modulates the lipid-lowering response in combined hyperlipidemia treatment. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2002; 32: 421-8.
- Garg A, Simha V. Update on dyslipidemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007; 92: 1581-9.
- Goodarzi MO, Taylor KD, Scheuner MT, Antoine HJ, Guo X, Shah PK, et al. Haplotypes in the lipoprotein lipase gene influence high-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to statin therapy and progression of atherosclerosis in coronary artery bypass grafts. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2007; 7: 66-73.
- Goosen TC, Bauman JN, Davis JA, Yu C, Hurst SI, Williams JA, et al. Atorvastatin glucuronidation is minimally and nonselectively inhibited by the fibrates gemfibrozil, fenofibrate, and fenofibric acid. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2007; 35: 1315-24.
- Gordon DJ, Probstfield JL, Garrison RJ, Neaton JD, Castelli WP, Knoke JD, et al. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. *Circulation* 1989; 79: 8-15.
- Gordon RY, Becker DJ, Rader DJ. Reduced efficacy of rosuvastatin by St. John's Wort. Am J Med 2009; 122: e1-2.
- Gow JM, Hodges LM, Chinn LW, Kroetz DL. Substrate-dependent effects of human ABCB1 coding polymorphisms. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2008; 325: 435-42.
- Greenfield JR, Samaras K, Jenkins AB, Kelly PJ, Spector TD, Gallimore JR, et al. Obesity is an important determinant of baseline serum C-reactive protein concentration in monozygotic twins, independent of genetic influences. *Circulation* 2004; 109: 3022-8.
- Grimes DS. Statins and vitamin D : editorial to: "increased levels of 25 hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D after rosuvastatin treatment: a novel pleiotropic effect of statins?" by Bunyamin Yavuz et al. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 2009; 23: 261-2.
- Grosser N, Erdmann K, Hemmerle A, Berndt G, Hinkelmann U, Smith G, et al.

Rosuvastatin upregulates the antioxidant defense protein heme oxygenase-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 325: 871-6.

- Grundy SM. The issue of statin safety: where do we stand? *Circulation* 2005; 111: 3016-9.
- Guzman EC, Hirata MH, Quintao EC, Hirata RD. Association of the apolipoprotein B gene polymorphisms with cholesterol levels and response to fluvastatin in Brazilian individuals with high risk for coronary heart disease. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 2000; 38: 731-6.
- Hak AE, Choi HK. Menopause, postmenopausal hormone use and serum uric acid levels in US women--the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Arthritis Res Ther 2008; 10: R116.
- Hall D, Ybazeta G, Destro-Bisol G, Petzl-Erler ML, Di Rienzo A. Variability at the uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase 1A1 promoter in human populations and primates. *Pharmacogenetics* 1999; 9: 591-9.
- Hallfrisch J. Metabolic effects of dietary fructose. Faseb J 1990; 4: 2652-60.
- Hansson GK, Libby P. The immune response in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword. Nat Rev Immunol 2006; 6: 508-19.
- Hao D, Sun J, Furnes B, Schlenk D, Li M, Yang S, et al. Allele and genotype frequencies of polymorphic FMO3 gene in two genetically distinct populations. *Cell Biochem Funct* 2007; 25: 443-53.
- Heath KE, Gudnason V, Humphries SE, Seed M. The type of mutation in the low density lipoprotein receptor gene influences the cholesterol-lowering response of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor simvastatin in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. *Atherosclerosis* 1999; 143: 41-54.
- Hegedus C, Szakacs G, Homolya L, Orban TI, Telbisz A, Jani M, et al. Ins and outs of the ABCG2 multidrug transporter: an update on in vitro functional assays. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2009; 61: 47-56.
- Hegele RA. Plasma lipoproteins: genetic influences and clinical implications. Nat Rev Genet 2009; 10: 109-21.
- Hermann M, Bogsrud MP, Molden E, Asberg A, Mohebi BU, Ose L, et al. Exposure of atorvastatin is unchanged but lactone and acid metabolites are increased several-fold in patients with atorvastatin-induced myopathy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 79: 532-9.
- Himbergen TM, van Tits LJ, Voorbij HA, de Graaf J, Stalenhoef AF, Roest M. The effect of statin therapy on plasma high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels is modified by paraoxonase-1 in patients with familial hypercholesterolaemia. *J Intern Med* 2005; 258: 442-9.
- Hingorani AD, Shah T, Casas JP, Humphries SE, Talmud PJ. C-reactive protein and

coronary heart disease: predictive test or therapeutic target? *Clin Chem* 2009; 55: 239-55.

- Hirano M, Maeda K, Hayashi H, Kusuhara H, Sugiyama Y. Bile salt export pump (BSEP/ABCB11) can transport a nonbile acid substrate, pravastatin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005; 314: 876-82.
- Ho RH, Choi L, Lee W, Mayo G, Schwarz UI, Tirona RG, et al. Effect of drug transporter genotypes on pravastatin disposition in European- and African-American participants. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2007; 17: 647-56.
- Ho RH, Tirona RG, Leake BF, Glaeser H, Lee W, Lemke CJ, et al. Drug and bile acid transporters in rosuvastatin hepatic uptake: function, expression, and pharmacogenetics. *Gastroenterology* 2006; 130: 1793-806.
- Houghton PJ, Germain GS, Harwood FC, Schuetz JD, Stewart CF, Buchdunger E, et al. Imatinib mesylate is a potent inhibitor of the ABCG2 (BCRP) transporter and reverses resistance to topotecan and SN-38 in vitro. *Cancer Res* 2004; 64: 2333-7.
- Howard BV, Roman MJ, Devereux RB, Fleg JL, Galloway JM, Henderson JA, et al. Effect of lower targets for blood pressure and LDL cholesterol on atherosclerosis in diabetes: the SANDS randomized trial. JAMA 2008; 299: 1678-89.
- Hu M, Mak VWL, Chu TTY, Waye MMY, Tomlinson B. Pharmacogenetics of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: optimizing the prevention of coronary heart disease. *Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine* 2009; 7: 1-26.
- Hu YF, Tu JH, Tan ZR, Liu ZQ, Zhou G, He J, et al. Association of CYP3A4\*18B polymorphisms with the pharmacokinetics of cyclosporine in healthy subjects. *Xenobiotica* 2007; 37: 315-27.
- Huang L, Wang Y, Grimm S. ATP-dependent transport of rosuvastatin in membrane vesicles expressing breast cancer resistance protein. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2006; 34: 738-42.
- Hugen PW, Langebeek N, Burger DM, Zomer B, van Leusen R, Schuurman R, et al. Assessment of adherence to HIV protease inhibitors: comparison and combination of various methods, including MEMS (electronic monitoring), patient and nurse report, and therapeutic drug monitoring. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2002; 30: 324-34.
- Humphries SE, Yiannakouris N, Talmud PJ. Cardiovascular disease risk prediction using genetic information (gene scores): is it really informative? *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 2008; 19: 128-32.
- Iakoubova OA, Sabatine MS, Rowland CM, Tong CH, Catanese JJ, Ranade K, et al. Polymorphism in KIF6 gene and benefit from statins after acute coronary

syndromes: results from the PROVE IT-TIMI 22 study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008a; 51: 449-55.

- Iakoubova OA, Tong CH, Rowland CM, Kirchgessner TG, Young BA, Arellano AR, et al. Association of the Trp719Arg polymorphism in kinesin-like protein 6 with myocardial infarction and coronary heart disease in 2 prospective trials: the CARE and WOSCOPS trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008b; 51: 435-43.
- Ieiri I, Higuchi S, Sugiyama Y. Genetic polymorphisms of uptake (OATP1B1, 1B3) and efflux (MRP2, BCRP) transporters: implications for inter-individual differences in the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of statins and other clinically relevant drugs. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol* 2009; 5: 703-29.
- Ieiri I, Suwannakul S, Maeda K, Uchimaru H, Hashimoto K, Kimura M, et al. SLCO1B1 (OATP1B1, an Uptake Transporter) and ABCG2 (BCRP, an Efflux Transporter) Variant Alleles and Pharmacokinetics of Pitavastatin in Healthy Volunteers. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2007; advance online publication 25 April 2007; doi:10.1038/sj.clpt.6100190.
- Igel M, Arnold KA, Niemi M, Hofmann U, Schwab M, Lutjohann D, et al. Impact of the SLCO1B1 polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics and lipid-lowering efficacy of multiple-dose pravastatin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 79: 419-26.
- Igel M, Sudhop T, von Bergmann K. Pharmacology of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase inhibitors (statins), including rosuvastatin and pitavastatin. J Clin Pharmacol 2002; 42: 835-45.
- Innocenti F, Liu W, Fackenthal D, Ramirez J, Chen P, Ye X, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphism discovery and functional assessment of variation in the UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 gene. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2008; 18: 683-97.
- Izzedine H, Hulot JS, Villard E, Goyenvalle C, Dominguez S, Ghosn J, et al. Association between ABCC2 gene haplotypes and tenofovir-induced proximal tubulopathy. *J Infect Dis* 2006; 194: 1481-91.
- Jada SR, Xiaochen S, Yan LY, Xiaoqiang X, Lal S, Zhou SF, et al. Pharmacogenetics of SLCO1B1: haplotypes, htSNPs and hepatic expression in three distinct Asian populations. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2007; 63: 555-63.
- Jang WC, Nam YH, Park SM, Ahn YC, Park SH, Choe JY, et al. T6092C polymorphism of SLC22A12 gene is associated with serum uric acid concentrations in Korean male subjects. *Clin Chim Acta* 2008; 398: 140-4.
- Jang Y, Kim OY, Hyun YJ, Chae JS, Koh SJ, Heo YM, et al. Interleukin-6-572C>G polymorphism-association with inflammatory variables in Korean men with coronary artery disease. *Transl Res* 2008; 151: 154-61.
- Jeannesson E, Siest G, Bastien B, Albertini L, Aslanidis C, Schmitz G, et al.

Association of ABCB1 gene polymorphisms with plasma lipid and apolipoprotein concentrations in the STANISLAS cohort. *Clin Chim Acta* 2009; 403: 198-202.

- Jeenah M, September W, Graadt van Roggen F, de Villiers W, Seftel H, Marais D. Influence of specific mutations at the LDL-receptor gene locus on the response to simvastatin therapy in Afrikaner patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. *Atherosclerosis* 1993; 98: 51-8.
- Jeroncic I, Mulic R, Klismanic Z, Rudan D, Boban M, Zgaga L. Interactions between genetic variants in glucose transporter type 9 (SLC2A9) and dietary habits in serum uric acid regulation. *Croat Med J* 2010; 51: 40-7.
- Jofre-Monseny L, Minihane AM, Rimbach G. Impact of apoE genotype on oxidative stress, inflammation and disease risk. *Mol Nutr Food Res* 2008; 52: 131-45.
- Johnson AD, Kavousi M, Smith AV, Chen MH, Dehghan A, Aspelund T, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis for total serum bilirubin levels. *Hum Mol Genet* 2009; 18: 2700-10.
- Jones P, Kafonek S, Laurora I, Hunninghake D. Comparative dose efficacy study of atorvastatin versus simvastatin, pravastatin, lovastatin, and fluvastatin in patients with hypercholesterolemia (the CURVES study). Am. J. Cardiol. 1998; 81: 582-7.
- Jones PH, Davidson MH, Stein EA, Bays HE, McKenney JM, Miller E, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin across doses (STELLAR\* Trial). Am. J. Cardiol. 2003a; 92: 152-60.
- Jones PH, Davidson MH, Stein EA, Bays HE, McKenney JM, Miller E, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin across doses (STELLAR\* Trial). Am J Cardiol 2003b; 92: 152-60.
- Jones PH, Davidson MH, Stein EA, Bays HE, McKenney JM, Miller E, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin across doses (STELLAR\* Trial). *American Journal of Cardiology.* 2003c; 92: 152-60.
- Jonsson-Rylander AC, Nilsson T, Fritsche-Danielson R, Hammarstrom A, Behrendt M, Andersson JO, et al. Role of ADAMTS-1 in atherosclerosis: remodeling of carotid artery, immunohistochemistry, and proteolysis of versican. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2005; 25: 180-5.
- Joy TR, Hegele RA. Narrative review: statin-related myopathy. Ann Intern Med 2009; 150: 858-68.
- Judd SE, Tangpricha V. Vitamin D deficiency and risk for cardiovascular disease. Am J Med Sci 2009; 338: 40-4.

- Kadakol A, Ghosh SS, Sappal BS, Sharma G, Chowdhury JR, Chowdhury NR. Genetic lesions of bilirubin uridine-diphosphoglucuronate glucuronosyltransferase (UGT1A1) causing Crigler-Najjar and Gilbert syndromes: correlation of genotype to phenotype. *Hum Mutat* 2000; 16: 297-306.
- Kajinami K, Brousseau ME, Lamon-Fava S, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ. Gender-specific effects of estrogen receptor alpha gene haplotype on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to atorvastatin: interaction with apolipoprotein AI gene polymorphism. *Atherosclerosis* 2005a; 178: 331-8.
- Kajinami K, Brousseau ME, Nartsupha C, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ. ATP binding cassette transporter G5 and G8 genotypes and plasma lipoprotein levels before and after treatment with atorvastatin. *J Lipid Res* 2004a; 45: 653-6.
- Kajinami K, Brousseau ME, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ. CYP3A4 genotypes and plasma lipoprotein levels before and after treatment with atorvastatin in primary hypercholesterolemia. Am. J. Cardiol. 2004b; 93: 104-7.
- Kajinami K, Brousseau ME, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ. Interactions between common genetic polymorphisms in ABCG5/G8 and CYP7A1 on LDL cholesterol-lowering response to atorvastatin. Atherosclerosis 2004c; 175: 287-93.
- Kajinami K, Brousseau ME, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ. Polymorphisms in the multidrug resistance-1 (MDR1) gene influence the response to atorvastatin treatment in a gender-specific manner. Am. J. Cardiol. 2004d; 93: 1046-50.
- Kajinami K, Brousseau ME, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ. A promoter polymorphism in cholesterol 7alpha-hydroxylase interacts with apolipoprotein E genotype in the LDL-lowering response to atorvastatin. *Atherosclerosis* 2005b; 180: 407-15.
- Kajinami K, Takekoshi N, Brousseau ME, Schaefer EJ. Pharmacogenetics of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: exploring the potential for genotype-based individualization of coronary heart disease management. *Atherosclerosis* 2004e; 177: 219-34.
- Kajinami K, Yagi K, Higashikata T, Inazu A, Koizumi J, Mabuchi H. Low-density lipoprotein receptor genotype-dependent response to cholesterol lowering by combined pravastatin and cholestyramine in familial hypercholesterolemia. *Am J Cardiol* 1998; 82: 113-7.
- Kamanna VS, Kashyap ML. Mechanism of action of niacin. Am J Cardiol 2008; 101: 20B-26B.
- Kaniwa N, Kurose K, Jinno H, Tanaka-Kagawa T, Saito Y, Saeki M, et al. Racial variability in haplotype frequencies of UGT1A1 and glucuronidation activity of a novel single nucleotide polymorphism 686C> T (P229L) found in an

African-American. Drug Metab Dispos 2005; 33: 458-65.

- Kannel WB, D'Agostino RB, Stepanians M, D'Agostino LC. Efficacy and tolerability of lovastatin in a six-month study: analysis by gender, age and hypertensive status. Am J Cardiol 1990; 66: 1B-10B.
- Kathiresan S, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Guo CY, Gona P, Keaney JF, Jr., et al. Contribution of clinical correlates and 13 C-reactive protein gene polymorphisms to interindividual variability in serum C-reactive protein level. *Circulation* 2006; 113: 1415-23.
- Kathiresan S, Melander O, Guiducci C, Surti A, Burtt NP, Rieder MJ, et al. Six new loci associated with blood low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol or triglycerides in humans. *Nat. Genet.* 2008a; 40: 189-97.
- Kathiresan S, Melander O, Guiducci C, Surti A, Burtt NP, Rieder MJ, et al. Six new loci associated with blood low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol or triglycerides in humans. *Nat Genet* 2008b; 40: 189-97.
- Kathiresan S, Willer CJ, Peloso GM, Demissie S, Musunuru K, Schadt EE, et al. Common variants at 30 loci contribute to polygenic dyslipidemia. Nat Genet 2009; 41: 56-65.
- Kelley-Hedgepeth A, Lloyd-Jones DM, Colvin A, Matthews KA, Johnston J, Sowers MR, et al. Ethnic differences in C-reactive protein concentrations. *Clin Chem* 2008; 54: 1027-37.
- Keskitalo JE, Kurkinen KJ, Neuvonen M, Backman JT, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. No significant effect of ABCB1 haplotypes on the pharmacokinetics of fluvastatin, pravastatin, lovastatin, and rosuvastatin. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2009a; 68: 207-13.
- Keskitalo JE, Kurkinen KJ, Neuvoneni PJ, Niemi M. ABCB1 haplotypes differentially affect the pharmacokinetics of the acid and lactone forms of simvastatin and atorvastatin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2008; 84: 457-61.
- Keskitalo JE, Pasanen MK, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. Different effects of the ABCG2 c.421C>A SNP on the pharmacokinetics of fluvastatin, pravastatin and simvastatin. *Pharmacogenomics* 2009b; 10: 1617-24.
- Keskitalo JE, Zolk O, Fromm MF, Kurkinen KJ, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. ABCG2 polymorphism markedly affects the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2009c; 86: 197-203.
- Keskitalo JE, Zolk O, Fromm MF, Kurkinen KJ, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. ABCG2 polymorphism markedly affects the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 2009d; 86: 197-203.
- Khera A, McGuire DK, Murphy SA, Stanek HG, Das SR, Vongpatanasin W, et al.

Race and gender differences in C-reactive protein levels. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46: 464-9.

- Kim KA, Park PW, Lee OJ, Kang DK, Park JY. Effect of polymorphic CYP3A5 genotype on the single-dose simvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy subjects. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2007; 47: 87-93.
- Kim SR, Saito Y, Sai K, Kurose K, Maekawa K, Kaniwa N, et al. Genetic variations and frequencies of major haplotypes in SLCO1B1 encoding the transporter OATP1B1 in Japanese subjects: SLCO1B1\*17 is more prevalent than \*15. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 2007; 22: 456-61.
- Kimchi-Sarfaty C, Oh JM, Kim IW, Sauna ZE, Calcagno AM, Ambudkar SV, et al. A "silent" polymorphism in the MDR1 gene changes substrate specificity. *Science* 2007; 315: 525-8.
- Kimm H, Yun JE, Jo J, Jee SH. Low serum bilirubin level as an independent predictor of stroke incidence: a prospective study in Korean men and women. *Stroke* 2009; 40: 3422-7.
- Kirchheiner J, Kudlicz D, Meisel C, Bauer S, Meineke I, Roots I, et al. Influence of CYP2C9 polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics and cholesterol-lowering activity of (-)-3S,5R-fluvastatin and (+)-3R,5S-fluvastatin in healthy volunteers. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2003; 74: 186-94.
- Kivimaki M, Lawlor DA, Smith GD, Eklund C, Hurme M, Lehtimaki T, et al. Variants in the CRP gene as a measure of lifelong differences in average C-reactive protein levels: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study, 1980-2001. Am J Epidemiol 2007; 166: 760-4.
- Kivisto KT, Niemi M. Influence of drug transporter polymorphisms on pravastatin pharmacokinetics in humans. *Pharm Res* 2007; 24: 239-47.
- Kivisto KT, Niemi M, Schaeffeler E, Pitkala K, Tilvis R, Fromm MF, et al. Lipid-lowering response to statins is affected by CYP3A5 polymorphism. *Pharmacogenetics* 2004; 14: 523-5.
- Kjekshus J, Apetrei E, Barrios V, Bohm M, Cleland JG, Cornel JH, et al. Rosuvastatin in older patients with systolic heart failure. N Engl J Med 2007; 357: 2248-61.
- Ko GT, Chan JC, Woo J, Lau E, Yeung VT, Chow CC, et al. Serum bilirubin and cardiovascular risk factors in a Chinese population. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996; 3: 459-63.
- Kolovou G, Damaskos D, Anagnostopoulou K, Cokkinos DV. Apolipoprotein E gene polymorphism and gender. Ann Clin Lab Sci 2009; 39: 120-33.
- Kolz M, Johnson T, Sanna S, Teumer A, Vitart V, Perola M, et al. Meta-analysis of 28,141 individuals identifies common variants within five new loci that influence uric acid concentrations. *PLoS Genet* 2009; 5: e1000504.

- Kolz M, Koenig W, Muller M, Andreani M, Greven S, Illig T, et al. DNA variants, plasma levels and variability of C-reactive protein in myocardial infarction survivors: results from the AIRGENE study. *Eur Heart J* 2008; 29: 1250-8.
- Kondo C, Suzuki H, Itoda M, Ozawa S, Sawada J, Kobayashi D, et al. Functional analysis of SNPs variants of BCRP/ABCG2. *Pharm Res* 2004; 21: 1895-903.
- Konig J, Seithel A, Gradhand U, Fromm MF. Pharmacogenomics of human OATP transporters. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 2006; 372: 432-43.
- Kooner JS, Chambers JC, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Hinds DA, Hyde CL, Warnes GR, et al. Genome-wide scan identifies variation in MLXIPL associated with plasma triglycerides. *Nat Genet* 2008; 40: 149-51.
- Koukouritaki SB, Poch MT, Henderson MC, Siddens LK, Krueger SK, VanDyke JE, et al. Identification and functional analysis of common human flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 genetic variants. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2007; 320: 266-73.
- Krauss RM, Mangravite LM, Smith JD, Medina MW, Wang D, Guo X, et al. Variation in the 3-hydroxyl-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase gene is associated with racial differences in low-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to simvastatin treatment. *Circulation* 2008; 117: 1537-44.
- Kuivenhoven JA, Jukema JW, Zwinderman AH, de Knijff P, McPherson R, Bruschke AV, et al. The role of a common variant of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene in the progression of coronary atherosclerosis. The Regression Growth Evaluation Statin Study Group. N Engl J Med 1998; 338: 86-93.
- Lahera V, Goicoechea M, de Vinuesa SG, Miana M, de las Heras N, Cachofeiro V, et al. Endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress and inflammation in atherosclerosis: beneficial effects of statins. *Curr Med Chem* 2007; 14: 243-8.
- Lahoz C, Pena R, Mostaza JM, Jimenez J, Subirats E, Pinto X, et al. Apo A-I promoter polymorphism influences basal HDL-cholesterol and its response to pravastatin therapy. *Atherosclerosis* 2003; 168: 289-95.
- Lahoz C, Pena R, Mostaza JM, Laguna F, Garcia-Iglesias MF, Taboada M, et al. The -514C/T polymorphism of the hepatic lipase gene significantly modulates the HDL-cholesterol response to statin treatment. *Atherosclerosis* 2005a; 182: 129-34.
- Lahoz C, Pena R, Mostaza JM, Laguna F, Garcia-Iglesias MF, Taboada M, et al. Baseline levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and lipoprotein (a) and the AvaII polymorphism of the low-density lipoprotein receptor gene influence the response of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol to pravastatin treatment. *Metabolism* 2005b; 54: 741-7.
- Lakoski SG, Brosnihan B, Herrington DM. Hormone therapy, C-reactive protein, and progression of atherosclerosis: data from the Estrogen Replacement on

Progression of Coronary Artery Atherosclerosis (ERA) trial. Am Heart J 2005a; 150: 907-11.

- Lakoski SG, Cushman M, Palmas W, Blumenthal R, D'Agostino RB, Jr., Herrington DM. The relationship between blood pressure and C-reactive protein in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). J Am Coll Cardiol 2005b; 46: 1869-74.
- Lapice E, Maione S, Patti L, Cipriano P, Rivellese AA, Riccardi G, et al. Abdominal adiposity is associated with elevated C-reactive protein independent of BMI in healthy nonobese people. *Diabetes Care* 2009; 32: 1734-6.
- Le MT, Shafiu M, Mu W, Johnson RJ. SLC2A9--a fructose transporter identified as a novel uric acid transporter. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2008; 23: 2746-9.
- Lee CC, You NC, Song Y, Hsu YH, Manson J, Nathan L, et al. Relation of genetic variation in the gene coding for C-reactive protein with its plasma protein concentrations: findings from the Women's Health Initiative Observational Cohort. *Clin Chem* 2009; 55: 351-60.
- Lee CM, Huxley RR, Wildman RP, Woodward M. Indices of abdominal obesity are better discriminators of cardiovascular risk factors than BMI: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2008; 61: 646-53.
- Lee E, Ryan S, Birmingham B, Zalikowski J, March R, Ambrose H, et al. Rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics in white and Asian subjects residing in the same environment. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2005; 78: 330-41.
- Lee JH, O'Keefe JH, Bell D, Hensrud DD, Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency an important, common, and easily treatable cardiovascular risk factor? J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 52: 1949-56.
- Leitersdorf E, Eisenberg S, Eliav O, Friedlander Y, Berkman N, Dann EJ, et al. Genetic determinants of responsiveness to the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor fluvastatin in patients with molecularly defined heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. *Circulation* 1993; 87: III35-44.
- Leschziner GD, Andrew T, Pirmohamed M, Johnson MR. ABCB1 genotype and PGP expression, function and therapeutic drug response: a critical review and recommendations for future research. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2007; 7: 154-79.
- Lewington S, Whitlock G, Clarke R, Sherliker P, Emberson J, Halsey J, et al. Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55,000 vascular deaths. *Lancet* 2007; 370: 1829-39.
- Lewis B. Diet and exercise as regulators of lipid risk factors. Drugs 1990; 40 Suppl 1: 19-24.
- Lewis SJ, Moye LA, Sacks FM, Johnstone DE, Timmis G, Mitchell J, et al. Effect of

pravastatin on cardiovascular events in older patients with myocardial infarction and cholesterol levels in the average range. Results of the Cholesterol and Recurrent Events (CARE) trial. *Ann Intern Med* 1998; 129: 681-9.

- Liang S, Pan M, Geng HH, Chen H, Gu LQ, Qin XT, et al. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism in normal Han Chinese population: frequency and effect on lipid parameters. *Mol Biol Rep* 2009; 36: 1251-6.
- Libby P, Ridker PM. Inflammation and atherosclerosis: role of C-reactive protein in risk assessment. Am J Med 2004; 116 Suppl 6A: 9S-16S.
- Liem AH, van de Woestijne AP, Zwinderman AH, Visseren FL, Jukema JW. Determinants of CRP level in statin-treated patients. *Curr Med Res Opin* 2008; 24: 1065-8.
- Lin JP, O'Donnell CJ, Schwaiger JP, Cupples LA, Lingenhel A, Hunt SC, et al. Association between the UGT1A1\*28 allele, bilirubin levels, and coronary heart disease in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 2006; 114: 1476-81.
- Lin R, Wang Y, Wang Y, Fu W, Zhang D, Zheng H, et al. Common variants of four bilirubin metabolism genes and their association with serum bilirubin and coronary artery disease in Chinese Han population. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2009; 19: 310-8.
- Link E, Parish S, Armitage J, Bowman L, Heath S, Matsuda F, et al. SLCO1B1 variants and statin-induced myopathy--a genomewide study. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 789-99.
- Liu Y, Ordovas JM, Gao G, Province M, Straka RJ, Tsai MY, et al. Pharmacogenetic association of the APOA1/C3/A4/A5 gene cluster and lipid responses to fenofibrate: the genetics of lipid-lowering drugs and diet network study. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2009; 19: 161-9.
- Liu ZK, Hu M, Baum L, Thomas GN, Tomlinson B. Associations of polymorphisms in the apolipoprotein A1/C3/A4/A5 gene cluster with familial combined hyperlipidaemia in Hong Kong Chinese. *Atherosclerosis* 2010; 208: 427-32.
- Liu ZZ, Lv H, Gao F, Liu G, Zheng HG, Zhou YL, et al. Polymorphism in the human C-reactive protein (CRP) gene, serum concentrations of CRP, and the difference between intracranial and extracranial atherosclerosis. *Clin Chim Acta* 2008; 389: 40-4.
- Lusis AJ, Pajukanta P. A treasure trove for lipoprotein biology. Nat Genet 2008; 40: 129-30.
- Lutucuta S, Ballantyne CM, Elghannam H, Gotto AM, Jr., Marian AJ. Novel polymorphisms in promoter region of atp binding cassette transporter gene and plasma lipids, severity, progression, and regression of coronary

atherosclerosis and response to therapy. Circ Res 2001; 88: 969-73.

- Mabuchi H, Nohara A, Higashikata T, Ueda K, Bujo H, Matsushima T, et al. Clinical efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin in Japanese patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. *J Atheroscler Thromb* 2004; 11: 152-8.
- Mackenzie PI, Bock KW, Burchell B, Guillemette C, Ikushiro S, Iyanagi T, et al. Nomenclature update for the mammalian UDP glycosyltransferase (UGT) gene superfamily. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2005; 15: 677-85.
- Maeda K, Ieiri I, Yasuda K, Fujino A, Fujiwara H, Otsubo K, et al. Effects of organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 haplotype on pharmacokinetics of pravastatin, valsartan, and temocapril. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2006; 79: 427-39.
- Mahley RW, Weisgraber KH, Huang Y. Apolipoprotein E: structure determines function, from atherosclerosis to Alzheimer's disease to AIDS. J Lipid Res 2009; 50 Suppl: S183-8.
- Maitland-van der Zee AH, Jukema JW, Zwinderman AH, Hallman DM, De Boer A, Kastelein JJ, et al. Apolipoprotein-E polymorphism and response to pravastatin in men with coronary artery disease (REGRESS). Acta Cardiol 2006; 61: 327-31.
- Mak YT, Pang CP, Tomlinson B, Zhang J, Chan YS, Mak TW, et al. Mutations in the low-density lipoprotein receptor gene in Chinese familial hypercholesterolemia patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998; 18: 1600-5.
- Malin R, Laaksonen R, Knuuti J, Janatuinen T, Vesalainen R, Nuutila P, et al. Paraoxonase genotype modifies the effect of pravastatin on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. *Pharmacogenetics* 2001; 11: 625-33.
- Manolescu AR, Augustin R, Moley K, Cheeseman C. A highly conserved hydrophobic motif in the exofacial vestibule of fructose transporting SLC2A proteins acts as a critical determinant of their substrate selectivity. *Mol Membr Biol* 2007; 24: 455-63.
- Manolopoulos VG, Ragia G, Tavridou A. Pharmacogenetics of coumarinic oral anticoagulants. *Pharmacogenomics* 2010; 11: 493-6.
- Mao Q, Unadkat JD. Role of the breast cancer resistance protein (ABCG2) in drug transport. *Aaps J* 2005; 7: E118-33.
- Marais AD, Raal FJ, Stein EA, Rader DJ, Blasetto J, Palmer M, et al. A dose-titration and comparative study of rosuvastatin and atorvastatin in patients with homozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. *Atherosclerosis* 2008; 197: 400-6.
- Martin PD, Dane AL, Nwose OM, Schneck DW, Warwick MJ. No effect of age or gender on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin: a new HMG-CoA reductase

inhibitor. J Clin Pharmacol 2002; 42: 1116-21.

- Martin PD, Warwick MJ, Dane AL, Hill SJ, Giles PB, Phillips PJ, et al. Metabolism, excretion, and pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in healthy adult male volunteers. *Clin Ther* 2003; 25: 2822-35.
- Marz W, Scharnagl H, Hoffmann MM, Boehm BO, Winkelmann BR. The apolipoprotein E polymorphism is associated with circulating C-reactive protein (the Ludwigshafen risk and cardiovascular health study). *Eur Heart J* 2004; 25: 2109-19.
- Matsuo H, Chiba T, Nagamori S, Nakayama A, Domoto H, Phetdee K, et al. Mutations in glucose transporter 9 gene SLC2A9 cause renal hypouricemia. *Am J Hum Genet* 2008; 83: 744-51.
- McCaskie PA, Beilby JP, Chapman CM, Hung J, McQuillan BM, Thompson PL, et al. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene haplotypes, plasma high-density lipoprotein levels and the risk of coronary heart disease. *Hum Genet* 2007; 121: 401-11.
- McTaggart F, Jones P. Effects of statins on high-density lipoproteins: a potential contribution to cardiovascular benefit. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2008; 22: 321-38.
- Mega JL, Morrow DA, Brown A, Cannon CP, Sabatine MS. Identification of genetic variants associated with response to statin therapy. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2009; 29: 1310-5.
- Mehlotra RK, Bockarie MJ, Zimmerman PA. Prevalence of UGT1A9 and UGT2B7 nonsynonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms in West African, Papua New Guinean, and North American populations. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2007; 63: 1-8.
- Merino G, van Herwaarden AE, Wagenaar E, Jonker JW, Schinkel AH. Sex-dependent expression and activity of the ATP-binding cassette transporter breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) in liver. *Mol Pharmacol* 2005; 67: 1765-71.
- Miller DT, Zee RY, Suk Danik J, Kozlowski P, Chasman DI, Lazarus R, et al. Association of common CRP gene variants with CRP levels and cardiovascular events. Ann Hum Genet 2005; 69: 623-38.
- Miltiadous G, Saougos V, Cariolou M, Elisaf MS. Plasma lipoprotein(a) levels and LDL-cholesterol lowering response to statin therapy in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. *Ann Clin Lab Sci* 2006; 36: 353-5.
- Miltiadous G, Xenophontos S, Bairaktari E, Ganotakis M, Cariolou M, Elisaf M. Genetic and environmental factors affecting the response to statin therapy in patients with molecularly defined familial hypercholesterolaemia.

Pharmacogenet Genomics 2005; 15: 219-25.

- Mohrschladt MF, van der Sman-de Beer F, Hofman MK, van der Krabben M, Westendorp RG, Smelt AH. TaqIB polymorphism in CETP gene: the influence on incidence of cardiovascular disease in statin-treated patients with familial hypercholesterolemia. *Eur J Hum Genet* 2005; 13: 877-82.
- Morrison AC, Bare LA, Chambless LE, Ellis SG, Malloy M, Kane JP, et al. Prediction of coronary heart disease risk using a genetic risk score: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. Am J Epidemiol 2007; 166: 28-35.
- Muchova L, Wong RJ, Hsu M, Morioka I, Vitek L, Zelenka J, et al. Statin treatment increases formation of carbon monoxide and bilirubin in mice: a novel mechanism of in vivo antioxidant protection. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2007; 85: 800-10.
- Mulder AB, van Lijf HJ, Bon MA, van den Bergh FA, Touw DJ, Neef C, et al. Association of polymorphism in the cytochrome CYP2D6 and the efficacy and tolerability of simvastatin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2001; 70: 546-51.
- Mwinyi J, Johne A, Bauer S, Roots I, Gerloff T. Evidence for inverse effects of OATP-C (SLC21A6) 5 and 1b haplotypes on pravastatin kinetics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2004; 75: 415-21.
- Mwinyi J, Kopke K, Schaefer M, Roots I, Gerloff T. Comparison of SLCO1B1 sequence variability among German, Turkish, and African populations. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2008; 64: 257-66.
- Nagashima S, Shimizu M, Yano H, Murayama N, Kumai T, Kobayashi S, et al. Inter-individual variation in flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 in livers from Japanese: correlation with hepatic transcription factors. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* 2009; 24: 218-25.
- Nakagami T, Toyomura K, Kinoshita T, Morisawa S. A beneficial role of bile pigments as an endogenous tissue protector: anti-complement effects of biliverdin and conjugated bilirubin. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1993; 1158: 189-93.
- Naoumova RP, Tosi I, Patel D, Neuwirth C, Horswell SD, Marais AD, et al. Severe hypercholesterolemia in four British families with the D374Y mutation in the PCSK9 gene: long-term follow-up and treatment response. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2005; 25: 2654-60.
- Nestel P, Simons L, Barter P, Clifton P, Colquhoun D, Hamilton-Craig I, et al. A comparative study of the efficacy of simvastatin and gemfibrozil in combined hyperlipoproteinemia: prediction of response by baseline lipids, apo E genotype, lipoprotein(a) and insulin. *Atherosclerosis* 1997; 129: 231-9.
- Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M, Backman JT. Drug interactions with lipid-lowering drugs:

mechanisms and clinical relevance. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 2006a; 80: 565-81.

- Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M, Backman JT. Drug interactions with lipid-lowering drugs: mechanisms and clinical relevance. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2006b; 80: 565-81.
- Ng MC, Cockburn BN, Lindner TH, Yeung VT, Chow CC, So WY, et al. Molecular genetics of diabetes mellitus in Chinese subjects: identification of mutations in glucokinase and hepatocyte nuclear factor-1alpha genes in patients with early-onset type 2 diabetes mellitus/MODY. *Diabet Med* 1999; 16: 956-63.
- Niemi M. Role of OATP transporters in the disposition of drugs. *Pharmacogenomics* 2007; 8: 787-802.
- Niemi M. Transporter Pharmacogenetics and Statin Toxicity. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2009.
- Niemi M, Arnold KA, Backman JT, Pasanen MK, Godtel-Armbrust U, Wojnowski L, et al. Association of genetic polymorphism in ABCC2 with hepatic multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 expression and pravastatin pharmacokinetics. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2006a; 16: 801-8.
- Niemi M, Neuvonen PJ, Hofmann U, Backman JT, Schwab M, Lutjohann D, et al. Acute effects of pravastatin on cholesterol synthesis are associated with SLCO1B1 (encoding OATP1B1) haplotype \*17. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2005; 15: 303-9.
- Niemi M, Pasanen MK, Neuvonen PJ. SLCO1B1 polymorphism and sex affect the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin but not fluvastatin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2006b; 80: 356-66.
- Nieminen T, Kahonen M, Viiri LE, Gronroos P, Lehtimaki T. Pharmacogenetics of apolipoprotein E gene during lipid-lowering therapy: lipid levels and prevention of coronary heart disease. *Pharmacogenomics* 2008; 9: 1475-86.
- Nishikawa T, Hagihara K, Serada S, Isobe T, Matsumura A, Song J, et al. Transcriptional complex formation of c-Fos, STAT3, and hepatocyte NF-1 alpha is essential for cytokine-driven C-reactive protein gene expression. J Immunol 2008; 180: 3492-501.
- Nissen SE, Tuzcu EM, Schoenhagen P, Brown BG, Ganz P, Vogel RA, et al. Effect of intensive compared with moderate lipid-lowering therapy on progression of coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2004; 291: 1071-80.
- Nordestgaard BG. Does elevated C-reactive protein cause human atherothrombosis? Novel insights from genetics, intervention trials, and elsewhere. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2009.
- Nordestgaard BG, Benn M, Schnohr P, Tybjaerg-Hansen A. Nonfasting triglycerides and risk of myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, and death in men

and women. Jama 2007; 298: 299-308.

- Nordin C, Dahl ML, Eriksson M, Sjoberg S. Is the cholesterol-lowering effect of simvastatin influenced by CYP2D6 polymorphism? *Lancet* 1997; 350: 29-30.
- Novotny L, Vitek L. Inverse relationship between serum bilirubin and atherosclerosis in men: a meta-analysis of published studies. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 2003; 228: 568-71.
- O'Neill FH, Patel DD, Knight BL, Neuwirth CK, Bourbon M, Soutar AK, et al. Determinants of variable response to statin treatment in patients with refractory familial hypercholesterolemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2001; 21: 832-7.
- Oh J, Ban MR, Miskie BA, Pollex RL, Hegele RA. Genetic determinants of statin intolerance. *Lipids Health Dis* 2007; 6: 7.
- Oneda B, Crettol S, Sirot EJ, Bochud M, Ansermot N, Eap CB. The P450 oxidoreductase genotype is associated with CYP3A activity in vivo as measured by the midazolam phenotyping test. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2009.
- Ordovas JM, Lopez-Miranda J, Perez-Jimenez F, Rodriguez C, Park JS, Cole T, et al. Effect of apolipoprotein E and A-IV phenotypes on the low density lipoprotein response to HMG CoA reductase inhibitor therapy. *Atherosclerosis* 1995; 113: 157-66.
- Ose L, Luurila O, Eriksson J, Olsson A, Lithell H, Widgren B. Efficacy and safety of cerivastatin, 0.2 mg and 0.4 mg, in patients with primary hypercholesterolaemia: a multinational, randomised, double-blind study. Cerivastatin Study Group. Curr Med Res Opin 1999; 15: 228-40.
- Osterberg L, Blaschke T. Adherence to medication. N Engl J Med 2005; 353: 487-97.
- Owen RP, Sangkuhl K, Klein TE, Altman RB. Cytochrome P450 2D6. Pharmacogenet Genomics 2009; 19: 559-62.
- Owens IS, Basu NK, Banerjee R. UDP-glucuronosyltransferases: gene structures of UGT1 and UGT2 families. *Methods Enzymol* 2005; 400: 1-22.
- Ozvegy-Laczka C, Hegedus T, Varady G, Ujhelly O, Schuetz JD, Varadi A, et al. High-affinity interaction of tyrosine kinase inhibitors with the ABCG2 multidrug transporter. *Mol Pharmacol* 2004; 65: 1485-95.
- Park JE, Kim KB, Bae SK, Moon BS, Liu KH, Shin JG. Contribution of cytochrome P450 3A4 and 3A5 to the metabolism of atorvastatin. *Xenobiotica* 2008; 38: 1240-51.
- Pasanen MK, Fredrikson H, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. Different effects of SLCO1B1 polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2007; 82: 726-33.
- Pasanen MK, Miettinen TA, Gylling H, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. Polymorphism of

the hepatic influx transporter organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 is associated with increased cholesterol synthesis rate. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2008a; 18: 921-6.

- Pasanen MK, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. Global analysis of genetic variation in SLCO1B1. Pharmacogenomics 2008b; 9: 19-33.
- Pasternak RC, Smith SC, Jr., Bairey-Merz CN, Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Lenfant C. ACC/AHA/NHLBI clinical advisory on the use and safety of statins. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 40: 567-72.
- Patel JV, Caslake MJ, Vyas A, Cruickshank JK, Prabhakaran D, Bhatnagar D, et al. Triglycerides and small dense low density lipoprotein in the discrimination of coronary heart disease risk in South Asian populations. *Atherosclerosis* 2009.
- Pedro-Botet J, Schaefer EJ, Bakker-Arkema RG, Black DM, Stein EM, Corella D, et al. Apolipoprotein E genotype affects plasma lipid response to atorvastatin in a gender specific manner. *Atherosclerosis* 2001; 158: 183-93.
- Perez-Castrillon JL, Vega G, Abad L, Sanz A, Chaves J, Hernandez G, et al. Effects of Atorvastatin on vitamin D levels in patients with acute ischemic heart disease. Am J Cardiol 2007; 99: 903-5.
- Phillips IR, Shephard EA. Flavin-containing monooxygenases: mutations, disease and drug response. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 2008; 29: 294-301.
- Pimstone SN, Sun XM, du Souich C, Frohlich JJ, Hayden MR, Soutar AK. Phenotypic variation in heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia: a comparison of Chinese patients with the same or similar mutations in the LDL receptor gene in China or Canada. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998; 18: 309-15.
- Pischon T, Boeing H, Hoffmann K, Bergmann M, Schulze MB, Overvad K, et al. General and abdominal adiposity and risk of death in Europe. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 2105-20.
- Po AL. Personalised medicine: who is an Asian? Lancet 2007; 369: 1770-1.
- Polisecki E, Muallem H, Maeda N, Peter I, Robertson M, McMahon AD, et al. Genetic variation at the LDL receptor and HMG-CoA reductase gene loci, lipid levels, statin response, and cardiovascular disease incidence in PROSPER. Atherosclerosis 2008; 200: 109-14.
- Pradhan AD, Everett BM, Cook NR, Rifai N, Ridker PM. Effects of initiating insulin and metformin on glycemic control and inflammatory biomarkers among patients with type 2 diabetes: the LANCET randomized trial. *Jama* 2009; 302: 1186-94.
- Prasad K. C-reactive protein (CRP)-lowering agents. Cardiovasc Drug Rev 2006; 24: 33-50.
- Prueksaritanont T, Gorham LM, Ma B, Liu L, Yu X, Zhao JJ, et al. In vitro

metabolism of simvastatin in humans [SBT]identification of metabolizing enzymes and effect of the drug on hepatic P450s. Drug Metabolism & Disposition. 1997; 25: 1191-9.

- Prueksaritanont T, Ma B, Fang X, Subramanian R, Yu J, Lin JH. beta-Oxidation of simvastatin in mouse liver preparations. Drug Metab. Dispos. 2001; 29: 1251-5.
- Prueksaritanont T, Ma B, Yu N. The human hepatic metabolism of simvastatin hydroxy acid is mediated primarily by CYP3A, and not CYP2D6. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2003; 56: 120-4.
- Prueksaritanont T, Subramanian R, Fang X, Ma B, Qiu Y, Lin JH, et al. Glucuronidation of statins in animals and humans: a novel mechanism of statin lactonization. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 2002a; 30: 505-12.
- Prueksaritanont T, Tang C, Qiu Y, Mu L, Subramanian R, Lin JH. Effects of fibrates on metabolism of statins in human hepatocytes. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2002b; 30: 1280-7.
- Prueksaritanont T, Zhao JJ, Ma B, Roadcap BA, Tang C, Qiu Y, et al. Mechanistic studies on metabolic interactions between gemfibrozil and statins. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2002c; 301: 1042-51.
- Purcell S, Cherny SS, Sham PC. Genetic Power Calculator: design of linkage and association genetic mapping studies of complex traits. *Bioinformatics* 2003; 19: 149-50.
- Qu HY, Xiao YW, Jiang GH, Wang ZY, Zhang Y, Zhang M. Effect of atorvastatin versus rosuvastatin on levels of serum lipids, inflammatory markers and adiponectin in patients with hypercholesterolemia. *Pharm Res* 2009; 26: 958-64.
- Ray KK, Cannon CP, Cairns R, Morrow DA, Rifai N, Kirtane AJ, et al. Relationship between uncontrolled risk factors and C-reactive protein levels in patients receiving standard or intensive statin therapy for acute coronary syndromes in the PROVE IT-TIMI 22 trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46: 1417-24.
- Rebecchi IM, Rodrigues AC, Arazi SS, Genvigir FD, Willrich MA, Hirata MH, et al. ABCB1 and ABCC1 expression in peripheral mononuclear cells is influenced by gene polymorphisms and atorvastatin treatment. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2009; 77: 66-75.
- Reiner AP, Barber MJ, Guan Y, Ridker PM, Lange LA, Chasman DI, et al. Polymorphisms of the HNF1A gene encoding hepatocyte nuclear factor-1 alpha are associated with C-reactive protein. Am J Hum Genet 2008; 82: 1193-201.
- Remmler C, Cascorbi I. Pharmacogenomics in acute coronary syndrome. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2008; 9: 363-76.

- Ridker PM, Buring JE, Cook NR, Rifai N. C-reactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of incident cardiovascular events: an 8-year follow-up of 14 719 initially healthy American women. *Circulation* 2003; 107: 391-7.
- Ridker PM, Danielson E, Fonseca FA, Genest J, Gotto AM, Jr., Kastelein JJ, et al. Rosuvastatin to prevent vascular events in men and women with elevated C-reactive protein. *N Engl J Med* 2008a; 359: 2195-207.
- Ridker PM, Danielson E, Fonseca FA, Genest J, Gotto AM, Jr., Kastelein JJ, et al. Reduction in C-reactive protein and LDL cholesterol and cardiovascular event rates after initiation of rosuvastatin: a prospective study of the JUPITER trial. *Lancet* 2009; 373: 1175-82.
- Ridker PM, Pare G, Parker A, Zee RY, Danik JS, Buring JE, et al. Loci related to metabolic-syndrome pathways including LEPR,HNF1A, IL6R, and GCKR associate with plasma C-reactive protein: the Women's Genome Health Study. *Am J Hum Genet* 2008b; 82: 1185-92.
- Riedmaier S, Klein K, Hofmann U, Keskitalo JE, Neuvonen PJ, Schwab M, et al. UDP-Glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) Polymorphisms Affect Atorvastatin Lactonization In Vitro and In Vivo. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2009.
- Roberts WC. The rule of 5 and the rule of 7 in lipid-lowering by statin drugs. Am J Cardiol 1997; 80: 106-7.
- Robey RW, To KK, Polgar O, Dohse M, Fetsch P, Dean M, et al. ABCG2: a perspective. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2009; 61: 3-13.
- Rodrigues AC, Hirata MH, Hirata RD. Impact of cholesterol on ABC and SLC transporters expression and function and its role in disposition variability to lipid-lowering drugs. *Pharmacogenomics* 2009; 10: 1007-16.
- Rodrigues AC, Rebecchi IM, Bertolami MC, Faludi AA, Hirata MH, Hirata RD. High baseline serum total and LDL cholesterol levels are associated with MDR1 haplotypes in Brazilian hypercholesterolemic individuals of European descent. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 2005; 38: 1389-97.
- Romaine SP, Balmforth AJ, Bailey KM, Hall AS, on behalf of the SPACE ROCKET Investigators. The Breast Cancer Resistance Protein (BCRP) 421C> A Single Nucleotide Polymorphism Predicts Improved Low-Density-Lipoprotein Cholesterol Reduction by Rosuvastatin. *Circulation* 2008; 118 (Supplement): 426, Abstract 3447.
- Rosemary J, Adithan C. The pharmacogenetics of CYP2C9 and CYP2C19: ethnic variation and clinical significance. *Curr Clin Pharmacol* 2007; 2: 93-109.
- Rosenson RS. Rosuvastatin: a new inhibitor of HMG-coA reductase for the treatment of dyslipidemia. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther* 2003; 1: 495-505.
- Rosenson RS. Current overview of statin-induced myopathy. Am J Med 2004; 116: 408-16.

- Ross R. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 115-26.
- Ruano G, Thompson PD, Windemuth A, Seip RL, Dande A, Sorokin A, et al. Physiogenomic association of statin-related myalgia to serotonin receptors. *Muscle Nerve* 2007; 36: 329-35.
- Sabatine MS, Ploughman L, Simonsen KL, Iakoubova OA, Kirchgessner TG, Ranade K, et al. Association between ADAMTS1 matrix metalloproteinase gene variation, coronary heart disease, and benefit of statin therapy. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2008; 28: 562-7.
- Saito A, Kawamoto M, Kamatani N. Association study between single-nucleotide polymorphisms in 199 drug-related genes and commonly measured quantitative traits of 752 healthy Japanese subjects. J Hum Genet 2009; 54: 317-23.
- Saito K, Moriya H, Sawaguchi T, Hayakawa T, Nakahara S, Goto A, et al. Haplotype analysis of UDP-glucuronocyltransferase 2B7 gene (UGT2B7) polymorphisms in healthy Japanese subjects. *Clin Biochem* 2006; 39: 303-8.
- Sakkinen P, Abbott RD, Curb JD, Rodriguez BL, Yano K, Tracy RP. C-reactive protein and myocardial infarction. J Clin Epidemiol 2002; 55: 445-51.
- Sandhu MS, Waterworth DM, Debenham SL, Wheeler E, Papadakis K, Zhao JH, et al. LDL-cholesterol concentrations: a genome-wide association study. *Lancet* 2008; 371: 483-91.
- Santamarina-Fojo S, Lambert G, Hoeg JM, Brewer HB, Jr. Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase: role in lipoprotein metabolism, reverse cholesterol transport and atherosclerosis. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2000; 11: 267-75.
- Schachter M. Chemical, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of statins: an update. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* 2005; 19: 117-25.
- Schmitz G, Langmann T. Pharmacogenomics of cholesterol-lowering therapy. Vascul Pharmacol 2006; 44: 75-89.
- Schmitz G, Schmitz-Madry A, Ugocsai P. Pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics of cholesterol-lowering therapy. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2007; 18: 164-73.
- Schnapp BJ. Trafficking of signaling modules by kinesin motors. J Cell Sci 2003; 116: 2125-35.
- Schuett H, Luchtefeld M, Grothusen C, Grote K, Schieffer B. How much is too much? Interleukin-6 and its signalling in atherosclerosis. *Thromb Haemost* 2009; 102: 215-22.
- Schwarz UI. Clinical relevance of genetic polymorphisms in the human CYP2C9 gene. Eur J Clin Invest 2003; 33 Suppl 2: 23-30.
- Schwertner HA, Vitek L. Gilbert syndrome, UGT1A1\*28 allele, and cardiovascular disease risk: possible protective effects and therapeutic applications of bilirubin. *Atherosclerosis* 2008; 198: 1-11.

- Shamsuzzaman AS, Winnicki M, Wolk R, Svatikova A, Phillips BG, Davison DE, et al. Independent association between plasma leptin and C-reactive protein in healthy humans. *Circulation* 2004; 109: 2181-5.
- Shear CL, Franklin FA, Stinnett S, Hurley DP, Bradford RH, Chremos AN, et al. Expanded Clinical Evaluation of Lovastatin (EXCEL) study results. Effect of patient characteristics on lovastatin-induced changes in plasma concentrations of lipids and lipoproteins. *Circulation* 1992; 85: 1293-303.
- Shen J, Arnett DK, Parnell LD, Peacock JM, Lai CQ, Hixson JE, et al. Association of common C-reactive protein (CRP) gene polymorphisms with baseline plasma CRP levels and fenofibrate response: the GOLDN study. *Diabetes Care* 2008; 31: 910-5.
- Shen J, Ordovas JM. Impact of genetic and environmental factors on hsCRP concentrations and response to therapeutic agents. *Clin Chem* 2009; 55: 256-64.
- Shiffman D, Chasman DI, Zee RY, Iakoubova OA, Louie JZ, Devlin JJ, et al. A kinesin family member 6 variant is associated with coronary heart disease in the Women's Health Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 51: 444-8.
- Shimizu M, Murayama N, Nagashima S, Fujieda M, Yamazaki H. Complex mechanism underlying transcriptional control of the haplotyped flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 (FMO3) gene in Japanese: different regulation between mutations in 5'-upstream distal region and common element in proximal region. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 2008; 23: 54-8.
- Shimizu M, Tomioka S, Murayama N, Yamazaki H. Missense and nonsense mutations of the flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 gene in a Japanese cohort. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 2007; 22: 61-4.
- Shitara Y, Sugiyama Y. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors: drug-drug interactions and interindividual differences in transporter and metabolic enzyme functions. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 2006a; 112: 71-105.
- Shitara Y, Sugiyama Y. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors: drug-drug interactions and interindividual differences in transporter and metabolic enzyme functions. *Pharmacol Ther* 2006b; 112: 71-105.
- Sijbrands EJ, Lombardi MP, Westendorp RG, Leuven JA, Meinders AE, Van der Laarse A, et al. Similar response to simvastatin in patients heterozygous for familial hypercholesterolemia with mRNA negative and mRNA positive mutations. *Atherosclerosis* 1998; 136: 247-54.
- Simon JA, Lin F, Hulley SB, Blanche PJ, Waters D, Shiboski S, et al. Phenotypic predictors of response to simvastatin therapy among African-Americans and

Caucasians: the Cholesterol and Pharmacogenetics (CAP) Study. Am J Cardiol 2006; 97: 843-50.

- Singer JB, Holdaas H, Jardine AG, Fellstrom B, Os I, Bermann G, et al. Genetic analysis of fluvastatin response and dyslipidemia in renal transplant recipients. *J Lipid Res* 2007; 48: 2072-8.
- Sistonen J, Fuselli S, Palo JU, Chauhan N, Padh H, Sajantila A. Pharmacogenetic variation at CYP2C9, CYP2C19, and CYP2D6 at global and microgeographic scales. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2009; 19: 170-9.
- Skottheim IB, Gedde-Dahl A, Hejazifar S, Hoel K, Asberg A. Statin induced myotoxicity: the lactone forms are more potent than the acid forms in human skeletal muscle cells in vitro. Eur J Pharm Sci 2008; 33: 317-25.
- Soutar AK, Naoumova RP. Mechanisms of disease: genetic causes of familial hypercholesterolemia. *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med* 2007; 4: 214-25.
- Stamer UM, Bayerer B, Wolf S, Hoeft A, Stuber F. Rapid and reliable method for cytochrome P450 2D6 genotyping. *Clin Chem* 2002; 48: 1412-7.
- Stampfer MJ, Krauss RM, Ma J, Blanche PJ, Holl LG, Sacks FM, et al. A prospective study of triglyceride level, low-density lipoprotein particle diameter, and risk of myocardial infarction. Jama 1996; 276: 882-8.
- Stein EA, Strutt K, Southworth H, Diggle PJ, Miller E. Comparison of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Am J Cardiol 2003; 92: 1287-93.
- Stocker R, Keaney JF, Jr. Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. Physiol Rev 2004; 84: 1381-478.
- Storch CH, Ehehalt R, Haefeli WE, Weiss J. Localization of the human breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) in lipid rafts/caveolae and modulation of its activity by cholesterol in vitro. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2007; 323: 257-64.
- Strazzullo P, Puig JG. Uric acid and oxidative stress: relative impact on cardiovascular risk? Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2007; 17: 409-14.
- Su AI, Cooke MP, Ching KA, Hakak Y, Walker JR, Wiltshire T, et al. Large-scale analysis of the human and mouse transcriptomes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002; 99: 4465-70.
- Sun XM, Patel DD, Knight BL, Soutar AK. Influence of genotype at the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor gene locus on the clinical phenotype and response to lipid-lowering drug therapy in heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. The Familial Hypercholesterolaemia Regression Study Group. Atherosclerosis 1998; 136: 175-85.
- Tachibana-Iimori R, Tabara Y, Kusuhara H, Kohara K, Kawamoto R, Nakura J, et al. Effect of genetic polymorphism of OATP-C (SLCO1B1) on lipid-lowering response to HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*
2004; 19: 375-80.

- Tai ES, Ordovas JM, Corella D, Deurenberg-Yap M, Chan E, Adiconis X, et al. The TaqIB and -629C>A polymorphisms at the cholesteryl ester transfer protein locus: associations with lipid levels in a multiethnic population. The 1998 Singapore National Health Survey. *Clin Genet* 2003; 63: 19-30.
- Takahashi-Yasuno A, Masuzaki H, Miyawaki T, Ogawa Y, Matsuoka N, Hayashi T, et al. Leptin receptor polymorphism is associated with serum lipid levels and impairment of cholesterol lowering effect by simvastatin in Japanese men. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2003; 62: 169-75.
- Tamehiro N, Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Kakeya T, Okuhira K, Suzuki K, Sato R, et al. Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2- and liver X receptor-driven dual promoter regulation of hepatic ABC transporter A1 gene expression: mechanism underlying the unique response to cellular cholesterol status. J Biol Chem 2007; 282: 21090-9.
- Tavintharan S, Lim SC, Chan YH, Sum CF. Apolipoprotein E genotype affects the response to lipid-lowering therapy in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 2007; 9: 81-6.
- Telbisz A, Muller M, Ozvegy-Laczka C, Homolya L, Szente L, Varadi A, et al. Membrane cholesterol selectively modulates the activity of the human ABCG2 multidrug transporter. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2007; 1768: 2698-713.
- Teng MS, Hsu LA, Wu S, Chang HH, Chou HH, Ko YL. Association between C-reactive protein gene haplotypes and C-reactive protein levels in Taiwanese: interaction with obesity. *Atherosclerosis* 2009; 204: e64-9.
- Thompson A, Di Angelantonio E, Sarwar N, Erqou S, Saleheen D, Dullaart RP, et al. Association of cholesteryl ester transfer protein genotypes with CETP mass and activity, lipid levels, and coronary risk. Jama 2008; 299: 2777-88.
- Thompson JF, Hyde CL, Wood LS, Paciga SA, Hinds DA, Cox DR, et al. Comprehensive Whole-Genome and Candidate Gene Analysis for Response to Statin Therapy in the Treating to New Targets (TNT) Cohort. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2009; 2: 173-181.
- Thompson JF, Lira ME, Durham LK, Clark RW, Bamberger MJ, Milos PM. Polymorphisms in the CETP gene and association with CETP mass and HDL levels. *Atherosclerosis* 2003; 167: 195-204.
- Thompson JF, Man M, Johnson KJ, Wood LS, Lira ME, Lloyd DB, et al. An association study of 43 SNPs in 16 candidate genes with atorvastatin response. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2005; 5: 352-8.
- Thompson PD, Clarkson P, Karas RH. Statin-associated myopathy. JAMA 2003; 289: 1681-90.
- Timpson NJ, Lawlor DA, Harbord RM, Gaunt TR, Day IN, Palmer LJ, et al.

C-reactive protein and its role in metabolic syndrome: mendelian randomisation study. *Lancet* 2005; 366: 1954-9.

- Tirona RG. Ethnic differences in statin disposition. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2005; 78: 311-6.
- Tomlinson B, Hu M, Lee VWY, Lui SSH, Chu TTW, Poon E, et al. ABCG2 polymorphism is associated with the low-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to rosuvastatin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2010; 87: 558-562.
- Toniatti C, Demartis A, Monaci P, Nicosia A, Ciliberto G. Synergistic trans-activation of the human C-reactive protein promoter by transcription factor HNF-1 binding at two distinct sites. *Embo J* 1990; 9: 4467-75.
- Torres-Collado AX, Kisiel W, Iruela-Arispe ML, Rodriguez-Manzaneque JC. ADAMTS1 interacts with, cleaves, and modifies the extracellular location of the matrix inhibitor tissue factor pathway inhibitor-2. J Biol Chem 2006; 281: 17827-37.
- Trompet S, Pons D, AJ DEC, Slagboom P, Shepherd J, Blauw GJ, et al. Genetic variation in the interleukin-10 gene promoter and risk of coronary and cerebrovascular events: the PROSPER study. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007; 1100: 189-98.
- Troost J, Albermann N, Emil Haefeli W, Weiss J. Cholesterol modulates P-glycoprotein activity in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 316: 705-11.
- Tsai MY, Johnson C, Kao WH, Sharrett AR, Arends VL, Kronmal R, et al. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein genetic polymorphisms, HDL cholesterol, and subclinical cardiovascular disease in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 2008.
- Tukey RH, Strassburg CP. Human UDP-glucuronosyltransferases: metabolism, expression, and disease. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 2000; 40: 581-616.
- Tzeng T, Mitchell P, Zhang H, Kung L, Schneck D, Birmingham B. Population pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in normal subjects and subjects with dyslipidaemia [abstract]. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2004; 75: P56.
- van Dis I, Kromhout D, Geleijnse JM, Boer JM, Verschuren WM. Body mass index and waist circumference predict both 10-year nonfatal and fatal cardiovascular disease risk: study conducted in 20,000 Dutch men and women aged 20-65 years. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 2009; 16: 729-34.
- van Venrooij FV, Stolk RP, Banga JD, Sijmonsma TP, van Tol A, Erkelens DW, et al. Common cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene polymorphisms and the effect of atorvastatin therapy in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26: 1216-23.
- Veenstra DL, You JH, Rieder MJ, Farin FM, Wilkerson HW, Blough DK, et al. Association of Vitamin K epoxide reductase complex 1 (VKORC1) variants

with warfarin dose in a Hong Kong Chinese patient population. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2005; 15: 687-91.

- Vitart V, Rudan I, Hayward C, Gray NK, Floyd J, Palmer CN, et al. SLC2A9 is a newly identified urate transporter influencing serum urate concentration, urate excretion and gout. Nat Genet 2008; 40: 437-42.
- Vladutiu GD. Genetic predisposition to statin myopathy. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2008; 20: 648-55.
- Vladutiu GD, Simmons Z, Isackson PJ, Tarnopolsky M, Peltier WL, Barboi AC, et al. Genetic risk factors associated with lipid-lowering drug-induced myopathies. *Muscle Nerve* 2006; 34: 153-62.
- Vohl MC, Szots F, Lelievre M, Lupien PJ, Bergeron J, Gagne C, et al. Influence of LDL receptor gene mutation and apo E polymorphism on lipoprotein response to simvastatin treatment among adolescents with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. *Atherosclerosis* 2002; 160: 361-8.
- von Richter O, Burk O, Fromm MF, Thon KP, Eichelbaum M, Kivisto KT. Cytochrome P450 3A4 and P-glycoprotein expression in human small intestinal enterocytes and hepatocytes: a comparative analysis in paired tissue specimens. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2004; 75: 172-83.
- Voora D, Shah SH, Reed CR, Zhai J, Crosslin DR, Messer C, et al. Pharmacogenetic Predictors of Statin-Mediated Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Reduction and Dose Response. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2008; 1: 100-106.
- Voora D, Shah SH, Spasojevic I, Ali S, Reed CR, Salisbury BA, et al. The SLCO1B1\*5 genetic variant is associated with statin-induced side effects. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 54: 1609-16.
- Wallace C, Newhouse SJ, Braund P, Zhang F, Tobin M, Falchi M, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies genes for biomarkers of cardiovascular disease: serum urate and dyslipidemia. Am J Hum Genet 2008; 82: 139-49.
- Walsh JC, Mandalia S, Gazzard BG. Responses to a 1 month self-report on adherence to antiretroviral therapy are consistent with electronic data and virological treatment outcome. *Aids* 2002; 16: 269-77.
- Wang A, Yu BN, Luo CH, Tan ZR, Zhou G, Wang LS, et al. Ile118Val genetic polymorphism of CYP3A4 and its effects on lipid-lowering efficacy of simvastatin in Chinese hyperlipidemic patients. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 2005; 60: 843-8.
- Wang B, Miao Z, Liu S, Wang J, Zhou S, Han L, et al. Genetic analysis of ABCG2 gene C421A polymorphism with gout disease in Chinese Han male population. *Hum Genet* 2010; 127: 245-6.
- Wannamethee SG. Serum uric acid and risk of coronary heart disease. Curr Pharm

Des 2005; 11: 4125-32.

- Watanabe H, Yamane K, Fujikawa R, Okubo M, Egusa G, Kohno N. Westernization of lifestyle markedly increases carotid intima-media wall thickness (IMT) in Japanese people. *Atherosclerosis* 2003; 166: 67-72.
- Webster RJ, Warrington NM, Weedon MN, Hattersley AT, McCaskie PA, Beilby JP, et al. The association of common genetic variants in the APOA5, LPL and GCK genes with longitudinal changes in metabolic and cardiovascular traits. *Diabetologia* 2009; 52: 106-14.
- Wen J, Xiong Y. OATP1B1 388A>G polymorphism and pharmacokinetics of pitavastatin in Chinese healthy volunteers. J Clin Pharm Ther 2010; 35: 99-104.
- White CM. A review of the pharmacologic and pharmacokinetic aspects of rosuvastatin. J Clin Pharmacol 2002; 42: 963-70.
- Whitfield JB, Martin NG. Inheritance and alcohol as factors influencing plasma uric acid levels. Acta Genet Med Gemellol (Roma) 1983; 32: 117-26.
- Willer CJ, Sanna S, Jackson AU, Scuteri A, Bonnycastle LL, Clarke R, et al. Newly identified loci that influence lipid concentrations and risk of coronary artery disease. Nat. Genet. 2008a; 40: 161-9.
- Willer CJ, Sanna S, Jackson AU, Scuteri A, Bonnycastle LL, Clarke R, et al. Newly identified loci that influence lipid concentrations and risk of coronary artery disease. *Nat Genet* 2008b; 40: 161-9.
- Willrich MA, Hirata MH, Hirata RD. Statin regulation of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 expression. *Pharmacogenomics* 2009; 10: 1017-24.
- Winkelmann BR, Hoffmann MM, Nauck M, Kumar AM, Nandabalan K, Judson RS, et al. Haplotypes of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene predict lipid-modifying response to statin therapy. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2003; 3: 284-96.
- Wung SF, Kulkarni MV, Pullinger CR, Malloy MJ, Kane JP, Aouizerat BE. The lipoprotein lipase gene in combined hyperlipidemia: evidence of a protective allele depletion. *Lipids Health Dis* 2006; 5: 19.
- Xiang X, Han Y, Neuvonen M, Pasanen MK, Kalliokoski A, Backman JT, et al. Effect of SLCO1B1 polymorphism on the plasma concentrations of bile acids and bile acid synthesis marker in humans. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2009; 19: 447-57.
- Xie HG, Kim RB, Wood AJ, Stein CM. Molecular basis of ethnic differences in drug disposition and response. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 2001; 41: 815-50.
- Yamada Y, Matsuo H, Warita S, Watanabe S, Kato K, Oguri M, et al. Prediction of genetic risk for dyslipidemia. *Genomics* 2007; 90: 551-8.
- Yamasaki D, Nakamura T, Okamura N, Kokudai M, Inui N, Takeuchi K, et al.

Effects of acid and lactone forms of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors on the induction of MDR1 expression and function in LS180 cells. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 2009; 37: 126-32.

- Yanase K, Tsukahara S, Mitsuhashi J, Sugimoto Y. Functional SNPs of the breast cancer resistance protein-therapeutic effects and inhibitor development. *Cancer Lett* 2006; 234: 73-80.
- Yang Q, Guo CY, Cupples LA, Levy D, Wilson PW, Fox CS. Genome-wide search for genes affecting serum uric acid levels: the Framingham Heart Study. *Metabolism* 2005; 54: 1435-41.
- Yavuz B, Ertugrul DT, Cil H, Ata N, Akin KO, Yalcin AA, et al. Increased levels of 25 hydroxyvitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D after rosuvastatin treatment: a novel pleiotropic effect of statins? *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2009; 23: 295-9.
- Ye X, Yu Z, Li H, Franco OH, Liu Y, Lin X. Distributions of C-reactive protein and its association with metabolic syndrome in middle-aged and older Chinese people. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 1798-805.
- Yen CL, Stone SJ, Koliwad S, Harris C, Farese RV, Jr. Thematic review series: glycerolipids. DGAT enzymes and triacylglycerol biosynthesis. J Lipid Res 2008; 49: 2283-301.
- Zacho J, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Jensen JS, Grande P, Sillesen H, Nordestgaard BG. Genetically elevated C-reactive protein and ischemic vascular disease. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 1897-908.
- Zamber CP, Lamba JK, Yasuda K, Farnum J, Thummel K, Schuetz JD, et al. Natural allelic variants of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) and their relationship to BCRP expression in human intestine. *Pharmacogenetics* 2003; 13: 19-28.
- Zambon A, Deeb SS, Brown BG, Hokanson JE, Brunzell JD. Common hepatic lipase gene promoter variant determines clinical response to intensive lipid-lowering treatment. *Circulation* 2001; 103: 792-8.
- Zhang W, Chang YZ, Kan QC, Zhang LR, Li ZS, Lu H, et al. CYP3A4\*1G genetic polymorphism influences CYP3A activity and response to fentanyl in Chinese gynecologic patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2009.
- Zhang W, Chen BL, Ozdemir V, He YJ, Zhou G, Peng DD, et al. SLCO1B1 521T-->C functional genetic polymorphism and lipid-lowering efficacy of multiple-dose pravastatin in Chinese coronary heart disease patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2007.
- Zhang W, Yu BN, He YJ, Fan L, Li Q, Liu ZQ, et al. Role of BCRP 421C>A polymorphism on rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy Chinese males. *Clin Chim Acta* 2006a; 373: 99-103.

- Zhang W, Yu BN, He YJ, Fan L, Li Q, Liu ZQ, et al. Role of BCRP 421C>A polymorphism on rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy Chinese males. *Clin. Chim. Acta.* 2006b; 373: 99-103.
- Zhang YY, Gottardo L, Mlynarski W, Frazier W, Nolan D, Duffy J, et al. Genetic variability at the leptin receptor (LEPR) locus is a determinant of plasma fibrinogen and C-reactive protein levels. *Atherosclerosis* 2007; 191: 121-7.
- Zhou SF. Polymorphism of human cytochrome P450 2D6 and its clinical significance: Part I. Clin Pharmacokinet 2009; 48: 689-723.
- Zhu JR, Tomlinson B, Ro YM, Sim KH, Lee YT, Sriratanasathavorn C. A randomised study comparing the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin with atorvastatin for achieving lipid goals in clinical practice in Asian patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease (DISCOVERY-Asia study). Curr Med Res Opin 2007; 23: 3055-68.
- Zintzaras E, Kitsios GD, Triposkiadis F, Lau J, Raman G. APOE gene polymorphisms and response to statin therapy. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2009; 9: 248-57.
- Zuccaro P, Mombelli G, Calabresi L, Baldassarre D, Palmi I, Sirtori CR. Tolerability of statins is not linked to CYP450 polymorphisms, but reduced CYP2D6 metabolism improves cholesteraemic response to simvastatin and fluvastatin. *Pharmacol Res* 2007; 55: 310-7.

Original Publications arising from the thesis

# Pharmacogenetics of HMG-CoA Reductase Inhibitors: Optimizing the Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease

M. Hu<sup>1</sup>, V.W.L. Mak<sup>1</sup>, T.T.W. Chu<sup>1</sup>, M.M.Y. Waye<sup>2</sup> and B. Tomlinson<sup>1,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine and Therapeutics and <sup>2</sup>Department of Biochemistry (Medicine) and The Croucher Laboratory for Human Genomics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong SAR

Abstract: The statins are the most important group of drugs for lipid-lowering therapy in the prevention of coronary heart disease. Greater reductions in LDL-cholesterol appear to be associated with greater benefits but the clinical efficacy and safety of statin treatment varies considerably from person to person because of a combination of phenotypic and genotypic factors. Pharmacogenetic studies have investigated the relationship between common genetic variants and the lipid responses to statin therapy and adverse events, and some candidate genes related to the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of different statins have been identified. Some of these genetic variants show a different frequency in different ethnic groups. This field of pharmacogenetic research is receiving considerable attention and many new findings have been reported recently. Pharmacogenetic and pharmacogenomic studies of statin therapy are likely to provide a better understanding of the effects of these drugs and to help with prediction of the most appropriate drug and dosage for each individual and whether the addition or substitution of other lipid modifying drugs may be necessary to achieve the most safe and effective prevention of coronary heart disease.

Key Words: Coronary heart disease, ethnic differences, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, LDL-cholesterol, pharmacogenetics.

## INTRODUCTION

The 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors or statins comprise the most important group of drugs for lipid-lowering therapy in the prevention of coronary heart disease (CHD). Statins achieve their pharmacological effects by competitive inhibition of the rate-limiting step in hepatic cholesterol synthesis and this in turn results in up-regulation of the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor expression, and finally leading to lowering the plasma LDL-cholesterol appear to be associated with greater benefits [Baigent, C. *et al.* 2005], but the clinical efficacy and safety of statin treatment varies considerably from person to person because of a combination of phenotypic and genotypic factors [Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004e; Schmitz, G. *et al.* 2007].

Pharmacogenetic studies have investigated the relationship between common genetic variants and the lipid responses to statin therapy or adverse events, which could help to optimize statin therapy by identifying individuals with increased risk or benefit. Some candidate genes related to the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of different statins have been identified. Although statins are generally well tolerated, there are some adverse effects which occur in a few percentages of patients, such as gastrointestinal disturbances or muscle discomfort, but these are relatively mild and often transient in nature [Tomlinson, B. *et al.* 2001]. Potentially more serious adverse effects, which are usually dose-dependent, include elevations in hepatic transaminase levels and myopathy and these occur in about 0.2% and  $\leq$ 0.03% respectively of patients on standard doses of most statins [Brewer, H.B., Jr. 2003]. The genetic basis of statinrelated muscle disorders is largely unknown, but some studies have identified genetic variants that are associated with statin-induced myopathy [Link, E. et al. 2008]. A number of these genetic variants show a different frequency in different ethnic groups, which may be responsible for the interethnic variations in pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of some statins. This review summarizes the main findings and some of the more recent publications in this field, aiming to highlight the contributions of some common polymorphisms in candidate genes to the variation in response to statin therapy or the potential toxic effects of statins.

## PHARMACOKINETICS OF STATINS

The chemical structures of the statins are shown in Fig. (1). They all share the same active pharmacophore which resembles HMG-CoA, the substrate of their target enzyme HMG-CoA reductase. The differences in the other aspects of their chemical structure determine their affinity for binding to the enzyme active site, their lipophilicity and ability to enter hepatocytes. These parameters and other physicochemical and pharmacokinetic properties are summarized in Table 1. Lovastatin and simvastatin are administered in the lactone forms which are more lipophilic and can pass through cell membranes more easily. They are better absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract. All the other statins are administered as the active acid form. Lovastatin and simvastatin are rapidly hydrolyzed in the body by esterases and paraoxonases. The active hydroxy acids of the statins can be converted to lactones (Fig. (2)) by a Co-enzyme A (CoASH)-

1875-6921/09 \$55.00+.00

© 2009 Bentham Science Publishers Ltd.

<sup>\*</sup>Address correspondence to this author at the Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, The Prince of Wales Hospital, Shatin, Hong Kong; Tel: (852) 2632 3139; Fax: (852) 2632 3139; E-mail: btomlinson@cuhk.edu.hk

Hu et al.



Fig. (1). Chemical structures of the statins and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA).

dependent pathway [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 2001] and by a pathway involving uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs), mainly UGT1A1 and UGT1A3, forming the acyl glucuronide conjugates, which undergo spontaneous cyclization to the lactone [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 2002b]. Inhibition of the UGT-mediated pathway appears to be one of the mechanisms for the interaction of most statins with gemfibrozil [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 2002b].

The more lipophilic statins are subject to considerable metabolism by cytochrome P-450 (CYP) enzymes, which act predominantly on the statin lactones producing various active and inactive oxidative metabolites within both the enterocytes and hepatocytes. The main CYP enzymes involved are CYP3A4, CYP3A5, CYP2C9, CYP2C19 and CYP2D6. Substrates for CYP3A enzymes are commonly also substrates for the efflux drug transporter p-glycoprotein, also know as multidrug resistance protein (MDR1, *ABCB1*). This is true for some of the statins, and other efflux transporters located in the enterocytes and at the canalicular membrane of the hepatocytes may also be involved. The list includes multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 (MRP2, *ABCC2*), breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP, *ABCG2*) and the bile salt exporting pump (BSEP, *ABCB11*), which are also involved in excretion of statins and their metabolites into the gut lumen or biliary system (Fig. (3)).

Uptake of the more hydrophilic statin acids or lactones into hepatocytes is highly dependent on various drug influx transporters including the solute carrier transporter (SLC) proteins, such as organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 (OATP1B1, *SLCO1B1*). All the statins appear to be sub-

Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 3

	Lovastatin	Simvastatin	Pravastatio	Fluvastatin	Atorvastatin	Cerivastatin	Rosuvastatin	Pitavastatio
IC <sub>50</sub> (nM)	N/A	11.2	44.1	27.6	8.2	10.0	5.4	NA
Lipophilicity	3.91*	4.4*	-0.751.00	1.0 - 1.25	1.0 - 1.25	1.50 - 1.75	-0.25 0.5	1.5*
Absorption (%)	30	60-85	35	98	30	>98	50	80
Bioavailability (%)	5	<5	18	24-30	12	60	20	60-80
Hepatic extraction (%)	≥70	≥\$0	45	≥70	70	50-60	63	NA
Renal excretion (%)	10	13	20	6	<5	30	10	NA
Protein binding (%)	>98	>95	50	>98	>98	>99	90	96
Half-life (h)	2-5	2-5	1-3	1-3	7-20	1-3	20	10-13
Metabolism	+++	+++	+	+++	+++	+++	+	++
Active metabolites	3	3	Z	No	2	2	Misor	Minor
CYP enzyme metabolism	3A4/5, 2C8	3A4/5, 2C8	3A4	2C9	3A4, 2C8	2C8, 3A4	2C9, 2C19	209
UGTs	1A1, 1A3, 2B7	IA1, 1A3, 2B7		1	1A1, IA3, 2B7	1A1, IA3		1A3, 2B7
Uplake transporters	SLCO1B1, MCT4	SLCO1B1	SLC01B1/2B1, OAT3, MCT1	SLCOIBI	SLCO1B1	SLCO1B1	SLCOIB1/1B3/ 2B1/LA2, SLC10A1	SLCOIBI/IB3
Efflux transporters	ABCB1	ABCB1	ABCB1/B11/C2/G2	ABCG2	ABCB1/G2	ABCB1/C2/G2	ABCB1/C2/G2	ABCB1/C2/G2

### Table 1. Pharmacokinetic Properties of Statins

IC<sub>50</sub> (inhibitor concentration to produce 50% inhibition) in purified human HMG-CoA reductase catalytic domain. Lipophilicity as logD at pH7.4 of administered form, except \* at pH7.0. Adapted from references [Neuvonen, P.J. et al. 2006; Schmitz, G. et al. 2007; Shitara, Y. et al. 2006; Tirona, R.G. 2005].

strates of OATP1B1 to a varying degree and the efficiency of this transport mechanism may be a major determinant for the ability of individual statins in the hydrophilic acid form to enter hepatocytes where their main pharmacological activity is exerted.

Most of the statins appear to have pharmacokinetic parameters that increase in proportion to the dose. However, with each doubling of the dose the increase in effect is on average an additional 7% reduction in LDL-cholesterol and 5% reduction in total cholesterol [Roberts, W.C. 1997]. The dose-response relationships for average changes in lipid parameters with different statins have been established in a number of large studies mainly performed in Caucasians [Jones, P. et al. 1998; Jones, P.H. et al. 2003]. Thus it may be anticipated that any polymorphism in an enzyme or transporter, or a drug interaction, which increased the drug concentration in plasma or hepatocytes by 100% might only result in an additional 6% reduction in LDL-cholesterol.

Drug interactions with the statins are mostly pharmacokinetic, involving the CYP enzymes or transporters. For example, the interactions between statins and azole antifungal drugs are largely due to the inhibition of CYP3A enzymes [Neuvonen, P.J. et al. 2006], whereas those with cyclosporine involve the inhibition of CYP3A enzymes, P-glycoprotein and other drug transporters by this co-administrated inhibitor [Simonson, S.G. et al. 2004;

Palumbo, G. et al. 2005]. Polymorphisms in the genes for these enzymes and transporters may influence the interactions mediated through these pathways. The pharmacogenetic approach has been used to study drug-drug interactions, and we have suggested this could be used more widely to include study of herb-drug interactions [Tomlinson, B. et al. 2008]. One study has shown that the herbal compound baicalin reduces systemic exposure of rosuvastatin by induction of hepatic rosuvastatin uptake through OATP1B1 in an OATP1B1 haplotype-dependent manner [Fan, L. et al. 2008]. Polymorphisms or mutations in the genes encoding these proteins will also alter the pharmacokinetics and potentially the efficacy of the statins [Neuvonen, P.J. et al. 2006]. For some of the polymorphisms there is a moderate difference in the allelic frequencies between different ethnic groups. These have been summarized for the drug metabolizing enzymes in Table 2 and the main drug transporters in Table 3. These have been described in more detail recently [Saito, Y. et al. 2007]. Data from Chinese, Japanese and Korean studies have been combined in a group called East Asians. There are insufficient data from some large ethnic groups such as South Asian Indians so these are not shown in the tables. Ethnic differences in the disposition of rosuvastatin have been reported with greater systemic exposure in Japanese, Chinese and other Asian groups compared to Caucasians [Lee, E. et al. 2005; Tirona, R.G. 2005]. This resulted in recommendations in the rosuvastatin labeling to use



Fig. (2). Proposed metabolic pathway of a typical statin (adapted from Prueksaritanont 2002, with permission from American Society for Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics) [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 2002a].



Fig. (3). Vectorial pathway for statin distribution from enterocytes to hepatocytes for their pharmacological action and metabolism and elimination *via* the bile and kidneys.

Listed across the compartment interfaces are efflux or uptake transporter proteins that may be involved. Abbreviations: ABC, ATP-binding cassette; MCT, monocarboxylate transporter; OAT, organic anion transporter; SLC, solute solute carrier family; SLCO, solute carrier organic anion transporter family member.

Hu et al.

## Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 5

## Table 2. Allele Frequencies of Common Polymorphisms in Drug Metabolizing Enzymes in Different Ethnic Groups

Metabolizing	Polymounkings on Wealst	Amina Aaid Proban-	Furning A diate	Allele Frequency (%)			
Enzymes	rolymorphisms or Haplotype	Amino Acid Exchange	Enzyme Activity	White	Black	East Asian	
CYP2C8							
	*2 (805A>T)	lle269Phe	Decreased	0-4.1	1.1-18	0 *)	
	*3 (416G>A, 1196A>G)	Arg139Lys, Lys399Arg	Decreased	13	2	0 *)	
	*4 (792C>G)	Ile264Met	Unclear	0.2	14.1	0 *)	
CYP2C9	nt or the second of the second		Paula Deference Santi-Alfred				
	*2 (430C>T)	Arg144Cys	Decreased	10-15	2-4	0	
	*3 (1075A>C)	Ile359Leu	Decreased	5-10	<2	1-4	
CYP2C19							
	*2 (681G>A)	Val331Ile	None	13-19	11-25	21-45	
	*3 (636G>A)	W212end	None	0-0.3	0-1.8	5-13	
СҮРЗА4							
	*1B (-392A>G)		Slightly decreased	3.9-4.2	53-69	0-4.7	
	*2 (15713T>C)	Ser222Pro	Substrate specific	2.7	0	0	
	*4 (352A>G, 13871A>G)	Ile118Val	Decreased			3.3	
CYP3A5							
	*1		Normal	0-15	36-45	23-40	
	*3 (6986A>G)	Premature stop	Severely decreased	85-98	27-84	60-77	
	*6 (14690G>A)	Premature stop	Decreased	0	8.7	1.6	
CYP2D6							
	*1	Wild-type	Normal	33.4-83.8	27.8-90.4	22.7-49	
	*2 (-1584C>G, 2850C>T, 4180G>C)	Wild-type	Normal	32.4-35.3	9.9-40	8.0-13.4	
	*3 (2549A>del)	260 terminate	Inactive	0-2.5	0-1	0	
	*4 (100C>T, 974C>A, 984A>G, 1846G>A splice, 4180G>C)	182 terminate	Inactive	11.3-28.6	0.9-9.3	0.2-0.8	
	*5 gene deletion	Gene deletion	No activity	0.6-7.3	3.3-9	1.2-6.2	
	*10 (100C>T, 4180G>C)	Pro34Ser, Ser486Thr	Decreased	1.4-6.1	1-8.6	38.1-70	
	*17 (1023C>T, 2850C>T, 4180G>C)	Thr1071le, Arg296Cys, Ser486Thr	Decreased	0-1.1	9-34	0	
	*41 (-1584C>G, 2850C>T, 2988G>A, 4180G>C)	Arg296Cys, Ser486Thr	Decreased	10-20	0	0	
	*2 X N (1661G>C, 2850C>T, 4180G>C) (N≥2)	Arg296Cys, Ser486Thr	Increased	5-10	1.9-13.6	0.5	
UGT1A1		8.11					
	*6 (211G>A)	Gly71Arg	Decreased	0.7	NA	5-24.1	
	*28 (-53(TA)6>7)		Decreased	29.5-40	34.6-44.6	6.8-23	
1	*60(-3279T>G)		Decreased	43.9-55	85	16.7-32.7	

<sup>1</sup> Ite 360 Japanese subjects Adapted from references: CYP3A4: [Hsieh, K.P. et al. 2001; Kim, K.A. et al. 2004; Sata, F. et al. 2000; Wang, A. et al. 2005; Sinues, B. et al. 2007; Dally, H. et al. 2003], CYP3A5: [Daly, A.K. et al. 2006; Hustert, E. et al. 2001; Kim, K.A. et al. 2007; Kuehl, P. et al. 2001; Roy, J.N. et al. 2005; Balram, C. et al. 2003], CYP2C9: [Kim, K.A. et al. 2004; Kirch-heiner, S. et al. 2003; Schwarz, U.I. 2003], CYP2D6: [Zanger, U.M. et al. 2004; Cascorbi, I. 2003; Meyer, U.A. and Zanger, U.M. 1997], UGT1A1: [Beutler, E. et al. 1998; Lampe, J.W. et al. 1999].

Drug	Polymorphisms or	Amino	Effect on	Alle	de Frequenc	References	
Transporters	Haplotype	Acid Exchange	Transporter Activity	White	Black	East Asian	
SLCO1B1							
	*1a			NA	NA	35.2	[Ho, R.H. et al. 2007;
	388A>G	Asn 130Asp	Uncertain	30-46	70-80	60-90	Hsiang, B. et al. 1999;
	463¢>A	Pro155Thr	Unchanged	1.6-18	2-4.8	0-2.5	lida, A. et al. 2001; Jada,
	521T>C	Val174Ala	Reduced	14-20	1.0-2.5	11-16	J. et al. 2008; Nozawa, T.
	*14 (388A>G +463C>A)	Asn130Asp + Pro155Thr	Unchanged	13.0-15.4	NA	NA	et al. 2002; Pasanen, M.K. et al. 2006a; Pasanen,
	*15 (388A>G +521T>C)	Asn130Asp + Val174Ala	Reduced	2.7	NA	7-10.3	M.K. et al. 2008; Tirona, R.G. et al. 2001]
	*17 (-11187G>A +388A>G +521T>C)	Asn I 30 Asp + Val 174 Ala	Reduced	6.9	NA	2.9-13.3	
ABCB1	-					•	
	3435C>T	lle1145lle, wobble	Decreased P-gp expression	48-54	16-26	37-47	[Frømm, M.F. 2002; [to,
	2677G>T	Ala893Scr	Decreased P-gp expression	41.6-46	6.5-10	36-43.7	S. et al. 2001; Lee, C.G.
	2677G>A	Ala893Thr	Decreased P-gp expression	0-3.6	0-0.5	5.8-21.8	et al. 2004; Ozawa, S. et al.
	1236C>T	Gly412Gly, wobble	Decreased P-gp expression	34.4-42	15	61.5-69.4	2007, Tang, K. & Bl. 2002]
	-129T>C	Non-coding	Decreased P-gp expression	5.9	NA	1.6-8.3	
ABCC2							
	1249 G>A	Va14171Je	No significant effect	15-21	14	~12	[lto, K. et al. 2001; Itoda,
	1446 C>G	Thr482Thr	Unknown	1.3 -3.7	NA	NA	M. et al. 2002; Niemi, M.
	3563 T>A	Val1188Glu	Unknown	5	4	NA	et al. 2006]
	4544 G>A	Cys1515Tyr	Unknown	5	17	NĂ	
ABCG2							
	34G>A	Val-12Met	Uncertain	2-10.3	4	15-36	[Lee, S.S. et al. 2007;
	421C>T	Gin-141Lys	Reduced	9.0-14	0	28-35	Mizuarai, S. et al. 2004;
	376C>T	Gin-126Term	Lack of function	0	NA	0.4-1.9	Zamber, C.P. et al. 2003]

Table 3. Allele Frequencies of Common P	olymory	obisms i	n Drug	z Transporters	in Different	Ethnic Groups
---	---------	----------	--------	----------------	--------------	---------------

small doses in people of Asian origin [Po, A.L. 2007]. For the other statins there have been no systematic studies of ethnic differences, except for cerivastatin for which a retrospective analysis of the pharmacokinetic data found no evidence for any clinically relevant inter-ethnic differences between Caucasians, Black and Japanese subjects [Muck, W. *et al.* 1998].

## CYP3A ENZYMES

## CYP3A4

The CYP3A enzyme group constitutes the largest amount of CYP enzymes in the liver and enterocytes. They play a key role in the metabolism of over 50% of the drugs in common use in clinical practice [Li, A.P. et al. 1995; dc Wildt, S.N. et al. 1999; Dresser, G.K. et al. 2000; Tang, W. and Stearns, R.A. 2001]. The importance of both CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in the metabolism of some of the statins in both the lactone and acid forms has been known for many years [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 1997]. Indeed, simvastatin has been considered as a potential probe drug for studying CYP3A drug interactions, but it was found to be suboptimal compared with midazolam because of its lack of CYP3A specificity [Chung, E. et al. 2006]. Many drug interactions have been described between statins and potent inhibitors of CYP3A4 such as itraconazole, ketconazole and even grapefruit juice, which acts only on enterocyte CYP3A4 [Neuvonen, P.J. et al. 2006]. These combinations should

Hu et al.

generally be avoided because of the increased risk of myopathy and rhabdomyolysis but the combination of a low dose of statin with a moderate inhibitor of CYP3A4 such as diltiazem might potentiate the lipid-lowering effect. This was supported by a retrospective study of patients treated with simvastatin showing that with co-prescription of diltiazem, the reduction in cholesterol appeared approximately equivalent to doubling the dose of simvastatin [Yeo, K.R. et al. 1999]. With simvastatin, and potentially other statins, inhibition of CYP-mediated metabolism might reduce the formation of downstream active metabolites so the overall efficacy may not increase [Gruer, P.J. et al. 1999], but a recent study from Japan found an approximate doubling of plasma HMG Co-A reductase inhibitory activity when diltiazem was added to simvastatin 5-mg daily in patients with hyperlipidemia and hypertension and there was an additional reduction in LDL-cholesterol from 22.3% to 28.3% (calculated from the mean values of LDL-cholesterol given in the report) which might be predicted as an effect similar to doubling the dose [Watanabe, H. et al. 2004].

The enzyme activity of CYP3A4 shows wide interindividual variability which is not currently explained by polymorphisms in CYP3A4 [Xie, H.G. et al. 2001]. More than 40 SNPs of the CYP3A4 gene have been identified on the Human Cytochrome P450 Allele Nomenclature Committee homepage (http://www.imm.ki.se/CYPalleles-updated 21st May, 2008), but most of these are not very frequent. The distribution in different ethnic groups of the three common alleles in the CYP3A4 gene located in chromosome 7q.21.1 is shown in Table 2. The allele CYP3A4\*1B is the most frequent variant, particularly among black subjects. Patients who were homozygous for CYP3A4\*1B had significantly higher post-treatment LDL-cholesterol levels in a study with atorvastatin 10-mg daily, but there was no difference in absolute and percentage changes in LDL-cholesterol [Kajinami, K. et al. 2004b]. The CYP3A4\*2 allele showed substrate specific pharmacokinetics [Xie, H.G. et al. 2001]. Its effect on statins has yet to be confirmed.

The CYP3A4\*4 allele results in the amino acid sequence change of Ile118Val. In a study among Chinese hyperlipidemic patients, in whom the incidence was quoted at 3.32%, the lipid lowering effects of simvastatin were increased for total cholesterol and triglycerides but not for LDL cholesterol in subjects with this allele compared to those with the wild-type allele [Wang, A. *et al.* 2005]. It is difficult to say whether this difference in changes in lipid fractions is simply due to differences in pharmacokinetics as it may be expected that the main effect would be on LDL-cholesterol if the systemic and hepatic exposure to simvastatin acid is greater in those subjects with the less frequent CYP3A4\*4 allele.

Another recent study in Chinese hyperlipidemic patients identified the frequency of a common variant CYP3A4\*1G (G to A substitution at position 82266) as 2.76% and found a gene-dose-dependent effect (P < 0.01) with increasing percentage reduction in serum total cholesterol in \*1/\*1, \*1/\*1G, \*1G/\*1G genotypes with atorvastatin but not with simvastatin [Gao, Y. et al. 2008]. These differences in percentage reduction in total cholesterol resulted from the sum of differences in changes in both LDL-cholesterol and HDL-

Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 7

cholesterol, but the changes were not significant for either cholesterol fraction separately so it is difficult to interpret these results.

## CYP3A5

CYP3A5 contributes to simvastatin metabolism and subjects with the CYP3A5\*3 allele, with decreased enzyme activity, have increased systemic exposure to simvastatin [Kim, K.A. et al. 2007]. The frequency of this variant is similar in Chinese (76%), Japanese (77%) and Caucasian subjects (85%) [Balram, C. et al. 2003]. The high frequency of this polymorphism may contribute a substantial amount to interindividual variability in CYP3A substrates [Schmitz, G. and Langmann, T. 2006]. However, a study comparing the clinical response to atorvastatin 10-mg daily in 1902 subjects with the \*3 or \*1 alleles showed no significant effect [Thompson, J.F. et al. 2005]. It has been argued that atorvastatin may be less sensitive than simvastatin to pertubations in CYP3A activity through interactions with inhibitors because atorvastatin is given in the open acid form and its hepatic uptake is more dependent on the OATP1B1 transporter than the more lipophilic simvastatin lactone [Shitara, Y. and Sugiyama, Y. 2006]. Another study with simvastatin 20-mg daily in Caucasian patients in Brazil did not show any effect of the CYP3A5\*3 allele on lipid responses [Fiegenbaum, M. et al. 2005b]. However, in another study in subjects being treated with various statins (lovastatin, simvastatin and atorvastatin) there were smaller lipid-lowering responses in the CYP3A5\*1 wild-type expressors compared to homozygous CYP3A5\*3 enzyme non-expressors, supporting the theory that CYP3A5-related metabolism of statins may influence the clinical efficacy [Kivisto, K.T. et al. 2004].

## CYP2C8

CYP2C8 is known to be involved in the arachidonic acid pathway relating to vasoactivity [Dreisbach, A.W. et al. 2005; King, L.M. et al. 2005]. Its related gene CYP2C8 is located on chromosome 10q23.33 and has three major variant alleles \*5 (475delA), \*7 (4517C>T) and \*8 (4517C>G). Cerivastatin and its active metabolites are substrates of CYP2C8 [Schmitz, G. et al. 2007]. It has been reported that gemfibrozil greatly increased plasma concentration of cerivastatin, its lactone and metabolites, which is likely to be partly due to inhibition of the CYP2C8 pathway [Shitara, Y. et al. 2004]. Inhibitors of CYP3A4 have relatively little effect on cerivastatin pharmacokinetics because CYP2C8 seems to be the dominant pathway [Shitara, Y. et al. 2004]. The consequence from the high level of systemic exposure to cerivastatin was a high incidence of myopathy and increased risk of fatal rhabdomyolysis [Backman, J.T. et al. 2002; Ishikawa, C. et al. 2004] which contributed to the withdrawal of cerivastatin from the market [Furberg, C.D. and Pitt, B. 2001]. Both the CYP2C8\*5 and CYP2C8\*7 alleles result in non-expression of the gene and null activity of the enzyme, so these two alleles are likely to be associated with increased levels of CYP2C8 substrates. Both simvastatin acid and lovastatin acid undergo a minor degree of metabolism by CYP2C8 and it was shown that gemfibrozil increased the AUC values of these two acids but not their lactones, possibly though inhibition of the CYP2C8 pathway [Backman, J.T. et al. 2000; Kyrklund, C. et al. 2001]. Intui-

tively, the effect of the non-expressor *CYP2C8* alleles may have some influence on metabolism of some statins but no studies on this appear to have been reported.

## CYP2C9 and CYP2C19

CYP2C9 is responsible for the hydroxylation of a wide range of drugs, being particularly important for the narrow therapeutic range agents warfarin and phenytoin [Schwarz, U.I. 2003]. The \*3 allele results in significant reduction in catalytic activities for all CYP2C9 substrates [Xie, H.G. et al. 2001]. Fluvastatin is the only statin known to undergo a major degree of CYP2C9-mediated metabolism. The CYP2C9\*3 allele is more common in Caucasians and AUC values for fluvastatin were found to be higher in subjects with the \*3 allele with reduced enzyme activity [Kirchheiner, J. et al. 2003]. However, no correlation was found with the clinical effects in terms of lipid lowering efficacy [Kirchheiner, J. et al. 2003]. Other minor alleles, e.g. \*4, \*5, \*6, are only found in particular ethnic groups with low frequencies. Their effects on statin pharmacokinetics have not been reported. A large study involving 707 renal transplant patients on cyclosporine (ALERT study) found no significant effect of the CYP2C9\*2 and \*3 alleles on the LDLcholesterol reduction with fluvastatin 40-mg [Singer, J.B. et al. 2007].

Pitavastatin and to a lesser extent rosuvastatin undergo a minor degree of metabolism by CYP2C9 and the latter also by CYP2C19 [Igel, M. et al. 2002], but there are no reports of the effects of variants in these enzymes on the pharma-cokinetics or pharmacodynamics of these statins.

## CYP2D6

The involvement of the CYP2D6 enzyme in the metabolism of statins is more controversial than the other enzymes mentioned above. CYP2D6 may not be directly involved in the metabolism of the statin lactone or hydroxy acid, but its action on the downstream oxidative metabolites is not clear. However, there have been previous reports of increased cholesterol-lowering efficacy with simvastatin treatment in subjects with CYP2D6 genotypes associated with decreased enzyme activities [Mulder, A.B. et al. 2001; Nordin, C. et al. 1997; Zuccaro, P. et al. 2007], but in vitro studies found that CYP2D6 was not involved in the metabolism of simvastatin [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 2003]. The CYP2D6 gene is highly polymorphic with as many as 70 alleles described [Xie, H.G. et al. 2001]. Previous studies on the effects of CYP2D6 polymorphisms on clinical responses were performed in Caucasians with alleles \*3, \*4 or \*5 resulting in poor metabolizer status. A common allele \*10 in the Chinese population has a frequency as high as 65% [Garcia-Barcelo, M. et al. 2000], but the effect of this allele on simvastatin or other statin efficacy or metabolism has not been identified.

## URIDINE DISPHOSPHATE-GLUCURONOSYL TRANS-FERASE (UGT)

The uridine disphosphate-glucuronosyl transferase (UGT) superfamily can be subdivided into four subfamilies, UGT1, UGT2, UGT3, and UGT8 [Mackenzie, P.I. et al. 2005]. The UGT1A locus is located on chromosome 2q37 and consists of 9 active and 4 inactive first exons and com-

mon exons 2 to 5. Nine functional proteins (UGT1A1, UGT1A3-1A10) can be made [Tukey, R.H. and Strassburg, C.P. 2000]. There is tissue-specific expression of the UGT1A proteins with five of the nine functional UGT1A proteins primarily expressed in hepatic tissues (UGT1A1, UGT1A3, UGT1A4, UGT1A6 and UGT1A9) and three in extrahepatic tissues (UGT1A7, UGT1A8 and UGT1A10) [Tukey, R.H. et al. 2000]. At least 113 variant alleles of UGT1A1 have been recorded (http://som.flinders.edu.au/FUSA/ClinPharm/UGT/).

The UGT enzymes catalyze the conjugation of glucuronic acid to certain target substrates and they are involved in the inter-conversion of statin lactones and acids through a glucuronidation pathway as shown in Fig. (2) [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 2002a]. Gemfibrozil was shown in an animal model to inhibit both CYP enzymes and UGTmediated metabolism of simvastatin, atorvastatin and cerivastatin [Prueksaritanont, T. et al. 2002b]. However, the comparably lower rates of UGT-mediated metabolism compared to that via CYP P-450 pathways suggested UGTmediated effects are less likely to be an influential factor in the intrinsic clearance of either the lactone or acid forms. In a study with pitavastatin with an in-vitro model Fujino et al. reported that the lactone form was an end-product from glucuronidation then lactonization [Fujino, H. et al. 2003]. UGT1A3 and UGT2B7 were suggested to be the major enzymes involved in pitavastatin lactonization, but other UGT enzymes, including UGT1A1, UGT1A4 and UGT1A6 are also thought to be involved [Fujino, H. et al. 2003]. The number of alternative pathways may reduce the contribution of changes in individual enzyme activities to result in altered pharmacokinetics of the statins.

## **DRUG TRANSPORTERS**

It is well recognized that drug transporters play an important role in the disposition of numerous drugs, particularly those which are more hydrophilic [Shitara, Y. et al. 2006]. Of the statins, pravastatin, rosuvastatin and pitavastatin are hydrophilic and are subject to relatively little metabolism, so drug transporters have a major effect on their disposition. Other statins or their active or inactive metabolites have also been shown to be substrates for some transporters. Furthermore, as the hepatic uptake and efflux determine the drug concentration in the liver, which is the target organ of statins, the drug transporters are likely to influence the pharmacological effects and potentially the adverse effect of some statins. The major drug transporters involved in statin disposition are shown in Table 1 and Fig. (3).

Functional polymorphisms in genes encoding these drug transporters are likely to influence the pharmacokinetic profiles and the efficacy of transporter-dependent drugs. As with the CYP and UGT enzymes, the frequency of the polymorphisms in the genes for the SLCO influx transporters and ABC efflux transporters varies between different ethnic groups, and this may account for some of the interethnic variability in the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of drugs [Konig, J. et al. 2006; Cascorbi, I. 2006]. The frequencies of common polymorphisms in some of the well documented transporters, which have a close relationship with statin disposition are shown in Table 3.

Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 9

Multiple membrane transporters facilitate the transfer of statins into or out of hepatocytes, and a number of studies have shown that the polymorphisms in these transporters may alter the pharmacokinetic profiles, the safety and the efficacy of the specific statins (Table 4), although results in different studies have not always been consistent. SLCO1B1 (OATP1B1)

The organic anion-transporting polypeptide 1B1 (OATP1B1, *SLCO1B1*), previously known as OATP-C or OATP2, is an uptake transporter expressed on the sinusoidal membrane of human hepatocytes. It is highly polymorphic with different allele frequencies in different ethnic groups. A

Drug Transporters Polymorphisms Statins or Haplotypes		Effects	References	
SLCO1B1	521T>C	Atorvastatin 20 mg	144% or 61% greater AUC(0-48 h) of atorvastatin in 521CC than those in 521TT or 521TC, respectively. 100% greater AUC(0-48 h) of 2-hydroxyatorvastatin in 521CC than those in 521TT	[Pasanen, M.K. et al. 2007]
	*1b, *15	Pitavastatin 2mg	Higher AUC in *15 carries (*15/*15 and *1b/*15) than non carriers (*1b/*1b)	[leiri, I. et al. 2007]
3	*la *1b, *15	Pitavastatin 8mg	Higher AUC in *15 carries than non carriers	[Chung, J.Y. et al. 2005]
	521T>C	Pravastatin 20 mg	Greater reduction in total cholesterol (22.4% vs.14.5%) in 521TC than 521TT in Chinese CHD patients	[Zhang, W. et al. 2007]
	521T>C	Pravastatin 40mg	Higher AUC in those carrying the 521C allele	[Ho, R.H. et al. 2007]
	521T>C	Rosuvastatin 10mg	65% and 79% higher AUC(0-48 h) and Cmax in 521CC than those in 521TT	[Pasancn, M.K. et al. 2007]
	*1a, *1b, *15	Rosuvastatin 10mg	Pharmacokinetic exposure of rosuvastatin higher in OATP1B1*15/*15 subjects than others in Koreans	[Choi, J.H. et al. 2008]
	521T>C	Rosuvastatin 40mg	Higher AUC in those carrying the 521C allele (521CC>CT>TT) in Caucasians	[Lee, E. et al. 2005]
	521T>C	Simvastatin 40mg	AUC of simvastatin acid 120% and 221% higher in 521CC than in 521TC and 521TT, respectively. Cmax of simvastatin acid 162% and 200% higher in 521CC than in 521TC and 521TT, respectively.	[Pasanen, M.K. <i>et al.</i> 2006b]
	521 T>C	Simvastatin 80mg	The odds ratio for myopathy was 4.5 per copy of the C allele, and 16.9 in CC as compared with TT homozygotes.	[Link, E. et al. 2008]
	463C>A	Fluvastatin 80mg	Greater reduction in LDL-cholesterol (-41% vs31.5%) in 463AA than 463CC in European elderly subjects	[Couvert, P. et al. 2008]
ABCB1	3435C>T	Atorvastatin 10mg	Smaller reduction in LDL-C but larger increase in HDL-C in Female 3435CC than those in variant allele carriers	[Kajinami, K. et al. 2004a]
	MDR1-h4 MDR1-h10	Fluvastatin 40mg	MDR1-h4 and MDR1-h10 associated with greater LDL-C reduction and decreased TG reduction in FH patients	[Bercovich, D. et al. 2006]
	1236C>T, 2677G>A/T, 3435C>T	Simvastatin 20mg	Greater reductions in TC and LDL-C in 1236T and 2677G>A/T variant allele carriers than those with wild-type allele or homozygous for the 2677G allele, respectively. The 1236T, 2677non-G, and 3435T alleles were less frequent in ADR cases than in the non-ADR group	[Fiegenbaum, M. et al. 2005b]
ABCC2	1446C>G	Pravastatin 40mg	70% lower AUC(0-12) and Cmax in heterozygous 1446C>G than in non-carriers	[Niemi, M. et al. 2006]
ABCG2	421C>T	Rosuvastatin 20mg	Lower AUC and Cmax but higher CL/F value in 421CC than in 421CA+421AA group in Chinese male subjects	[Zhang, W. et al. 2006]

number of the SLCOIB1 alleles and haplotypes are associated with altered OATP1B1-mediated transport function. The 388A > G (\*1b) variant is highly prevalent in East Asian ethnic groups, with the highest allelic frequency of approximately 87% reported in the Malay population [Jada, S.R. et al. 2007], but it is less frequent in Caucasians. However, the allelic frequency of the c.521T>C variant (\*5) in East Asians (11-16%) is similar to that reported in Caucasians (14-20%) [Pasanen, M.K. et al. 2006a], but is less common in Blacks (1%) [Ho, R.H. et al. 2007]. These two single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are in linkage disequilibrium and together they define a haplotype termed SLCO1B1 \*15. It has been reported that this haplotype shows a decreased transporter activity for the SLCO1B1 substrate, pravastatin [Nozawa, T. et al. 2005]. The frequency of the \*15 variant is relatively higher in East Asians (7-10.3 %) compared with the frequency in Caucasians (2.7%).

It is worth noting that almost all of the statins are substrates of SLCO1B1 to a greater or lesser extent. Indeed, many studies have shown that the SNPs or haplotypes of *SLCO1B1* associated with reduced SLCO1B1 function have an impact on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of most statins [Shitara, Y. et al. 2006].

The 521T>C (\*5) variant of SLCO1B1 has recently been reported to influence the pharmacokinetics of certain statins in different ethnic populations. Pasanen, et al. [Pasanen, M.K. et al. 2007] found that subjects with the 521CC genotype had a 144% or 61% greater AUC<sub>0-48h</sub> values for atorvastatin than those with 521TT or 521TC genotypes, respectively, and the AUC0-48h values of the metabolite 2hydroxyatorvastatin were also 100% higher in those with 521CC compared to those with 521TT. A relatively smaller but statistically significant effect of the SLCO1B1 521T>C polymorphism on the AUC<sub>0-48h</sub> of rosuvastatin 10-mg (65% higher in those with 521CC compared to those with 521TT) was also shown in this study in Finland. However, a similar study comparing single dose pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin 40-mg daily among Caucasians, Chinese, Malay, and Asian-Indian subjects all living in Singapore concluded that the higher systemic exposure in Asians compared to Caucasians was not related to the SLCOIB1 521T>C (\*5) polymorphism although there were some effects of the polymorphism within these ethnic groups [Lee, E. et al. 2005].

The relationship between the *SLCO1B1 521T>C* polymorphism and the pharmacokinetics of simvastatin and simvastatin acid in healthy volunteers has also been investigated [Pasanen, M.K. *et al.* 2006b]. The *SLCO1B1* polymorphism had a marked influence on the pharmacokinetics of active simvastatin acid with a 120 and 221% higher AUC<sub>0-∞</sub> for simvastatin acid in the *521CC* group compared to those with the *521TC* and *521TT* genotypes.  $C_{max}$  for simvastatin acid with the *521TC* and *521TT*, respectively. However, there was no significant effect on the parent simvastatin lactone, which suggests that simvastatin acid but not the lactone is a substrate for the SLCO1B1 influx transporter [Pasanen, M.K. *et al.* 2006b].

A recent study using a genomewide scan for genetic markers of simvastatin-related myopathy in 85 subjects with definite or incipient myopathy and 90 controls, all of whom were taking 80 mg of simvastatin daily as part of a trial involving 12,000 participants, identified a single strong association of myopathy with the noncoding rs4363657 SNP in *SLCO1B1* [Link, E. *et al.* 2008]. The rs4363657 SNP was in nearly complete linkage disequilibrium with the nonsynonymous rs4149056 SNP (521T>C), and the odds ratio for myopathy was 16.9 (95% CI, 4.7 to 61.1) in CC as compared with TT homozygotes. This finding may suggest that the genotyping of SLCO1B1 polymorphisms may be one of the most useful approaches in the future for tailoring both the statin dose and safety monitoring [Link, E. *et al.* 2008].

The SLCO1B1\*15 variant has also been shown to have a significant effect on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in Korean subjects. The SLCO1B1\*15 allele (388A>G. 521C>T) was associated with increased systemic exposure to rosuvastatin. Homozygous \*15 subjects had AUC0- and Cmax values 1.7- and 2.2-fold higher respectively, than homozygous \*1 subjects [Choi, J.H. et al. 2008]. Similar effects of the SLCO1B1\*15 variant on the pharmacokinetics of pitavastatin and pravastatin have also been reported [Chung, J.Y. et al. 2005; Ho, R.H. et al. 2007; Ieiri, I. et al. 2007]. In another study in Korea comparing homozygous wild-type \*1 subjects with homozygous SLCO1B1\*15 subjects, the mutant group showed increased values for Cmax of 3.12- and 2.12-fold, and for AUC0-co of 2.62- and 1.99-fold with pitavastatin and pravastatin, respectively [Deng, J.W. et al. 2008]. However, the same study did not find any effect of the SLCO1B1\*15 genotype on fluvastatin pharmacokinetics, highlighting the substrate specificity which may be based on the hydrophilicity of the statins studied.

In addition to these pharmacokinetics findings, Niemi et al. [Niemi, M. et al. 2005] reported that the three heterozygous carriers of the SLCOIB1 \*17 haplotype (containing the -11187G>A, 388A>G and 521T>C SNPs) had a significantly smaller effect with pravastatin on cholesterol synthesis determined by plasma lathosterol and the lathosterol to cholesterol ratio as compared with non-carriers in 41 healthy Caucasian subjects. Recently, Zhang et al. [Zhang, W. et al. 2007] reported that the SLCO1B1 521T>C polymorphism significantly modulated the total cholesterol-lowering efficacy of pravastatin in Chinese CHD patients with less reduction in total cholesterol (14.5% vs. 22.4%) with 521TC genotype than those with the 521TT genotype, which is in accordance with the previous findings in Japanese patients with hypercholesterolemia [Tachibana-Iimori, R. et al. 2004]. All these findings support the hypothesis that impaired hepatic uptake activity in those carrying the 521C allele results in an increased plasma concentration of pravastatin but decreased intracellular concentrations of pravastatin in hepatocytes, the primary site of action. However, in contrast to these supportive findings, a retrospective study involving 462 patients on pravastatin treatment did not find an important effect of the SLCOIB1 521T>C polymorphism on the lipid response to pravastatin in Caucasian subjects [Thompson, J.F. et al. 2005].

Couvert et al. [Couvert, P. et al. 2008] have recently reported that the non-synonymous SNP 463C>A (Pro155Thr) as well as the SLCO1B1\*14 allele, which is distinguished by the presence of the c.388A>G and c.463C>A polymor-

phisms, were significantly associated with enhanced lipidlowering efficacy of fluvastatin in 420 European elderly hypercholesterolemic subjects aged 70-85 years. Subejets homozygous for the 463CC genotype (n = 294) exhibited significantly less LDL-cholesterol reduction (-31.5%) relative to heterozygous patients (-36.2%, n = 111), and to homozygous A/A subjects (-41%, n = 15). This SNP is only prevalent in European populations (~16%) but almost absent in Asians and Blacks, [Mwinyi, J. *et al.* 2008] which might contribute to the interethnic differences in the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodyanamic of statins.

## ABCB1 (MDR1, P-glycoprotein)

The multidrug resistance protein (MDR1), P-glycoprotein (P-gp) or ABCB1 is an efflux transporter, which is expressed in multiple organs in humans, including the small intestine, liver, kidney and brain. Although the expression of ABCB1 was found to be 7-fold higher in small-intestine enterocyte homogenates than in the liver [von Richter, O. *et al.* 2004], it contributes not only to limiting the oral bioavailability by reducing absorption of substrates from the gut but also to the excretion of substrates from the liver into the bile.

At least 32 SNPs have been described in the ABCB1 gene [Marzolini, C. et al. 2004; Choudhuri, S. and Klaassen, C.D. 2006]. Two of the synonymous SNPs (1237C>T in exon 12 and 3435C>T in exon 26) and a nonsynonymous SNP (2677G>T, Ala893Ser) in exon 21 were found to be in linkage disequilibrium, forming a SNP-haplotype [Choudhuri, S. et al. 2006]. It has been suggested that the haplotype could provide more useful information than single SNPs in pharmacogenetic analysis of ABCB1 [Kim, R.B. et al. 2001]. Although results are not all consistent, most studies have shown a synonymous polymorphism, 3435C>T, associated with lower expression of P-gp in man, which leads to lower transporter activity. The molecular mechanism underlying this clinical association is still unclear [Hoffmeyer, S. et al. 2000]. It has been hypothesized that this SNP was linked to a nonsynonymous SNP or SNPs in the regulatory regions of the ABCB1 gene controlling the expression, such as 2677G>T/A, leading to an Ala893Ser amino acid exchange; however, results from in vitro transfection of ABCB1 expression on 2677G>T vectors in cell culture were inconclusive [Kimchi-Sarfaty, C. et al. 2002]. Recently, Wang and Sadee used allelic expression imbalance as a quantitative phenotype in the search for functional cis-acting polymorphisms in ABCB1. They found that 3435C>T represented a main functional polymorphism, accounting for 1.5- to 2-fold changes in mRNA levels, the mechanism of which was probably that different folding structures resulted in increased mRNA turnover [Wang, D. and Sadee, W. 2006].

The frequency of the 3435C>T varies between different ethnic groups. In Caucasians and Asian groups, the frequency of the wild-type 3435C has been reported as 34-59%, comparatively lower than that of the African population (73-84%) [Ameyaw, M.M. *et al.* 2001]. Similarly, the 2677G>Tvariant is more frequent in East Asians and Caucasians (36-43.7%, 41.6-46%, respectively) than Africans (6.5-10%) [Ozawa, S. *et al.* 2004; Kroetz, D.L. *et al.* 2003]. However, another base change in this allele, 2677G>A, has a relatively higher frequency in East Asians (5.8-21.8%), but is almost

#### Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 11

absent in Africans (0-0.5%) and has a low frequency in Caucasians (0-3.6%). The 1236C>T variant is quite common in East Asians with frequencies of 61.5-69.4%, but is less prevalent in Caucasians (34.4-42%) and Africans (15%). The haplotype frequencies with these three alleles (1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T) have been examined in different ethnic groups, and they are also distributed with an ethnicdependent manner [Ozawa, S. *et al.* 2004]. Kim *et al.* also reported that the SNP-haplotype of 1236C>T-2677G>T-3435C has a higher frequency of 62% in European Americans compared to 13% in African Americans [Kim, R.B. *et al.* 2001]. Hence, the association between ethnicity and *ABCB1* polymorphisms may be an important factor.

Kajinami *et al.* analyzed the association between 2 prevalent polymorphisms (2677G>T/A and 3435C>T) in the *ABCB1* gene and the variability in response to atorvastatin in 344 hypercholesterolemic patients [Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004d]. They found that female 3435C homozygotes showed significantly smaller reductions in LDL-cholesterol, but larger increases in HDL-cholesterol, relative to those with a variant allele, and haplotype determination with these combined polymorphisms identified a subgroup that showed an even greater response to treatment, which was not defined by a single polymorphism [Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004d].

Another study examined the interactions between common polymorphisms (1236C>T, 2677G>A/T, and 3435C>T)in the *ABCB1* gene and the lipid-lowering efficacy and safety of simvastatin in Brazil [Fiegenbaum, M. *et al.* 2005b]. In this study, the patients carrying the *ABCB1* 1236T variant allele had a greater reduction in total cholesterol and LDLcholesterol with simvastatin treatment than those who were homozygotes with the wild-type allele. Similar results were observed for the 2677G>A/T polymorphism and haplotype data. The 1236T, 2677non-G, and 3435T alleles were less frequent in cases that had adverse drug reactions (ADRs) to simvastatin than in the group without ADRs [Fiegenbaum, M. *et al.* 2005b].

In a compliance-monitored clinical study with fluvastatin 40-mg for 20 weeks in 76 patients with familial hypercholesterolemia, 5 tagging SNPs in the MDR1 (ABCB1) gene, including 2677G>T (Ala893Ser), were used to reconstruct six haplotypes which accounted for 90.2% of the observed haplotypes [Bercovich, D. et al. 2006]. The MDR1-h4 haplotype (including 893Ala) was associated with an increase in LDL-cholesterol response by 16.4%, whereas MDR1-h10 (including 893Ser) was associated with decreased triglyceride response following fluvastatin treatment, although fluvastatin is not thought to be a substrate for ABCB1-mediated transport [Bercovich, D. et al. 2006].

However, some statins or their metabolites, such as the acid, methyl ester and lactone of atorvastatin, lovastatin lactone and simvastatin lactone, were found to modulate ABCB1 transporter properties in a concentration-dependent manner in a murine monocytic leukemia cell line, which may introduce another variable when assessing the genetic effects of *ABCB1* polymorphisms [Bogman, K. *et al.* 2001]. It has also been reported that ABCB1 might participate in lipid translocation across membranes, so that ABCB1 could also modulate pharmacodynamic effects independent of its influ-

ence on the pharmacokinetic properties of statins [van Helvoort, A. et al. 1996].

## ABCC2 (MRP2)

The ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCC2 or MRP2, encoded by the ABCC2 gene plays an important role in drug excretion processes. Impaired function of MRP2 may result in increased gastrointestinal absorption and decreased biliary and/or urinary excretion of its substrates. More than 40 SNPs in the ABCC2 gene have been identified, but little is currently known about the effects of genetic variation in ABCC2on the pharmacokinetics of drugs in humans.

Niemi et al. reported a significant association between an ABCC2 polymorphism and the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin [Niemi, M. et al. 2006]. In that study, a synonymous SNP, 1446C>G of the ABCC2 gene, was associated with increased hepatic expression of ABCC2 mRNA and reduced plasma concentrations of pravastatin. The AUC<sub>0-12h</sub> and C<sub>max</sub> of pravastatin were 67% and 68% lower in three subjects heterozygous for the ABCC2 c.1446C>G than in those not carrying this SNP, which corresponded with a 95% higher mRNA expression in human liver samples with the 1446CG genotype than in those with the 1446CC genotype. However, the mechanism by which this synonymous SNP might increase MRP2 expression is still unclear [Niemi, M. et al. 2006]. Recently, another study failed to find a relationship between 3 commonly occurring nonsynonymous polymorphisms in ABCC2 (1249G>A, 3563T>A and 4544G>A) and the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin [Ho, R.H. et al. 2007]. The effects of ABCC2 polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin and other ABCC2 substrates warrant further study.

## ABCG2 (BCRP)

The ABCG2 transporter, also known as breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP), mitoxantrone resistant protein (MXR) and placenta-specific ATP-binding cassette transporter (ABCP), is highly expressed in the placenta, colon, liver and intestine [Krishnamurthy, P. and Schuetz, J.D. 2006; Staud, F. and Pavek, P. 2005], and contributes to the disposition of many drugs and some statins. Rosuvastatin [Huang, L. et al. 2006], and pitavastatin, [Hirano, M. et al. 2005b] have been shown to be substrates of ABCG2. A SNP in ABCG2 (421C>A) resulting in a change of glutamine to lysine at codon 141, has been shown to have a significant effect on the single dose pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin 20-mg in male Chinese subjects after exclusion of the impact of SLCOIB1 and CYP2C9 polymorphisms [Zhang, W. et al. 2006]. In that pharmacokinetic study, the AUC0.72, AUC0-10 and Cmax values of rosuvastatin were lower by 44%, 44% and 48% respectively in the 7 subjects in the 421CC genotype group, as compared with the 7 subjects in the 421CA+421AA combined genotype group. The oral clearance CL/F value was lower in the 421CA+421AA group than that in the 421CC group [Zhang, W. et al. 2006]. This SNP is more frequent in Asians (34%) than Caucasians (11%) or Africans (1-5%) [de Jong, F.A. et al. 2004].

However, although pitavastatin and pravastatin are also thought to be substrates of ABCG2, this polymorphism apparently did not alter the pharmacokinetics of either of these two statins in recently published pharmacokinetic studies [Ho, R.H. et al. 2007; Iciri, I. et al. 2007]. This disparity may be attributed to the existence of multiple organic anion transporters in the liver, including ABCB1 and ABCC2, which are involved in the biliary excretion of pitavastatin and pravastatin, and ABCG2 may only play a limited role in the disposition of these statins [Ieiri, I. et al. 2007; Kivisto, K.T. and Niemi, M. 2007].

## **Other Transporters**

Some studies have shown that statins are substrates for some other influx and efflux transporters, including SLCO2B1 (OATP2B1), SLC22A8 (OAT3), ABCB11 (BSEP), and sodium-dependent taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide (NTCP) [Hirano, M. et al. 2005a; Ho, R.H. et al. 2006; Kivisto, K.T. et al. 2007]. The possible effects of polymorphisms in these genes on statin pharmacokinetics have not been reported yet.

Human organic anion transporter 3 (OAT3 gene, SLC22A8), a member of the SLC22 superfamily, is mainly expressed in the kidney and localized on the basolateral membrane of the proximal tubules [Cha, S.H. et al. 2001]. In rat Oat3-expressing LLCPK1 cells, pravastatin appeared to be a relatively specific substrate of OAT3 [Hasegawa, M. et al. 2002]. Nishizato et al. have investigated the contribution of polymorphisms of the OAT3 genes to the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin in 23 healthy volunteers [Nishizato, Y. et al. 2003]. Two polymorphisms in the OAT3 gene, the synonymous 723T>A (n = 12) and the nonsynonymous Ala389Val (n = 1), did not appear to be associated with changes in renal and tubular secretory clearance of pravastatin [Nishizato, Y. et al. 2003].

ABCB11, also known as sister of P-glycoprotein, is the bile acid export pump (BSEP) at the hepatocyte canalicular membrane, which mediates ATP-dependent bile acid secretion [Choudhuri, S. et al. 2006; Suchy, F.J. and Ananthanarayanan, M. 2006; Noe, J. et al. 2002]. It was found that pravastatin is a substrate of ABCB11 [Hirano, M. et al. 2005a]. However, the polymorphisms in *ABCB11* (1331T>C, 2029A>G) did not show a significant effect on the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin in a study conducted in European-American and African-American participants [Ho, R.H. et al. 2007].

NTCP has been reported to be important in the disposition of rosuvastatin and accounted for 35% of rosuvastatin uptake *in vitro* [Ho, R.H. *et al.* 2006]. The *NTCP*\*2 allele, which shows almost complete loss of function for bile acid uptake, showed a remarkable gain of transport activity for rosuvastatin and is only scen in Asians with an allele frequency of 7.5% [Ho, R.H. *et al.* 2004; Ho, R.H. *et al.* 2006]. However, the effects of the *NTCP* polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin remains unclear and warrant further study.

## GENETIC VARIANTS IN PHARMACODYNAMIC PATHWAYS AND LIPID RESPONSES

In addition to the genes which might be involved in the pharmacokinetics of statins, a number of candidate genes involved in lipid metabolism pathways that may affect the

pharmacodynamic lipid-regulating effect of statins have been studied [Kajinami, K. et al. 2005c; Kajinami, K. et al. 2004e; Schmitz, G. et al. 2006; Siest, G. et al. 2005]. The polymorphisms in these genes may contribute to the variation in the lipid response and clinical outcome with statin therapy. These have been examined in several clinical studies, initially on a single gene basis, but more recent studies have examined the effects of multiple SNPs in candidate genes [Chasman, D.I. et al. 2004; Singer, J.B. et al. 2007; Thompson, J.F. et al. 2005].

In addition to the polymorphisms in well-established lipid regulators like apolipoprotein E (Apo E), a number of recent large genome-wide studies, which examined hundreds of thousands of SNPs in thousands of subjects in European Populations, have identified some new loci related to lipoprotein levels, which may be useful to examine their relationship with statin responses [Kathiresan, S. et al. 2008; Kooner, J.S. et al. 2008; Sandhu, M.S. et al. 2008; Willer, C.J. et al. 2008]. These studies verified some SNPs in previously implicated loci, but also identified several new loci associated with lipid concentrations and/or the risk of coronary artery disease. The polymorphisms in these newly identified loci may also contribute to the variation in lipid response to statins and may be promising targets for further investigation.

To date, the most extensively examined genes related to lipid metabolism pathways and statin effects are the LDL receptor gene (LDLR), Apo E, the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene (CETP) and the target enzyme for statins, HMG-CoA reductase (HMGCR). Some of the positive findings of the effects of polymorphisms in the genes related to lipid metabolism on the lipid responses to statins and clinical outcomes in previous studies are summarized in Table 5. The results have not always been consistent.

## LDL Receptor

The LDL receptor in the liver plays a key role in LDL particle uptake and catabolism. The lack of the LDL receptor (LDLR) or dysfunctional receptors reduces the clearance of LDL particles, resulting in an increase in the plasma LDLcholesterol levels. To date, more than 1,000 mutations in the LDLR have been described causing familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) [Garg, A. and Simha, V. 2007; Soutar, A.K. and Naoumova, R.P. 2007; Varret, M. et al. 2008]. Mutations in the LDLR gene have been divided into five classes. Class I and II mutations are known as receptor negative mutations, and Class III - V mutations are receptor defective mutations. Different types of LDLR mutation have been reported to be associated with different response to statins in FH patients in some of the previous studies. In some studies patients with mutations having a mild effect or with receptor defective mutations showed a better response in terms of LDL-cholesterol reduction than that in patients with severe or receptor negative mutations (Table 5), but other studies failed to observe this association [Couture, P. et al. 1998; Sijbrands, E.J. et al. 1998; Sun, X.M. et al. 1998]. The differences in sample size, gene-gene interactions and geneenvironment interactions may contribute to these discrepancies.

#### Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 13

Mutations in the gene encoding the proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9), which encodes a proprotein convertase that causes degradation of cell surface LDLRs could result in an increased number of LDLRs and may reduce baseline cholesterol levels and alter the cholesterollowering effect of statins [Abifadel, M. et al. 2003; Berge, K.E. et al. 2006; Dedoussis, G.V. et al. 2004; Garg, A. et al. 2007]. The reported frequency of *PCSK9* mutations is relatively low at about 2% and reports on the effects of *PCSK9* mutations on the responses to treatment with simvastatin or atorvastatin have been inconclusive [Berge, K.E. et al. 2006; Pisciotta, L. et al. 2007].

## **Apolipoprotein E**

Apolipoprotein E is a plasma protein that serves as a ligand for low density lipoprotein receptors and, through its interaction with these receptors, participates in the metabolism of cholesterol and other lipids. [Mahley, R.W. 1988] Apo E is present in three main isoforms (E2, E3, E4), which show increasing affinities to the LDL receptor and do account for some of the interindividual variability of baseline LDL-cholesterol levels. The effect of polymorphisms in the Apo E gene on the plasma lipid response to statins has been addressed in many studies. Several reports found that subjects with Apo E2 had greater lipid responses compared to those with E3 and E4 [Maitland-van der Zee, A.H. et al. 2006; Ordovas, J.M. et al. 1995; Pedro-Botet, J. et al. 2001; Zuccaro, P. et al. 2007], whereas others failed to show a significant interaction between Apo E polymorphisms and the lipid response to statins [Chasman, D.I. et al. 2004; Karayan, L. et al. 1994; O'Malley, J.P. and Illingworth, D.R. 1990; Pena, R. et al. 2002; Sanllehy, C. et al. 1998; Vohl, M.C. et al. 2002]. Kajinami et al. reviewed the results and concluded that carriers of the E4 allele tend to show a greater percentage reduction in LDL-cholesterol than those carrying the wild-type Apo E allele, whereas E2 allele carriers showed a smaller reduction [Kajinami, K. et al. 2005c; Kajinami, K. et al. 2004e]. However, Schmitz et al. reached the opposite conclusion in their review [Schmitz, G. et al. 2006; Schmitz, G. et al. 2007]. More recently, Tavintharan et al. [Tavintharan, S. et al. 2007] reported that Apo E4 was associated with a greater reduction in LDL-cholesterol in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, but an earlier study in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes did not find this but did report that apo B was reduced to a lesser extent in subjects with the E3/E2 phenotype [Watanabe, J. et al. 1993].

## **Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein**

The cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) plays a key role in determining plasma HDL-cholesterol concentration and both LDL and HDL particle size, and perhaps the risk of CHD [Boekholdt, S.M. et al. 2004]. The CETP TaqIB polymorphism has been reported to be associated with altered CETP plasma concentrations and activity, and with plasma HDL-cholesterol levels in different populations [Boekholdt, S.M. et al. 2005; Corella, D. et al. 2000; Park, K.W. et al. 2003]. However, the effect of this polymorphism on lipid responses or clinical outcome with statin treatment in different groups of patients is inconsistent (Table 5), but a metaanalysis performed on individual patient data from 10 trials

Hu et al.

## Table 5. Positive Effects of Polymorphisms in Various Genes Related to the Lipid Response to Statin Therapy

Genes	Polymorphisms	Statins	Patients	Effects	References
LDL receptor	C660X, D147H, 652delGGT	Fluvastatin 40-mg	FH	Smaller reduction in LDL-C in patients with Sephardic and Lithuanian mutations (p < 0.005).	[Leitersdorf, E. et al. 1993]
	D206E, V408M	Simvastatin 40-mg	FH Afrikmer-1 (FH1), FH Afrikmer-2 (FH2)	Greater reduction in TC and LDL-C in patients with FH2	[Jeenah, M. et al. 1993]
	Del 6kb-ex 15 P664L	Pravastatin 20-mg + cholestyramine 12-g	FH <sub>товать</sub> , FH <sub>Хавильна</sub> ,	Greater reduction in LDL-C in patients with FH <sub>Kannesve</sub> 2	[Kajinami, K. <i>et al</i> . 1998]
	W66G, Del 15kb-ex1, C646Y	Simvastatin 20-mg	Children & adolescents with heterozygous FH	Smaller reduction in LDL-C in those with W66G mutation than those with the deletion>15 kb and the C646Y mutation	[Couture, P. et al. 1998]
	Mild Severe	Simvastatin 40-mg	FH	Fewer achieved LDL- C goals with severe LDLR mutation compared to those with 'mild' mutations	[Heath, K.E. et al. 1999]
	Null mutation Defective mutation	Simvastatin 20-mg	FH	Smaller reduction in TC and LDL-C in patients with null mutations than those with defective mutations	[Chaves, F.J. et al. 2001]
	Receptor-negative, Receptor-defective	Simvastatin 20-mg	Adolescents with heterozygous FH	Smaller reduction in LDL-C in those with receptor-negative mutation than those with receptor-defective mutation	[Vohl, M.C. et al. 2002]
	Avall	Pravastain 20-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	Greater reduction in LDL-C in patients with Avall mutations	[Lahoz, C. et al. 2005b]
Аро Е	E2, E3, E4	Lovastatin 40-mg	FH	Smaller reduction in LDL-C, but greater increase in HDL-C in male E4 carries	[Carmena, R. <i>et al.</i> 1993]
	E2, E3, E4	Atorvastatin 10-mg	Fit	E4 allele more frequent in good responders	[O'Neil], F.H. et al. 2001]
	E2, E3, E4	Pravastatin 40-mg	Primary hyperlipidemia	Greater LDL-C response with E2 carries	[Ordovas, J.M. et al. 1995]
	E2, E3, E4	Simvastatio 20-mg	Primary hyperlipidemia	Responsiveness was greatest in those with E2 carries	[Nestel, P. et al. 1997]
	E2, £3, E4	Fluvastatin 40-mg	Coronary artery disease	Less reduction in LDL-C in those with E4 allele but similar benefit in terms of progression.	[Ballantyne, C.M. et al. 2000]
	E2, E3, E4	Atorvastatin 10-mg	Primary hyperlipidemia	Greater LDL-C and TG response in male with E2 carries	(Pedro-Boiet, J. <i>et al.</i> 2001)
	-491A/T	Atorvastatin 10 – 40- mg	Combined hyperlipidemia	Greater LDL-C-lowering effect with -491T allele carriers	[Garcia-Otin, A.L. <i>et al.</i> 2002]
	E2, E3, E4	Pravastatin	Males with coronary artery disease	E2 carriers had largest improvement of HDL-C and LDL/HDL ratios, compared with E3 and E4 carriers, but not with regard to angiographic parameters.	[Maitland-van der Zee, A.H. <i>et al.</i> 2006]
	E2, E3, E4	Statins	Dyslipidemía	Greater HDL-C response in E2 carriers	[Zuccaro, P. et al. 2007]
	E2, E3, E4	Simvastatin 10-mg Lovastatin 20-mg	Diabetes	Greater LDL-C response in E4 carries than those with E2	(Taviztharan, S. et al. 2007)
CETP	Tag1B (B1, B2)	Pravastatin 40-mg	Males with coronary artery disease	Pravastatin slowed progression of coronary disease in B1B1 carriers but not in B2B2 carriers	[Kuivenhoven, J.A. et al. 1998]
	Taq1B (B1, B2)	Atorvastatin 10-mg and 80-mg	Type 2 diabetes	Patients with B1B1 or 629CC genotype had a greater increase in HDL-C and a larger reduction in TG	[van Venrooij, F.V. et al. 2003]
	Haplotype	Pravastatin, Atorvastatin, Cerivastatin	Dyslipidemias	SNPs1-6 associated with increase in IIDL-C and SNPs4-9 with decrease in TG	[Winketmann, B.R. et al. 2003]

## Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 15

Table 5. Coutd....

Genes	Polymorphisms	Statins	Patients	Effects	References
СЕТР	Taq IB (B1, B2)	Simvastatin 20-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	Patients with B2B2 genotype having more benefit in HDL-C improvement than carriers of B1 allele	[Fiegenbaum, M. <i>et al.</i> 2005a]
	Taq1B (B1, B2)	Şimvastatin 20-40-mg, pravastatin 40-mg, atorvastatin 20-40-mg	FH	Patients with the B2B2 genotype have a higher CVD risk in comparison with the B1 allele cartiers.	[Mohrschladt, M.F. et al. 2005]
	Haplotype: -2600, -867, -525, Taq1B, Ex 14/1405V	Fluvastatin 40-mg	F]I	CETP-H13 associated with greater reduction in LDL- C. CETP-H5 was significantly associated with de- creased TG and HDL-C response.	[Bercovich, D. <i>et al.</i> 2006]
LPL	Haplotype: 12 SNPs	Lovastatin	CABG	Haplotypes related to HDL-C response, TG response and graft progression protection	[Goodarzi, M.O. et al. 2007]
LIPC	C-514T	Lovastatin (40-mg) + colestipol (30-g), or niacin (4-g) + colestipol (30-g).	Males with CAD	Subjects with the CC genotype had the greatest improvement in LDL density and HDL(2)-C and the greatest angiographic improvement	[Zambon, A. et al. 2001]
	C-514T	Pravastatin 20-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	Greater increase in HDL-C in those carrying T allele than those with CC genotype	[Lahoz, C. <i>et al.</i> 2005a]
HMGCR	\$NP12, \$NP29	Pravastatin 40-mg	Hypercholesterolemía	22% smaller reduction in TC and 19% smaller reduction in LDL-C in hyterozygotes	[Chasman, D.I. et al. 2004]
АроВ	Xbal, ins/del, EcoRl	Fluvastatin	FH, Non-FH	Greater reduction in LDL-C in ins homozygotes	[Guzman, E.C. et al. 2000]
PON	R192Q M55L	Pravastatin 40-mg	Hypercholesterolemic males	R/Q192 genotype modulates the responses of serum HDL-C and apo AL.	[Malín, R. et al. 2001]
	-107C>T and 192Q>R	atorvastatin sīnuvastatin	FH	HDL-C increment more pronounced in subgroups of -107CT/TT or 192QR/RR genotype combined with low baseline HDL-C (+13.9%, P<0.001, respectively+15.4%, P<0.001).	[Himbergen, T.M. <i>et al.</i> 2005]
АроА Г	G-75A	Pravastatin 20-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	Higher increase in HDL-C in non-smoking male GG carriers	[Lahoz, C. et al. 2003]
	G-75A, +83	Atorvastatin 10-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	Gender-difference in HDL-C increase in +83 variant carriers	[Kajinami, K. <i>et al.</i> 2005a]
ABCG5/G8	Q604E, D19H, Y54C, T400K, and A632V	Atorvastatin 10-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	D19H variant associated with greater reduction in LDL-C	[Kajinami, K. <i>et al.</i> 2004c]
СҮР7АІ	A-204C	Atorvastatin 10-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	A-204C promoter variant associated with poor response of LDL-C reduction	[Kajinamí, K <i>. et al.</i> 2004c; Kajinamí, K <i>. et</i> al. 2005b]
ABCA1	C-477T, A-419C, G-320C	Fluvastatin 40-mg	CAD	-477CT variants associated with the severity of coronary atherosclerosis.	[Lutucuta, S. et al. 2001]
PPAR	Haplotype	Fluvastatin 40-mg	CAD	PPARS haplotype 2 determine TG and apoC-III response and coronary lesions, PPARy haplotypes 7 associated with reduced mean lumen diameter.	[Chen, S. et al. 2004]
LEPR	Arg223Gin	Simvastatin 5-mg	Hypercholesterolemia	Subjects with Arg/Arg genotype had significantly weaker improvement in TC levels than those with Arg/Gln genotype and Gln/Gln genotype.	[Takahashi-Yasuno, A. et al. 2003]

found that the *CETP TaqIB* variant was associated with HDL-cholesterol plasma levels but did not influence the response to pravastatin therapy [Boekholdt, S.M. et al. 2004]. Although genetic deficiency of *CETP* is associated with

higher plasma HDL-cholesterol concentrations, the effect of these genetic variants on the cardiovascular discase is still controversial. Some studies showed that *CETP* polymorphisms were associated with a lower risk of cardiovascular disease which was independent of the effect on HDLcholesterol [Blankenberg, S. *et al.* 2003], but others failed to find any association [de Grooth, G.J. *et al.* 2004; McCaskie, P.A. *et al.* 2007; Tsai, M.Y. *et al.* 2008].

## ABCG5/G8 and CYP7A1

Cholesterol excretion by ATP binding cassette transporters G5 and G8 (ABCG5/G8) and bile acid biosynthesis by cholesterol 7alpha-hydroxylase (CYP7A1) are major pathways for the removal of cholesterol into bile. Kajinami *et al.* reported a significant association between the *ABCG8* Asp19His variant and the LDL-cholesterol lowering response to atorvastatin therapy [Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004a; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004c; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2005b]. In the same study, they also found that the *CYP7A1 –204A>C* promoter polymorphism could influence the LDL-cholesterol reduction. The combination of these two polymorphisms could explain more of the variation in LDL-cholesterol reduction in these patients [Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004a; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004c; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004a; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004c; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004a; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2004c; Kajinami, K. *et al.* 2005b].

#### **HMG-CoA Reductase**

The largest study reported so far to investigate the pharmacogenetics of statins was that from the 1536 patients treated with pravastatin 40-mg daily for 24 weeks in the Pravastatin Inflammation/CRP Evaluation (PRINCE) study, in which 148 SNPs in 10 candidate genes related to drug or lipid metabolism were examined [Chasman, D.I. et al. 2004]. The only significant findings were that the carriers of the minor alleles of two closely linked SNPs (SNP12 and SNP29) in the gene coding for HMG-CoA reductase (heterozygote prevalence 6.7% for both) had significantly smaller reductions in total cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol (20.1% vs. 25.2%) compared to subjects homozygous for the major alleles. A more detailed examination of the relationships of the HMGCR gene polymorphisms and haplotypes to the lipid responses to simvastatin 40-mg was performed in the CAP (Cholesterol and Pharmacogenetics) study with 326 black and 596 whites subjects[Medina, M.W. et al. 2008]. There was an effect in black subjects with the 38 black carriers of haplotype H7, which included SNP12 of the PRINCE study, and/or H2 having a significantly attenuated LDLcholesterol response compared with black non-carriers as measured by percent reduction in LDL-cholesterol (-36.9% vs. -40.6%, P=.02), but no haplotype effect was observed in whites. The HMGCR polymorphisms examined in the study explained <2% of the overall variance in LDL-cholesterol response to simvastatin. Subsequently, Donnelly and colleagues [Donnelly, L.A. et al. 2008] replicated the finding that rs17238540 (SNP 29 of the PRINCE study) is markedly associated with lower efficacy of total cholesterol lowering in a large population-based cohort of patients with diabetes. They found that the heterozygotes had a 13% smaller reduction in total cholesterol (- 32.3 vs. - 37.1%, P =0.0081) and a 27% smaller reduction in triglycerides (-27.5 vs. - 37.6%, P = 0.0046) compared to homozygotes for the wild type allele. However, another large clinical trial involving 707 renal transplant patients all receiving cyclosporine (ALERT study) examined the association between 42 polymorphism in 18 candidate genes and the lipid response to fluvastatin 40-mg [Singer, J.B. et al. 2007]. In that study, there was no significant effect of the polymorphisms in *HMGCR* on the LDLcholesterol reduction with fluvastatin treatment, and none of the other selected polymorphisms had any significant effect either [Singer, J.B. *et al.* 2007].

## **Other HDL-Related Proteins**

Some of the factors related to HDL metabolism have also been investigated, such as apolipoprotein A-I (Apo A1) and paraoxonase (PON). Some studies showed that the effect of statin therapy on HDL-cholesterol concentration was influenced by PON1 (paraoxonase-1) genotype and/or phenotype status in patients with FH [Himbergen, T.M. *et al.* 2005] or non-FH patients [Malin, R. *et al.* 2001] but some other studies failed to find a relationship [Christidis, D.S. *et al.* 2007].

Lahoz, C. et al. have reported that the G/A polymorphism of the apo A-I promoter region (-75G>A) could affect not only baseline HDL-cholesterol concentrations but also the response to pravastatin treatment [Lahoz, C. et al. 2003]. However, the results from another study suggested that the Apo A1 +83 polymorphism or another unknown causative sequence variant close to this polymorphism played a more important role in HDL-cholesterol response to statin therapy than the -75G > A polymorphism and in a gender-dependent manner [Kajinami, K. et al. 2005a]. In that study, the associations between the estrogen receptor alpha (ESR1) gene haplotype and the plasma lipid response to atorvastatin were also examined. The ESR1 haplotype 2 [PvuII(-)XbaI(+)] was significantly and independently associated with greater HDL-cholesterol response in a gender-specific manner, and the gene-gene interaction between ESR1 and Apo A1 influenced by gender was also observed [Kajinami, K. et al. 2005a].

## PHARMACOGENETICS AND PLEIOTROPIC EF-FECTS OF STATINS

In addition to their lipid-lowering properties, statins are also thought to have a number of protective effects on the cardiovascular system, which may be independent of their action on lipids and have been called "pleiotropic" effects. These potentially beneficial effect of statins include effects on endothelial function, oxidative stress, inflammation, thrombogenic factors and other processes which might contribute to atherosclerosis [Lahera, V. et al. 2007]. The complicated mechanisms underlying the anti-atherosclerotic effects of statins have been extensively investigated and appear to involve effects on numerous factors modulating endothelial function, inflammatory and atherothrombotic process, such as adhesion molecules, interleukins, C reactive protein, and so on. Polymorphisms in these modulating genes could not only alter the progression of atherosclerosis and the risk of cardiovascular events, but also influence the beneficial effect of statins in clinical outcomes.

## **Kinesin-Like Protein 6**

Kinesin-like protein 6 (KIF6) is a member of the superfamily of molecular motors that are involved in intracellular transport. A Trp719Arg polymorphism in this gene has been found to be associated with CHD incidence in both males and females in large population based studies [Morrison, A.C. et al. 2007; Shiffman, D. et al. 2008]. Iakoubova et al.

Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 17

examined the association between 35 genetic polymorphisms previously found to be associated with cardiovascular disease, including the KIF6 Trp719Arg polymorphism, and recurrent myocardial infarction (MI) in the CARE (Cholesterol and Recurrent Events) trial and CHD in the WOSCOPS (West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study) trial and whether the risk associated with these polymorphisms could be reduced by pravastatin treatment [Iakoubova, O.A. et al. 2008b]. Of the 35 polymorphisms tested, only the KIF6 Trp719Arg was associated with coronary events. Carriers of the KIF6 719Arg allele had an increased risk of MI in the CARE trial with an odds ratio of 1.50 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.05 to 2.15) and CHD in the WOSCOPS trial with an odds ratio of 1.55 (95% CI 1.14 to 2.09), and pravastatin treatment substantially reduced the absolute risk by 4.98% and 5.49% among carriers, which suggested that carriers of the 719Arg allele had a greater benefit from statin therapy than noncarriers. More functional studies of the KIF6 kinesin are warranted to explain the observed difference in treatment benefit.

A similar finding was also identified from the PROVE-IT TIMI 22 (Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy: Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction 22) trial by the same group of researchers, which showed a significant difference in benefit from high-dose atorvastatin therapy (80-mg daily) compared with standard-dose pravastatin therapy (40-mg daily) between carriers and non-carriers of KIF6 719Arg [Iakoubova, O.A. et al. 2008a]. In carriers of the 719Arg allele, high-dose atorvastatin therapy, compared with standard-dose pravastatin therapy, reduced the risk of death or major cardiovascular events by 41%. In contrast, high-dose atorvastatin, compared with standard-dose pravastatin, was of no significant benefit in non-carriers. The absolute risk reduction was 10.0% in carriers versus 0.8% in non-carriers after 2 years of treatment, but carriers and noncarriers did not differ in on-treatment LDL-cholesterol, triglyceride, or C-reactive protein (CRP) levels, which suggested a pleiotropic mechanism distinct from lipid or CRP lowering effects [Iakoubova, O.A. et al. 2008a].

## **C-reactive Protein and Other Factors**

C-reactive protein (CRP), a member of the pentraxin family, plays an important role in acute and chronic inflammation. Inflammation contributes to all phases of atherosclerosis and thrombosis. Clinical studies suggested that inflammation is the underlying cause of about 80% of all sudden cardiac deaths [Albert, C.M. et al. 2002]. Plasma levels of high sensitivity (hs) CRP level have been shown to be a reliable marker of systemic inflammation and a strong predictor of future vascular events [Ridker, P.M. 2007; Ridker, P.M. and Cook, N.R. 2007]. Genetic variations in *CRP* gene have been found to be associated with plasma hsCRP levels and CHD risk [Suk, H.J. et al. 2005; Crawford, D.C. et al. 2006; Lange, L.A. et al. 2006; Danik, J.S. and Ridker, P.M. 2007]. Whether polymorphisms in the *CRP* gene could affect the beneficial effect of statins is still unknown.

However, polymorphisms in some other genes related to the progression and complication of atherosclerosis have been shown to influence the benefit of statins. A functional polymorphism (-786T>C) in endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) gene may modulate the activity of this gene. Nagassaki et al. found that this polymorphism could modulate the effects of atorvastatin on NO bioavailability and oxidative stress [Nagassaki, S. et al. 2006]. Furthermore, Souza-Costa et al [Souza-Costa, D.C. et al. 2007] reported that this polymorphism influenced atorvastatin-induced antiinflammatory effects in healthy volunteers, although in that study, no effects for the -786T>C polymorphism on the concentrations of inflammatory markers was observed. Subjects with the CC genotype had a significant reduction of inflammatory markers (CD40 ligand, vascular adhesion molecule-1, sP-selectin and modulating matrix metalloproteinase-9) after 14 days treatment with atorvarstatin 10-mg per day, but not for those with TT genotype (P<0.05). This observation suggested that for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events, subjects with CC genotype, who may be at increased cardiovascular risk, could benefit from treatment with statins.

The ADAMTS1 (a disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs) matrix metalloproteinase is a protein that has been shown to cleave versican, a key proteoglycan that regulates vascular smooth muscle cell migration and contributes to the structural integrity of the fibrous cap in atherosclerotic lesions. Recently, the Ala227Pro polymorphism in the ADAMTS1 gene has been found to be associated with CHD risk and benefit from pravastatin therapy in 2421 male subjects from the CARE study, a randomized trial of pravastatin versus placebo [Sabatine, M.S. et al. 2008]. In men not on pravastatin, those homozygous for the 227Pro allele of ADAMTSI had a nearly 2-fold increased risk of CHD events compared with non-carriers. In this high-risk group, treatment with pravastatin was highly efficacious, reducing the odds of fatal CHD or nonfatal MI by approximately 75%, as compared with 25% in non-carriers or heterozygotes [Sabatine, M.S. et al. 2008]. It was concluded that the greater benefit of pravastatin in individuals homozygous for the 227Pro allele could be due to either enhanced inhibition of ADAMTS-1 via statin-mediated pathways or that in such individuals the effect of statins on plaque stabilization is particularly important.

Sterol regulatory element binding factor (SREBF) -1a and SREBF cleavage activating protein (SCAP) regulate lipid homeostasis. Previous studies showed that polymorphisms in these two genes could modulate the lipid response to fluvastatin [Salek, L. et al. 2002] and simvastatin [Fiegenbaum, M. et al. 2005c], respectively. There was a strong graded genotype-treatment interaction between SREBF-1a - 36del/G genotypes and change in Apo A-I levels in response to fluvastatin (16.5% increase in GG, 10.5% in del/G, and 0.4% in del/del groups). In another study, the mean percentage decrease in total cholesterol was greater in carriers of the SCAP 2386G allele compared with those homozygous for the 2386A allele (-29.6 ± 13.4% vs. -22.1 ±13.8%, P=0.007) after treatment with simvastatin 20-mg per day over 6 months. However, more recently, Arazi et al did not find a significant association between these variants and the response to atorvastatin, which suggested that polymorphisms in SREBF1 and SCAP may play a minor role in determining the pharmacological response to statins [Arazi, S.S. et al. 2008].

Oxidized-LDL (ox-LDL) is involved in atherothrombosis by induction of endothelial dysfunction and thrombosis. The specific receptor lectin-like oxidized-LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) is thought to be important in plaque formation, progression and thrombosis due to the expression both in endothelial cells and monocytes. Polymorphisms in this gene (3'UTR/T) have been found to be related with reduced anti-platelet activity associated with statin therapy [Puccetti, L. *et al.* 2005] and cardiovascular event rates during statin treatment [Puccetti, L. *et al.* 2007].

Recently, more and more genetic variants have been identified to be associated with cardiovascular risk and various manifestations of atherosclerosis [Jang, Y. et al. 2008; Humphries, S.E. et al. 2008; Remmler, C. and Cascorbi, I. 2008; Trompet, S. et al. 2007], which may influence the beneficial effects from treatment with statins and may be worthy of more attention in future studies.

## CONCLUDING REMARKS

As the statins are already used on a very wide scale and with increasing evidence to support aggressive lipid lowering with these drugs, this field of pharmacogenetic research is receiving considerable attention and many new findings have been reported recently. Currently the data are not sufficient to support any genetic testing to predict the efficacy or adverse effects from statins, but recent studies have identified areas of potential importance. Polymorphisms in drug metabolizing enzymes and transporters have been shown to influence single dose pharmacokinetics with the statins, but their effect on long term lipid responses is less clear. The polymorphisms in genes related to the lipid metabolism and other pleiotropic effects of statins are likely to influence the beneficial effects of all statins, except perhaps for those in the HMG-CoA reductase enzyme itself which may have variable effects with different statins. Certain haplotypes of HMGCR in particular ethnic groups appear to be associated with reduced statin efficacy and it may be expedient to use additional alternative treatments in such cases. Conversely, subjects at high risk with particular KIF6 or ADAMTS1 genotypes may benefit more from statin therapy. Future pharmacogenetic studies of statins regarding the pharmacodynanic outcomes will provide more solid evidence for optimizing statin usage in clinical practice.

Although the reason for statin-related myopathy in some patients is largely unknown, various mechanisms have been proposed to explain statin myotoxicity including altered pharmacokinetics due to drug metabolism or drug-drug interactions, physicochemical properties of the drugs, effects on metabolic end products such as coenzyme Q10, and interference with metabolic pathways regulating muscle repair [Ruano, G. et al. 2007]. Potential candidate genes related to these mechanisms might be determinants of statin intolerance and genetic variation in candidate genes might be associated with inter-individual variation in statin-induced myotoxicity, which need to be verified in future studies. The recent finding of the common variant in SLCOIB1 being the only polymorphism in the genomewide scan study associated with increased risk of myopathy with high dose simvastatin suggests this may be an important target for future study to improve statin safety [Link, E. et al. 2008].

The rapid developments in this field of pharmacogenetic and pharmacogenomic studies of statin therapy are likely to provide a better understanding of the effects of these drugs in different people and to help with prediction of the most appropriate drug and dosage for each individual and whether the addition or substitution of other lipid modifying drugs may be necessary to achieve the most safe and effective prevention of coronary heart disease.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work has been supported by a grant from the Research Grants Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China (Project no. CUHK 4472/06M).

## **DUALITY/CONFLICT OF INTERESTS**

BT has received research funding to perform clinical studies from AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Daiichi Sankyo, Kowa, Merck, Merck Sharp and Dohme, Novartis, Otsuka, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis and Servier and has acted as a consultant or speaker on occasions for AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Bristol-Myers Squibb, GlaxoSmithKline, Kowa, Merck, Merck Sharp and Dohme, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, Schering-Plough, and Servier. The other authors have no conflict of interests to report.

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

ABC	=	ATP-binding cassette					
ABCP	52	Placenta-specific ATP-binding cassette transporter					
ADAMTS1	=	A disintegrin-like and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs					
ADRs	=	Adverse drug reactions					
Apo Al	=	Apolipoprotein A-I					
Apo E	=	Apolipoprotein E					
BCRP		Breast cancer resistance protein					
BSEP	=	Bile acid export pump					
CABG	=	Coronary artery bypass graft					
CAD	=	Coronary artery disease					
CETP	=	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene					
CHD	=	Coronary heart disease					
CRP	=	C-reactive protein					
СҮР	=	Cytochrome P-450					
CYP7A1	=	Cholesterol 7alpha-hydroxylase					
eNOS	=	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase					
ESR1	=	Estrogen receptor alpha					
FH	=	Familial hypercholesterolemia					
HDL-C	=	High-density lipoprotein-cholesterol					
HMG-CoA	=	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A					
IC50	=	Inhibitor concentration to produce 50% inhibition					

KIF6	-	Kinesin-like protein 6					
LDL-C	=	Low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol					
LDLR	=	LDL receptor					
LEPR	=	Leptin receptor					
LIPC	=	Hepatic lipase					
LOX-1	=	Lectin-like oxidized-LDL receptor-1					
LPL	=	Lipoprotein lipase					
MCT	=	Monocarboxylate transporter					
MDR1	=	Multidrug resistance protein					
MI	=	Myocardial infarction					
MRP2	=	Multidrug resistance-associated protein 2					
MXR	=	Mitoxantrone resistant protein					
NA	=	Not available					
NO	=	Nitric oxide					
NTCP	=	Sodium-dependent taurocholate cotrans- porting polypeptide					
OAT	=	Organic anion transporter					
ox-LDL	=	Oxidized-LDL					
PCSK9	=	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9					
P-gp	=	P-glycoprotein					
PON	=	Paraoxonase					
PPAR	=	Peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor					
SCAP	-	SREBF cleavage activating protein					
SLC	=	Solute carrier transporter					
SLCO	=	Solute carrier organic anion transporter family member					
SNPs	⊨	Single nucleotide polymorphisms					
SREBF-1a	=	Sterol regulatory element binding factor-la					
TC	=	Total cholesterol					
TG	=	Triglycerides					
UGT	=	Uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltrans- ferases					

REFERENCES

- Abifadel, M.; Varret, M.; Rabes, J. P.; Allard, D.; Ouguerram, K.; Devillers, M.; Cruaud, C.; Benjannet, S.; Wickham, L.; Erlich, D.; Derre, A.; Villeger, L.; Farnier, M.; Beucler, I.; Bruckert, E.; Chambaz, I.; Chanu, B.; Lecerf, J. M.; Luc, G.; Moulin, P.; Weissenbach, J.; Prat, A.; Krempf, M.; Junien, C.; Seidah, N. G. and Boileau, C. (2003) Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Nat. Genet. 34, 154-156.
- Albert, C. M.; Ma, J.; Rifai, N.; Stampfer, M. J. and Ridker, P. M. (2002) Prospective study of C-reactive protein, homocysteine, and plasma lipid levels as predictors of sudden cardiac death. *Circulation* 105, 2595-2599.
- Ameyaw, M. M.; Regateiro, F.; Li, T.; Liu, X.; Tariq, M.; Mobarek, A.; Thornton, N.; Folayan, G. O.; Githang'a, J.; Indalo, A.; Ofori-

Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 19

Adjei, D.; Price-Evans, D. A. and McLeod, H. L. (2001) MDR1 pharmacogenetics: frequency of the C3435T mutation in exon 26 is significantly influenced by ethnicity. *Pharmacogenetics* 11, 217-221.

- Arazi, S. S.; Genvigir, F. D.; Willrich, M. A.; Hirata, M. H.; Dorea, E. L.; Bernik, M. and Hirata, R. D. (2008) Atorvastatin effects on SREBP1a and SCAP gene expression in mononuclear cells and its relation with lowering-lipids response. *Clin. Chim. Acta.* 393(2), 119-124.
- Backman, J. T.; Kyrklund, C.; Kivisto, K. T.; Wang, J. S. and Neuvonen, P. J. (2000) Plasma concentrations of active simvastatin acid are increased by gemfibrozil. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 68, 122-129.
- Backman, J. T.; Kyrklund, C.; Neuvonen, M. and Neuvonen, P. J. (2002) Gemfibrozil greatly increases plasma concentrations of cerivastatin. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 72, 685-691.
- Baigent, C.; Keech, A.; Kearney, P. M.; Blackwell, L.; Buck, G.; Pollicino, C.; Kirby, A.; Sourjina, T.; Peto, R.; Collins, R. and Simes, R. (2005) Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet* 366, 1267-1278.
- Ballantyne, C. M.; Herd, J. A.; Stein, E. A.; Ferlic, L. L.; Dunn, J. K.; Gotto, A. M., Jr. and Marian, A. J. (2000) Apolipoprotein E genotypes and response of plasma lipids and progression-regression of coronary atherosclerosis to lipid-lowering drug therapy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 36, 1572-1578.
- 30, 1572-1578.
  Balram, C.; Zhou, Q.; Cheung, Y. B. and Lee, E. J. (2003) CYP3A5\*3 and \*6 single nucleotide polymorphisms in three distinct Asian populations. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 59, 123-126.
  Bercovich, D.; Friedlander, Y.; Korem, S.; Houminer, A.; Hoffman, A.;
- Bercovich, D.; Friedlander, Y.; Korem, S.; Houminer, A.; Hoffman, A.; Kleinberg, L.; Shochat, C.; Leitersdorf, E. and Meiner, V. (2006) The association of common SNPs and haplotypes in the CETP and MDR1 genes with lipids response to fluvastatin in familial hypercholesterolemia. *Atherosclerosis* 185, 97-107.
- Berge, K. E.; Ose, L. and Leren, T. P. (2006) Missense mutations in the PCSK9 gene are associated with hypocholesterolemia and possibly increased response to statin therapy. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 26, 1094-1100.
- Beutler, E.; Gelbart, T. and Demina, A. (1998) Racial variability in the UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 1 (UGT1A1) promoter: a balanced polymorphism for regulation of bilirubin metabolism? *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95, 8170-8174.
- Blankenberg, S.; Rupprecht, H. J.; Bickel, C.; Jiang, X. C.; Poirier, O.; Lackner, K. J.; Meyer, J.; Cambien, F. and Tiret, L. (2003) Common genetic variation of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene strongly predicts future cardiovascular death in patients with coronary artery disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 41, 1983-1989.
- nary artery disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 41, 1983-1989. Boekholdt, S. M.; Kuivenhoven, J. A.; Hovingh, G. K.; Jukema, J. W.; Kastelein, J. J. and van Tol, A. (2004) CETP gene variation: relation to lipid parameters and cardiovascular risk. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 15, 393-398.
- Boekholdt, S. M.; Sacks, F. M.; Jukema, J. W.; Shepherd, J.; Freeman, D. J.; McMahon, A. D.; Cambien, F.; Nicaud, V.; de Grooth, G. J.; Talmud, P. J.; Humphries, S. E.; Miller, G. J.; Eiriksdottir, G.; Gudnason, V.; Kauma, H.; Kakko, S.; Savolainen, M. J.; Arca, M.; Montali, A.; Liu, S.; Lanz, H. J.; Zwinderman, A. H.; Kuivenhoven, J. A. and Kastelein, J. J. (2005) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein TaqIB variant, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels, cardiovascular risk, and efficacy of pravastatin treatment: individual patient meta-analysis of 13,677 subjects. Circulation 111, 278-287.
- Bogman, K.; Peyer, A. K.; Torok, M.; Kusters, E. and Drewe, J. (2001) HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors and P-glycoprotein modulation. Br. J. Pharmacol. 132, 1183-1192.
- Brewer, H. B., Jr. (2003) Benefit-risk assessment of Rosuvastatin 10 to 40 milligrams. Am. J. Cardiol. 92, 23K-29K.
- Carmena, R.; Roederer, G.; Mailloux, H.; Lussier-Cacan, S. and Davignon, J. (1993) The response to lovastatin treatment in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia is modulated by apolipoprotein E polymorphism. *Metabolism* 42, 895-901.
- Cascorbi, I. (2003) Pharmacogenetics of cytochrome p4502D6: genetic background and clinical implication. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 33(Suppl 2), 17-22.
- Cascorbi, L (2006) Role of pharmacogenetics of ATP-binding cassette transporters in the pharmacokinetics of drugs. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 112, 457-473.

- 20 Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1
- Cha, S. H.; Sekine, T.; Fukushima, J. I.; Kanai, Y.; Kobayashi, Y.; Goya, T. and Endou, H. (2001) Identification and characterization of human organic anion transporter 3 expressing predominantly in the kidney. Mol. Pharmacol. 59, 1277-1286.
- Chasman, D. I.; Posada, D.; Subrahmanyan, L.; Cook, N. R.; Stanton, V. P., Jr. and Ridker, P. M. (2004) Pharmacogenetic study of statin ther-apy and cholesterol reduction. World J. Gastroenterol. 291, 2821-2827.
- Chaves, F. J.; Real, J. T.; Garcia-Garcia, A. B.; Civera, M.; Armengod, M. E.; Ascaso, J. F. and Carmena, R. (2001) Genetic diagnosis of fa-milial hypercholesterolemia in a South European outbreed population: influence of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor gene mutations on treatment response to simvastatin in total, LDL, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 4926-4932.
- Chen, S.; Tsybouleva, N.; Ballantyne, C. M.; Gotto, A. M., Jr. and Marian, A. J. (2004) Effects of PPARalpha, gamma and delta haplotypes on plasma levels of lipids, severity and progression of coronary atherosclerosis and response to statin therapy in the lipoprotein coro-
- Instructions and response to statin inerapy in the hypothetic tobenary atherosciences is study. *Pharmacogenetics* 14, 61-71.
   Choi, J. H.; Lee, M. G.; Cho, J. Y.; Lee, J. E.; Kim, K. H. and Park, K. (2008) Influence of OATP1B1 genotype on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in Koreans. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 83, 251-257.
- Choudhuri, S. and Klaassen, C. D. (2006) Structure, function, expression, genomic organization, and single nucleotide polymorphisms of human ABCB1 (MDR1), ABCC (MRP), and ABCG2 (BCRP) efflux transporters. Int. J. Toxicol. 25, 231-259.
- Christidis, D. S.; Liberopoulos, E. N.; Kakafika, A. I.; Miltiadous, G. A.; Liamis, G. L.; Kakaidi, B.; Tselepis, A. D.; Cariolou, M. A. and Elisaf, M. S. (2007) Effect of paraoxonase 1 polymorphisms on the response of lipids and lipoprotein-associated enzymes to treatment with fluvastatin. Arch. Med. Res. 38, 403-410.
- Chung, E.; Nafziger, A. N.; Kazierad, D. J. and Bertino, J. S., Jr. (2006) Comparison of midazolam and simvastatin as cytochrome P450 3A probes. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 79, 350-361.
- Chung, J. Y.; Cho, J. Y.; Yu, K. S.; Kim, J. R.; Oh, D. S.; Jung, H. R.; Lim, K. S.; Moon, K. H.; Shin, S. G. and Jang, I. J. (2005) Effect of OATP1B1 (SLCO1B1) variant alleles on the pharmacokinetics of pitavastatin in healthy volunteers. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 78, 342-350.
- Corella, D.; Saiz, C.; Guillen, M.; Portoles, O.; Mulet, F.; Gonzalez, J. I. and Ordovas, J. M. (2000) Association of TaqIB polymorphism in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene with plasma lipid levels in a healthy Spanish population. Atherosclerosis 152, 367-376.
- Couture, P.; Brun, L. D.; Szots, F.; Lelievre, M.; Gaudet, D.; Despres, J. P.; Simard, J.; Lupien, P. J. and Gagne, C. (1998) Association of spe-cific LDL receptor gene mutations with differential plasma lipopro-tein response to simvastatin in young French Canadians with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 18, 1007-1012. Couvert, P.; Giral, P.; Dejager, S.; Gu, J.; Huby, T.; Chapman, M. J.; Bruck-
- ert, E. and Carrie, A. (2008) Association between a frequent allele of the gene encoding OATP1BI and enhanced LDL-lowering re-
- sponse to fluvastatin therapy. *Pharmacogenomics* 9, 1217-1227. Crawford, D. C.; Sanders, C. L.; Qin, X.; Smith, J. D.; Shephard, C.; Wong, M.; Witrak, L.; Rieder, M. J. and Nickerson, D. A. (2006) Genetic variation is associated with C-reactive protein levels in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Circulation 114, 2458-2465.
- Dally, H.; Edler, L.; Jager, B.; Schmezer, P.; Spiegelhalder, B.; Dienemann, H.; Drings, P.; Schulz, V.; Kayser, K.; Bartsch, H. and Risch, A. (2003) The CYP3A4\*1B allele increases risk for small cell lung cancer: effect of gender and smoking dose. Pharmacogenetics 13, 607-618
- Daly, A. K.; King, B. P. and Leathart, J. B. (2006) Genotyping for cytochrome P450 polymorphisms. Methods Mol. Biol. 320, 193-207.
- Danik, J. S. and Ridker, P. M. (2007) Genetic determinants of C-reactive
- bailt, J. S. and Ruker, T. M. (2007) Online determinants of Certachive protein. Curr. Atheroscier. Rep. 9, 195-203.
   de Grooth, G. J.; Zerba, K. E.; Huang, S. P.; Tsuchihashi, Z.; Kirchgessner, T.; Belder, R.; Vishnupad, P.; Hu, B.; Klerkx, A. H.; Zwinderman, A. H.; Jukema, J. W.; Sacks, F. M.; Kastelein, J. J. and Kuivenhoven, J. A. (2004) The cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) TaqIB polymorphism in the cholesterol and recurrent events study: no interaction with the response to pravastatin therapy and no effects on cardiovascular outcome: a prospective analysis of the

CETP TaqIB polymorphism on cardiovascular outcome and interaction with cholesterol-lowering therapy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 43, 854-857.

- de Jong, F. A.; Marsh, S.; Mathijssen, R. H.; King, C.; Verweij, J.; Sparreboom, A. and McLeod, H. L. (2004) ABCG2 pharmacogenetics: ethnic differences in allele frequency and assessment of influence on irinotecan disposition. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10, 5889-5894.
- de Wildt, S. N.; Kearns, G. L.; Leeder, J. S. and van den Anker, J. N. (1999) Cytochrome P450 3A: ontogeny and drug disposition. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 37, 485-505.
- Dedoussis, G. V.; Schmidt, H. and Genschel, J. (2004) LDL-receptor mutations in Europe. Hum. Mutat. 24, 443-459.
- Deng, J. W.; Song, I. S.; Shin, H. J.; Yeo, C. W.; Cho, D. Y.; Shon, J. H. and Shin, J. G. (2008) The effect of SLCO1B1\*15 on the disposition of pravastatin and pitavastatin is substrate dependent: the contribution of transporting activity changes by SLCO1B1\*15. Pharmacogenet. Genomics 18, 424-433.
- Donnelly, L. A.; Doney, A. S. F.; Dannfald, J.; Whitley, A. L.; Langa, C. C.; Morris, A. D.; Donnan, P. T. and Palmer, C. N. A. (2008) A paucimorphic variant in the HMG-CoA reductase gene is associated with lipid-lowering response to statin treatment in diabetes: a GoDARTS study. Pharmacogenet. Genomics 18(12), 1021-1026. Dreisbach, A. W.; Japa, S.; Sigel, A.; Parenti, M. B.; Hess, A. E.; Srinouan-
- prachanh, S. L.; Rettie, A. E.; Kim, H.; Farin, F. M.; Hamm, L. L. and Lertora, J. J. (2005) The Prevalence of CYP2C8, 2C9, 2J2, and soluble epoxide hydrolase polymorphisms in African Americans with hypertension. Am. J. Hypertens. 18, 1276-1281.
- Dresser, G. K.; Spence, J. D. and Bailey, D. G. (2000) Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic consequences and clinical relevance of cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibition. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 38, 41-57.
- Fan, L.; Zhang, W.; Guo, D.; Tan, Z. R.; Xu, P.; Li, Q.; Liu, Y. Z.; Zhang, L.; He, T. Y.; Hu, D. L.; Wang, D. and Zhou, H. H. (2008) The effect of herbal medicine baicalin on pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin, substrate of organic anion-transporting polypeptide 1B1. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 83, 471-476.
- Fiegenbaum, M.; da Silveira, F. R.; Van der Sand, C. R.; Van der Sand, L. C.; Ferreira, M. E.; Pires, R. C. and Hutz, M. H. (2005a) Pharmacogenetic study of apolipoprotein E, cholesteryl ester transfer protein and hepatic lipase genes and simvastatin therapy in Brazilian subjects. Clin. Chim. Acta. 362, 182-188.
- Fiegenbaum, M.; da Silveira, F. R.; Van der Sand, C. R.; Van der Sand, L. C.; Ferreira, M. E.; Pires, R. C. and Hutz, M. H. (2005b) The role of common variants of ABCB1. CYP3A4, and CYP3A5 gencs in lipid-lowering efficacy and safety of simvastatin treatment. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 78, 551-558.
- Fiegenbaum, M.; Silveira, F. R.; Van der Sand, C. R.; Van der Sand, L. C.; Ferreira, M. E.; Pires, R. C. and Hutz, M. H. (2005c) Determinants of variable response to simvastatin treatment: the role of common variants of SCAP, SREBF-1a and SREBF-2 genes. Pharmacogenomics J. 5, 359-364. Fromm, M. F. (2002) The influence of MDR1 polymorphisms on P-
- glycoprotein expression and function in humans. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 54, 1295-1310.
- Fujino, H.; Yamada, I.; Shimada, S.; Yoneda, M. and Kojima, J. (2003) Metabolic fate of pitavastatin, a new inhibitor of HMG-CoA reductase: human UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzymes involved in lactonization. Xenobiotica 33, 27-41.
- Furberg, C. D. and Pitt, B. (2001) Withdrawal of cerivastatin from the world market. Curr. Control Trials Cardiovasc. Med. 2, 205-207.
- Gao, Y.; Zhang, L. R. and Fu, Q. (2008) CYP3A4\*1G polymorphism is associated with lipid-lowering efficacy of atorvastatin but not of simvastatin. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 64(9), 877-882.
- Garcia-Barcelo, M.; Chow, L. Y.; Chiu, H. F.; Wing, Y. K.; Lee, D. T.; Lam, K. L. and Waye, M. M. (2000) Genetic analysis of the CYP2D6 locus in a Hong Kong Chinese population. *Clin. Chem.* 46, 18-23.
- Garcia-Otin, A. L.; Civeira, F.; Aristegui, R.; Diaz, C.; Recalde, D.; Sol, J. M.; Masramon, X.; Hernandez, G. and Pocovi, M. (2002) Allelic polymorphism -491 A/T in apo E gene modulates the lipid-lowering response in combined hyperlipidemia treatment. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 32, 421-428.
- Garg, A. and Simha, V. (2007) Update on dyslipidemia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 1581-1589.
- Goodarzi, M. O.; Taylor, K. D.; Scheuner, M. T.; Antoine, H. J.; Guo, X.; Shah, P. K. and Rotter, J. I. (2007) Haplotypes in the lipoprotein li-

Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 21

pase gene influence high-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to statin therapy and progression of atherosclerosis in coronary ar-tery bypass grafts. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 7, 66-73.

- Gruer, P. J.; Vega, J. M.; Mercuri, M. F.; Dobrinska, M. R. and Tobert, J. A (1999) Concomitant use of cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibitors and simvastatin. Am. J. Cardiol. 84, 811-815.
   Guzman, E. C.; Hirata, M. H.; Quintao, E. C. and Hirata, R. D. (2000) As-
- sociation of the apolipoprotein B gene polymorphisms with choles-terol levels and response to fluvastatin in Brazilian individuals with high risk for coronary heart disease. Clin. Chem. Lab. Med. 38, 731-736.
- Hasegawa, M.; Kusuhara, H.; Sugiyama, D.; Ito, K.; Ueda, S.; Endou, H. and Sugiyama, Y. (2002) Functional involvement of rat organic an-ion transporter 3 (rOat3; Slc22a8) in the renal uptake of organic anions. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 300, 746-753.
- Heath, K. E.; Gudnason, V.; Humphries, S. E. and Seed, M. (1999) The type of mutation in the low density lipoprotein receptor gene influences the cholesterol-lowering response of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor simvastatin in patients with heterozygous familial hypercho-
- Hinder Shirves and Argenerations and interest systems and high sectors and hig aoxonase-1 in patients with familial hypercholesterolaemia. J. In-tern. Med. 258, 442-449.
- Hirano, M.; Maeda, K.; Hayashi, H.; Kusuhara, H. and Sugiyama, Y. (2005a) Bile salt export pump (BSEP/ABCB11) can transport a nonbile acid substrate, pravastatin. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 314, 876-882
- Hirano, M.; Maeda, K.; Matsushima, S.; Nozaki, Y.; Kusuhara, H. and Sugiyama, Y. (2005b) Involvement of BCRP (ABCG2) in the bil-iary excretion of pitavastatin. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 68, 800-807.
  Ho, R. H.; Leake, B. F.; Roberts, R. L.; Lee, W. and Kim, R. B. (2004)
- Ethnicity-dependent polymorphism in Na+-taurocholate cotrans-porting polypeptide (SLC10A1) reveals a domain critical for bile acid substrate recognition. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 7213-7222.
- Ho, R. H.; Tirona, R. G.; Leake, B. F.; Glaeser, H.; Lee, W.; Lemke, C. J.; Wang, Y. and Kim, R. B. (2006) Drug and bile acid transporters in
- rosuvastatin hepatic uptake: fluction, expression, and pharmacogenetics. *Gastroenterology* 130, 1793-1806.
  Ho, R. H.; Choi, L.; Lee, W.; Mayo, G.; Schwarz, U. I.; Tirona, R. G.; Bailey, D. G.; Michael Stein, C. and Kim, R. B. (2007) Effect of drug transporter genotypes on pravastatin disposition in European- and African-American participants. Pharmacogenet. Genomics 17, 647-656.
- Hoffmeyer, S.; Burk, O.; von Richter, O.; Arnold, H. P.; Brockmoller, J.; Johne, A.; Cascorbi, I.; Gerloff, T.; Roots, I.; Eichelbaum, M. and Brinkmann, U. (2000) Functional polymorphisms of the human multidrug-resistance gene: multiple sequence variations and corre-
- multiding-resistance gene: multiple sequence variations and correlation of one allele with P-glycoprotein expression and activity in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97, 3473-3478.
  Hsiang, B.; Zhu, Y.; Wang, Z.; Wu, Y.; Sasseville, V.; Yang, W. P. and Kirchgessner, T. G. (1999) A novel human hepatic organic anion transporting polypeptide (OATP2). Identification of a liver-specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more index with the specific human organic anion transporting polypeptide and identification of a more polype rat and human hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA reductase inhibitor transporters. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 37161-37168. Hsieh, K. P.; Lin, Y. Y.; Cheng, C. L.; Lai, M. L.; Lin, M. S.; Siest, J. P. and
- Huang, J. D. (2001) Novel mutations of CYP3A4 in Chinese. Drug
- Metab. Dispos. 29, 268-273. Huang, L.; Wang, Y. and Grimm, S. (2006) ATP-dependent transport of rosuvastatin in membrane vesicles expressing breast cancer resistance protein. Drug Metab. Dispos. 34, 738-742.
- Humphries, S. E.; Yiannakouris, N. and Talmud, P. J. (2008) Cardiovascular disease risk prediction using genetic information (gene scores): is it really informative? Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 19, 128-132.
- Hustert, E.; Haberl, M.; Burk, O.; Wolbold, R.; He, Y. Q.; Klein, K.; Nuessler, A. C.; Neuhaus, P.; Klattig, J.; Eiselt, R.; Koch, I.; Zibat, A.; Brockmoller, J.; Halpert, J. R.; Zanger, U. M. and Wojnowski, L. (2001) The genetic determinants of the CYP3AS polymorphism. Pharmacogenetics 11, 773-779.
- Iakoubova, O. A.; Sabatine, M. S.; Rowland, C. M.; Tong, C. H.; Catanese, J. J.; Ranade, K.; Simonsen, K. L.; Kirchgessner, T. G.; Cannon, C. P.; Devlin, J. J. and Braunwald, E. (2008a) Polymorphism in KIF6 gene and benefit from statins after acute coronary syndromes: re-

sults from the PROVE IT-TIMI 22 study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51, 449-455.

- Iakoubova, O. A.; Tong, C. H.; Rowland, C. M.; Kirchgessner, T. G.; Young, B. A.; Arellano, A. R.; Shiffman, D.; Sabatine, M. S.; Campos, H.; Packard, C. J.; Pfeffer, M. A.; White, T. J.; Braunwald, E.; Shepherd, J.; Devlin, J. J. and Sacks, F. M. (2008b) Asso-ciation of the Trp719Arg polymorphism in kinesin-like protein 6 with myocardial infarction and coronary heart disease in 2 prospective trials: the CARE and WOSCOPS trials. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51.435-443
- leiri, I.; Suwannakul, S.; Maeda, K.; Uchimaru, H.; Hashimoto, K.; Kimura, M.; Fujino, H.; Hirano, M.; Kusuhara, H.; Irie, S.; Higuchi, S. and Sugiyama, Y. (2007) SLCO1B1 (OATP1B1, an uptake transporter) and ABCG2 (BCRP, an efflux transporter) variant alleles and pharmacokinetics of pitavastatin in healthy volunteers. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 82, 541-547.
- Igel, M.; Sudhop, T. and von Bergmann, K. (2002) Pharmacology of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase inhibitors (statins), including rosuvastatin and pitavastatin. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 42 835-845
- Iida, A.; Saito, S.; Sekine, A.; Mishima, C.; Kondo, K.; Kitamura, Y.; Hari-gae, S.; Osawa, S. and Nakamura, Y. (2001) Catalog of 258 single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in genes encoding three organic anion transporters, three organic anion-transporting polypeptides, and three NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase flavoproteins. J. Hum. Genet. 46, 668-683.
- Ishikawa, C.; Ozaki, H.; Nakajima, T.; Ishii, T.; Kanai, S.; Anjo, S.; Shirai, K. and Inoue, I. (2004) A frameshift variant of CYP2C8 was identi-fied in a patient who suffered from rhabdomyolysis after admini-
- stration of cerivastatin. J. Hum. Genet. 49, 582-585.
   Ito, K.; Oleschuk, C. J.; Westlake, C.; Vasa, M. Z.; Decley, R. G. and Cole, S. P. (2001) Mutation of Trp1254 in the multispecific organic anion transporter, multidrug resistance protein 2 (MRP2) (ABCC2), alters substrate specificity and results in loss of methotrexate transport activity. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 38108-38114.
- Ito, S.; Jeiri, I.; Tanabe, M.; Suzuki, A.; Higuchi, S. and Otsubo, K. (2001) Polymorphism of the ABC transporter genes, MDR1, MRP1 and MRP2/cMOAT, in healthy Japanese subjects. Pharmacogenetics 11, 175-184.
- Itoda, M.; Saito, Y.; Soyama, A.; Saeki, M.; Murayama, N.; Ishida, S.; Sai, K.; Nagano, M.; Suzuki, H.; Sugiyama, Y.; Ozawa, S. and Sawada Ji, J. (2002) Polymorphisms in the ABCC2 (cMOAT/MRP2) gene found in 72 established cell lines derived from Japanese individu-als: an association between single nucleotide polymorphisms in the 5'-untranslated region and exon 28. Drug Metab. Dispos. 30, 363-364
- Jada, S. R.; Xiaochen, S.; Yan, L. Y.; Xiaoqiang, X.; Lal, S.; Zhou, S. F.; Ooi, L. L. and Chowbay, B. (2007) Pharmacogenetics of SLCO1B1: haplotypes, htSNPs and hepatic expression in three dis-structures from the other pharmacol. 555, 563
- tinet Asian populations. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 63, 555-563.
  Jang, Y.; Kim, O. Y.; Hyun, Y. J.; Chae, J. S.; Koh, S. J.; Heo, Y. M.; Choi, D.; Shin, D. J.; Huttner, K. and Lee, J. H. (2008) Interleukin-6-572C>G polymorphism-association with inflammatory variables in Korean men with coronary artery disease. Transl. Res. 151, 154-161.
- Jeenah, M.; September, W.; Graadt van Roggen, F.; de Villiers, W.; Seflel, H. and Marais, D. (1993) Influence of specific mutations at the LDL-receptor gene locus on the response to simvastatin therapy in Afrikaner patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. Atherosclerosis 98, 51-58.
- Jones, P.; Kafonek, S.; Laurora, I. and Hunninghake, D. (1998) Comparative dose efficacy study of atorvastatin versus simvastatin, pravastatin, lovastatin, and fluvastatin in patients with hypercholesterolemia
- (the CURVES study). Am. J. Cardiol. 81, 582-587.
   Jones, P. H.; Davidson, M. H.; Stein, E. A.; Bays, H. E.; McKenney, J. M.; Miller, E.; Cain, V. A. and Blasetto, J. W. (2003) Comparison of the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin across doses (STELLAR\* Trial). Am. J. Cardiol. 92, 152-160.
- Kajinami, K.; Yagi, K.; Higashikata, T.; Inazu, A.; Koizumi, J. and Mabu-chi, H. (1998) Low-density lipoprotein receptor genotype-dependent response to cholesterol lowering by combined pravastatin and cholestyramine in familial hypercholesterolemia. Am. J. Cardiol. 82, 113-117.

- Kajinami, K.; Brousseau, M. E.; Nartsupha, C.; Ordovas, J. M. and Schaefer, E. J. (2004a) ATP binding cassette transporter G5 and G8 genotypes and plasma lipoprotein levels before and after treatment with atorvastatin. J. Lipid Res. 45, 653-656.Kajinami, K.; Brousseau, M. E.; Ordovas, J. M. and Schaefer, E. J. (2004b)
- Kajinami, K.; Brousseau, M. E.; Ordovas, J. M. and Schaefer, E. J. (2004b) CYP3A4 genotypes and plasma lipoprotein levels before and after treatment with atorvastatin in primary hypercholesterolemia. Am. J. Cardiol. 93, 104-107.
- Kajinami, K.; Brousseau, M. E.; Ordovas, J. M. and Schaefer, E. J. (2004c) Interactions between common genetic polymorphisms in ABCG5/G8 and CYP7A1 on LDL cholesterol-lowering response to atorvastatin. *Atherosclerosis* 175, 287-293.
- Kajinami, K.; Brousseau, M. E.; Ordovas, J. M. and Schaefer, E. J. (2004d) Polymorphisms in the multidrug resistance-1 (MDR1) gene influence the response to atorvastatin treatment in a gender-specific manner. Am. J. Cardiol. 93, 1046-1050.
- Kajinami, K.; Takekoshi, N.; Brousseau, M. E. and Schaefer, E. J. (2004e) Pharmacogenetics of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: exploring the potential for genotype-based individualization of coronary heart disease management. *Atherosclerosis* 177, 219-234.
- Kajinami, K.; Brousseau, M. E.; Lamon-Fava, S.; Ordovas, J. M. and Schaefer, E. J. (2005a) Gender-specific effects of estrogen receptor alpha gene haplotype on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to atorvastatin: interaction with apolipoprotein AI gene polymorphism. Atherosclerosis 178, 331-338.
- Kajinami, K.; Brousseau, M. E.; Ordovas, J. M. and Schaefer, E. J. (2005b) A promoter polymorphism in cholesterol 7alpha-hydroxylase interacts with apolipoprotein E genotype in the LDL-lowering response to atorvastatin. *Atherosclerosis* 180, 407-415.
- Kajinami, K.; Okabayashi, M.; Sato, R.; Polisecki, E. and Schaefer, E. J. (2005c) Statin pharmacogenomics: what have we learned, and what remains unanswered? *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 16, 606-613.
- Karayan, L.; Qiu, S.; Betard, C.; Dufour, R.; Roederer, G.; Minnich, A.; Davignon, J. and Genest, J., Jr. (1994) Response to HMG CoA reductase inhibitors in heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia due to the 10-kb deletion ("French Canadian mutation") of the LDL receptor gene. Arterioscler. Thromb. 14, 1258-1263.
- Kathiresan, S.; Melander, O.; Guiducci, C.; Surti, A.; Burtt, N. P.; Rieder, M. J.; Cooper, G. M.; Roos, C.; Voight, B. F.; Havulinna, A. S.; Wahlstrand, B.; Hedner, T.; Corella, D.; Tai, E. S.; Ordovas, J. M.; Berglund, G.; Vartiainen, E.; Jousilahti, P.; Hedblad, B.; Taskinen, M. R.; Newton-Cheh, C.; Salomaa, V.; Peltonen, L.; Groop, L.; Altshuler, D. M. and Orho-Melander, M. (2008) Six new loci associated with blood low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol or triglycerides in humans. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 189-197.
- Kim, K. A.; Chung, J.; Jung, D. H. and Park, J. Y. (2004) Identification of cytochrome P450 isoforms involved in the metabolism of loperamide in human liver microsomes. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 60, 575-581.
- Kim, K. A.; Park, P. W.; Lee, O. J.; Kang, D. K. and Park, J. Y. (2007) Effect of polymorphic CYP3A5 genotype on the single-dose simvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy subjects. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 47, 87-93.
- Kim, R. B.; Leake, B. F.; Choo, E. F.; Dresser, G. K.; Kubba, S. V.; Schwarz, U. I.; Taylor, A.; Xie, H. G.; McKinsey, J.; Zhou, S.; Lan, L. B.; Schuetz, J. D.; Schuetz, E. G. and Wilkinson, G. R. (2001) Identification of functionally variant MDR1 alleles among European Americans and African Americans. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 70, 189-199.
- Kimchi-Sarfaty, C.; Gribar, J. J. and Gottesman, M. M. (2002) Functional characterization of coding polymorphisms in the human MDR1 gene using a vaccinia virus expression system. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 62, 1-6.
- King, L. M.; Gainer, J. V.; David, G. L.; Dai, D.; Goldstein, J. A.; Brown, N. J. and Zeldin, D. C. (2005) Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the CYP2J2 and CYP2C8 genes and the risk of hypertension. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 15, 7-13.
- Pharmacogenet. Genomics 15, 7-13.
   Kirchheiner, J.; Kudlicz, D.; Meisel, C.; Bauer, S.; Meineke, I.; Roots, I. and Brockmoller, J. (2003) Influence of CYP2C9 polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics and cholesterol-lowering activity of (-)-3S,SR-fluvastatin and (+)-3R,SS-fluvastatin in healthy volunteers. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 74, 186-194.
- Kivisto, K. T.; Niemi, M.; Schaeffeler, E.; Pitkala, K.; Tilvis, R.; Fromm, M. F.; Schwab, M.; Eichelbaum, M. and Strandberg, T. (2004)

Lipid-lowering response to statins is affected by CYP3A5 polymorphism. *Pharmacogenetics* 14, 523-525.

- Kivisto, K. T. and Niemi, M. (2007) Influence of drug transporter polymorphisms on pravastatin pharmacokinetics in humans. *Pharm. Res.* 24, 239-247.
- Konig, J.; Seithel, A.; Gradhand, U. and Fromm, M. F. (2006) Pharmacogenomics of human OATP transporters. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 372, 432-443.
- Kooner, J. S.; Chambers, J. C.; Aguilar-Salinas, C. A.; Hinds, D. A.; Hyde, C. L.; Warnes, G. R.; Gomez Perez, F. J.; Frazer, K. A.; Elliott, P.; Scott, J.; Milos, P. M.; Cox, D. R. and Thompson, J. F. (2008) Genome-wide scan identifies variation in MLXIPL associated with plasma triglycerides. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 149-151.
- Krishnamurthy, P. and Schuetz, J. D. (2006) Role of ABCG2/BCRP in biology and medicine. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 46, 381-410.
- Kroetz, D. L.; Pauli-Magnus, C.; Hodges, L. M.; Huang, C. C.; Kawamoto, M.; Johns, S. J.; Stryke, D.; Ferrin, T. E.; DeYoung, J.; Taylor, T.; Carlson, E. J.; Herskowitz, I.; Giacomini, K. M. and Clark, A. G. (2003) Sequence diversity and haplotype structure in the human ABCB1 (MDR1, multidrug resistance transporter) gene. *Pharmacogenetics* 13, 481-494.
  Kuehl, P.; Zhang, J.; Lin, Y.; Lamba, J.; Assem, M.; Schuetz, J.; Watkins, P.
- Kuehl, P.; Zhang, J.; Lin, Y.; Lamba, J.; Assem, M.; Schuetz, J.; Watkins, P. B.; Daly, A.; Wrighton, S. A.; Hall, S. D.; Maurel, P.; Relling, M.; Brimer, C.; Yasuda, K.; Venkataramanan, R.; Strom, S.; Thummel, K.; Boguski, M. S. and Schuetz, E. (2001) Sequence diversity in CYP3A promoters and characterization of the genetic basis of polymorphic CYP3A5 expression. *Nat. Genet.* 27, 383-391.
- Kuivenhoven, J. A.; Jukema, J. W.; Zwinderman, A. H.; de Knijff, P.; McPherson, R.; Bruschke, A. V.; Lie, K. I. and Kastelein, J. J. (1998) The role of a common variant of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene in the progression of coronary atherosclerosis. The Regression Growth Evaluation Statin Study Group. N. Engl. J. Med. 338, 86-93.
- Kyrklund, C.; Backman, J. T.; Kivisto, K. T.; Neuvonen, M.; Laitila, J. and Neuvonen, P. J. (2001) Plasma concentrations of active lovastatin acid are markedly increased by gemfibrozil but not by bezafibrate. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 69, 340-345.
- Lahera, V.; Goicoechea, M.; de Vinuesa, S. G.; Miana, M.; de las Heras, N.; Cachofeiro, V. and Luno, J. (2007) Endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress and inflammation in atherosclerosis: beneficial effects of statins. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 14, 243-248.
- Lahoz, C.; Pena, R.; Mostaza, J. M.; Jimenez, J.; Subirats, E.; Pinto, X.; Taboada, M. and Lopez-Pastor, A. (2003) Apo A-I promoter polymorphism influences basal HDL-cholesterol and its response to pravastatin therapy. *Atherosclerosis* 168, 289-295.
- Lahoz, C.; Pena, R.; Mostaza, J. M.; Laguna, F.; Garcia-Iglesias, M. F.; Taboada, M. and Pinto, X. (2005a) The -514C/T polymorphism of the hepatic lipase gene significantly modulates the HDLcholesterol response to statin treatment. *Atherosclerosis* 182, 129-134.
- Lahoz, C.; Pena, R.; Mostaza, J. M.; Laguna, F.; Garcia-Iglesias, M. F.; Taboada, M. and Pinto, X. (2005b) Baseline levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and lipoprotein (a) and the AvaII polymorphism of the low-density lipoprotein receptor gene influence the response of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol to pravastatin treatment. *Metabolism* 54, 741-747.
- Lampe, J. W.; Bigler, J.; Horner, N. K. and Potter, J. D. (1999) UDPglucuronosyltransferase (UGT1A1\*28 and UGT1A6\*2) polymorphisms in Caucasians and Asians: relationships to serum bilinubin concentrations. *Pharmacogenetics* 9, 341-349.
- Lange, L. A.; Carlson, C. S.; Hindorff, L. A.; Lange, E. M.; Walston, J.; Durda, J. P.; Cushman, M.; Bis, J. C.; Zeng, D.; Lin, D.; Kuller, L. H.; Nickerson, D. A.; Psaty, B. M.; Tracy, R. P. and Reiner, A. P. (2006) Association of polymorphisms in the CRP gene with circulating C-reactive protein levels and cardiovascular events. JAMA 296, 2703-2711.
- Lee, C. G.; Chong, S. S. and Lee, E. J. D. (2004) Pharmacogenetics of the human MDR1 multidrug transporter. Curr. Pharmacogenomics 2, 1-11.
- Lee, E.; Ryan, S.; Birmingham, B.; Zalikowski, J.; March, R.; Ambrose, H.; Moore, R.; Lee, C.; Chen, Y. and Schneck, D. (2005) Rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics in white and Asian subjects residing in the same environment. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 78, 330-341.

Current Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, 2009, Vol. 7, No. 1 23

- Lee, S. S.; Jeong, H. E.; Yi, J. M.; Jung, H. J.; Jang, J. E.; Kim, E. Y.; Lee, S. J. and Shin, J. G. (2007) Identification and functional assessmen of BCRP polymorphisms in a Korean population. Drug Metab. Dispos. 35, 623-632.
- Leitersdorf, E.; Eisenberg, S.; Eliav, O.; Friedlander, Y.; Berkman, N.; Dann, E. J.; Landsberger, D.; Sehayek, E.; Meiner, V.; Wurm, M. and et al. (1993) Genetic determinants of responsiveness to the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor fluvastatin in patients with molecularly defined heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 87, 11135-11144.
- Li, A. P.; Kaminski, D. L. and Rasmussen, A. (1995) Substrates of human hepatic cytochrome P450 3A4. Toxicology 104, 1-8.
- Link, E.; Parish, S.; Armitage, J.; Bowman, L.; Heath, S.; Matsuda, F.; Gut, I.; Lathrop, M. and Collins, R. (2008) SLCO1B1 variants and statin-induced myopathy -- a genomewide study. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 789-799.
- Lutucuta, S.; Ballantyne, C. M.; Elghannam, H.; Gotto, A. M., Jr. and Marian, A. J. (2001) Novel polymorphisms in promoter region of atp binding cassette transporter gene and plasma lipids, severity, progression, and regression of coronary atherosclerosis and re-
- sponse to therapy. Circ. Res. 88, 969-973.
   Mackenzie, P. I.; Bock, K. W.; Burchell, B.; Guillemette, C.; Ikushiro, S.; Iyanagi, T.; Miners, J. O.; Owens, I. S. and Nebert, D. W. (2005) Nomenclature update for the mammalian UDP glycosyltransferase (UGT) gene superfamily. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 15, 677-685. Mahley, R. W. (1988) Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with
- expanding role in cell biology. Science 240, 622-630.
- Maitland-van der Zee, A. H.; Jukema, J. W.; Zwinderman, A. H.; Hallman, D. M.; De Boer, A.; Kastelein, J. J. and De Knijff, P. (2006) Apol-ipoprotein-E polymorphism and response to pravastatin in men with coronary artery disease (REGRESS). Acta. Cardiol. 61, 327-331.
- Malin, R.; Laaksonen, R.; Knuuti, J.; Janatuinen, T.; Vesalainen, R.; Nuutila, P. and Lehtimaki, T. (2001) Paraoxonase genotype modifies the effect of pravastatin on high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Pharmacogenetics 11, 625-633.
- Marzolini, C.; Paus, E.; Buclin, T. and Kim, R. B. (2004) Polymorphisms in human MDR1 (P-glycoprotein): recent advances and clinical rele-
- vance. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 75, 13-33.
  McCaskie, P. A.; Beilby, J. P.; Chapman, C. M.; Hung, J.; McQuillan, B. M.; Thompson, P. L. and Palmer, L. J. (2007) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene haplotypes, plasma high-density lipoprotein levels and the risk of coronary heart disease. Hum. Genet. 121, 401-411.
- Medina, M. W.; Gao, F.; Ruan, W.; Rotter, J. I. and Krauss, R. M. (2008) Alternative splicing of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase is associated with plasma low-density lipoprotein cholesterol response to simvastatin. Circulation 118, 355-362.
- Meyer, U. A. and Zanger, U. M. (1997) Molecular mechanisms of genetic polymorphisms of drug metabolism. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxi-col. 37, 269-96.
- Mizuarai, S.; Aozasa, N. and Kotani, H. (2004) Single nucleotide polymorphisms result in impaired membrane localization and reduced atpase activity in multidrug transporter ABCG2. Int. J. Cancer 109, 238-246.
- Mohrschladt, M. F.; van der Sman-de Beer, F.; Hofman, M. K.; van der Krabben, M.; Westendorp, R. G. and Smelt, A. H. (2005) TaqIB polymorphism in CETP gene: the influence on incidence of cardio-biyino prism in CETP gene: the influence of incidence of incidence of action-vascular disease in statin-treated patients with familial hypercholes-terolemia. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 13, 877-882.
   Morrison, A. C.; Bare, L. A.; Chambless, L. E.; Ellis, S. G.; Malloy, M.; Kane, J. P.; Pankow, J. S.; Devlin, J. J.; Willerson, J. T. and Boer-Control of the state of the state
- winkle, E. (2007) Prediction of coronary heart disease risk using a genetic risk score: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 166, 28-35.
- Muck, W.; Unger, S.; Kawano, K. and Ahr, G. (1998) Inter-ethnic comparisons of the pharmacokinetics of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor
- cerivastatin. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 45, 583-590. Mulder, A. B.; van Lijf, H. J.; Bon, M. A.; van den Bergh, F. A.; Touw, D. J.; Neef, C. and Vermes, I. (2001) Association of polymorphism in the cytochrome CYP2D6 and the efficacy and tolerability of simvastatin. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 70, 546-551. Mwinyi, J.; Kopke, K.; Schaefer, M.; Roots, I. and Gerloff, T. (2008) Com-
- parison of SLCOIB1 sequence variability among German, Turkish, and African populations. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 64, 257-266.

- Nagassaki, S.; Sertorio, J. T.; Metzger, I. F.; Bern, A. F.; Rocha, J. B. and Tanus-Santos, J. E. (2006) eNOS gene T-786C polymorphism modulates atorvastatin-induced increase in blood nitrite. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 41, 1044-1049.
- Nestel, P.; Simons, L.; Barter, P.; Clifton, P.; Colquhoun, D.; Hamilton-Craig, I.; Sikaris, K. and Sullivan, D. (1997) A comparative study of the efficacy of simvastatin and gemfibrozil in combined hyperlipoproteinemia: prediction of response by baseline lipids, apo E genotype, lipoprotein(a) and insulin. Atherosclerosis 129, 231-239.
- Neuvonen, P. J.; Niemi, M. and Backman, J. T. (2006) Drug interactions with lipid-lowering drugs; mechanisms and clinical relevance. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 80, 565-581.
- Niemi, M.; Neuvonen, P. J.; Hofmann, U.; Backman, J. T.; Schwab, M.; Lutjohann, D.; von Bergmann, K.; Eichelbaum, M. and Kivisto, K. T. (2005) Acute effects of pravastatin on cholesterol synthesis are associated with SLCO1B1 (encoding OATP1B1) haplotype \*17.
- Associated with SECOTST (encoding OATPTST) haplotype '17.
   Pharmacogenet. Genomics 15, 303-309.
   Niemi, M.; Arnold, K. A.; Backman, J. T.; Pasanen, M. K.; Godtel-Armbrust, U.; Wojnowski, L.; Zanger, U. M.; Neuvonen, P. J.; Eichelbaum, M.; Kivisto, K. T. and Lang, T. (2006) Association of genetic polymorphism in ABCC2 with hepatic multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 expression and pravastatin pharmacoki-metrics Difference Computing 16 2019 2020. netics. Pharmacogenet. Genomics 16, 801-808.
- Nishizato, Y.; leiri, I.; Suzuki, H.; Kimura, M.; Kawabata, K.; Hirota, T.; Takane, H.; Irie, S.; Kusuhara, H.; Urasaki, Y.; Urae, A.; Higuchi, S.; Otsubo, K. and Sugiyama, Y. (2003) Polymorphisms of OATP-C (SLC21A6) and OAT3 (SLC22A8) genes: consequences for
- pravastatin pharmacokinetics. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* **73**, 554-565. Noe, J.; Stieger, B. and Meier, P. J. (2002) Functional expression of the canalicular bile salt export pump of human liver. Gastroenterology 123, 1659-1666.
- Nordin, C.; Dahl, M. L.; Eriksson, M. and Sjoberg, S. (1997) Is the choles-terol-lowering effect of simvastatin influenced by CYP2D6 polymorphism? Lancet 350, 29-30.
- Nozawa, T.; Nakajima, M.; Tamai, I.; Noda, K.; Nezu, J.; Sai, Y.; Tsuji, A. and Yoko, T. (2002) Genetic polymorphisms of human organic an-ion transporters OATP-C (SLC21A6) and OATP-B (SLC21A9): allele frequencies in the Japanese population and functional analysis. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 302, 804-813.
   Nozawa, T.; Minami, H.; Sugiura, S.; Tsuji, A. and Tamai, I. (2005) Role of organic anion transporter OATP1B1 (OATP-C) in hepatic uptake
- of irinotecan and its active metabolite, 7-ethyl-10-hydroxycamptothecin: in vitro evidence and effect of single nucleotide polymorphisms. Drug Metab. Dispos. 33, 434-439.
- O'Malley, J. P. and Illingworth, D. R. (1990) The influence of apolipoprotein E phenotype on the response to lovastatin therapy in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. *Metabolism* 39, 150-154.
- O'Neill, F. H.; Patel, D. D.; Knight, B. L.; Neuwirth, C. K.; Bourbon, M.; Soutar, A. K.; Taylor, G. W.; Thompson, G. R. and Naoumova, R. P. (2001) Determinants of variable response to statin treatment in patients with refractory familial hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler.
- Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 21, 832-783.
   Ordovas, J. M.; Lopez-Miranda, J.; Perez-Jimenez, F.; Rodriguez, C.; Park, J. S.; Cole, T. and Schaefer, E. J. (1995) Effect of apolipoprotein E and A-IV phenotypes on the low density lipoprotein response to HMG CoA reductase inhibitor therapy. Atherosclerosis 113, 157-166.
- Ozawa, S.; Soyama, A.; Saeki, M.; Fukushima-Uesaka, H.; Itoda, M.; Koyano, S.; Sai, K.; Ohno, Y.; Saito, Y. and Sawada, J. (2004) Ethnic differences in genetic polymorphisms of CYP2D6, CYP2C19, CYP3As and MDR1/ABCB1. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet. 19, 83-95
- Palumbo, G.; Bacchi, S.; Palumbo, P.; Primavera, L. G. and Sponta, A. M. (2005) [Grapefruit juice: potential drug interaction]. Clin. Ther. 156, 97-103.
- Park, K. W.; Choi, J. H.; Kim, H. K.; Oh, S.; Chae, I. H.; Kim, H. S.; Oh, B. H.; Lee, M. M.; Park, Y. B. and Choi, Y. S. (2003) The association of cholesteryl ester transfer protein polymorphism with highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol and coronary artery disease in Kore-
- ans. Clin. Genet. 63, 31-38.
  Pasanen, M. K.; Backman, J. T.; Neuvonen, P. J. and Niemi, M. (2006a) Frequencies of single nucleotide polymorphisms and haplotypes of organic anion transporting polypeptide IBI SLCOIBI gene in a Finnish population. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 62, 409-415.

- Pasanen, M. K.; Neuvonen, M.; Neuvonen, P. J. and Niemi, M. (2006b) SLCOIB1 polymorphism markedly affects the pharmacokinetics of simvastatin acid. Pharmacogenet. Genomics 16, 873-889.
- Pasanen, M. K.; Fredrikson, H.; Neuvonen, P. J. and Niemi, M. (2007) Different effects of SLCOIBI polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 82, 726-733.
- Pasanen, M. K.; Neuvonen, P. J. and Niemi, M. (2008) Global analysis of genetic variation in SLCO1B1. Pharmacogenomics 9, 19-33
- Pedro-Botet, J.; Schaefer, E. J.; Bakker-Arkema, R. G.; Black, D. M.; Stein E. M.; Corella, D. and Ordovas, J. M. (2001) Apolipoprotein E genotype affects plasma lipid response to atorvastatin in a gender specific manner. Atherosclerosis 158, 183-193.
- Pena, R.; Lahoz, C.; Mostaza, J. M.; Jimenez, J.; Subirats, E.; Pinto, X.; Taboada, M. and Lopez-Pastor, A. (2002) Effect of apoE genotype on the hypolipidaemic response to pravastatin in an outpatient setting. J. Intern. Med. 251, 518-525.
- Pisciotta, L.; Fasano, T.; Bellocchio, A.; Bocchi, L.; Sallo, R.; Fresa, R.; Colangeli, I.; Cantafora, A.; Calandra, S. and Bertolini, S. (2007) Effect of ezetimibe coadministered with statins in genotypeconfirmed heterozygous FH patients. Atherosclerosis 194, e116e122.
- Po, A. L. (2007) Personalised medicine: who is an Asian? Lancet 369, 1770-1771.
- Prueksaritanont, T.; Gorham, L. M.; Ma, B.; Liu, L.; Yu, X.; Zhao, J. J.; Slaughter, D. E.; Arison, B. H. and Vyas, K. P. (1997) *In vitro* metabolism of simvastatin in humans [SBT]identification of metabolizing enzymes and effect of the drug on hepatic P450s. Drug Metab. Dispos. 25, 1191-1199.
- Prueksaritanont, T.; Ma, B.; Fang, X.; Subramanian, R.; Yu, J. and Lin, J. H. (2001) beta-Oxidation of simvastatin in mouse liver preparations. Drug Metab. Dispos. 29, 1251-1255.
- Prueksaritanont, T.; Subramaian, R.; Fang, X.; Ma, B.; Qiu, Y.; Lin, J. H.; Pearson, P. G. and Baillie, T. A. (2002a) Glucuronidation of statins in animals and humans: a novel mechanism of statin lactonization. Drug Metab. Dispos. 30, 505-512.
- Prueksaritanont, T.; Zhao, J. J.; Ma, B.; Roadcap, B. A.; Tang, C.; Qiu, Y.; Liu, L.; Lin, J. H.; Pearson, P. G. and Baillie, T. A. (2002b) Mechanistic studies on metabolic interactions between gemfibrozil
- and statins. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 301, 1042-1051. Prueksaritanont, T.; Ma, B. and Yu, N. (2003) The human hepatic metabo-lism of simvastatin hydroxy acid is mediated primarily by CYP3A,
- and not CYP2D6. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 56, 120-124. Puccetti, L.; Pasqui, A. L.; Pastorelli, M.; Ciani, F.; Palazzuoli, A.; Gioffre, W.; Auteri, A. and Bruni, F. (2005) 3'UTR/T polymorphism of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) is associated with modified anti-platelet activity of atorvastatin in hy-percholesterolemic subjects. Atherosclerosis 183, 322-328.
- Puccetti, L.; Pasqui, A. L.; Bruni, F.; Pastorelli, M.; Ciani, F.; Palazzuoli, A.; Pontani, A.; Ghezzi, A. and Auteri, A. (2007) Lectin-like oxi-dized-LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) polymorphisms influence cardiovascular events rate during statin treatment. Int. J. Cardiol. 119, 41-47.
- Remmler, C. and Cascorbi, I. (2008) Pharmacogenomics in acute coronary syndrome. Expert Opin. Pharmacother. 9, 363-376. Ridker, P. M. (2007) C-reactive protein and the prediction of cardiovascular
- events among those at intermediate risk: moving an inflammatory
- hypothesis toward consensus. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 49, 2129-2138. Ridker, P. M. and Cook, N. R. (2007) Biomarkers for prediction of cardio-
- Roberts, W. C. (1997) The rule of 5 and the rule of 7 in lipid-lowering by statin drugs. Am. J. Cardiol. 80, 106-107.
   Roy, J. N.; Lajoie, J.; Zijenah, L. S.; Barama, A.; Poirier, C.; Ward, B. J.
- Roy, J. N.; Lajole, J.; Zijenan, L. S.; Barama, A.; Poiner, C.; Ward, B. J. and Roger, M. (2005) CYP3A5 genetic polymorphisms in different ethnic populations. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 33, 884-887.
   Ruano, G.; Thompson, P. D.; Windemuth, A.; Seip, R. L.; Dande, A.; So-rokin, A.; Kocherla, M.; Smith, A.; Holford, T. R. and Wu, A. H.
- (2007) Physiogenomic association of statin-related myalgia to sero-tonin receptors. *Muscle Nerve* 36, 329-335.
   Sabatine, M. S.; Ploughman, L.; Simonsen, K. L.; Iakoubova, O. A.; Kirch-
- ciation between ADAMTS1 matrix metalloproteinase gene varia-

tion, coronary heart disease, and benefit of statin therapy. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 28, 562-567.

- Saito, Y.; Maekawa, K.; Ozawa, S. and Sawada, J. (2007) Genetic polymorphisms and haplotypes of major drug metabolizing enzymes in East Asians and their comparison with other ethnic populations. Curr. Pharmacogenomics 5, 49-78.
- Salek, L.; Lutucuta, S.; Ballantyne, C. M.; Gotto Jr, A. M. and Marian, A. J. (2002) Effects of SREBF-la and SCAP polymorphisms on plasma levels of lipids, severity, progression and regression of coronary atherosclerosis and response to therapy with fluvastatin. J. Mol. Med. 80, 737-744.
- Sandhu, M. S.; Waterworth, D. M.; Debenham, S. L.; Wheeler, E.; Papada-N. S., Waterwoht, D. M., Debennan, S. E., Wheter, E., Fapata-kis, K.; Zhao, J. H.; Song, K.; Yuan, X.; Johnson, T.; Ashford, S.; Inouye, M.; Luben, R.; Sims, M.; Hadley, D.; McArdle, W.; Barter, P.; Kesaniemi, Y. A.; Mahley, R. W.; McPherson, R.; Grundy, S. M.; Bingham, S. A.; Khaw, K. T.; Loos, R. J.; Waeber, G.; Barroso, I.; Strachan, D. P.; Deloukas, P.; Vollenweider, P.; Wareham, N. J. and Mooser, V. (2008) LDL-cholesterol concentrations: a ge-N. J. and Holdstrip, V. (2005) ED-conditions of the matching a go-nome-wide association study. *Lancet* 371, 483-491.
  Sanllehy, C.; Casals, E.; Rodriguez-Villar, C.; Zambon, D.; Ojuel, J.; Ball-
- esta, A. M. and Ros, E. (1998) Lack of interaction of apolipoprotein E phenotype with the lipoprotein response to lovastatin or gemfibrozil in patients with primary hypercholesterolemia. Metabolism 47, 560-565.
- Sata, F.; Sapone, A.; Elizondo, G.; Stocker, P.; Miller, V. P.; Zheng, W.; Raunio, H.; Crespi, C. L. and Gonzalez, F. J. (2000) CYP3A4 allelic variants with amino acid substitutions in exons 7 and 12: evidence for an allelic variant with altered catalytic activity. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 67, 48-56.
  Schmitz, G. and Langmann, T. (2006) Pharmacogenomics of cholesterol-lowering therapy. Vascul. Pharmacol. 44, 75-89.
- Schmitz, G.; Schmitz-Madry, A. and Ugocsai, P. (2007) Pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics of cholesterol-lowering therapy. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 18, 164-173.
- Schwarz, U. I. (2003) Clinical relevance of genetic polymorphisms in the
- human CYP2C9 gene. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 33(Suppl 2), 23-30. Shiffman, D.; Chasman, D. I.; Zee, R. Y.; Iakoubova, O. A.; Louie, J. Z.; Devlin, J. J. and Ridker, P. M. (2008) A kinesin family member 6 variant is associated with coronary heart disease in the Women's Health Study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51, 444-448. Shitara, Y.; Hirano, M.; Sato, H. and Sugiyama, Y. (2004) Gemfibrozil and
- (OATP2/OATP1B1:SLC21A6)-mediated hepatic uptake and CYP2C8-mediated metabolism of cerivastatin: analysis of the mechanism of the clinically relevant drug-drug interaction between cerivastatin and gemfibrozil. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 311, 228-236.
- Shitara, Y. and Sugiyama, Y. (2006) Pharmacokinetic and pharmacody-namic alterations of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors: drug-drug interactions and interindividual differences in transporter and metabolic enzyme functions. Pharmacol. Ther. 112, 71-105.
- Siest, G.; Marteau, J. B.; Maumus, S.; Berrahmoune, H.; Jeannesson, E.; Samara, A.; Batt, A. M. and Visvikis-Siest, S. (2005) Pharmacoge-nomics and cardiovascular drugs: need for integrated biological system with phenotypes and proteomic markers. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 527, 1-22.
- Sijbrands, E. J.; Lombardi, M. P.; Westendorp, R. G.; Leuven, J. A.; Meinders, A. E.; Van der Laarse, A.; Frants, R. R.; Havekes, L. M. and Smelt, A. H. (1998) Similar response to simvastatin in patients heterozygous for familial hypercholesterolemia with mRNA negative and mRNA positive mutations. Atherosclerosis 136, 247-254. Simonson, S. G.; Raza, A.; Martin, P. D.; Mitchell, P. D.; Jarcho, J. A.;
- Brown, C. D.; Windass, A. S. and Schneck, D. W. (2004) Rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics in heart transplant recipients administered an antirejection regimen including cyclosporine. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 76, 167-177.
- Singer, J. B.; Holdaas, H.; Jardine, A. G.; Fellstrom, B.; Os, I.; Bermann, G. and Meyer, J. M. (2007) Genetic analysis of fluvastatin response and dyslipidemia in renal transplant recipients. J. Lipid Res. 48, 2072-2078.
- Sinues, B.; Vicente, J.; Fanlo, A.; Vasquez, P.; Medina, J. C.; Mayayo, E.; Conde, B.; Arenaz, I. and Martinez-Jarreta, B. (2007) CYP3A5\*3 and CYP3A4\*1B allele distribution and genotype combinations:

differences between Spaniards and Central Americans. Ther. Drug Monit. 29, 412-416.

- Soutar, A. K. and Naoumova, R. P. (2007) Mechanisms of disease: genetic causes of familial hypercholesterolemia. Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med. 4, 214-225
- Souza-Costa, D. C.; Sandrim, V. C.; Lopes, L. F.; Gerlach, R. F.; Rego, E. M. and Tanus-Santos, J. E. (2007) Anti-inflammatory effects of atorvastatin: modulation by the T-786C polymorphism in the endo-
- thelial nitric oxide synthase gene. Alherosclerosis 193, 438-444. Staud, F. and Pavek, P. (2005) Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ ABCG2). Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 37, 720-725.
- Suchy, F. J. and Ananthanarayanan, M. (2006) Bile salt excretory pump: biology and pathobiology. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 43 (Suppl 1), S10-S16.
- Suk, H. J.; Ridker, P. M.; Cook, N. R. and Zee, R. Y. (2005) Relation of Suk, H. S., Kuker, F. W., Cook, N. K. and Zee, K. T. (2003) Relation of polymorphism within the C-reactive protein gene and plasma CRP levels. Atherosclerosis 178, 139-145.
   Sun, X. M.; Patel, D. D.; Knight, B. L. and Soutar, A. K. (1998) Influence of genotype at the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor gene lo-
- cus on the clinical phenotype and response to lipid-lowering drug therapy in heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. The Fa-milial Hypercholesterolaemia Regression Study Group. Atherosclerosis 136, 175-185.
- Tachibana-Iimori, R.; Tabara, Y.; Kusuhara, H.; Kohara, K.; Kawamoto, R.; Nakura, J.; Tokunaga, K.; Kondo, I.; Sugiyama, Y. and Miki, T. (2004) Effect of genetic polymorphism of OATP-C (SLCO1B1) on lipid-lowering response to HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet. 19, 375-380. Takahashi-Yasuno, A.; Masuzaki, H.; Miyawaki, T.; Ogawa, Y.; Matsuoka,
- N.; Hayashi, T.; Hosoda, K.; Inoue, G.; Yoshimasa, Y. and Nakao, K. (2003) Leptin receptor polymorphism is associated with serum lipid levels and impairment of cholesterol lowering effect by simvastatin in Japanese men. Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract. 62, 169-175.
- Tang, K.; Ngoi, S. M.; Gwee, P. C.; Chua, J. M.; Lee, E. J.; Chong, S. S. and Lee, C. G. (2002) Distinct haplotype profiles and strong link-age disequilibrium at the MDR1 multidrug transporter gene locus in three ethnic Asian populations. *Pharmacogenetics* **12**, 437-450.
- Tang, W. and Stearns, R. A. (2001) Heterotropic cooperativity of cyto-chrome P450 3A4 and potential drug-drug interactions. *Curr. Drug* Metab. 2, 185-198.
- Tavintharan, S.; Lim, S. C.; Chan, Y. H. and Sum, C. F. (2007) Apolipoprotein E genotype affects the response to lipid-lowering therapy in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Obes. Me*tab. 9, 81-86.
- Thompson, J. F.; Man, M.; Johnson, K. J.; Wood, L. S.; Lira, M. E.; Lloyd, D. B.; Banerjee, P.; Milos, P. M.; Myrand, S. P.; Paulauskis, J.; Mi-lad, M. A. and Sasiela, W. J. (2005) An association study of 43 SNPs in 16 candidate genes with atorvastatin response. Pharmacogenomics J. 5, 352-358.
- Tirona, R. G.; Leake, B. F.; Merino, G. and Kim, R. B. (2001) Polymor-phisms in OATP-C: identification of multiple allelic variants associated with altered transport activity among European- and African-Americans. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 35669-35675. Tirona, R. G. (2005) Ethnic differences in statin disposition. Clin. Pharma-
- col. Ther. 78, 311-316.
- Tomlinson, B.; Chan, P. and Lan, W. (2001) How well tolerated are lipid-lowering drugs? *Drugs Aging* 18, 665-683.
   Tomlinson, B.; Hu, M. and Lee, V. W. Y. (2008) *In vivo* assessment of herb drug interactions: Possible utility of a pharmacogenetic approach?
- Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 52, 799-809. Trompet, S.; Pons, D.; De Craen, A. J.; Slagboom, P.; Shepherd, J.; Blauw, G. J.; Murphy, M. B.; Cobbe, S. M.; Boilen, E. L.; Buckley, B. M.; Ford, I.; Hyland, M.; Gaw, A.; Macfarlane, P. W.; Packard, C. J.; Norrie, J.; Perry, I. J.; Stott, D. J.; Sweeney, B. J.; Twomey, C.; Westendorp, R. G. and Jukema, J. W. (2007) Genetic variation in the interleukin-10 gene promoter and risk of coronary and cere-brovascular events: the PROSPER study. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1100. 189-198.
- Tsai, M. Y.; Johnson, C.; Kao, W. H.; Sharrett, A. R.; Arends, V. L.; Kronmal, R.; Jenny, N. S.; Jacobs, D. R., Jr.; Arnett, D.; O'Leary, D. and Post, W. (2008) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein genetic polymorphisms, HDL cholesterol, and subclinical cardiovascular disease in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 200(2), 359-367.

- Tukey, R. H. and Strassburg, C. P. (2000) Human UDP-glucuronosyltransferases: metabolism, expression, and disease. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 40, 581-616.
- van Helvoort, A.; Smith, A. J.; Sprong, H.; Fritzsche, I.; Schinkel, A. H.; Borst, P. and van Meer, G. (1996) MDR1 P-glycoprotein is a lipid translocase of broad specificity, while MDR3 P-glycoprotein spe-cifically translocates phosphatidylcholine. Cell 87, 507-517.
- van Venrooij, F. V.; Stolk, R. P.; Banga, J. D.; Sijmonsma, T. P.; van Tol, A.; Erkelens, D. W. and Dallinga-Thie, G. M. (2003) Common cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene polymorphisms and the effect of atorvastatin therapy in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 26, 1216-1223.
- Varret, M.; Abifadel, M.; Rabes, J. P. and Boileau, C. (2008) Genetic het-erogeneity of autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. *Clin. Genet.* 73, 1-13.
- Vohl, M. C.; Szots, F.; Lelievre, M.; Lupien, P. J.; Bergeron, J.; Gagne, C. and Couture, P. (2002) Influence of LDL receptor gene mutation and apo E polymorphism on lipoprotein response to simvastatin treatment among adolescents with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Atherosclerosis 160, 361-368.
- von Richter, O.; Burk, O.; Fromm, M. F.; Thon, K. P.; Eichelbaum, M. and Kivisto, K. T. (2004) Cytochrome P450 3A4 and P-glycoprotein expression in human small intestinal enterocytes and hepatocytes: a comparative analysis in paired tissue specimens. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 75, 172-183.
- Wang, A.; Yu, B. N.; Luo, C. H.; Tan, Z. R.; Zhou, G.; Wang, L. S.; Zhang, W.; Li, Z.; Liu, J. and Zhou, H. H. (2005) Ile118Val genetic poly morphism of CYP3A4 and its effects on lipid-lowering efficacy of simvastatin in Chinese hyperlipidemic patients. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 60, 843-848.
- Wang, D. and Sadee, W. (2006) Searching for polymorphisms that affect gene expression and mRNA processing: example ABCB1 (MDR1). Aaps. J. 8, E515-E520.
- Watanabe, H.; Kosuge, K.; Nishio, S.; Yamada, H.; Uchida, S.; Satoh, H.; Hayashi, H.; Ishizaki, T. and Ohashi, K. (2004) Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic interactions between simvastatin and diltiazem in patients with hypercholesterolemia and hypertension. Life Sci. 76, 281-292.
- Watanabe, J.; Kobayashi, K.; Umeda, F.; Yamauchi, T.; Mimura, K.; Naka-shima, N.; Masakado, M.; Hiramatsu, S. and Nawata, H. (1993) Apolipoprotein E polymorphism affects the response to pravastatin on plasma apolipoproteins in diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* **20**, 21-27.
- Willer, C. J.; Sanna, S.; Jackson, A. U.; Scuteri, A.; Bonnycastle, L. L.; Clarke, R.; Heath, S. C.; Timpson, N. J.; Najjar, S. S.; Stringham, H. M.; Strait, J.; Duren, W. L.; Maschio, A.; Busonero, F.; Mulas, A.; Albai, G.; Swift, A. J.; Morken, M. A.; Narisu, N.; Bennett, D.; Parish, S.; Shen, H.; Galan, P.; Meneton, P.; Hercberg, S.; Ze-heriba, S. Char, W. M. M. M.; Scarth, M. B. Sanda, S. S.; Stringham, M. S.; Shen, H.; Galan, P.; Meneton, P.; Hercberg, S.; Ze-heriba, S.; Shen, H.; Galan, S.; Meneton, P.; Hercberg, S.; Ze-heriba, S.; Shen, H.; Galan, S.; Meneton, S.; Se-heriba, S.; Shen, H.; Galan, S.; Shen, H.; Galan, S.; Shen, S.; Se-heriba, S.; Shen, S.; Shen, S.; Shen, S.; Se-heriba, S.; Shen, S.; Shen, S.; Shen, Shen, Shen, Shen, Shen, Shen, Shen, S Janka, D.; Chen, W. M.; Li, Y.; Scott, L. J.; Scheet, P. A.; Sund-vall, J.; Watanabe, R. M.; Nagaraja, R.; Ebrahim, S.; Lawlor, D. A.; Ben-Shlomo, Y.; Davey-Smith, G.; Shuldiner, A. R.; Collins, R; Bergman, R. N.; Uda, M.; Tuomilehto, J.; Cao, A.; Collins, F. S.; Lakatta, E.; Lathrop, G. M.; Boehnke, M.; Schlessinger, D.; Mohlke, K. L. and Abecasis, G. R. (2008) Newly identified loci that influence lipid concentrations and risk of coronary artery disease. Nat. Genet. 40, 161-169.
- Winkelmann, B. R.; Hoffmann, M. M.; Nauck, M.; Kumar, A. M.; Nanda-balan, K.; Judson, R. S.; Boehm, B. O.; Tall, A. R.; Ruano, G. and Marz, W. (2003) Haplotypes of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene predict lipid-modifying response to statin therapy. Phar-macogenomics J. 3, 284-296.
- Xie, H. G.; Kim, R. B.; Wood, A. J. and Stein, C. M. (2001) Molecular basis of ethnic differences in drug disposition and response. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 41, 815-850. Yeo, K. R.; Yeo, W. W.; Wallis, E. J. and Ramsay, L. E. (1999) Enhanced
- cholesterol reduction by simvastatin in diltiazem-treated patients.
- Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 48, 610-615.
  Zamber, C. P.; Lamba, J. K.; Yasuda, K.; Farnum, J.; Thummel, K.; Schuetz, J. D. and Schuetz, E. G. (2003) Natural allelic variants of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) and their relationship to BCRP expression in human intestine. *Pharmacogenetics* 13, 19-28. Zambon, A.; Deeb, S. S.; Brown, B. G.; Hokanson, J. E. and Brunzell, J. D.
- (2001) Common hepatic lipase gene promoter variant determines clinical response to intensive lipid-lowering treatment. Circulation 103. 792-798.

Zanger, U. M.; Raimundo, S. and Eichelbaum, M. (2004) Cytochrome P450

Zanger, U. M.; Raimundo, S. and Eichelbaum, M. (2004) Cytochrome P450 2D6: overview and update on pharmacology, genetics, biochemistry. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 369, 23-37.
Zhang, W.; Yu, B. N.; He, Y. J.; Fan, L.; Li, Q.; Liu, Z. Q.; Wang, A.; Liu, Y. L.; Tan, Z. R.; Fen, J.; Huang, Y. F. and Zhou, H. H. (2006) Role of BCRP 421C>A polymorphism on rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy Chinese males. Clin. Chim. Acta. 373, 99-103.
Zhang, W.; Chen, B. L.; Ozdemir, V.; He, Y. J.; Zhou, G.; Peng, D. D.; Deng, S.; Xie, Q. Y.; Xie, W.; Xu, L. Y.; Wang, L. C.; Fan, L.;

Received: June 18, 2008

Revised: November 4, 2008

Accepted: December 1, 2008

Hu et al.

Wang, A. and Zhou, H. H. (2007) SLCO1B1 521T-->C functional genetic polymorphism and lipid-lowering efficacy of multiple-dose pravastatin in Chinese coronary heart disease patients. Br. J. Clin.

pravastatin in Chinese coronary heart disease patients. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 64, 346-352.
Zuccaro, P.; Mombelli, G.; Calabresi, L.; Baldassarre, D.; Palmi, I. and Sirtori, C. R. (2007) Tolerability of statins is not linked to CYP450 polymorphisms, but reduced CYP2D6 metabolism improves cho-lesteraemic response to simvastatin and fluvastatin. Pharmacol. Res. 55, 310-317.

## ABCG2 Polymorphism Is Associated With the Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Response to Rosuvastatin

B Tomlinson<sup>1</sup>, M Hu<sup>1</sup>, VWY Lee<sup>2</sup>, SSH Lui<sup>1</sup>, TTW Chu<sup>1</sup>, EWM Poon<sup>1</sup>, GTC Ko<sup>1,3</sup>, L Baum<sup>2</sup>, LS Tam<sup>1</sup> and EK Li<sup>1</sup>

The ATP-binding cassette G2 (*ABCG2*) c.421C>A (rs2231142) polymorphism influences the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin. We examined whether this polymorphism influences the low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C)-lowering efficacy of the drug. In 305 Chinese patients with hypercholesterolemia who were treated with rosuvastatin at a dosage of 10 mg daily, the c.421A variant was found to be significantly associated with greater reduction in LDL-C level, in a gene-dose-dependent manner. As compared with subjects with the c.421CC genotype, those with the c.421AA genotype showed a 6.9% greater reduction in LDL-C level, which would be equivalent to the effect obtained by doubling the dose of rosuvastatin.

The extent of reduction in the level of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) in response to doses of any of the hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors or statins varies widely between individuals, partly because of genetic differences.<sup>1</sup> A more intensive reduction in LDL-C level with the use of statins is associated with greater reduction in cardiovascular events in a wide range of subject groups;<sup>2</sup> however, there is potential for a concomitant increase in the risk of toxicity, and therefore optimizing the choice of statin and dose for an individual patient may have beneficial effects.

Rosuvastatin is one of the few drugs for which regulatory authorities, including the US Food and Drug Administration, have recommended starting with lower doses (5 mg instead of 10 mg) in Asian patients.<sup>3</sup> This recommendation was based on data from single-dose pharmacokinetic studies that showed that systemic exposure to rosuvastatin was approximately twice as high in Asians as in non-Asians.<sup>4</sup> These differences are unlikely to be due to ethnicity-related variations in drug metabolizing enzymes, given that rosuvastatin undergoes relatively little enzymic modification and is a substrate for a number of drug transporters that influence its disposition.<sup>5,6</sup>

The efflux transporter ATP-binding cassette G2 (ABCG2) plays a significant role in the disposition of rosuvastatin *in vitro*.<sup>7</sup> The c.421C>A (rs2231142, Gln141Lys) single-nucleotide polymorphism of *ABCG2* influences the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in Chinese and Caucasian subjects.<sup>8,9</sup> We examined whether this *ABCG2* single-nucleotide polymorphism influences the reduction of LDL-C levels when rosuvastatin is administered to Chinese patients with hypercholesterolemia, including some with familial hypercholesterolemia (FH).

## RESULTS

## **Characteristics of participants**

The frequency of the c.421A variant allele in 305 Han Chinese subjects with hypercholesterolemia who showed good adherence to the treatment regimen was 30.5%. This is similar to the prevalence previously reported among other Asians.<sup>10</sup> The genotype distribution was consistent with Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. The baseline characteristics and lipid profiles after rosuvastatin treatment, stratified by *ABCG2* c.421C>A genotypes, are shown in **Table 1**. Rosuvastatin was well tolerated by all the participants; none had clinically relevant elevations in creatine kinase, alanine aminotransferase, or creatinine, and no muscle problems were observed.

## Association between ABCG2 c.421C>A polymorphism and lipid responses

There were significant differences (overall P = 0.0006) in the percentage reductions in LDL-C level between c.421C>A

Received 25 August 2009; accepted 30 September 2009; advance online publication 3 February 2010. doi:10.1038/clpt.2009.232

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Prince of Wales Hospital, Shatin, Hong Kong; <sup>2</sup>School of Pharmacy, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong; <sup>3</sup>Hong Kong Institute of Diabetes and Obesity, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong, Correspondence: B Tomlinson (btomlinson@cuhk.edu.hk)

	ABCG2 c.421C>A					
	All genotypes (n = 305)	c.421CC (n = 158)	c.421CA (n = 108)	c.421AA (n = 39)	P value <sup>a</sup>	
Characteristics			·····			
Age (years)	56.7±11.3	56.8±12.3	57.2±9.9	55.0±0.9	0.91	
Male, n (%)	139 (45.6)	77 (48.7)	45 (41.7)	17 (43.6)	0.51	
Body weight (kg)	65.1±13.7	65.1 ± 14.0	64.4 ± 14.0	67.2±11.5	0.32	
Body height (m)	1.59±0.09	1.59±0.09	1.59±0.08	1.60 ± 0.08	0.81	
Body mass index (kg/m²)	25.4±4.2	25.5 ± 4.1	25.1 ± 4.4	26.1 ± 3.7	0.17	
Waist circumference (cm)	87.1 ± 11.0	87.0±11.5	86.6±11.6	89.1 ± 11.2	0.93	
Hip circumference (cm)	97.9±7.6	97.7±7.9	97.5±7.6	99.8±6.7	0.07	
Waist/hip ratio	0.89±0.08	0.89±0.08	0.89±0.07	0.89±0.08	0.92	
Body fat (%)	30.5±8.6	30.0±8.2	30.9±8.8	31.2±9.4	0.59	
FH, n (%)	137 (44.9)	67 (42.4)	51 (46.3)	20 (51.3)	0.57	
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	94 (30.8)	55 (34.8)	30 (27.8)	9 (23.1)	0.25	
Hypertension, n (%)	166 (54.4)	90 (57.0)	57 (52.8)	19 (48.7)	0.59	
Current drinker, n (%) <sup>b</sup>	28 (9.6)	18 (11.9)	5 (4.9)	5 (12.8)	0.14	
Current smoker, n (%) <sup>b</sup>	29 (9.9)	13 (8.6)	11 (10.8)	5 (12.8)	0.69	
Baseline lipid levels (mmol/l)						
Total cholesterol	7.68 ± 1.62	7.64 ± 1.54	7.69±1.83	7.77±1.35	0.71	
LDL-C	5.51 ± 3.87	5.70±5.14	5.30±1.77	5.33±1.29	0.60	
HDL-C	1.52 ± 0.40	1.48±0.37	1.56±0.43	1.56±0.43	0.30	
Triglycerides	1.88±0.89	1.88±0.91	1.84±0.87	1.93±0.87	0.86	
Lipid levels on treatment (mmol/l)						
Total cholesterol	4.69 ± 1.04	4.80 ± 1.05	4.57 ± 1.06	4.56 ± 0.89	0.09	
LDL-C	2.52 ± 0.94	2.64±0.94	2.42 ± 0.99	2.31±0.77	0.023	
HDL-C	1.54±0.41	1.52 ± 0.40	1.56 ± 0.42	1.58±0.44	0.73	
Triglycerides	1.38±0.63	1.41 ± 0.62	1.31 ± 0.61	1.48±0.74	0.38	

#### Table 1 Characteristics and lipid profiles of patients stratified by ABCG2 c.421C>A genotype

Data are given as mean  $\pm$  SD or n (%).

ANOVA, analysis of variance; FH, familial hypercholesterolemia; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

<sup>3</sup>Significance determined by ANOVA or Kruskal–Wallis test for continuous variables with normal or non-normal distribution, respectively, or by  $\chi^2$  test for categorical characteristics. <sup>b</sup>Data missing for 13 patients, with 7 in CC and 6 in CA.

genotype groups, with a gene-dose effect observed (Figure 1). Patients with the c.421AA genotype had a 6.9% greater reduction in LDL-C level than did those with the c.421CC genotype; c.421CA heterozygote subjects had intermediate values after adjusting for age, gender, presence of FH, and baseline LDL-C level (Table 2). This polymorphism accounted for 5.4% of the interindividual variance in LDL-C response to rosuvastatin. The significant association of the *ABCG2* c.421C>A polymorphism with lipid responses to rosuvastatin remained even when the data from FH and non-FH patient subgroups were analyzed separately. The magnitude of the difference in LDL-C response among the genotype groups was similar for FH and non-FH patient subgroups (Table 2).

The percentage reduction in total cholesterol showed a similar pattern, with 4.1 and 3.2% greater reduction in total cholesterol in c.421AA subjects and c.421CA subjects, respectively, than in c.421CC subjects. No significant differences were found among the genotype groups with regard to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and triglyceride responses (Table 2).

## Findings in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with rosuvastatin

In the group of 36 patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA), the mean age was  $53.6 \pm 5.9$  years, and 25 (75%) of them were women. The frequency of the c.421A variant allele in patients with RA was 41.7%, and the genotype distribution was in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. The baseline lipids in this group of patients were lower than in the patients with hypercholesterolemia (except for high-density lipoprotein cholesterol), but the percentage changes in lipids after administration of rosuvastatin to this group with RA were similar to the results of the main study, and subjects with the *ABCG2* c.421C>A variant allele showed a higher percentage of reduction in levels of LDL-C, total cholesterol, and triglycerides than did subjects with c.421CC (Table 2).

	% Change	c.421CC (n = 158)	c.421CA (n = 108)	c.421AA (n = 39)	<i>P</i> value <sup>a</sup>
All hypercholesterolemic	LDL-C	-50.2 (-52.0, -48.4)	-54.3 (-56.5, -52.1)	-57.0 (-60.6, -53.4)	0.0006
patients combined	тс	-36.9 (-38.2, -35.6)	-40.1 (-41.7, -38.5)	-41.0 (-43.7, -38.4)	0.0016
	HDL-C	2.8 (0.8, 4.9)	0.6 (-1.8, 3.0)	2.2 (-1.9, 6.2)	0.372
	TG <sup>b</sup>	-26.5 (-39.4, -2.6)	-28.9 (-40.1, -15.2)	-17.6 (-41.7, 6.2)	0.434
FH patients		(n=67)	( <i>n</i> = 50)	(n = 20)	P value <sup>a</sup>
	LDL-C	-48.8 (-51.2, -46.4)	-53.5 (-56.3, -50.7)	-55.4 (-59.9, -50.9)	0.009
	тс	-37.4 (-39.3, -35.5)	-41.8 (-44.0, -39.6)	-41.7 (-45.2, -38.3)	0.0056
	HDL-C	6.2 (3.1, 9.3)	-2.5 (-6.1, 1.0)	1.4 (-4.4, 7.1)	0.002
	TG <sup>b</sup>	-27.3 (-40.0, -10.0)	-29.4 (-37.0, -16.5)	-24.4 (-38.2, 0.0)	0.767
Non-FH patients		(n=91)	(n = 58)	(n = 19)	Pvalueª
	LDL-C	-51.3 (-53. 9, -48.7)	-54.8 (-58.0, -51.5)	-58.7 (-64.4, -53.1)	0.038
	тс	-36.4 (-38.3, -34.5)	-38.6 (-40.9, -36.2)	-40.8 (45.0,36.7)	0.099
	HDL-C	0.6 (-1.9, 3.2)	3.0 (~0.2, 6.2)	2.8 (-2.8, 8.4)	0.49
	TG <sup>b</sup>	-24.8 (-38.0, 3.6)	-27.9 (-44.9, -14.9)	-12.5 (-44.2, 10.0)	0.399
RA patients		( <i>n</i> = 14)	(n = 14)	(n = 8)	P value <sup>c</sup>
	LDL-C	-47.8±11.3	-49.6±13.0	$-60.9 \pm 9.1$	0.022
	тс	-28.6 ± 8.2	-33.5 ± 8.9	-39.7±8.9	0.041
	HDL-C <sup>b</sup>	-6.9 (-8.8, 7.7)	-9.9 (-20.0, 6.6)		0.52
	TG <sup>b</sup>	-9.2 (-19.9, -9.2)	-19.6 (-40.6, 0.0)	-31.0 (-38.7, -20.9)	0.006

Table 2 Association of lipid responses to rosuvastatin 10 mg/day treatment and ABCG2 c.421C>A genotype

Data are given as least-square mean (95% confidence interval) or mean ± SD except as noted.

ANCOVA, analysis of covariance; ANOVA, analysis of variance; FH, familial hypercholesterolemia; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; CLL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides.

<sup>a</sup>Overall significance determined by ANCOVA, including age, gender, presence of FH (in all participants combined only), and baseline lipid level as covariates for percentage change in TC, LDL-C, and HDL-C from baseline, and by Kruskal–Wallis test for percentage change in TG from baseline, respectively. <sup>b</sup>Median (interquartile range). <sup>c</sup>Significance as determined by ANOVA or Kruskal–Wallis test for continuous variables with normal and non-normal distribution, respectively.

## DISCUSSION

The finding that there is greater reduction in LDL-C level in subjects with the ABCG2 c.421AA genotype is consistent with the data from pharmacokinetics studies in Chinese and Caucasian subjects that showed approximately twice the level of systemic exposure to rosuvastatin in subjects with at least one c.421A allele as compared with those with the c.421CC genotype.8,9 The c.421A allele results in lower expression levels of the ABCG2 efflux transporter protein and a reduced ability to export substrate, leading to an increase in drug accumulation both in hepatocytes and in the systemic circulation.<sup>11</sup> In a recent pharmacokinetics study with rosuvastatin, c.421A heterozygote and c.421A homozygote subjects were found to have area under the curve values 22 and 144% higher, respectively, than those for c.421CC homozygote subjects.<sup>8,9</sup> Because rosuvastatin shows dose-linear pharmacokinetics,<sup>12</sup> the plasma concentrations achieved in c.421AA homozygote subjects would be equivalent to having received at least double the dose received by c.421CC homozygote subjects. The high frequency of the c.421A allele in Chinese and Japanese populations (~35%) as compared with Caucasians (14%) suggests that this polymorphism contributes to the variation between populations in the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin and potentially to the treatment outcomes of rosuvastatin.13

Although the average plasma exposure of rosuvastatin in Asians was twofold greater than that in Caucasians, the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin—or other statins, for that matter have not been shown to be different between Asian and Western populations.<sup>14</sup> A study of rosuvastatin at a dosage of 10 mg daily administered to Asian subjects found that the reduction in LDL-C level in 515 evaluable patients was 47.5%, which is similar to data from studies in Caucasians.<sup>15,16</sup> It may be difficult to identify ethnicity-related differences in the lipid response to statins, because doubling the dose of a statin typically only reduces the LDL-C level by a further 6% from the original baseline, and many other variables influence the lipid responses.<sup>17</sup>

The disposition of various statins is influenced to a variable extent by the ABCG2 c.421C>A polymorphism. The effect was found to be greater with rosuvastatin than with atorvastatin,<sup>8</sup> and there was no significant effect on the pharmacokinetics of pravastatin and pitavastatin.<sup>18,19</sup> Some substrates of ABCG2, such as imatinib and gefitinib, have also been reported to be inhibitors of this transporter.<sup>20</sup> It is still unclear whether these substrate statins could influence the activity of ABCG2. The *ABCG2* c.421C>A polymorphism might also have a direct influence on cardiovascular risk; in a recent genome-wide association study, this was found to be one of three loci associated with increased serum uric acid concentrations.<sup>21</sup>

The c.521T>C polymorphism in the uptake transporter gene *SLCO1B1* is associated with increased systemic exposure to rosuvastatin;<sup>22,23</sup> however, in a study carried out in Singapore,


**Figure 1** Percentage change in LDL-C level from baseline after rosuvastatin 10 mg/day treatment, stratified by *ABCG2* c.421C>A genotypes, in 305 patients with good adherence to the treatment regimen. Box and whisker plots with median, interquartile range, bar indicating 95% confidence interval, and circles indicating outliers. *ABCG2*, ATP-binding cassette G2; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

this single-nucleotide polymorphism and associated haplotypes (\*5 and \*15) did not explain the differences in rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics between different ethnic groups.<sup>24</sup> Decreased activity of this transporter may result in reduced statin efficacy because less of the drug enters the hepatocytes, but plasma concentrations would be increased, thereby increasing the risk of muscle toxicity.<sup>6,25</sup> Indeed, a genome-wide scan for genetic markers for increased risk of myopathy associated with highdose simvastatin yielded a single strong association with a noncoding SLCO1B1 single-nucleotide polymorphism that was in nearly complete linkage disequilibrium with c.521T>C. The latter was also associated with a decrease in the reduction of LDL-C level, despite the presumed increase in plasma levels of the drug.<sup>26</sup> Further studies are warranted to examine whether variants in this transporter and other candidate genes related to statin pharmacokinetics would affect the lipid response.

We considered it reasonable to combine data from subjects with and without FH. Although it has previously been suggested that subjects with heterozygous FH might show differing responses to statins depending on the type of mutation in the LDL receptor, there have been no consistent data to support this view.<sup>27,28</sup> In the present study, the percentage changes in lipids were not significantly different between patients with and without FH, although the baseline values of LDL-C and highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol were higher in the FH patients. Furthermore, the significant effect of this polymorphism on the lipid response to rosuvastatin was observed in both subgroups separately.

To our knowledge, this study is the first to demonstrate the association between the ABCG2 c.421C>A polymorphism and the lipid response to rosuvastatin in Asians. The association of the ABCG2 c.421C>A polymorphism and lipid response to rosuvastatin in the small number of RA subjects suggests a

CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY & THERAPEUTICS | VOLUME 87 NUMBER 5 | MAY 2010

robust effect. A recent study in Caucasian patients with acute coronary syndrome, published as an abstract, reported similar findings. It showed that the *ABCG2* c.421C>A polymorphism was related to the plasma LDL-C concentration after 3 months of treatment with rosuvastatin at a dosage of 10 mg daily.<sup>29</sup> Patients with one or two c.421A variant alleles achieved significantly lower mean LDL-C levels than did individuals with c.421CC (1.78 vs. 1.98 mmol/l; P = 0.012), which was similar to our findings (Table 1). This independent study in Caucasians, in whom the frequency of the c.421A variant allele was only 12%, supports our findings and emphasizes the importance of this variant in the lipid response to rosuvastatin in different ethnic groups with different frequencies of the polymorphism.

In conclusion, the *ABCG2* c.421C>A polymorphism plays an important role in LDL-C response to rosuvastatin in Chinese subjects. The greater reduction in LDL-C level in patients with the c.421AA genotype as compared with those with the c.421CC genotype was equivalent to at least doubling the dose of rosuvastatin. This polymorphism is likely to play a major role in the ethnicity-related differences observed in rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics, given the high frequency of the A allele in Chinese and other East Asian populations. Also, these pharmacokinetic differences are likely to correspond to differences in efficacy of reduction in LDL-C levels. Future analyses of clinical outcome studies are warranted to identify whether genetic variations influencing the lipid response to statins can be translated into differences in the actual clinical outcome response to this class of medications.

## METHODS

Study design. The patients recruited were of Han Chinese origin, aged ≥18 years, who were considered to be at increased risk of coronary heart disease, or who had FH and baseline LDL-Clevel >2.6 mmol/l, and were being treated or were about to be treated with rosuvastatin at a dosage of 10 mg daily. The diagnosis of FH was made on the basis of clinical criteria appropriate for Chinese subjects, 30 and the FH patients in the study belonged to different families. Patients who were already on 10 mg of rosuvastatin were included only if their baseline lipid profile for at least 4 weeks without any lipid-lowering treatment was available within the previous year. Patients who were not yet on lipid-lowering treatment were prescribed rosuvastatin at a dosage of 10 mg once daily. All the subjects were advised to continue with their usual diet and other aspects of lifestyle during the study. The participants were interviewed in order to assess drug compliance and tolerability and efficacy of rosuvastatin at a scheduled follow-up visit after at least 4 weeks on treatment (median 12 weeks). Blood samples were collected in the fasting state for measuring lipid profiles and laboratory safety data. The levels of LDL-C were calculated according to the Friedewald formula. Safety was assessed in all participants by recording laboratory safety data and adverse events. Individuals with uncontrolled medical conditions, triglyceride levels >4.5 mmol/l, or poor compliance (<80%) were excluded from the study. The primary outcome of this study was the difference in the percentage reduction in LDL-C level among the different genotype groups.

The study protocol was approved by the local clinical research ethics committee, and the participants gave written informed consent before any study procedures were undertaken.

Findings in patients with RA. We also tested the association with genotype in 36 patients with RA who had participated in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study to assess the effect of rosuvastatin at a dosage of 10 mg daily on carotid intima-media thickness and pulse-wave velocity.

## REPORTS

Genotyping of ABCG2 c.421C>A polymorphism. DNA taken from the participants was genotyped for the ABCG2 c.421C>A polymorphism using the Taqman Drug Metabolism Genotyping Assay (C\_15854163\_70) from Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA). The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) solution consisted of 2.5  $\mu$ l of 2× Taqman Universal PCR Master Mix (P/N 4304437, Applied Biosystems), 0.25  $\mu$ l of the 20× Taqman Drug Metabolism Genotying Assay Mix, and 2.25  $\mu$ l of ~5 ng/ $\mu$ l genomic DNA, and the PCR was performed using a PCR System 9700 machine (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The PCR cycle consisted of 2 min at 50 °C and 10 min at 95 °C, followed by 50 cycles of 15 s at 92 °C and 90 s at 60 °C. The end-point reading was recorded using an ABI Prism 7700 sequence detector (Applied Biosystems) in order to discriminate the alleles of the DNA samples.

**Statistical analysis.** Skewed data were logarithmically transformed before analysis. The  $\chi^2$  test was used to test the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. Associations between *ABCG2* c.421C>A polymorphism and lipid responses were assessed by analysis of covariance followed by a *post hoc* test with the Bonferroni test, taking age, gender, presence of FH, and baseline level of lipids as covariates. The data were analyzed using SPSS, version 13.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work described in this paper was substantially supported by a grant from the Research Grants Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China (project CUHK 4472/06M). This funding source had no role in the conduct of the study. We thank Lorriane Tseung for recruiting the patients with rheumatoid arthritis and Martin Lee for extracting DNA in this group of patients. We also thank all the patients involved in the study for their participation in this research.

## **CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

B.T. has received research funding to perform clinical studies from AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Daiichi Sankyo, Kowa, Merck, Merck Sharp and Dohme, Novartis, Otsuka, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, and Servier and has acted as a consultant or speaker for AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Bristol-Myers Squibb, GlaxoSmithKline, Kowa, Merck, Merck Sharp and Dohme, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, Schering-Plough, and Servier. G.T.C.K. has received research grants to perform clinical studies from Merck Sharp and Dohme. V.W.Y.L. has received research funding to perform clinical studies from AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Merck Sharp and Dohme, and Pfizer. L.B. has received research funding from Novartis to perform animal studies. The other authors declared no conflict of interest.

© 2010 American Society for Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics

- Hu, M., Mak, V.W.L., Chu, T.T.Y., Waye, M.M.Y. & Tomlinson, B. Pharmacogenetics of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: optimizing the prevention of coronary heart disease. *Curr. Pharmacogenomics Person. Med.* 7, 1–26 (2009).
- Lewington, S. et al.; Prospective Studies Collaboration. Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55,000 vascular deaths. Lancet 370, 1829–1839 (2007).
- US Food and Drug Administration. FDA Public Health Advisory on Crestor (rosuvastatin). Media release, 2 March 2005 <a href="http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/ucm124906.htm">http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/ ucm124906.htm</a>>.
- Grundy, S.M. The issue of statin safety: where do we stand? Circulation 111, 3016–3019 (2005).
- Ho, R.H. et al. Drug and bile acid transporters in rosuvastatin hepatic uptake: function, expression, and pharmacogenetics. Gastroenterology 130, 1793–1806 (2006).
- Tirona, R.G. Ethnic differences in statin disposition. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 78, 311–316 (2005).
- Huang, L., Wang, Y. & Grimm, S. ATP-dependent transport of rosuvastatin in membrane vesicles expressing breast cancer resistance protein. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 34, 738–742 (2006).

- Keskitalo, J.E., Zolk, O., Fromm, M.F., Kurkinen, K.J., Neuvonen, P.J. & Niemi, M. ABCG2 polymorphism markedly affects the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 86, 197–203 (2009).
- Zhang, W. et al. Role of BCRP 421C>A polymorphism on rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics in healthy Chinese males. Clin. Chim. Acta 373, 99–103 (2006).
- Lee, S.S. et al. Identification and functional assessment of BCRP polymorphisms in a Korean population. Drug Metab. Dispos. 35, 623–632 (2007).
- 11. Kondo, C. et al. Functional analysis of SNPs variants of BCRP/ABCG2. Pharm. Res. 21, 1895–1903 (2004).
- Rosenson, R.S. Rosuvastatin: a new inhibitor of HMG-coA reductase for the treatment of dyslipidemia. Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther. 1, 495–505 (2003).
- Zamber, C.P. et al. Natural allelic variants of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) and their relationship to BCRP expression in human intestine. *Pharmacogenetics* 13, 19–28 (2003).
- Tan, C.E., Loh, L.M. & Tai, E.S. Do Singapore patients require lower doses of statins? The SGH Lipid Clinic experience. *Singapore Med. J.* 44, 635–638 (2003).
- Schuster, H. Rosuvastatin—a highly effective new 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitor: review of clinical trial data at 10-40 mg doses in dyslipidemic patients. *Cardiology* 99, 126–139 (2003).
- Zhu, J.R., Tomlinson, B., Ro, Y.M., Sim, K.H., Lee, Y.T. & Sriratanasathavorn, C. A randomised study comparing the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin with atorvastatin for achieving lipid goals in clinical practice in Asian patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease (DISCOVERY-Asia study). *Curr. Med. Res. Opin.* 23, 3055–3068 (2007).
- Roberts, W.C. The rule of 5 and the rule of 7 in lipid-lowering by statin drugs. Am. J. Cardiol. 80, 106–107 (1997).
- Ho, R.H. et al. Effect of drug transporter genotypes on pravastatin disposition in European- and African-American participants. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 17, 647–656 (2007).
- leiri, I. et al. SLCO1B1 (OATP1B1, an uptake transporter) and ABCG2 (BCRP, an efflux transporter) variant alleles and pharmacokinetics of pitavastatin in healthy volunteers. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 82, 541–547 (2007).
- Ozvegy-Laczka, C. et al. High-affinity interaction of tyrosine kinase inhibitors with the ABCG2 multidrug transporter. Mol. Pharmacol. 65, 1485–1495 (2004).
- Dehghan, A. et al. Association of three genetic loci with uric acid concentration and risk of gout: a genome-wide association study. Lancet 372, 1953–1961 (2008).
- Choi, J.H., Lee, M.G., Cho, J.Y., Lee, J.E., Kim, K.H. & Park, K. Influence of OATP1B1 genotype on the pharmacokinetics of rosuvastatin in Koreans. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 83, 251–257 (2008).
- Pasanen, M.K., Fredrikson, H., Neuvonen, P.J. & Niemi, M. Different effects of SLCO1B1 polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and rosuvastatin. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 82, 726–733 (2007).
- Lee, E. *et al.* Rosuvastatin pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics in white and Asian subjects residing in the same environment. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 78, 330–341 (2005).
- Shitara, Y. & Sugiyama, Y. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors: drug-drug interactions and interindividual differences in transporter and metabolic enzyme functions. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **112**, 71–105 (2006).
- SEARCH Collaborative Group. SLCO1B1 variants and statin-induced myopathy – a genomewide study. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 789–799 (2008).
  Kajinami, K., Takekoshi, N., Brousseau, M.E. & Schaefer, E.J. Pharmacogenetics
- Kajinami, K., Takekoshi, N., Brousseau, M.E. & Schaefer, E.J. Pharmacogenetics of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: exploring the potential for genotype-based individualization of coronary heart disease management. *Atherosclerosis* 177, 219–234 (2004).
- Miltiadous, G., Xenophontos, S., Bairaktari, E., Ganotakis, M., Cariolou, M. & Elisaf, M. Genetic and environmental factors affecting the response to statin therapy in patients with molecularly defined familial hypercholesterolaemia. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 15, 219–225 (2005).
- Romaine, S.P., Balmforth, A.J., Bailey, K.M., Hali, A.S. & on behalf of the SPACE ROCKET Investigators. The breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) 421C> A single nucleotide polymorphism predicts improved low-density-lipoprotein cholesterol reduction by rosuvastatin. *Circulation* 118 (suppl), 426, abstract 3447 (2008).
- Mak, Y.T. et al. Mutations in the low-density lipoprotein receptor gene in Chinese familial hypercholesterolemia patients. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 18, 1600–1605 (1998).

VOLUME 87 NUMBER 5 | MAY 2010 | www.nature.com/cpt